13th International Symposium on the Ordovician System

13* ISOS

ORDOVICIAN SEDIMENTARY BASINS AND PALEOBIOTAS OF THE GORNY ALTAI

N.V. Sennikov, O.T. Obut, E.V. Lykova, A.V. Timokhin, T.V. Gonta, R.A. Khabibulina, T.A. Shcherbanenko, T.P. Kipriyanova







N.V. Sennikov, O.T. Obut, E.V. Lykova, A.V. Timokhin, T.V. Gonta, R.A. Khabibulina, T.A. Shcherbanenko, T.P. Kipriyanova

ORDOVICIAN SEDIMENTARY BASINS AND PALEOBIOTAS OF THE GORNY ALTAI

Edited by N.V. Sennikov and A.V. Kanygin



NOVOSIBIRSK 2019



Novosibirsk Publishing House of SB RAS 2019 УДК 551.733 ББК 26 33 C31

DOI 10.15372/ORDOVICIAN2019SNV

Sennikov N.V. Ordovician sedimentary basins and paleobiotas of the Gorny Altai / N.V. Sennikov, O.T. Obut, E.V. Lykova, A.V. Timokhin, T.V. Gonta, R.A. Khabibulina, T.A. Shcherbanenko, T.P. Kipriyanova ; Eds N.V. Sennikov and A.V. Kanygin; [Translated by N.N. Mzhel'skaya, O.T. Obut, N.V. Sennikov]; Trofimuk Institute of Petroleum Geology and Geophysics SB RAS; Novosibirsk National Research State University. - Novosibirsk : Publishing House of SB RAS, 2019. -184 p.

Сенников Н.В. Ордовикские седиментационные бассейны и палеобиоты Горного Алтая / Н.В. Сенников, О.Т. Обут, Е.В. Лыкова, А.В. Тимохин, Т.В. Гонта, Р.А. Хабибулина, Т.А. Щербаненко, Т.П Киприянова ; Ред. Н.В. Сенников, А.В. Каныгин ; [Перевод Н.Н. Мжельской, О.Т. Обут, Н.В. Сенникова]; Институт нефтегазовой геологии и геофизики им. А.А. Трофимука СО РАН; Новосибирский национальный исследовательский университет. Новосибирск : Изд-во СО РАН, 2019. - 184 с.

Organization



International Commission on Stratigraphy



Subcommission on Ordovician Stratigraphy



IGSP 653 "The onset of the Great Ordovician Biodiversification Event"



Trofimuk Institute of Petroleum Geology and Geophysics SB RAS



Novosibirsk State University Novosibirsk National Research State University



Siberian Branch of Russian Academy of Sciences

Russian Foundation for Basic Research (RFBR)

Translated by N.N. Mzhel'skaya, O.T. Obut, N.V. Sennikov

Reviewers: Doctor of Sciences in Geology A.V. Dronov Doctor of Sciences in Geology S.V. Rozhnov

ISBN 978-5-7692-1656-5

© ИНГГ СО РАН, 2019 © Коллектив авторов, 2019 This book is an expanded guidebook for a field excursion to the Ordovician sections of the Gorny Altai being shown to participants in the 13th International Symposium on the Ordovician System, Novosibirsk, 2019. The present guidebook concerns Ordovician stratigraphy, palaeogeography, lithology, and facies in key sections in the Gorny Altai, described bed-by-bed.

These data were previously published in part, mainly in syntheses scattered through various books and papers. This book is a synthesis of present-day knowledge with revisions of the paleontology and age implications. Updating has become possible due to discoveries of graptolite and conodont assemblages of zonal significance. The book is based on abundant biostratigraphic and geological data accumulated over the past 15 years about Ordovician deposition in the Gorny Altai. Publication of these data is a necessary step toward broad public discussion of new ideas, a prerequisite for updating the Gorny Altai Ordovician stratigraphic charts.

CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	5
1. ORDOVICIAN STRATIGRAPHY OF THE GORNY ALTAI	8
1.1. ORDOVICIAN REGIONAL STRATIGRAPHIC UNITS	–
1.1.1. REGIONAL STRATIGRAPHIC UNITS OF THE WESTERN PART OF ASFA	22
1.2. ORDOVICIAN GRAPTOLITE ZONES OF THE GORNY ALTAI	27
1.3. ORDOVICIAN CONODONT ZONES OF THE GORNY ALTAI	29
1.4. LOCAL ORDOVICIAN STRATIGRAPHIC UNITS OF THE GORNY ALTAI	30
1.4.1. OCEANIC DEPOSITION	–
1.4.2. SHELF DEPOSITION	34
1.4.2.1. THE FIRST FACIES TYPE OF SHELF DEPOSITION	–
1.4.2.2. THE SECOND FACIES TYPE OF SHELF DEPOSITION	35
1.4.2.3. THE THIRD FACIES TYPE OF SHELF DEPOSITION	–
2. TRACES OF GLOBAL SEDIMENTARY EVENTS IN THE ORDOVICIAN SECTIONS	
OF THE GORNY ALTAI	37
3. PALEOGEOGRAPHY OF THE WESTERN ALTAI-SAYAN FOLDED AREA (ORDOVICIAN ALTAI-	
SALAIR BASIN)	43
3.1. SEDIMENTARY TYPIES AND BIOTAS OF THE ALTAI-SALAIR ORDOVICIAN BASIN	
3.1.1. OCEANIC GENESIS	
3.1.2. CONTINENTAL SLOPE GENESIS	–
3.1.3. SHELF GENESIS	
3.2. SEDIMENTARY MODEL PROFILES FOR THE ORDOVICIAN OF THE ALTAI BASIN	
3.3. PALEOGEOGRAPHIC RECONSTRUCTION OF THE ORDOVICIAN ALTAI BASIN	52
4. ORDOVICIAN KEY SECTIONS IN THE GORNY ALTAI	53
4.1. NORTH-EASTERN GORNY ALTAI (UYMEN'–LEBED' FACIES ZONE)	
4.1.1. AREA OF VERKH-BIYSK VILLAGE	
4.1.2. AREA OF TUROCHAK VILLAGE (LEBED' RIVER)	58
4.1.3. AREA OF TULOI VILLAGE	
4.2. EASTERN GORNY ALTAI (TELETSKOE LAKESIDE FACIES ZONE)	
4.2.1. AREA OF IOGACH VILLAGE	
4.3. NORTHERN GORNY ALTAI (BIYA-KATUN' FACIES ZONE)	
4.3.1. AREA OF KAMLAK VILLAGE	
4.4. NORTH-WESTERN GORNY ALTAI (ANUI-CHUYA FACIES ZONE)	
4.4.1. AREA OF UST'-KAN VILLAGE	
4.4.2. AREA OF UST'-MUTA VILLAGE	
4.5. WESTERN GORNY ALTAI (CHARYSH-INYA FACIES ZONE)	
4.5.1. AREA OF UST'-CHAGYRKA VILLAGE	
4.5.2. AREA OF MARALIKHA VILLAGE	
4.5.3. AREA OF BUGRYSHIKHA VILLAGE	
4.5.4. AREA OF KRASNOSHCHEKOVO VILLAGE	
4.5.5. AREA OF CHINETA VILLAGE	
CONCLUSIONS	
REFERENCES	
PALEONTOLOGICAL PLATES	137

INTRODUCTION

Ordovician strata are widespread in four major tectonic units of Siberia: in the Altai-Sayan Folded Area, upon the Siberian Craton, in the Taimyr Peninsula, and in the basement of the West Siberian Plate (Fig. 1).

The Gorny Altai lies in the western Altai-Sayan Folded Area (ASFA), a collage of terranes within the Central Asian orogen. The ASFA comprises several large geologic structures composed of Paleozoic (including Ordovician) formations of differing origins. Additional to the Gorny Altai are the Salair, Kuznetsky Alatau and Gornaya Shoriya in the west, and the West Sayan, and Tuva in the east (Fig. 2). The present tectonic framework of the ASFA (Dobretsov, 2003) has resulted from successive accretion of orogens of different ages to the Siberian craton.

In the Ordovician sediments of the Gorny Altai, all the stages (or substages or their parts) of the new Ordovician stage standard of the GSSP - Tremadocian, Floian, Dapingian, Darriwilian, Sandbian, Katian, and Hirnantian (Sennikov, Tolmacheva, 2013; Sennikov et al., 2014, 2015a, 2018a,b) are well-defined and identifiable in certain stratigraphic intervals of specific terrigenous and terrigenous carbonate sections. The application of the Ordovician stages with clear-cut lower boundaries, marked by the first appearance of the index species of the graptolite and conodont zones, and the application of the proposed "informal" substages (time slices) (Bergström et al., 2009) stimulated a major revision of the Ordovician regional subdivisions of the ASFA with the subsequent considerable specification of the chronostratigraphic extent of the previously used horizons and recognition of new ones. Also, the chronostratigraphic position of most of the Ordovician local stratigraphic units (formations) of the western ASFA has been determined more precisely. This dramatic revision has revealed many disputable problems of the Ordovician biostratigraphy of the ASFA, and the new, mainly zonal, biostratigraphic data have made it possible to propose their substantiated modern solutions. The Ordovician sections of the western ASFA are key to the resolution of the disputable questions related to the positioning of the boundaries of stratigraphic units in European Russia, not only in Asian geologic regions such as the Siberian Platform, Tuva, Kolyma, and Chukchi Peninsula, where both sedimentary and volcanosedimentary rocks occur in abundance.

The Altaian regional graptolite and conodont pelagic zonal successions can be used for precise correlations of the boundaries of local and regional units (or their parts) with the Ordovician stage boundaries of the ISC – the so-called "direct" correlations with stage boundaries based on the FAD (First Appearance Data) of the same-named index species. This shows the high efficiency of application of pelagic zonal successions in chronostratigraphy. The stratigraphic position of the ISC stage boundaries is easy to determine in the folded areas of Siberia (Gorny Altai), in which graptolites occur in terrigenous sediments and deepwater conodont assemblages are observed in carbonates.

The Ordovician sedimentary patterns of the Gorny Altai (Fig. 3) consist mainly of rhythmic alternation of terrigenous and carbonate rocks with rare volcanic intercalations. The terrigenous sections occasionally contain limestone lenses. Biohermal carbonates are frequent, mostly as algal buildups. Various facies occur dispersed through the palaeo-basin; thicknesses vary greatly.

The Gorny Altai territory is completely covered by 1:200 000 geological surveys and much of it by 1:50000 surveys undertaken during the past 60 to 70 years. Most of the surveys were carried out by people from the West Siberian Geological Surveys (currently the Zapsibgeolsyomka Prospecting Company). Large-scale (1:25000, 1:10 000, 1:5 000) geological surveys for the reference localities of the Ordovician rocks in the Gorny Atlai were carried out as special stratigraphic investigations by Ermikov V.D., Gladkikh L.A., Khlebnikova T.V., Krivchikov A.V., Kuznetsov S.A., Mamlin A.N., Petrunina Z.E., Podryadchikov S.S., Puzyrev A.A., Sennikov N.V., Shokalsky S.P., Yolkin E.A., Zeifert L.L., and Zybin V.A.

Paleontological and stratigraphical data, analyzed in this monograph were collected during field studies over many years by Alekseenko A.A., Andreeva O.N., Bogashchenko E.I., Buyanova E.V., Ermikov V.D., Gabova M.F., Gladkikh L.A., Gonta T.V., Iwata K., Izokh N.G., Kalinin E.A., Khabibulina R.A., Khlebnikova T.V., Krivchikov A.V., Kul'kov N.P., Lykova E.V., Mamlina M.I., Mannik P., Mel'nikova L.M., Obut O.T., Perfil'ev E.E., Petrunina Z.E., Savitsky V.R., Sennikov N.V., Severgina L.G., Sharudo E.A., Timokhin A.V., Tokarev D.A., Tolmacheva T.Yu., Yakovleva E.V., and Yolkin E.A.





Fig. 2. Russia with location of the Altai-Sayan Folded Area (ASFA) including Rudny Altai, Gorny Altai, Salair, Kuznetsky Alatau, Kuznetsk basin, Minusa, West Sayan and Tuva.





A – areas with the wide-spread occurrence of the Ordovician strata; B – deep faults, constraint regional blocks; C-D – boundaries: C – structural-facies zones, D – subzones (areas). 1-12 – structural-facies zones: 1 – Milovanovka; 2 – Loktevka-Batun; 3 – Suetka-Kuibyshevo; 4 – Charysh-Inya; 5 – Kharlovo; 6 – Vydrikha; 7 – Talitsa; 8 – Anui-Chuya; 9 – Biya-Katun'; 10 – Uymen'-Lebed'; 11 – Teletskoe Lakeside; 12 – Ulagan.

Faunal remains included in the present monograph were identified as follows: trilobites – Petrunina Z.E., Andreeva O.N., Yolkin E.A., Timokhin A.V.; graptolites – Obut A.M., Sennikov N.V., Lykova E.V.; conodonts – Moskalenko T.A., Izokh N.G., Obut O.T., Tolmacheva T.Yu.; ostracods – Mel'nikova L.M., Gonta T.V.; brachiopods – Severgina L.G., Andreeva O.N., Kul'kov N.P., Savitsky V.R., Modzalevskaya T.L., Shcherbanenko T.A.; stromatoporoids – Khromykh V.G.; tabulate corals – Dzyubo P.S., Galenko L.V., Khabibulina R.A.; rugose corals – Zheltonogova V.A.; bryozoans – Volkova K.N., Koromyslova A.V.; crinoids – Stukalina G.A., Dubatolova Yu.A.; gastropods – Byalyi V.I.; radiolarians – Obut O.T., Iwata K.; chitinozoans – Obut A.M., Zaslavskaya N.M., Obut O.T.

Photographs illustrated sections and outcrops have been taken by Sennikov N.V., Obut O.T., Lykova E.V., and Mannik P.

1. ORDOVICIAN STRATIGRAPHY OF THE GORNY ALTAI

The Ordovician stratigraphic charts of the Gorny Altai have been compiled through the past seven decades by joint efforts of prospecting, academic, and educational institutions, namely, All-Russian Geological Institute (VSEGEI, St. Petersburg), Siberian Research Institute of Geology, Geophysics & Mineral Resources (SNIIGGiMS, Novosibirsk), Institute of Geology & Geophysics (currently Trofimuk Institute of Petroleum Geology and Geophysics, Novosibirsk), Zapsibgeologiya (Novokuznetsk), Zapsibgeolsyomka (Elan' Village), Tomsk and Novosibirsk State Universities, Tomsk Technological Institute (currently Tomsk Technological University), Kuzbass Pedagogical Academy (Novokuznetsk), and others.

Among researchers who played important role in the investigation of the Ordovician stratigraphy of the Gorny Altai should be noted the following persons (in the alphabetic order): Andreeva O.N., Avrov D.P., Bartseva N.M., Bublichenko N.L., Cherepnina S.V., Dubatolova Yu.A., Dzyubo P.S., Ermikov V.D., Fedyanov V.V., Galenko L.V., Gintsinger A.B., Gladkikh L.A., Gutak Ya.M., Isaev G.D., Izokh N.G., Khalfina V.K., Khlebnikova T.V., Khromykh V.G., Kononov A.N., Krivchikov A.V., Krivchikov V.A., Kuznetsov V.A., Kul'kov N.P., Levitsky E.S., Lyakhnitsky V.N., Lykova E.V., Mamlin A.N., Modzalevskaya E.A., Modzalevskaya T.L., Moskalenko T.A., Nekhoroshev V.P., Nikonov A.A., Obut A.M., Obut O.T., Perfil'ev Yu.S., Petrunina Z.E., Podryadchikov S.S., Potapova M.S., Puzyrev A.A., Romanenko M.F., Savitsky V.P., Sennikov N.V., Sennikov V.M., Severgina L.G., Stukalina G.A., Tikhonov V.I., Usov M.A., Vyltsan I.A., Vinkman M.K., Volkov V.V., Volkova K.N., Yaroshinskaya A.M., Yolkin E.A., Zaslavskaya N.M., Zeifert L.L., Zheltonogova V.A.

1.1. ORDOVICIAN REGIONAL STRATIGRAPHIC UNITS

According to the usual practice in Russia, regional correlation follows chronostratigraphic subdivision into regional stages (called *horizons* in the Russian stratigraphic code). Regional stages comprise regionally spread coeval formations (or their parts) and correspond to stages of regional geological history, and especially to stages in the evolution of marine faunal groups. Regional stages are discussed and approved collectively for further use at special Russian Stratigraphic Workshops held every ten to fifteen years, or sometimes every five or seven years. The succession of regional stages, together with the respective subdivision of the International Stratigraphic Chart (Scale), make basis for correlation of local units (formations and groups) as part of regional charts and for inter-regional correlations.

There are three main steps in synthesis of stratigraphic and biostratigraphic data: (1) subdivision of local sections, (2) correlation of the sections (intra- and partly inter-regional correlations of composite sections from nearby regions), (3) age assignment (correlation among sections from geographically dispersed regions and global correlation, including correlation with the units in the International Stratigraphic Chart). The three objectives are performed with reference to different Ordovician faunal groups.

The greatest part of local Ordovician sections in the Gorny Altai are correlated mainly according to trilobites and brachiopods. These two groups of benthic organisms occur in diverse complexes of terrigenous, terrigenouscarbonate and purely carbonate compositions and, for this reason, are used in subdivision of local sections and in intraregional correlation. Trilobites and brachiopods are also of broad use in correlation among sections from the nearby areas of Gorny Altai, Salair, Kuznetsky Alatau, Siberian Platform, Taimyr, Kazakhstan, and Urals.

Other communities besides trilobites and brachiopods used in subdivision of local sections are abundant tabulate and rugose corals, ostracods, fishes, bryozoans, crinoids, nautiloids, gastropods, stromatoporoids, radiolarians, and chitinozoans. In some cases, they may be useful for intra- or, more rarely, inter-regional correlations.

Besides the local subdivision, the succession of trilobite and brachiopod assemblages is the key to Gorny Altai regional Ordovician stages, and these, in turn, most often serve as ties in correlation among sections from proximal regions.

Succession of trilobite and graptolie assemblages is regarded as the base for the Altai Ordovician regional stages (horizons) as well as a reliable key for the intra-regional correlation. Inter-regional correlation is usually fulfilled on the bases of regional stages (horizons).

Global correlation and dating of the deposits with respect to the International Stratigraphic Chart are made proceeding from pelagic faunas of graptolites and conodonts. Although these faunal groups are less abundant in the Ordovician sections of the Gorny Altai than others.

The current Paleozoic stratigraphic charts for Central Siberia were approved at the USSR Workshops on Ordovician-Silurian Stratigraphy of 1956, 1964, 1979 and 2012 in Novosibirsk which were four milestones in the history of stratigraphic studies in the Gorny Altai and in the Altai-Sayan Folded Area as a whole (Decisions..., 1959; Documents..., 1964; Correlative..., 1964; Stratigraphy..., 1967; Decisions..., 1983; Sennikov et al., 2018a,b). The workshops concerned with unification of regional stratigraphic charts as an outcome of years-long work; the charts were then considered by the USSR Interdepartmental Stratigraphic Committee and ratified to become official guidelines for further use in geological surveys.

The Ordovician regional stages of the Gorny Altai are correlated to the units of the International Stratigraphic Chart (Scale) on the basis of the respective graptolite, conodont and chitinozoans zones (Fig. 4).

	Stra (Res	nternational tigraphic Chart colutions of ISC, 012, vol.41)	Age, Ma (The Geologic Time Scale, 2012)	(1	Standard zo ecommended by O/S com				
System	Series	Stage	Age, Ma (The Geologi 2012)	Graptolites (zonation: synthesis based on data from Russian regions) (O/S commission of ISC, 2012)			Conodonts (The Geologic Time Scale, 2012)	Chitinozoans (The Geologic Time Scale, 2012)	
		Hirnantian	445.2	Normalograptus	us persculptus s extraordinarius / / Normalograptus mirnyensis			Tanuchitina oulebsiri Tanuchitina elongata	
				Appondicationarcatus	Paraorthograptus pacificus		Amorphognathus	Ancyrochitina merga	
				Appendispinograptus supernus	Appendispinograptus supernus		ordovicicus	Armoricochitina nigerica	
	ar	Katian		Orthograptus	quadrimucronatus		Amorphognathus	Acanthochitina barbata Tanuchitina fistulosa	
	Upper			Dicranog	raptus clingani		superbus	Belonechitina robusta Euconochitina	
	-				ocanthograptus caudatus	1	1	tanvillensis	
Ordovician			453.0		macograptus bicornis	Amorphognathus	Baltoniodus alobatus	?	
		Sandbian		Diplograptus multidens	/ Diplograptus foliaceus		Baltoniodus gerdae	Lagenochitina dalbyensis	
			450.4	Nemagraptus gracilis /	Oepikograptus bekkeri	1.00	Balloniodus variabilis	Lagenochitina deunffi	
	-		458.4					Lagenochitina ponceti	
				Hustedograptus teretiusculus Didymograptus murchisoni / Didymograptus geminus No zonation			Amorph. inaequalis Saggittodontina kielcensis	Linochitina pissotensis	
		Darriwilian					Pygodus serra	Laufeldochitina clavata Armoricochitina	
	le						oplacognathus suecicus	amoricana - Cyathochitina jenkinsi Siphonochitina formosa	
	Middle			Undulograptus (=	? Eoglyp.) dentatus		Eoplacognathus variabilis	Cyathochitina calyx - protocalix	
			467.3	Undulograptus austrodentatus			Baltoniodus norrlandicus	Desmochitina bulla	
				Expansogi	aptus hirundo	1	Paroistodus originalis	Belonechitina henryi	
		Dapingian		lsograptus gibberulus			Baltoniodus navis	-	
			470.0			E	Baltoniodus triangularis	Desmochitina ornensis	
		Floian			Pseudophyllograptus angustifolius elongatus / Pseudophyllograptus angustifolius tenuis			Oepikodus evae	Eremochitina brevis
				Phyllograp	Phyllograptus densus				
		Fiolan			ohyllograptoides / s approximatus		Prioniodus elegans	Eremochitina baculata	
			477.7				Oelandodus elongatus - Acodus deltatus	Conochitina symmetrica	
	Lower				?		Paracordylodus gracilis	Lagenochitina brevicollis	
	Lov			Araneogra	ptus murayi	Paroist.	Tripodus - Drepanodus aff. amoenus Paltodus deltifer	Amphorachitina conifundus	
		Tremadocian		Bryograptus ramosus / Rhabdinopora uralense / Aletograptus hyperboreus Adelograptus tenellus / Anisograptus richardsoni		Paltodus deltifer		1	
		Tomadolari				1	Cordylodus angulatus	Lagenochitina destombesi	
				Rhabdinopora	Rhabdinopora flabelliformis				
-		ng units	485.4				lapetognathus fluctivagus		

Underlying units **Fig. 4.** Alignment of the local stratigraphic charts for the Ordovician of the Gorny Altai with the International Stratigraphic Chart based on regional stages (horizons), graptolite and conodont zones.



		_,	Regional stratigraphic units								
		-	5047 T 10	aleontological characteristic	3/05 V 9/05 20 300 DO						
Stage	E	Drizon	Speci	fic faunal (floral) complexes	s, Beds with fauna (flora)						
02	Horizon Subhorizon	Subho	Conodonts	Chitinozoans	Brachiopods						
Sandbian Katian Hir-	Lis vya ka	an-	? Amorphognatus ordovicicus Br. et Mehl, Scabbardella altipes (Henning.) Rhodes, Panderodus intermedius Br., Mehl et Br., P. cf. unicostatus (Br. et Mehl),	Conochitina micracantha Eis., Tanuchitina ontariensis Jans.	Datmanella testudinaria (Dalm.), D. dietkensis Severg, Zygospiraella indistincta Kulk. et Severg., Streptis altosinuata (Holt.), Himantia att. norxella Ameden, Breviaminuella gromotuchaensis Severg., Truczetina subrotundata Havi., Dedzetina att. microstoma Havi., Stegentynchus concinnus (Savage), Eospingrinna gaspeensis (Coop.) Plectatrypa att. henningsmoeni Bouc. et John., Giraldibella bella Bergst Giraldibella bella (Bergst.), Thebesia thebesensis Amsden,						
	Tekhten'		Protopanderodus insculptus (Br. et M.) Phragmodus undatus Br. et Mehl, Panderodus cf. P. gracilis (Br. et Mehl), Belodina compressa (Br. et Mehl),		Leangella septatà (Cooper), Spirigerina mediocris (Severg.) Eospirigerina orloviensis (Severg.), Oxoplecia platystrophoides Schuchert et Cooper, Catazyga inensis (Severg.), Catazyga anuensis (Severg.), Eridorthis subinexpecta digna Severg., Schizophorella fallax Salter						
	Khankhara		Drepanoistodus suberectus (Br. et Mehl) Eraticodon sp.	Desmochitina erinacea Eis., D. lecantiella Eis., Lagenochitina dalbyensis Laufeld	Ecspringerina sublevis (Rozm.), Austinella lebediensis Severg., Salopira uxunaica (Severg.), Giyptottis praepuchra Severg., G. balciatchiensis (Dav.), Hesperorthis tricenaria lebediensis Severg., Dulankarella magna Ruk., Catzyga salaincia (Severg.) Boreadorthis togaensis Severg., Chaulistomella amzassensis (Severg.) Strophomena lebediensis Severg. in Rozm., Rostricellula ainsliei amzassica Severg., Togaella grandis Severg. Onniella chancharica Severg., Plectoceamara uscuchiensis Severg., Fascilora burgensis Severg., Plectoceamara uscuchiensis Severg., Chaulistomella inaquistrata (Cooper).						
			? Eobelodina cf. fornicala (Stauf.)		Chaulistomella inaquistriată (Cooper), Ecoanastrophia lebediensis (Severg.) Apatomorpha altaica Severg., Leptellina tennesseens Ulr. et Cooper, Hesperorthis markovae Rozman, Howe cf. flava (Havl.)						
aciri	unnshikha	Bugryshikha	?								
Darriwilian	ā			Cyathochitina tuloensis Obut et Zasl., Cyath. calix (Eis.), Conochitina oelandica Eis. , C. bacillum Obut et Zasl.	Glyptorthis primus Severg., Parastrophina bilobata Cooper, Beloviella bugryshichiensis Severg., Christiania aff. subquadrata (Hall), Glyptomena karasuensis Severg., Hesperorthis markovae oplecis Severg. Archaeorthis altaica Severg., Idiostrophia tuloviensis Severg.						
	Koetinekv	NOSUIJSKY	Eoplacognathus pseudoplanus (Viira), Periodon aculeatus Hadding, Paroistodus originalis (Serg.), Protopanderodus rectus (Lind.), Scolopodus giganteus Sw. et Berg. Juanognathus janssoni Serp.		Trondorthis sibirica Severg.						
	Kuiby-	shevo	Parapanderodus gracilis (Barnson et Mehl), Yangtzeplacognathus ? sp.		?						
apingian			?	?	Ujukites tarlykensis Andr., Eodalmanella (?) sp.						
Dap	oed")	1 000	Paroistodus cf. parallelus (Pand.), Periodon primus (?) Lofgren, Paroistodus cf. lanceolatus (Pander)		Archaeorthis sibirica Severg., Tritoechia orliniensis Severg.,						
Floian	Tuloi (= Let	Tuloi (= Lebed')	Tuloi (= Leb	Oepikodus evae Lindstrom, Periodon cf. flabellum (Lind.), Prioniodus cf. P. elegans Pander, Drepanoistodus sp.	Conochitina raymondi Achab, Con. turgida (Jenk.), Con. ordinaria Achab	Orthis kozuchiensis Severg., Hesperonomia ilovata (Severg.), H. korzhnevi Severg., H. paratylyensis Severg., Nanorthis multicostata Ulr. et Coop.					
	-	_	Oepikodus evae Lindstrom, Paracordylodus gracilis Lind., Paroistodus cf. proteus (Lind.), Paroistodus cf. originalis (Serg.),		Diparelasma minuta Severg., Rhyselasma pusilla Severg., Akelina akelina Severg.						
Tremadocian	shkin	Tayanza")	Cornuodus longibasis (Lind.), Oneotodus sp.	?	Apheorthis lineocosta Walc., Nanorthis schoriensis Severg., Nothorthis algainen Severg., Punctolira kondomiensis Severg.						
	Takoshkin	(="Upper	lapetonudus sp., lapetognathus sp., Cordvlodus lindstromi Druce et Jones.								
			Cordylodus lindstromi Druce et Jones, Econodontus notchpeakensis (Miller)								

				Regi	onal stratigraphic units	_									
	-				al characteristic of regional u	uni	its								
ge	-	Horizon Subhorizon	Specific faunal (floral) complexes, Beds with fauna (flora) Trilobites Ostracods Tabulate corals Rugose corals Bryozoans Stractic Stractis Stractis Stractic Stractic Stractic Stractic Stractic Stractic												
Stage	I on	Sub	Trilobites	Bryozoans	Stromato- poroids										
, t		List- vyan-	Dalmanitina mucronata (Brong.)	?	?		?	?							
Katian Hir-		Tekhten'	Gromotuchia dilavata Petrun., Gr. stricta Petrun., Homotelus sp. Stenoblepharum warburgae (Prib.)	? Ballardina altaica Melnik., Eurychilina sennikovi Melnik., Retiprimtas formosus Melnik., Laccochilina (Laccochilina)	Catenipora workmanae Flom., C. bugryschichiensis Dz., Plasmoporella convexotabulata Kiaer, P. bugryschichiensis Dz., Mesofavosites subfallax Dz., Mesofavosites subfallax Dz., Metalista, Karagemia altaica Dz., Nyctopora altaica Dz. Plasmoporella vesiculosa Kiaer, Nyctopora minimalis (Rad.), Cyrtophyllum samyshiensis Tcherepn., Trochiscolithus micrastes (Linds.)	Wormsipora karasuensis Dz.	Grewingkia lebediensis Tcherepn., Gr. semilunatum (Scheffen), Ditoechelasm attaica (Tcherep.), Axiphoria dietkensis Tschern., Paliphyllum primarium Soshk., Brachielasma	Trematopora propria Jarosh., Rhinidictya lebediensis Jarosh.,	Clathrodiction (?) kirgisicum amzassensis V. Khalf., Lophiostroma elandiense V. Khalf. ?						
		-	Holotrachelius punctillosus Torng, Illaenus oviformis Warb, II. cl. septentrionalis Tchug, Amphilichas sinäkövi Web, Brontocephalina nuda (Angh Isocolus siogreni Ang, Chasmops saliricus Petrun, Leirninurdies bobroviensis Petrun. Geraumnus icarus (BIII), Calyptaulas bellatulus Petrun, Paracybeloides lovoni (Linrs.) Chasmopsella unica Petrun., Brontoepsis gregaria Raum, Jaboganellus gomoatlicius Petrun, Otarionella köksorianä Korol., Eorobergia Isbediensis Petrun.	lebediensis Melnik., Bolbina dubia Melnik., Bol. karasuensis Melnik., Soanella petruninae Melnik., Egorovella demissa Melnik., Bullaeferum partitus Melnik., Pseudozygobolbina invisitata Melnik.,	Cyrtophyllum kaniensis Dz., Vacuopar prisca (Sok.),Calapoecia anticostensis Bill.	Lyopora altaica Dz.,	altaica Tchrepn?	R. altaica Jarosh. ? Anolotichia	Labechia (?) sp., Lophiostroma sp., Plumatolinia ? sp., Cryptophragmus sp.						
Sandbian			Cybelurus planifrons (Web.), Raymondella bugryshichiensis Petrun.	Allertemmysa (?) incerta Melnik.				2 Jarosh., Amsassipora simplex Jarosh., Constellaria floridaeformis Jarosh., Stellipora vesiculosa Modz. ?							
		Bugryshikha	Lonchodomas cf. fecturmasi Web. L. cf. Igerisculus (Bill), L. (Foliopyge) levis Petrun., Bernopleurides Iongicostitus Port. Eorobergia cf. ucceolata Petrun., Cyberulus c. Jalanis Lev, Encrinuroidges sp., Haleops sp., Homotelus anguistus Petrun, Ampyzella (Belazetla), Internicostata Petrun, Nieus fengnensis Web., Telephina mobergi (Hadd.)	?	?				?						
Darriwilian			Pliomerellus latus Petrun., Raymondaspis altaicus Petrun., Robergiella margofera Petrun., Chemidopyge tuloica Petrun., Atractopyge sibirica Petrun., Ceraurinella latigenata Petrun.	Soanella tuloica Melnik.,					?						
Dar		Kostinsky	Ceraurinella cf. frequens Tschug., Piiomera fischeri asitica Tschug, Baltyurellus nonnulus Tschug., Carrickia sp., Kolymella aff. plana (Tschug.), Pliomerellus amplissimus Petrun., Pt. cl. jacuticus Tschug., Carolinites sp., Glaphurus altaicus Weber, Raymondaspis sp.	?Laccoprimitia sp., ?Quadrijugatoriidae, Egorovella sp.											
		Kuiby- shevo	?	?											
Dapingian		(= Lebed')	Eorobergia integra Petrun., Vogdesia? tuloica Petrun., Remopleuridella altaiensis Petrun., Levirobergia ojrotica Petrun. Pliomerops sp., Eorbergia sp.	Bodenia aff. aechminitormis V. Ivan, Bodenia aff. distincta Melnik, ? Tvaereneila sp., Soaneila tuloica Melnik, Maraphonia caliginosa Melnik.											
Floian	Tuloi (= L		Taidonurus asiaticus Petrun., Tersella strobilata Petrun., T. altaica Petrun., Pytine sibirica Petrun., Lapidaria ? ishpensis Petrun., Hypermecaspis lebediensis Petrun., Shumardia tagasensis Petrun., Seleneceme improvisa Petrun.												
Tremadocian		Takoshkin (="Upper Tayanza")	Apatokephalus ex gr. serratus (Boeck), Amazasiella mirabilis Polet., Platypeltoides cf. wimani (Troeds.), Hysterolenus sp., Dikelokaphalina bidens Petrun., Symphysurus sp., Ceratopyge patula Petrun., Kaltykelins gracilis Petrun., Acrocephalina sp., Amzasskiella obliqua Petrun., Niobe zhulanica Petrun.	?											

Underlying units

Fig. 4. Continued.

4















Low V Dark-gray, geenish-gray siltstone, fine-grained sandstone, lilac gravelite and conglomerate. Isograptus gibberulus (Nich.), Is. forsipiformis (Rued.), Is. hemicyclus (Harr.), Is. schrenki Obut et Sob., Exp. etensus (Hal.), I. maximo-diverger tetragraptus bigsbyi (Hal.), Eotetragraptus harti (Hall.), Corymbograptus holibi Kraft, Cor. deflexus (El. et W.), Pseudisograptus manubriatus (Idiostrophia tuboviensis Severg., Archaeortins altaica Severg., Isophragma ex gr. extensum Coop., Eorobergiaintegra Petrun., Remopleuridiella altaienbia tubovienzitis Congatus Bulm., Maraphonia caliginosa Melnik, 7 Tvaerenella sp., Soanella tubica Melnik, Maraphonia caliginosa Melnik, 8 corganatus tertagraptus entosifidus Elles 9 hyllograptus anotofifidus Elles 9 hyllograptus anotograptus succesus (Hall), Exp. taimyrensis Obut et Sob., 8 Nanothis gloriosus Severg., Hesperonomia paratylyensis Severg., Tersella altaica Petrun., Lapidaria ? ishpensis Petrun., Rhabdochitina turgida 4 Acrograptus balticus (Tullb.) Tetrapraptus approximatus (Nich.), Eoteragraptus harti (T.S.Hall), Eotet. aff. headi (Salt.), Nanorthis multicostata UIr. et C	
Unit 10 CHEBORP M. Upper subformation Upper subformation Upper subformation Upper subformation Upper subformation Opper subformation Upper subformation Opper subformation	
Unit 10 CHEBORP M. Upper subformation Upper subformation Upper subformation Upper subformation Upper subformation Opper subformation Upper subformation Opper subformation	
Unit 10 CHEBORP M. Upper subformation	
Unit 10 CHEBORP M. Upper subformation Upper subformation Upper subformation Upper subformation Upper subformation Opper subformation Upper subformation Opper subformation	
United Variegated sandstone, alleuro-sandstone, shales. Glyptomena subgivanensis Severg. Austinella sp. Upper subformation Upper subformation Gray Imestone, including algae, biogenic-classic, stromatolite, collic, imry sitistone, mudstone and sandstone. Mycropor minutes (Rad.). Calephaneis propulation Severg. Austinella lebediensis Severg. Fardenia scalena Will., Calthrodic/proi Balardina attice Severg. Severg. Fordenia scalena Will., Calthrodic/proi Krigiscian marcassonia VKniii. Phragmodus undatus Br. et M., Panderodus C. P. gracitis (Br. et M.). Decochilina (Laccochilina) lebediensis Menik., Bobina Menik., Bobina sonikov Menik., Locatonika Menik., Bobina Menik., Bobina sonikov Menik., Locatonika U. P. gracitis (Br. et M.). Abelognations sp. Bornadortis Experimes Soveg., Thragmodus andatus Br. et M., Panderodus cl. P. gracitis (Br. et M.). Abelognations sp. Scandold sep., Finagmodus undatus Br. et M., Panderodus cl. P. gracitis (Br. et M.). Abelognations sp. Bornadortis Experimes Soveg., Topalia cl. granitis Severg., Fardantos sp. Panderodus gracitis (Br. et M.). Belodina compressa (Br. et M.). Phragmodus undatus Br. et M., Eraticodon sp. Lower subformation Resultaria Atlace Severg., Howellites cl. Rava (Law). Rostificatius stellionesis (Severg.). Erdonthis subinexpecta Severg., Carolinite Scoregraphic Severg., Carolinite Scoregraphic Severg., Carolinite Scoregraphic Severg., Topalia cl. granitis Severg., Foundatione, sillstone. File Source Severg., Topalia cl. granitis Severg., Experimetario silleborine subicoregraphic sep., Clima	
Image: state in the state in thestate in the state in the state in the state in the st	20222200
unggen Gray limestone, including algae, biogenic-clastic, stromatolik, collitic, limy silistone, mudstone and sandstone. Approprint Approprint Approprint Approprint <	> 650 m
unique Unique<	
Uniform The second set of	
ugou Neink, Bolt Arabsenias Meink, Soaneia perunnae Meink, Egorovena demissa Meink, Unitatios Meink, Pseudozygobolina in Meink, Alexandodus sp., Phragmodus undatus Br. et M., Panderodus cf. P graciilis (Br. et M.), Aphelognathus sp. Breadoritis toganeis Severg. Tripiesis monofica Therm., Chaulistomelia anzasensis (Severg.), Anoptambonites grayae sibirica Severg., Straphomena lebediensis Baven, R. Atalica Jarosti, Bl., Jabeganelius sp. Panderodus graciilis (Br. et M.), Belodina compressa (Br. et M.), Phragmodus undatus Br. et M., Eraticodon sp. Lower subformation Alternation of gray-colored linestone, limy siltstone and sandstone, with basal gravelite, rare conglomerate. Fascifera burgensis (Br. et M.), Belodina compressa (Br. et M.), Rostriceliula stretiniansis Severg., Hemiarges sp., Climacograptus sp., Diplograptus: Apatomorpha ataxica Severg., Topaelle cf. grandis Severg., Ecoanastrophia lebediensis Jectin. Apatomorpha ataxica Severg., Howellites cf. flava (Havi, N. Rostriceliula stretiniansis Severg., Hemiarges sp., Climacograptus sp., Diplograptus: KARASA FM. Gray-green aleuro-sandstone, quartz sandstone, siltstone. Hustedograptus tereflusculus (Hisinger) Giptograptus confertus (Lapw.), Diplograptus sp., Amplexograptus coletatus (Lapw.) Amplexograptus confertus (Lapw.), Diplograptus sp., Amplexograptus coletatus (Lapw.) Amplexograptus confertus (Lapw.), Diplograptus sp., Amplexograptus coletatus (Lapw.) Giptograptus dentatus (Brogn.) Bar	
unique Bit and the second of the togenesis Severg. The second of the second of the togenesis Severg. The second of the second of the togenesis Severg. The second of the secon	bina dubia
Union Panderodus gracilis (Br. et M.,), Balodina compressa (Br. et M.), Phragmodus undatus Br. et M., Eraticodon sp. Lower subformation Lower subformation Alternation of gray-colored limestone, limy siltstone and sandstone, with basal gravelite, rare conglomerate. Fascifara burgensis Severg., Togaella cf. grandis Severg., Ecanastrophia lebediensis (Severg.), Eridorthis subinexpecta Severg., Carolinites Econberging lebediensis Petruin. Apatomorpha altaica Severg., Howellites cf. flava (Havl.), Rostricellula stretiniensis Severg., Hemiarges sp., Climacograptus sp., Diplograptus (KARASA FM.) Gray-green aleuro-sandstone, quartz sandstone, siltstone. Hustedograptus confertus (Lapw.), Diplograptus sp., Amplexograptus coelatus (Lapw.) Amplexograptus confertus (Lapw.), Diplograptus sp., Amplexograptus coelatus (Lapw.) Amplexograptus confertus (Lapw.), Cyathochtina tulciensis Obut et Zasl., Conochtina celandica Els. Soanella tubica Mehnik., 7Laccoprimitia sp., 7Quadrijugatoriidae Undudograptus dentatus (Bongn.) Mudatograptus dentatus Genora. Concisiona aff. subquadrate (Hal), Hesperorthia matrovae Rozm., Tondorthis sibrica Petrun., Carolinites sp., Conchodomas sp., Conchronitia sp., Cluadrijugatoriidae Value graptus dentatus (Bongn.) Petrun., Laccoprimitia sp., Cluadrijugatoriidae Value graptus sharenbergi (Lapw.), Cryptograptus tricornis insectiformis Rued., Echergia metopsis Petrun., Carolinites sp., Conchodomas sp., Conchronitia sp., Counding and tubica Mehnik. Y Yura-sp., Soanelia tubicia Mehnik., Prograptors altinda Severg., Eroidergraptus s	
Union Panderodus gracilis (Br. et M.,), Balodina compressa (Br. et M.), Phragmodus undatus Br. et M., Eraticodon sp. Lower subformation Lower subformation Alternation of gray-colored limestone, limy siltstone and sandstone, with basal gravelite, rare conglomerate. Fascifara burgensis Severg., Togaella cf. grandis Severg., Ecanastrophia lebediensis (Severg.), Eridorthis subinexpecta Severg., Carolinites Econberging lebediensis Petruin. Apatomorpha altaica Severg., Howellites cf. flava (Havl.), Rostricellula stretiniensis Severg., Hemiarges sp., Climacograptus sp., Diplograptus (KARASA FM.) Gray-green aleuro-sandstone, quartz sandstone, siltstone. Hustedograptus confertus (Lapw.), Diplograptus sp., Amplexograptus coelatus (Lapw.) Amplexograptus confertus (Lapw.), Diplograptus sp., Amplexograptus coelatus (Lapw.) Amplexograptus confertus (Lapw.), Cyathochtina tulciensis Obut et Zasl., Conochtina celandica Els. Soanella tubica Mehnik., 7Laccoprimitia sp., 7Quadrijugatoriidae Undudograptus dentatus (Bongn.) Mudatograptus dentatus Genora. Concisiona aff. subquadrate (Hal), Hesperorthia matrovae Rozm., Tondorthis sibrica Petrun., Carolinites sp., Conchodomas sp., Conchronitia sp., Cluadrijugatoriidae Value graptus dentatus (Bongn.) Petrun., Laccoprimitia sp., Cluadrijugatoriidae Value graptus sharenbergi (Lapw.), Cryptograptus tricornis insectiformis Rued., Echergia metopsis Petrun., Carolinites sp., Conchodomas sp., Conchronitia sp., Counding and tubica Mehnik. Y Yura-sp., Soanelia tubicia Mehnik., Prograptors altinda Severg., Eroidergraptus s	
Alternation of gray-colored limestone, limy siltstone and sandstone, with basal gravelite, rare conglomerate. Fascifera burnensis Severg., Togaella cf. grandis Severg., Econastrophia lebediensis (Severg.), Eridorthis subinexpecta Severg., Carolinites Econbergia lebediensis Petrun., Apatomorpha atlaica Severg., Howellites cf. flava (Havl.), Rostricellula stretiniensis Severg., Hermiarges sp., Climacograptus sp., Diplograptus KARASA FM. Gray-green aleuro-sandstone, quartz sandstone, siltstone. Hustedograptus euglyphus (Lapw.), Diplograptus sp., Amplexograptus coelatus (Lapw.) Amplexograptus confertus (Lapw.), Cypathochitina tulciensis Obut et Zasl., Conochitina oelandica Elis. Soanella tuloica Melnik., ?Laccoprimitia sp., ?Quadrijugatoriidae Undulograptus dentatue (Brongn.) Parastrophine bilobate Sp., 'Luccoprimitia sp., ?Quadrijugatoriidae Undulograptus dentatus (Brongn.) Parastrophine bilobate sp. Lonchodomas sp. L	155-250 m
Errobergia lebediensis Petrin. Apatomorpha altaica Severg., Howellites cf. flava (Havl.), Rostricellula stretiniensis Severg., Hemiarges sp., Climacograptus sp., Diplograptus: KARASA FM. Gray-green aleuro-sandstone, quartz sandstone, siltstone. Hustedograptus teretiusculus (Hisinger) Glyptograptus euglyphus (Lapw.), Diplograptus sp., Amplexograptus coelatus (Lapw.) Amplexograptus confertus (Lapw.), Cyathochtina tuioiensis Obut et Zasl., Conochtina oelandica Eis. Soanella tuloica Melnik., ?Laccoprimitia sp., ?Quadrijugatoriidae Undulgraptus dentatus (Brongn.) Diplograptus starsubnick Sev., Ujuktes tariykensis Andr., Ceraurinelia laigenata Petrun., Atryctopyge stinica Petrun., Carolimites sp., Carolimides sp., Conserting and stone, line-grained sandstone, liac gravilie and congjomerate. Undulgraptus bindstore. TuLOI FM. E. hirundo (Salt.), I. accoprimita sp., Pseudochargaraptus sharenbergi (Lapw.), Cryptograptus (Harr.), Is. schrenki Obut et Sob., Exp. elensus (Hal.), J. maximo-diverger to alloging and tuibuits agritus bindstore. Undulgraptus bindstore. TuLOI FM. E. hirundo (Salt.), I. acauceus imitatus Harri The-grained sandstore. Undulgraptus bindstore. Tul. Corpindograptus subicolitica Melnik., Prograptus Billione agritus bille and conglomerate. Tul.OI FM. Ine-grained sandstore. Tul. Corpindograptus hubble Kraft. Cor. deflexus (El. et W.), Pseudograptus enable full., Penetorgraptus and an anna Hall. Expansograptus succicus (Tullb.), Pendeograptus aff. allalandistone liac advinitis (Walt.), I. forspinformis (Van., Bodenia all. accimitori	
Errobergia lebediensis Petrin. Apatomorpha altaica Severg., Howellites cf. flava (Havl.), Rostricellula stretiniensis Severg., Hemiarges sp., Climacograptus sp., Diplograptus: KARASA FM. Gray-green aleuro-sandstone, quartz sandstone, siltstone. Hustedograptus teretiusculus (Hisinger) Glyptograptus euglyphus (Lapw.), Diplograptus sp., Amplexograptus coelatus (Lapw.) Amplexograptus confertus (Lapw.), Cyathochtina tuioiensis Obut et Zasl., Conochtina oelandica Eis. Soanella tuloica Melnik., ?Laccoprimitia sp., ?Quadrijugatoriidae Undulgraptus dentatus (Brongn.) Diplograptus starsubnick Sev., Ujuktes tariykensis Andr., Ceraurinelia laigenata Petrun., Atryctopyge stinica Petrun., Carolimites sp., Carolimides sp., Conserting and stone, line-grained sandstone, liac gravilie and congjomerate. Undulgraptus bindstore. TuLOI FM. E. hirundo (Salt.), I. accoprimita sp., Pseudochargaraptus sharenbergi (Lapw.), Cryptograptus (Harr.), Is. schrenki Obut et Sob., Exp. elensus (Hal.), J. maximo-diverger to alloging and tuibuits agritus bindstore. Undulgraptus bindstore. TuLOI FM. E. hirundo (Salt.), I. acauceus imitatus Harri The-grained sandstore. Undulgraptus bindstore. Tul. Corpindograptus subicolitica Melnik., Prograptus Billione agritus bille and conglomerate. Tul.OI FM. Ine-grained sandstore. Tul. Corpindograptus hubble Kraft. Cor. deflexus (El. et W.), Pseudograptus enable full., Penetorgraptus and an anna Hall. Expansograptus succicus (Tullb.), Pendeograptus aff. allalandistone liac advinitis (Walt.), I. forspinformis (Van., Bodenia all. accimitori	
Apatomorpha altaica Severg., Howellites cf. flava (Havl.), Rostricellula stretiniensis Severg., Herniarges sp., Climacograptus sp., Diplograptus criterion of the severg., Herniarges sp., Climacograptus sp., Diplograptus criterion of the severg., Herniarges sp., Climacograptus sp., Diplograptus criterion of the severg., Herniarges sp., Climacograptus sp., Diplograptus criterion of the severg., Herniarges sp., Climacograptus sp., Diplograptus criterion of the severg., Herniarges sp., Climacograptus sp., Diplograptus criterion of the severg., Herniarges sp., Climacograptus sp., Diplograptus criterion of the severg., Herniarges sp., Climacograptus sp., Diplograptus criterion of the severg., Herniarges sp., Climacograptus sp., Diplograptus criterion of the severg., Herniarges sp., Climacograptus sp., Diplograptus criterion of the severg., Herniarges sp., Climacograptus criterion of the severg., Sophragma ext., Karckorphila talica Severg., Leaver of the severg., Cordinarge sp., Cordinarge Sp., Climacograptus sp.,	ites sp.,
Image: Construct of the subsystem of the su	<i>tus</i> sp. ind. 150-250 m
Image: Construct of the subsystem of the su	
Image: Construct of the subsystem of the su	
Image: Construct of the second sec	
Image: Construct of the second sec	
Undulograptus dentatus (Brongn.) Parastrophina bilobata Coop., Christiana aff. subquadrata (Hall), Hesperorthis markovae Rozm., Trondorthis sibirica Severg., Isophragma ext Coop., Glyptomena karasuensis Sev., Ujukites tariykensis Andr., Ceraurinella latigenata Petrun., Atryctopyge sibirica Petrun., Chemidopyge tu Petrun., Laccoprimita sp. Variation - Acop., Glyptomena karasuensis Sev., Ujukites tariykensis Andr., Ceraurinella latigenata Petrun., Atryctopyge sibirica Petrun., Carolinites sp., Lonchodomas sp. UBD - Acop., Glyptomena karasuensis Sev., Ujukites tariykensis Andr., Ceraurinella latigenata Petrun., Atryctopyge sibirica Petrun., Carolinites sp., Lonchodomas sp. Dark-gray, geenish-gray siltstone, Incordomas sp. TULOI FM. E. hirundo (Salt.), I. caduceus imitatus Harri Isograptus gibberulus (Nich.), Is. forsipiformis (Rued.), Is. hemicyclus (Harr.), Is. schrenki Obut et Sob., Exp. etensus (Hall.), I. maximo-diverger IdioStrophia tuloviensis Severg., Archaeorthis altaica Severg., Isophragma ex gr. extensum Coop., Eorobergiaintegra Petrun., Remopleuridiella dioStrophia tuloviensis Severg., Archaeorthis altaica Severg., Isophragma ex gr. extensum Coop., Eorobergiaintegra Petrun., Remopleuridiella dioStrophia tuloviensis Severg., Archaeorthis altaica Severg., Isophragma ex gr. extensum Coop., Eorobergiaintegra Petrun., Remopleuridiella dioStrophia tuloviensis Severg., Hesperonomia gratus phyllograptus anna anna Hall, Expansograptus suecicus (Tullb.), Pendeograptus and pendens EL., Acrograptus cognatus extensus (Hall.), Exp. taimyrensis Obut et Sob., Nanothis gloriosus Severg., Hesperonomia paratylyensis Severg., Tersella altaica Petrun., Lapidaria ? ishpensis Petrun., Rhabdochitina turgida Acrograptus balticus (Tullb.) UBionograptus approximatus (Nich.), Eoteragraptus	
Undulograptus dentatus (Brongn.) Parastrophina bilobata Coop., Christiana aff. subquadrata (Hall), Hesperorthis markovae Rozm., Trondorthis sibirica Severg., Isophragma ext Coop., Glyptomena karasuensis Sev., Ujukites tariykensis Andr., Ceraurinella latigenata Petrun., Atryctopyge sibirica Petrun., Chemidopyge tu Petrun., Laccoprimita sp. Variation - Acop., Glyptomena karasuensis Sev., Ujukites tariykensis Andr., Ceraurinella latigenata Petrun., Atryctopyge sibirica Petrun., Carolinites sp., Lonchodomas sp. UBD - Acop., Glyptomena karasuensis Sev., Ujukites tariykensis Andr., Ceraurinella latigenata Petrun., Atryctopyge sibirica Petrun., Carolinites sp., Lonchodomas sp. Dark-gray, geenish-gray siltstone, Incordomas sp. TULOI FM. E. hirundo (Salt.), I. caduceus imitatus Harri Isograptus gibberulus (Nich.), Is. forsipiformis (Rued.), Is. hemicyclus (Harr.), Is. schrenki Obut et Sob., Exp. etensus (Hall.), I. maximo-diverger IdioStrophia tuloviensis Severg., Archaeorthis altaica Severg., Isophragma ex gr. extensum Coop., Eorobergiaintegra Petrun., Remopleuridiella dioStrophia tuloviensis Severg., Archaeorthis altaica Severg., Isophragma ex gr. extensum Coop., Eorobergiaintegra Petrun., Remopleuridiella dioStrophia tuloviensis Severg., Archaeorthis altaica Severg., Isophragma ex gr. extensum Coop., Eorobergiaintegra Petrun., Remopleuridiella dioStrophia tuloviensis Severg., Hesperonomia gratus phyllograptus anna anna Hall, Expansograptus suecicus (Tullb.), Pendeograptus and pendens EL., Acrograptus cognatus extensus (Hall.), Exp. taimyrensis Obut et Sob., Nanothis gloriosus Severg., Hesperonomia paratylyensis Severg., Tersella altaica Petrun., Lapidaria ? ishpensis Petrun., Rhabdochitina turgida Acrograptus balticus (Tullb.) UBionograptus approximatus (Nich.), Eoteragraptus	
Image: Perturn., Laccoprimitia sp. Pseudoclimacograptus sharenbergi (Lapw.), Cryptograptus tricornis insectiformis Rued., Eorbergia metopsis Petrun., Carolinites sp., Lonchodomas sp. Pseudoclimacograptus sharenbergi (Lapw.), Cryptograptus tricornis insectiformis Rued., Eorbergia metopsis Petrun., Carolinites sp., Lonchodomas sp. Dark-gray, geenish-gray siltstone, Insograptus gibberulus (Nich.), Is. forsipiformis (Rued.), Is. hemicyclus (Harr.), Is. schrenki Obut et Sob., Exp. etensus (Hall.), I. maximo-diverger Isograptus gibberulus (Nich.), Is. torsipiformis (Rued.), Is. hemicyclus (Harr.), Is. schrenki Obut et Sob., Exp. etensus (Hall.), I. maximo-diverger Idostrophia tuloviensis Severg., Archaeorthis altaica Severg., Isophragma ex gr. extensum Coop., Eoropergiaintegra Petrun., Remopleuridiella Idostrophia tuloviensis Severg., Archaeorthis altaica Severg., Isophragma ex gr. extensum Coop., Eoropergiaintegra Petrun., Remopleuridiella Idostrophia tuloviensis Severg., Archaeorthis altaica Severg., Isophragma ex gr. extensum Coop., Eoropergiaintegra Petrun., Remopleuridiella Idostrophia tuloviensis Severg., Archaeorthis altaica Severg., Isophragma ex gr. extensum Coop., Eoropergiaintegra Petrun., Remopleuridiella Idostrophia tuloviensis Severg., Archaeorthis altaica Severg., Isophragma ex gr. extensum Coop., Eoropergiaintegra Petrun., Remopleuridiella Idostrophia tuloviensis Compatus Bulm., Phyllograptus anna anna Hall, Expansograptus suecicus (Tullb.), Pendeograptus aff. Didymograptus protobifidus Elles Phyllograptus densus Tornq., Phyllograptus licifolius glaber Mon. Acr. pussilus (Tul.), Expansograptus extensus (Hall), Exp. taimyrensis Obut et Sob., Nanorthis gloriosus Severg., Hesperonomia paratylyensis Severg., Tersella altaica Petrun., Lapidaria ? ishpensis Petrun., Rhabdochitina turgida Acrograptus balticus (Tullb.) Tetrapraptus approximatus	
Image: Perturn., Laccoprimitia sp. Pseudoclimacograptus sharenbergi (Lapw.), Cryptograptus tricornis insectiformis Rued., Eorbergia metopsis Petrun., Carolinites sp., Lonchodomas sp. Pseudoclimacograptus sharenbergi (Lapw.), Cryptograptus tricornis insectiformis Rued., Eorbergia metopsis Petrun., Carolinites sp., Lonchodomas sp. Dark-gray, geenish-gray siltstone, Insograptus gibberulus (Nich.), Is. forsipiformis (Rued.), Is. hemicyclus (Harr.), Is. schrenki Obut et Sob., Exp. etensus (Hall.), I. maximo-diverger Isograptus gibberulus (Nich.), Is. torsipiformis (Rued.), Is. hemicyclus (Harr.), Is. schrenki Obut et Sob., Exp. etensus (Hall.), I. maximo-diverger Idostrophia tuloviensis Severg., Archaeorthis altaica Severg., Isophragma ex gr. extensum Coop., Eoropergiaintegra Petrun., Remopleuridiella Idostrophia tuloviensis Severg., Archaeorthis altaica Severg., Isophragma ex gr. extensum Coop., Eoropergiaintegra Petrun., Remopleuridiella Idostrophia tuloviensis Severg., Archaeorthis altaica Severg., Isophragma ex gr. extensum Coop., Eoropergiaintegra Petrun., Remopleuridiella Idostrophia tuloviensis Severg., Archaeorthis altaica Severg., Isophragma ex gr. extensum Coop., Eoropergiaintegra Petrun., Remopleuridiella Idostrophia tuloviensis Severg., Archaeorthis altaica Severg., Isophragma ex gr. extensum Coop., Eoropergiaintegra Petrun., Remopleuridiella Idostrophia tuloviensis Compatus Bulm., Phyllograptus anna anna Hall, Expansograptus suecicus (Tullb.), Pendeograptus aff. Didymograptus protobifidus Elles Phyllograptus densus Tornq., Phyllograptus licifolius glaber Mon. Acr. pussilus (Tul.), Expansograptus extensus (Hall), Exp. taimyrensis Obut et Sob., Nanorthis gloriosus Severg., Hesperonomia paratylyensis Severg., Tersella altaica Petrun., Lapidaria ? ishpensis Petrun., Rhabdochitina turgida Acrograptus balticus (Tullb.) Tetrapraptus approximatus	extensum e tuloica
UBJE O UBJE O Dark-gray, geenish-gray siltstone, liac gravelite and conglomerate. TULOI FM. Environment E. hirundo (Salt.), I. caduceus imitatus Hami Ine-grained sandstone, liac gravelite and conglomerate. TULOI FM. Environment E. hirundo (Salt.), I. caduceus imitatus Hami Ine-grained sandstone, liac gravelite and conglomerate. TULOI FM. Environment E. hirundo (Salt.), I. caduceus imitatus Hami Ine-grained sandstone, liac gravelite and conglomerate. TULOI FM. Environment E. hirundo (Salt.), I. caduceus imitatus Hami Indistrophia Iuloica Petrun., Nogdesia ? Iuloica Petrun., Bodenia aff. generotris y Invarenella sp., Soanella tuloica Melnik, Maraphonia caliginosa Melnik., Preventense sp., Soanella tuloica Melnik, Maraphonia caliginosa Melnik., Pseudophyllograptus anna sing tuloica Petrun., Bodenia aff. distincta Melnik,. Pseudophyllograptus canalyticitic y Interventent and tuloica Melnik, Maraphonia caliginosa Melnik., Pseudophyllograptus and substicitic Substitus (Tal., Expansograptus subcicus (Tullb.), Pendeograptus and All, Expansograptus subcicus (Tullb.), Pendeograptus and All, Expansograptus substitus (Tullb.), Pendeograptus and substitus (Tullb.), Expansograptus substitus (Tullb.), Expansograptus expansitis (Hall), Exp. taimyrensis Obut et Sob., Nanorthis gloriosus Severg., Hesperonomia paratylyensis Severg., Tersella altaica Petrun., Lapidaria ? ishpensis Petrun., Rhabdochitina turgida Acrograptus	
University Dark-gray, geenish-gray siltstone, fine-grained sandstone, lilac gravelite and conglomerate. TULOI FM. E. hirundo (Salt.), I. caduceus imitatus Harrii fine-grained sandstone, lilac gravelite and conglomerate. TULOI FM. Image: State of the state of th	100.150
Image: Second	420-450 m
Image: Second	
Image: Comparison of the set of the	us (Hall) ella
II Phyllograptus densus Tornq., Phyllograptus licitolius glaber Mon. Acropussius (Tul), Expansograptus extensus (Hall), Exp. taimyrensis Obut et Sob., Nanorthis gloriosus Severg., Hesperonomia paratylyensis Severg., Tersella altaica Petrun., Lapidaria ? ishpensis Petrun., Rhabdochitina turgida Acrograptus balticus (Tulib.) II Preside altaica Petrun., Lapidaria ? ishpensis Petrun., Rhabdochitina turgida Acrograptus balticus (Tulib.) II Preside altaica Petrun., Lapidaria ? ishpensis Petrun., Rhabdochitina turgida Acrograptus balticus (Tulib.) III Preside altaica Petrun., Lapidaria ? ishpensis Petrun., Rhabdochitina turgida Acrograptus balticus (Tulib.) III Preside altaica Petrun., Lapidaria ? ishpensis Petrun., Rhabdochitina turgida Acrograptus balticus (Tulib.) IIII Preside altaica Petrun., Lapidaria ? ishpensis Petrun., Rhabdochitina turgida Acrograptus balticus (Tulib.) IIII Preside altaica Petrun., Lapidaria ? ishpensis Petrun., Rhabdochitina turgida Acrograptus balticus (Tulib.) IIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII	
Acr. pussilus (1ul.), Expansograptus extensus (Hall), Exp. taimyrensis Obut et Sob. Nanorthis gloriosus Severg., Hesperonomia paratylyensis Severg., Tersella altaica Petrun., Lapidaria ? ishpensis Petrun., Rhabdochitina turgida Acrograptus balticus (Tullb.) Tetrapraptus approximatus (Nich.), Eoteragraptus harti (T.S.Hall), Eotet. aff. headi (Salt.), Nanorthis multicostata Ulr. et Coop., Shumardia tagasensis Petrun., Pytine sibirica Petrun., Seleneceme improvisa Petrun.	
E Acrograptus balticus (Tullb.) O I O I Tetrapraptus approximatus (Nich.), Eoteragraptus harti (T.S.Hall), Eotet. aff. headi (Salt.), Nanorthis multicostata Ulr. et Coop., Shumardia tagasensis Petrun., Pytine sibirica Petrun., Seleneceme improvisa Petrun.	gida lev.
Tetrapraptus approximatus (Nich.), Eoteragraptus harti (T.S.Hall), Eotet. aff. headi (Salt.), Nanorthis multicostata Ulr. et Coop., Shumardia tagasensis Petrun., Pytine sibirica Petrun., Seleneceme improvisa Petrun.	
	265-600 m
I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I	
Member 3 - variegated siltstone. Apatokephalus ex gr. serratus Sars., Amzasskiella mirabilis Polet., Glaphurus cf. coronatus Z.Max., Nanorthis shoriensis Severg.	а
mirabilis Polet., Glaphurus cf. coronatus Z.Max., Nanorthis shoriensis Severg.	
	100 m
Member 2 - variegated limestone, sandstone, siltstone. Apatokephalus bijanus Petrun.	run.,
Image: Second structure Member 3 - variegated siltstone. Apatokephalus ex gr. serratus Sars., Amzasskiella mirabilis Polet., Glaphurus cf. coronatus Z.Max., Nanorthis shoriensis Severg. Image: Second structure Member 2 - variegated limestone, sandstone, siltstone. Apatokephalus bijanus Petrun. Symphysurus sp., Adelograptus tenellus (Linn.), Kiaerograptus kiaeri (Mons.), Nanorthis shoriensis Severg.	
	125
	425 m
Underlying units E	12



1.1.1. REGIONAL STRATIGRAPHIC UNITS OF THE WESTERN PART OF ASFA

Takoshkin (=Verkhne-Tayanza) Regional stage (Horizon) was defined by collective authors (Sennikov et al., 2014, 2018a,b).

The position of the lower boundary of the Ordovician System and, correspondingly, the position of the Tremadocian Stage (Lower Ordovician) were fixed in the Green Point type section on Newfoundland, Canada (Cooper et al., 2001), with the zonal conodont species *Iapetognathus fluctivagus*. The lower boundary of the Tremadocian is now correlated with the lower boundaries of the fossil-bearing Marcheta Formation (the Zasur'ya Group, Gorny Altai). With a low degree of certainty, the lower boundary of the Tremadocian is correlated with the lower boundaries of the nonfossiliferous Suetka and Tekelyu Formations (the Gorny Altai Group, Altai). Hereafter, for younger Ordovician chronostratigraphic intervals, no data are presented on the succession of formations in the Ulagan zone of Gorny Altai: Eritag, Advgkhan, Kvzvltash, Kosbazhi, Pichikhem, and Svntygan (Naumenko and Gutak, 1982). This is explained by the fact that the boundaries of these six formations are tentatively correlated with the lower boundaries of six Ordovician stages of the ISS because of the extremely poor paleontological knowledge of the entire Ordovician section of this part of Altai. According to the old official chart (Decisions..., 1983), the Dobry Horizon was the oldest one in the succession of Ordovician regional stratigraphic units in the western ASFA. This horizon was detected from trilobite assemblages and correlated with the Lower Tremadocian. The Upper Tremadocian included the next horizon - the Tayanza Horizon, substantiated (Decisions..., 1983) by a succession of trilobite assemblages (Petrunina, 1966, 1968, 1973). In recent years, in the Biya-Katun' zone (Gorny Altai), the Middle Kamlak Subformation, correlated on trilobites with the Tayanza Horizon, conodont assemblages (including the Upper Cambrian Proconodontus Zone and the lowermost Ordovician Iapetognathus/Iapetonudus Zone), which mark the position of the Cambrian/Ordovician boundary in the upper Tayanza Horizon (Sennikov et al., 2014) were found. The Tayanza Horizon on trilobites in the key sections of Gornaya Shoriya was divided into three zones: (1) Ap. sibiricus/N. oriens, (2) Am. mirabilis/Sh. pusillina, and (3) Ter. strobilata/Niobe zhulanica (Petrunina, 1966, 1968). On the other hand, in the Middle and Upper Kamlak subformations of the Biya-Katun' zone (Gorny Altai) and in the Middle and Upper Ishpa subformations of the Uymen'-Lebed' zone, the Tayanza Horizon contains two trilobite assemblages clearly different in stratigraphic position. The first one corresponds to above-mentioned two lower trilobite zones, whereas the upper one corresponds to the third zone. Therefore, the Tayanza regional stratigraphic unit could be accepted in horizon rank and divided into two subhorizons, formally named "Lower-Middle Tayanza" and "Upper Tayanza". The lower unit must correspond to the upper Cambrian (the Proconodontus conodont Zone), whereas the "Upper Tayanza" unit must belong to the Tremadocian: the Iapetognathus/Iapetonudus conodont Zone and the B. ramosus/Tr. osloensis/Al. hyperboreus graptolite Zone (Sennikov et al., 2008, 2014; 2018a,b).

The trilobite species Harpidoides eximius Petrun., Acrocephalina lata Petrun., A. contracta Petrun., Lusampa cupoides Petrun., L. tenuis Petrun., Bilacunaspis repentis Petrun., B. angusta Petrun., Niobella altaiensis Petrun., Proapatokephalops altaicus Petrun, Plethopeltides (Maximovella) improvisus Petrun, and Ishpella repentina Petrun, which coexist in the Lower Kamlak Subformation with the conodonts of the Upper Cambrian Proconodontus Zone, were previously assigned to the Dobry Horizon, correlated with the Lower Tremadocian. According to the presented conodont data, the Dobry Horizon in the western ASFA should be correlated with the Upper Cambrian. Trilobites Kaufmannella (Butyrinia) robustispina Petrun. and Kaltykelina altaica Petrun., typical of the upper Dobry Horizon and the Lower-Middle Tayanza Subhorizon, are observed in the upper part of the Lower Kamlak Subformation and in the Middle Kamlak Subformation, lower in the section than conodonts Iapetonudus sp. These Dobry-Tayanza "transitional" taxa should be assigned to the Late Cambrian. Trilobites Niobides cf. armatus Harr. et Leanza, Platypeltoides cf. anderssoni (Troeds.), Platypeltoides cf. wimani (Troeds.), Macropyge urceolata Petrun., Apatokephalus kamlakensis Petrun, and Harpidoides assiensis Petrun, in the upper part of the Middle Kamlak Subformation were previously assigned to the lower Tayanza Horizon (= "Lower-Middle Tayanza" Subhorizon) and correlated with the lower part of the Upper Tremadocian. As the considered trilobite taxa were found lower in the Kamlak Section than conodonts Iapetonudus sp. and Iapetognathus sp., the lower part (two-thirds?) of the Tayanza Horizon ("Lower-Middle Tayanza" Subhorizon) should be viewed as the uppermost Upper Cambrian interval in the western ASFA. The trilobite species Ishpella platycephala Petrun., observed in all three Kamlak subformations, and the trilobite species Amzasskiella mirabilis Polet. in the lower part of the upper Middle Kamlak Subformation and in the Upper Kamlak Subformation within a lower interval than the graptolites of the Upper Tremadocian ramosus/osloensis/hyperboreus Zonal Level, previously assigned to the Dobry-Tayanza and Lower- Upper Tayanza "transitional" forms, respectively, should be considered Cambrian–Ordovician "transitional" taxa. In the light of the foregoing, the Ap. sibiricus/N. oriens trilobite Zone should be correlated with the Upper Cambrian, whereas the Am. mirabilis/Sh. pusillina Zone should occupy a transitional position between Cambrian and Ordovician. The elements of the assemblage of the third trilobite zone of the Tayanza Horizon - the species Bijaspis katuniana Petrun., Parapliomera sibirica Petrun., Deltacare sibirica Petrun., Euloma shorica Petrun., Apatokephalus ex gr. serratus (Sars), Hysterolenus verus Petrun., and Borogothus *altaicus* Petrun., observed in the upper part of the Upper Kamlak Subformation, lower than the graptolites of the Upper Tremadocian *B. ramosus/Tr. osloensis/Al. hyperboreus* Zonal Level, which are assigned to the "Upper Tayanza" Subhorizon and previously correlated with the Upper Tremadocian should be correlated with the chronostratigraphic extent of the entire Tremadocian.

Tuloi (=Lebed') Regional stage (Horizon) was proposed by collective authors (Decisions..., 1983; Sennikov et al., 2014, 2018a,b).

The GSSP of the Lower Ordovician Floian Stage of the ISS was detected in the Diabasbrottet Section, Sweden, and marked by the first appearance of the graptolite marker species Tetragraptus approximatus (Bergström et al., 2004). The marker species of the lower boundary of the Floian Stage T. approximatus is observed in the Tuloi Formation of the Uymen'-Lebed' zone of Gorny Altai. Correspondingly, the lower boundary of the Tuloi Formation (Tuloi stratotype section) and the lower boundary of the regional stratigraphic unit based on biostratigraphic data on this formation – the Lebed' Horizon, are correlated with the base of the Floian Stage of the GSSR. The lower boundary of the Talitsa Formation (Zasur'va Group) in northwestern Gorny Altai is correlated by conodont assemblages with the lower boundary of the Floian Stage less reliably than the lower boundary of the Tuloi Formation. The Lagenochitina esthonica chitinozoan Zone is recognized in the interval corresponding to the Floian Stage, in the GSSP of the younger Dapingian Huanghuachang Stage, China (Wang et al., 2005). The species Conochitina raymondii Achab (Achab, 1989) was recognized in this zone on Newfoundland, Canada, and, later, on the Yangtze Plate, China (Wang and Chen, 2003). This species was found in the Tuloi Formation of the Uymen'-Lebed' zone, Gorny Altai, in the densus graptolite Zone in a section near the Tandoshka River (Sennikov and Obut, 2002). It is more complicated to determine the chronostratigraphic position of the upper boundary of the previously used stratigraphic units: the Lebed' Horizon and Tuloi Formation. Finds of a diverse graptolite assemblage in the new Pridorozhny Section of Altai (Bukolova, 2011), in the uppermost Tuloi Formation of the Uymen'-Lebed' zone, Gorny Altai, immediately beneath the basal member of the Karasa Formation, require that the upper boundary of the Tuloi Formation (and, correspondingly, the lower boundary of the overlying Karasa Formation) be placed lower, at the boundary between I. caduceus imitatus and U. sinodentatus/Cardiograptus subzones of the E. hirundo graptolite Zone. Previously (Decisions..., 1983), the upper Tuloi Formation was correlated with the Kostinsky and lower part of Bugryshikha horizons. This contradicted brachiopod data (Kul'kov and Severgina, 1989) on the presence of the species Trondorthis sibirica Severg. in the type section of the Kostinsky beds near former Batun Village, in the lower Karasa Formation, which overlay the Tuloi Formation. With accepting an older age for the upper boundary of the Tuloi Formation (and, correspondingly, the lower boundary of the Karasa Formation), the brachiopod assemblage with Trondorthis sibirica Severg. occupies the same stratigraphic position both in the Kostinsky beds of the Voskresenka Formation (the Charysh-Inya zone of Gorny Altai) and the lower part Karasa Formation (the Uymen'-Lebed' zone of Gorny Altai). When the Lebed' Horizon was recognized, it encompassed (including the Lebed' stratotype section near Stretinka Village) the Tuloi Formation of the Uymen'-Lebed' zone, Gorny Altai, without its uppermost part (Decisions..., 1983). To prevent uncertainty in understanding the phrase "without its uppermost part," the stratigraphic extent of the Lebed' stratotype Section should be increased (by less than one-third) to that of the entire Tuloi Formation. Previously (Decisions..., 1983), the Lebed' Horizon was correlated with the Arenigian (a Stage of the British scale) and did not extend beyond the Lower Ordovician. In the proposed new version, the Lebed' Horizon in its stratotype coincides with the Tuloi Formation. In the new stage division of the GSSP, the Tuloi (=Lebed') Horizon will correspond to the Lower Ordovician Floian Stage and three-quarters of the Middle Ordovician Dapingian Stage.

Tuloi (=Lebed') Horizon is characterised by graptolites zones: *approximatus, densus (balticus* and *densus subzones), protobifidus, angustifolius elongatus – broggeri, gibberulus (deflexus and maximo-divergens subzones), hirundo (caduceus imitatus Subzone).*

Kuibyshevo Regional stage (Horizon) was proposed by collective authors (Sennikov et al., 2014, 2018a,b). The Dapingian GSSP is the Huanghuachang section, China, which is marked by the first appearance of the conodont species *Baltoniodus triangularis* (Wang et al., 2005). The Huangnitang Section, China, marked by the first appearance of the graptolite species *Undulograptus austrodentatus* (Mitchell et al., 1997), was selected as the Darriwilian GSSP. These two boundaries do not coincide with any of the boundaries of the fossil-bearing Ordovician local stratigraphic units of the western ASFA. With accepting an older age for the upper boundary of the Tuloi Formation, Gorny Altai (see above), a large stratigraphic gap has been detected from graptolite zonal stratigraphy between the upper boundary of the Tuloi (=Lebed') Horizon and the lower boundary of the overlying Kostinsky Horizon, according to the official Ordovician stratigraphic chart of 1979 (Decisions..., 1983). The convergence of these two neighboring horizons, required by the stratigraphic chart of 1979 (Decisions..., 1983), was not confirmed in individual sections. In the zonal scale of graptolites from the stratotypes of the considered horizons, the Tuloi (=Lebed') Horizon has "terminated" (zonal dating of the upper boundary of the horizon), whereas the Kostinsky Horizon has not "begun" (zonal record

of the lower boundary of the horizon). No actual relationships between the horizons (more precisely, neighbouring peculiar faunal assemblages) were observed in the Altai or Salair sections: The stratotype of the Tuloi (=Lebed') Horizon with the Tuloi (=Lebed') assemblage of benthic fauna is localized in the Uymen'-Lebed' zone of Gorny Altai (Lebed' Section), whereas the type sections of the Kostinsky Horizon with a peculiar assemblage of benthic fauna are localized in the Charvsh-Inva zone of this region (the Barany Section in the upper Voskresenka Formation near Ust'-Chagyrka Village and the Batun Section near former Batun Village). In the Uymen'-Lebed' Zone of Gorny Altai, the Tuloi Formation (including the stratotype of the Lebed' Horizon near the Lebed' River) is overlain by the basal sandstone member of the Karasa Formation, which does not contain any fossils. Also, they are very few in higher members of the lower Karasa Formation. The Kostinsky beds of the upper Voskresenka Formation (including the formation stratotype near the Barany Creek) in the Charysh-Inya zone of Gorny Altai are underlain by nonfossiliferous sandstone and siltstone members. In connection with these two facts, note that no sections with a continuous succession of benthic faunal assemblages are known from upper Tuloi (=Lebed') Horizon to lower part of Kostinsky Horizon in Gorny Altai or Salair Ridge. The data on the pelagic graptolite assemblages in their synthesized Altai zonal succession, compared with the data from the stratotypes of the Tuloi (=Lebed') and Kostinsky horizons, clearly indicate the presence of a chronostratigraphic interval between the termination of the former and the beginning of the latter. A new horizon is required for a continuous chronostratigraphic succession of regional units; e.g., the Kuibyshevo Horizon, after Kuibyshevo Village, Gorny Altai, with a stratotype in the Maralikha-1 Section, in the Charysh-Inya zone of the region, which contains graptolite assemblages showing a continuous zonal succession (Sennikov et al., 2008). The new horizon includes the U. sinodentatus/Cardiograptus Subzone of the E. hirundo graptolite Zone and the U. austrodentatus graptolite Zone. The stratotype section of the Kuibyshevo Horizon contains the graptolite assemblage of the *I. caduceus imitatus* Subzone of the *E. hirundo graptolite* Zone (Sennikov et al., 2008), which corresponds to the uppermost Tuloi (=Lebed') Horizon. Also, the Maralikha-1 Section contains some specimens from benthic groups: trilobites, brachiopods, nautiloids, and crinoids, which might permit determining the possible benthic faunal assemblage for the Kuibyshevo Horizon. In the new stage division of the GSSP, the Kuibyshevo Horizon will correspond to the upper quarter of the Dapingian and the lower quarter of the Darriwilian.

Kostinsky Regional stage (Horizon) was defined by E.S. Levitsky (Levitsky, 1963; Severgina, 1973; Sennikov et al., 1982; Decisions..., 1983; Sennikov et al., 2014, 2018a,b). It is aligned with the upper half of the lower Darriwilian (Da1) and middle Darriwilian (Da2).

In connection with new finds of graptolite assemblages in the type locality of the Kostinsky Horizon (the Batun Section near former Batun Village) near the Kostinsky mine in the Charysh-Inva zone of Gorny Altai, the stratigraphic extent of the Kostinsky Horizon should be increased (by less than one-third) to include two graptolite zones: U. (= ?Eogl.) dentatus and E. balhaschensis/E. kirgisicus. Previously, the Kostinsky Horizon included the Lower Llanvirnian and corresponded to the interval of the now-invalid D. bifidus graptolite Zone (Decisions..., 1983); later, it was correlated (Sennikov, 1996) with its chronostratigraphic analog – the E. balhaschensis/E. kirgisicus graptolite Zone. In the new stage division of the GSSP, the Kostinsky Horizon will correspond to the second quarter of the Dapingian. Analysis of available biostratigraphic data permits more precise positioning of the lower boundary of the Zaichikha Formation in the Berd'-Khmelevka zone of the Salair Ridge. Its base was previously correlated with the lower boundary of the *H. teretiusculus* graptolite Zone (Decisions..., 1983) and, later (Petrunina and Sennikov, 1986), with the upper boundary of the Arenig (top of the E. hirundo graptolite Zone). In the Izyrak Section, which is the stratotype for the Izyrak Formation, underlying the Zaichikha Formation, and the parastratotype for the latter, graptolites of the E. balhaschensis Zone were detected in the uppermost Izyrak and the lowermost Zaichikha formations. Graptolites of the E. jakovlevi Zone were detected 20 m higher in the section than the base of the Zaichikha Formation. The lower boundary of the Zaichikha Formation should be placed in the upper one-third (?upper quarter) of the E. balhaschensis Zone, i.e., below the upper boundary of the Kostinsky Horizon in the middle Darriwilian Stage. Similar new data on the distribution of graptolites permit more precise positioning of the base of the Karastun Formation in the Gur'evsk-El'tsovka zone of the Salair Ridge. Its lower boundary was correlated with the lower boundary of the H. teretiusculus graptolite Zone (Decisions..., 1983). Graptolites of the E. balhaschensis/E. kirgisicus Zone were detected in the Korovy Prud Section in this part of the Salair Ridge, in the lowermost Karastun Formation. By analogy with the lower boundary of the Zaichikha Formation (see above), this suggests a correlation between the base of the Karastun Formation and the upper part of the E. balhaschensis/E. kirgisicus graptolite Zone.

The Kostinsky Horizon is characterized by trilobite fauna Megalaspides sibirica Petrun., Eorobergia compacta Petrun., Kolymella cf. plana (Tchug.), Eccoptochile tchagyrica Petrun., Ceraurinella cf. frequens Tchug., and brachiopods Idiostrophia costata Ulrich and Cooper, Chaganella sp., Hesperonomia tylyensis Severg., Hesperonomiella kuznetskiana Severg., Beloviella salairica Severg., Trondorthis sibirica Severg., Tr. talovkiensis Severg.

Graptolites of the dentatus-kirgisicus Zone are known from the Kostinsky Horizon. Regional *dentatus-kirgisicus* Zone is treated as analogue of the *artus* Zone of the British zonal scale and the *dentatus* Zone of the North-American

zonal scale of the International Stratigraphic Scale, that coincides with lower 4b (=Da2) and transitional 4a/4b (Da1/ Da2) of the middle part of the Darriwilian Stage (Webby et al., 2004).

Conodonts of the *E. pseudoplanus* Zone aligned with upper subzone of the variabilis zone from the North-Atlantic zonal scale of the International Stratigraphic Scale, that coincides with the upper part of 4a (=Da1) and lower one third of 4b (=Da2) of the middle part of the Darriwilian Stage (Viira et al., 2001; Webby et al., 2004) are recovered from this horison.

Bugryshikha Regional stage (Horizon) was proposed by (Levitsky, 1963; Severgina, 1965, 1968, 1972, 1973; Gintsinger, V.Sennikov, 1967; Stratigraphic..., 1975; Decisions..., 1983; Sennikov et al., 2018a,b). This horizon is aligned with upper Darriwilian (Da3), lower Sandbian (Sa1) and lower half of upper Sandbian (Sa2).

The Sandbian GSSP, localized in the Fågelsång Section, Sweden, is marked by the first appearance of the graptolite species *Nemagraptus gracilis* (Bergström et al., 2000). This boundary is correlated with the lower boundary of the fossiliferous Gur'yanovka Formation of the Uymen'- Lebed' zone, Gorny Altai. The Sandbian Stage is divided into two time slices (Bergström et al., 2009), proposed as "informal" substages: lower and upper. The lower boundary of the upper one is marked by the base of the Cl. bicornis graptolite Zone. Reliable data have been obtained that the lower boundary of the Khankhara Horizon, detected (Sennikov et al., 2008) within the Khankhara Formation of the Charysh-Inya zone of Gorny Altai (and the lower boundary of this formation) corresponds to the middle part of the Cl. wilsoni graptolite Zone (Sennikov et al., 2011a). A basal member of oolitic limestones is localized within the Malaya Uskuchevka Section (doublet section of the formation parastratotype near the Bol'shaya Uskuchevka River) and the Khankhara Section (formation stratotype) at the base of the Khankhara Formation. In the Malaya Uskuchevka Section (Sennikov et al., 2008), the boundary between the graptolite assemblages of the Cl. peltifer/Cl. antiquus lineatus Zone (which underlies the Cl. wilsoni Zone) and the Cl. wilsoni Zone is much lower than the base of the oolitic limestones in the middle Bugryshikha Formation. This is to emphasize that the lower boundary of the Khankhara Formation must be localized higher in the section than the lower part of the *Cl. wilsoni* graptolite Zone. In the Ebogon Section, in the Anui-Chuya zone of Altai, the first (lowest) finds of the graptolite assemblage of the Dicr. clingani Zone (which overlies the Cl. wilsoni Zone) are localized considerably higher that the basal member of oolitic limestones, in the upper Khankhara Formation. This indicates that the lower boundary of the Khankhara Formation must be localized lower than the lower boundary of the Dicr. clingani graptolite Zone. The lower boundary of the Khankhara Horizon (and, correspondingly, the base of the Khankhara Formation) should be correlated with the lower boundary of the Cl. bicornis graptolite Zone (Teilzone including the upper part of the Cl. wilsoni Complexes Zone), which will correspond to the base of the "informal" Upper Sandbian Substage in the new stage subdivision of the GSSP. Conodonts from two interbeds of lumpy and clayey limestones with abundant shell fragments are observed at the lower boundary of the Khankhara Horizon from the section of the middle Gur'yanovka Formation, which is localized on the right bank of the Biya River, near the Chechenek Creek (the Biya Section in the Uymen'-Lebed' zone of Gorny Altai. The conodonts are of medium preservation, and their assemblage includes the species Panderodus gracilis (Branson and Mehl), Phragmodus undatus Branson and Mehl, and Erraticodon sp., typical of the Upper Sandbian Belodina compressa and Phragmodus undatus zones. Analysis of the biostratigraphic data makes it possible to revise the chronostratigraphic position of the lower boundary of the Veber Formation of the Gur'evsk-El'tsovka zone, Salair Ridge. In the official stratigraphic chart (Decisions..., 1983), the base of the Veber Formation, according to the data from regional correlations of benthic communities, was placed at the base of the Pl. linearis graptolite Zone (correlated with the base of the Ashgillian). A brachiopod assemblage with Boreadorthis togaensis Severg. was detected in the lower Veber Formation, near El'tsovka Village (Bobrovka limestones). This species is typical of the lower part of the Upper Gur'yanovka Subformation in the Lebed' River Section in the Uymen'-Lebed' zone of Gorny Altai (Kul'kov, Severgina, 1989). The boundary between Lower and Upper Gur'yanovka subformations, based on finds of conodonts (Lebed' and Biya sections) Scandodus sp., Phragmodus undatus Br. et M., Panderodus cf. P. gracilis (Br. et M.), Belodina compressa (Br. et Mehl), and Aphelognathus sp., is now correlated with the lower boundary of the Khankhara Horizon. Thus, with the present state of knowledge, the lower boundary of the Veber Formation of the Gur'evsk-El'tsovka zone of the Salair Ridge should be correlated with the base of the Khankhara Horizon, i.e., with the base of the Cl. bicornis graptolite Zone. In the new stage division of the GSSR, the base of the Veber Formation will correspond to the base of the "informal" Upper Sandbian Substage. On the other hand, note that trilobites *Tretaspis* sp. were found in the upper Karastun Formation, which underlies the Veber Formation, in the Karastun stratotype Section, on Mt. Orlinaya, near Gur'evsk, in the Gur'evsk-El'tsovka zone of the Salair Ridge. Trinucleid trilobites, which this species belongs to, are found in Great Britain in the lower Pushgillian Subdivision of the Ashgillian Stage, correlated with the Pl. linearis graptolite Zone (Koren', 2002). In the Charysh-Inya zone of Gorny Altai, in the Chineta Section, Tretaspis sp. were found in the lowermost Khankhara Formation (Sennikov et al., 2008). This suggests that the base of the Veber Formation (= top of the Karastun Formation) must be localized above the base of the Khankhara Horizon. In the Gur'evsk-El'tsovka zone of the Salair Ridge, the Karastun Formation

is localized below the Veber Formation. It is now the most natural to correlate the upper boundary of the Karastun Formation, which is exclusively terrigenous, with the base of the Khankhara Horizon, i.e., with the base of the *Cl. bicornis* graptolite Zone, by analogy with the upper boundary of the Bugryshikha Formation of terrigenous rocks in the Charysh–Inya zone of Gorny Altai. The Salair Veber Formation, observed (including its stratotype) in the outskirts of Gur'evsk, is underlain by sediments with basal conglomerates (like the previously recognized Gorny Formation, which is now included in the Veber Formation) and, sometimes, unconformity (Gintsinger, 1969). Some researchers (Gintsinger, 1969; Stratigraphic..., 1975; and others) were right in saying that the sedimentation of the Veber Formation might have been preceded by a gap. This gap might have been included the lower Khankhara Horizon – the interval of the *Cl. bicornis* graptolite Zone, i.e., the Upper Sandbian of the GSSP.

The Bugryshikha Horizon is subdivided into two subhorizons. The Lower Bugryshikha Subhorizon is characterized by trilobite fauna *Eorobergia integra* Petrun., *Vogdesia*? *tuloica* Petrun., *Remopleuridiella altaiensis* Petrun., *Levirobergia oirotica* Petrun., and brachiopods *Archaeorthis altaica* Severg., *Idiostrophia tuloviensis* Severg., and Upper Bugryshikha Subhorizon by trilobites *Pliomerellus latus* Petrun., *Raymondaspis altaicus* Petrun., *Robergiella margofera* Petrun., *Cnemidopyge tuloica* Petrun., *Atractopyge sibirica* Petrun., *Ceraurinella latigenata* Petrun., and brachiopods *Glyptorthis primus* Severg., *Parastrophina bilobata* Cooper, *Beloviella bugryshichaensis* Severg., *Christiania* aff. *subquadrata* (Hall), *Glyptomena karasuensis* Severg.

The lower half of the Upper Bugryshikha Subhorizon is dominated by trilobites *Homotelus angustus* Petrun., Lonchodomas (Foliopyge) levis Petrun., Ampyxella (Belaxella) infermicostata Petrun., Nileus tengriensis Web., Telephina mobergi (Hadd.), and the upper half of the Upper Bugryshikha Subhorizon-by trilobites Cybelurus planifrons Weber, Raymondella bugryshichiensis Petrun. On a whole brachiopods Apatomorpha altaica Severg., Leptellina tennesseensis Cooper, Hesperorthis markovae Rozman are distributed in the Upper Bugryshikha Subhorizon.

Graptolites of the *jakovlevi-coelatus*, *teretiusculus*, *gracilis-serratulus*, *multidens* (Subzone of *antiquus lineatuspeltifer* and lower part of Subzone *wilsoni*) zones are typical for the Bugryshikha Horizon.

Khankhara Regional stage (Horizon) was proposed by (Sennikov et al., 2008). It could be aligned with upper half of upper Sandbian (Sa2) and lower Katian (Ka1) (Sennikov et al., 2018a,b).

The Katian GSSP, observed in the Black Knob Ridge section, United States, is marked by the first appearance of the graptolite species Diplacanthograptus caudatus (Goldman et al., 2007). This boundary does not coincide with any of the boundaries of the fossil-bearing Ordovician local stratigraphic units in the western ASFA. The Katian Stage is divided into four time slices (Bergström et al., 2009), proposed as "informal" substages: lower, first middle, second middle, and upper. The lower boundary of the second substage (first middle) is marked by the base of the Pl. linearis graptolite Zone. The Tekhten' Horizon, detected in the Upper Ordovician of the western ASFA (Sennikov et al., 2008), and, correspondingly, the Tekhten' Formation (with a stratotype in the Anui-Chuya zone of Gorny Altai) (Sennikov et al., 2001) were correlated with the Ashgillian Stage of the British scale, whose base corresponded to the lower boundary of the *Pl. linearis* Zone. However, there is no conclusive evidence that the lower boundary of the Tekhten' Horizon corresponds to the base of the Pl. linearis Subzone of the O. quadrimucronatus graptolite Zone. In the Ebogon Section (the Anui-Chuya zone, Gorny Altai), the latest (uppermost) finds (Sennikov et al., 2001) of graptolites of the Dicr. clingani Subzone (the lower of two subzones of the O. quadrimucronatus Zone) are observed 300 m lower than the base of the Tekhten' Formation, which overlies the Khankhara Formation. This only shows that the lower boundary of the Tekhten' Formation is localized above the upper part of the Dicr. clingani Zone. In the Khankhara Section (the Charysh-Inya zone, Gorny Altai), graptolites of the Pl. linearis Zone were found in the lower Tekhten' Formation (previously, the upper Khankhara Formation (Sennikov et al., 1984)). The lower boundary of the Tekhten' Horizon is tentatively correlated with the base of the Pl. linearis Subzone, i.e., the base of the second "informal" Katian substage in the GSSP.

The Khankhara Horizon is subdivided into three subhorizons. Trilobites *Chasmopsella unica* Petrun., *Bronteopsis gregaria* Raum., *Jaboganellus gornoaltaicus* Petrun., *Otarionelliana koksoriana* Korol., *Eorobergia lebediensis* Petrun., and brachiopods *Onniella chancharica* (Severg.), *Plectocamara uscuchiensis* Severg., *Fascifera buraensis* Severg., *Bimuria bugryshichaensis* Severg., *Chaulistomella inaquistriata* (Cooper), *Eoanastrophia lebediensis* (Severg.) are typical for the Lower Khankhara Subhorizon.

Trilobites Ceraurinus icarus (Bill.), Calyptaulax bellatulus Petrun., Paracybeloides loveni (Linrs.), and brachiopods Boreadorthis togaensis Severg., Chaulistomella amzassensis (Severg.), Strophomena lebediensis Severg., Rostricellula ainsliei amzassica Severg., Togaella grandis Severg. are typical for the Middle Khankhara Subhorizon.

Trilobites Holotrachellus punctillosus Torng., Illaenus oviformis Warb., Illaenus cf. septentrigonalis Tchug., Amphilichas sniatkovi Weber, Brontocephalina nuda (Ang.), Isocolus sjogreni Ang., Chasmops saliricus Petrun., Eucrinuroides bobroviensis Petrun., and brachiopods Eospirigerina sublevis Severg., Austinella lebediensis Severg., Salopina uxunaica (Severg.), Glyptorthis praepulchra Severg., Gl. balclatchiensis (Dav.), Hesperorthis lebediensis Severg., Dulankarella magna Ruk., Catazyga salairica (Severg.) are typical for the Upper Khankhara Subhorizon. The following graptolite zones are distinguished for the Khankhara Horizon: upper part of *multidens-wilsoni*, *bicornis*, *clingani-caudatus* and *linearis*.

Tekhten' Regional stage (Horizon) was proposed by N.V. Sennikov, Z.E. Petrunina and L.A. Gladkikh (Sennikov et al., 2001). It is aligned with middle (Ka2, Ka3) and upper (Ka4) Katian, as well as with lower Hirnantian (Hi1).

The Tekhten' Horizon is subdivided into three subhorizons. The Lower Tekhten' Subhorison is characterized by brachiopods *Eospirigerina orloviensis* (Severg.), *Oxoplecia platystrophoides* Schubert et Cooper, *Catazyga inensis* (Severg.), *Catazyga anuensis* Severg., *Eridorthis subinexpecta digna* Severg., *Schizophorella fallax* Salter.

Trilobites Stenoblepharum warburgae (Prib.) and brachiopods Giraldibella bella (Bergst.), Thebesia thebesensis Amsden, Leangella septata (Cooper) are typical for the Middle Tekhten' Subhorison. The Upper Tekhten' Subhorison is characterized by trilobites Mucronaspis mucronata (Brongniart) and brachiopods Dalmanella testudinaria (Dalm.), Zygospiraella indistincta Kulk. et Severg., Streptis altosinuata (Holt.), Hirnantia aff. noixella Amsden, Brevilamnulella gromotuchaensis Severg.

The Hirnantian GSSP, observed in the Wangjiawan North section, China, is marked by the first appearance of the graptolite species Normalograptus extraordinarius (Chen et al., 2006). The lower boundary of the Hirnantian Stage is correlated with the lower boundary of the Chebor Formation of the Uymen'-Lebed' zone, Gorny Altai. The Hirnantian Stage is divided into two time slices (Bergström et al., 2009). Note that the lower boundary of the upper "informal" substage is marked by the end of the Hirnantian Isotopic Carbon Excursion (HICE), observed worldwide (Bergström et al., 2006, 2009; Chen et al., 2006; Kaljo and Martma, 2011; Mitchell et al., 2011; Underwood et al., 1997), rather than by the marker species of a graptolite or conodont zone. For the Ordovician sediments of the western ASFA, a new horizon – the Listvyanka Horizon (Sennikov et al., 2008) was proposed within the Upper Hirnantian. It includes the mudstones of the lower Vtorye Utyosy Formation (with a stratotype in the Charysh-Inya Zone of Gorny Altai) with graptolites of the Nor. persculptus Zone. It is now proposed that the stratigraphic extent of the Listvyanka Horizon should be increased (by less than one-third), so that it includes the dalmanitinae carbonate member of the upper Tekhten' Formation with trilobites Mucronaspis mucronata (Brongniart), which underlies the Vtorye Utyosy Formation. According to the latest data, this member (Sennikov and Ainsaar, 2012), correlated with the lowermost Nor. persculptus graptolite Zone, has a considerably increased content of heavy carbon isotopes, which corresponds to the HICE. Thus, the Ordovician Listvyanka Horizon of the ASFA will include the uppermost Tekhten' Formation (its peculiar dalmanitinae terminal member) and the lower Vtorye Utyosy Formation. The Listvyanka Horizon will be correlated with the Nor. persculptus graptolite Zone in its full extent. In the ISS, it will correspond to the "informal" Upper Hirnantian Substage. Previously, the dalmanitinae carbonate member belonged to the Tekhten' Horizon. The Tekhten' Horizon will correspond to the Tekhten' Formation without its uppermost part – the dalmanitinae member. Note that the Tekhten' Formation in the Tekhten' Section of the Anui-Chuya zone of Altai does not contain this characteristic dalmanitinae member in the upper part of its stratotype (Sennikov et al., 2001, 2008).

Tekhten' Horizon is characterised by graptolites of the *linearis*, *supernus*, *ornatus*, *pacificus*, *ojsuensis/ mimyensis* zones and by conodonts of *ordovicicus* Zone.

Listvyanka Regional stage (Horizon) was proposed by (Sennikov et al., 2008, 2014, 2018a,b). It is aligned with uppermost upper Hirnantian (Hi1).

Graptolites of the *persculptus* Zone are common for the Listvyanka Horizon. Along with graptolites chitinozoans *Conochitina microcantha* Eisenack have been recovered. The other fauna at this stratigraphic level on the Gorny Altai are represented trilobites *Dalmaniotina mucronata* (Brong.) and brachiopods.

Fig. 4 presents intra-regional correlation charts of local Ordovician stratigraphic units of the Gorny Altai based mainly on synthetic modern paleontological data.

1.2. ORDOVICIAN GRAPTOLITE ZONES OF THE GORNY ALTAI

The Ordovician sediments of the Gorny Altai contain the following succession of graptolite biostratigraphic units (Fig. 5) (Obut, Sennikov, 1984, Bukolova, 2011; Sennikov et al., 2015a, 2018a,b): Tremadocian, the *kiaeri/ tenellus* Zone (the upper half of the zone is regarded as the *ramosus/osloensis* Subzone) (Takoshkin = Upper Tayanza Horizon, Kamlak and Ishpa formations); Floian, the *approximatus* (Tuloi Horizon, Tuloi Formation), *densus* (the lower half is regarded as the *balticus* Subzone) (Tuloi Horizon, Tuloi Formation), and *angustifolius elongatus/ broggeri* (without the uppermost part) (Tuloi Horizon, Tuloi Formation) zones; Dapingian, the *angustifolius elongatus/broggeri* (uppermost part) (Tuloi Horizon, Tuloi Formation), *gibberulus* (with the *deflexus* lower Subzone and the *maximo-divergens* upper Subzone) (Tuloi Horizon, Tuloi Formation), and *hirundo* (with the *caduceus imitatus*

ISC	C. 20	008			SS		8.	Altai-Sa	ayan Folde	d Area		-								
100	, 20	~		Time Slises (TS)	C/G		Sala	air	G	orny Altai		01.1.1								
System	Series Stage		Series Stage		Index	(Bergstrom et al., 2009) Markers of the lower boundaries of TS (Gr) - graptolites (C) - conodonts	Correlation of the ISC/GSS stages, horizons, and zonal subdivisions	Horizon (Sennikov et al., 2008)	(Sennikov, 1992, 1996; Sennikov and Bukolova, 2010, Sennikov et al., 2015)	Kuznetsk Alatau, specified after (Obut and Sennikov, 1984; Sennikov, 1996)	Sennikov Sennikov Sennikov a	ter (Bukolov Sennikov, 1 ov, 1996, 20 et Ainsaar, nd Bukolova t al., 2008, 2	984; 012; 2012; a, 2010;	Global correlation levels of lower boundaries of zones and beds with fauna						
		Hirnantian		End of the Hirnantian Isotopic Carbon Excursion (HICE)	11	List- vyan- ka	perscu Слои с Norn		persculptus	of the	End HICE	persculptus End of the HICE								
		Ξ	Hi,	Normalograptus extraordinarius zone (Gr)	10		mirnye		ojsuens	sis / mirnye		pacificus								
			Ka,	Dicellograptus		, u	Not de	etected	supernus	ornatu		pacilicus								
		_	Na ₄	complanatus zone (Gr)		Fekhten'	2			supern	-									
	Upper	Katian		Amorph. ordovicicus zone (C) Pleurogr. linearis zone (Gr)	9	Tek	Сло Orthograp		quadrimu-	linea		linearis								
	ŋ		Ka,	Diplocanthograptus caudatus zone (Gr)	8	Khan- khara	quadrimu		cronatus	clingani		caudatus								
Ordovician		Sandbian	Sa ₂	Climacograptus bicornis zone (Gr)	7	Kh Khả	?		fallanaun	wilsoni	bicornis	bicornis								
			Sa, Nemagraptus gracilis zone (Gr)	6	Bugryshikha	Not de	tected	foliaceus gracilis / s	peltif antiquus serratulus /	lineatus	gracilis / bekkeri									
Id						ngn	teretiu	sculus	te	eretiusculu	s	teretiusculus								
0		ian	Da ₃	Pygodus serra zone (C)		ā	jakovlevi /	geminus	jakovle	evi / coelati										
		Darriwilian	Da ₂	Didymograptus artus zone (Gr)		Kos- sky	balhaschensis	s / kirgisicus	and the second se	ensis / kirg entatus	isicus	dentatus								
	e		Da, Undulogr	Undulograptus austrodentatus zone (Gr)	5		sparsus		austr	odentatus		austrodentatus								
	Middle	Dapingian	Dp ₃	Oncograptus zone (Gr)	4	Kuiby- shevo			hirundo sinodentatus / Cardiograptus caduceus imitatus											
		apin	Dp ₂	Isograptus victoriae maximus zone (Gr)			max	kimo-divergens	aibberulus	maximo-di		maximo-divergens								
		õ	õ	õ	Ő	õ	õ	õ	ő	õ	õ	Dp,	Baltoniodus triangularis zone (C)		ed')	gibberulus		5	deflexus	
		Floian	_	c	Ľ	c	c	c	c	c	Fl ₃	Didymograptus protobifidus zone (Gr)	3	Tuloi (=Lebed')	brogg	geri proto- bifidus			proto- bifidus	protobifidus
				Oepikodus evae zone (C)		Tul	densus		densus	balticus		densus								
	ver		"	"	"			FI,	Tetragraptus approximatus zone (Gr)	2				app	roximatus		approximatus			
	Lower	ocian	Tr ₃	Paroistodus proteus zone (C) Paltodus		kin yanza)	Граптолиты отсутствуют	Слои с Dictyonema kravtsovi 2	kiaeri /	- 2 ramosus/osl / hyperb	loensis									
		remadocian	Tr ₂	deltifer zone (C)		Takoshkin =Upper Tayanza)		Слои с Anis. richardsoni	tenellus	?	oreus	Слои с Anis. richardsoni								
		Tre	Tr ₁	fluctivagus zone (C)	1	dn=)	8		1	٢		lapetognathus zone (C)								

Fig. 5. Graptolite zonation and correlation levels for the Ordovician of the Gorny Altai and Salair.

lower Subzone and the sinodentatus/Cardiograptus upper Subzone) (upper Tuloi-lower Kuibyshevo horizons, Tuloi and Karasa formations) zones; Darriwilian, the austrodentatus (Kuibyshevo Horizon, Voskresenka Formation), dentatus (Kostinsky Horizon, Voskresenka and Karasa Formations), balhaschensis/kirgisicus (Kostinsky Horizon, Voskresenka Formation), jakovlevi/coelatus (Bugryshikha Horizon, Bugryshikha and Karasa formations), and teretiusculus (Bugryshikha Horizon, Bugryshikha and Karasa formations) zones; Sandbian, the gracilis/serratulus/ bekkeri (Bugryshikha Horizon, Bugryshikha Formation), and foliaceus (= former multidens Zone) (with the peltifer/ antiquus lineatus lower Subzone and the wilsoni upper Subzone) (upper Bugryshikha–lower Khankhara horizons, upper Bugryshikha and lower Khankhara formations) zones; Katian, the quadrimucronatus (with the clingani lower Subzone and the linearis upper Subzone) (upper Khankhara-lower Tekhten' horizons, upper Khankhara and lower Tekhten' formations), supernus, ornatus, and pacificus (Tekhten' Horizon, Tekhten' Formation) zones; Hirnantian, the ojsuensis/mirnyensis (Tekhten' Horizon, Tekhten' Formation), persculptus (Listvyanka Horizon, lower Vtorye Utyosy Formation) (Bukolova, 2011; Obut and Sennikov, 1984; Sennikov, 1976, 1996, 2012, 2013; Sennikov et al., 2008, 2011a, b). Besides, the protobifidus Teilzone (Sennikov, 2013; Sennikov et al., 2008), which marks the Upper Floian of the ISC (Section Salair), is distinguished in the Ordovician of Gorny Altai, in the upper part of the densus Zone and the lower part of the angustifolius elongatus/broggeri Zone. The bicornis Teilzone, which marks the Upper Sandbian of the ISC (Section The Taimyr Peninsula), is recognized in the Ordovician of Altai, in the upper part of the wilsoni Subzone of the *multidens* Zone. The *caudatus* Teilzone is distinguished in Ordovician sections of Gorny Altai, in the lower part of the clingani Subzone of the quadrimucronatus Zone. The index species of this zone, Diplocanthograptus caudatus (Lap.), marks the Katian Stage of the ISC in the GSSP (Black Knob Ridge Section, United States) (Goldman

et al., 2007). The *caudatus* Zone is distinguished in the Ordovician of Scotland (as a subzone of the *clingani* Zone) (Zalasiewicz et al., 2009) and North America (Loydell, 2012). In northeastern Russia (Kolyma River), finds of the species *Dip. caudatus* (Lap.) (Obut and Sobolevskaya, 1968) in the lower part of the *ingens wellingtonensis* Zone (lower zone of the Katian Stage) allow to define beds with *Dip. caudatus*. The overwhelming majority of the graptolite zones (their assemblages and index species) and beds defined in the Ordovician of Gorny Altai are used worldwide (Cooper et al., 2004; Gradstein et al., 2012; Loydell, 2012; Webby et al., 2004; Zalasiewicz et al., 2009). The exceptions are the *balhaschensis/kirgisicus* Zone, which is described above (Section Salair), and the *jakovlevi/coelatus* Zone. Data on the species *Expansograptus jakovlevi* (Kel.), found in Salair together with *Didymograptus geminus* (His.), are considered above (Section Salair). The species *Amplexograptus coelatus* (Lap.) occurs in the Ordovician sediments of Great Britain (Elles and Wood, 1901–1918; Strachan, 1996, 1997; Zalasiewicz et al., 2009), in the *murchisoni* Zone (probably, also in the uppermost part of the *underlain artus* Zone (former *bifidus* Zone), and spreads to the overlain zones. In Altai the species *Am. coelatus* (Lap.) and the corresponding assemblage are observed in numerous sections below the assemblage of the *teretiusculus* Zone (Sennikov et al., 2008).

1.3. ORDOVICIAN CONODONT ZONES OF THE GORNY ALTAI

The first data on conodonts from the Ordovician sediments of Gorny Altai were obtained not long ago (Moskalenko, 1977), but the present state of knowledge of this group (Iwata et al., 1997; Izokh et al., 2003, 2005) is similar to that of conodonts in folded regions such as the Urals and Kazakhstan. As there are not enough monographic studies of the Ordovician conodonts of Altai (Sennikov et al. 2015) and the rare and low-abundance species are not clearly identified, the biostratigraphic units are based on species with a wide geographic range and cosmopolitan taxa, yet allow direct correlations between the proposed zonation and the zones of the ISC/GSS (Fig. 6). Gorny Altai is the only Russian region with detected elements of the zonal taxon *Iapetognathus* and the associated genus *Iapetonudus* (Sennikov et al., 2014) characterize the base of Ordovician in the type sections of North America (Cooper et al., 2001).

The appearance of elements of Cordylodus angulatus in the Upper Kamlak Subformation marks the lower boundary of the overlain zone. Beds with Paroistodus proteus were defined in the cherts of the upper Talitsa Formation (Zasur'va Group) of the Takoshkin Horizon and in the cherts of the Marcheta Formation (Zasur'ya Group) of the Tuloi Horizon in its stratotype. The assemblage of the beds includes Paroistodus cf. proteus (Lind.), Paracordylodus gracilis, Cornuodus longibasis, Drepanodus reclinatus, Oneotodus sp., and some other species defined in open nomenclature. The conodont assemblage allows dating this interval as Late Tremadocian - Early Floian. Beds with Oepikodus evae were established in the cherts of the upper Marcheta Formation (Zasur'ya Group), Tuloi Horizon. The conodont assemblage in the beds includes O. evae, Periodon cf. flabellum, Prioniodus cf. P. elegans, Baltoniodus sp., and Drepanoistodus sp. The beds are correlated with the same-named zone in the upper Floian. The upper Voskresenka Formation (Kuibyshevo Horizon) in its type section contains beds with *Periodon* flabellum – Parapanderodus striatus, whose assemblage includes Semiacontiodus? mufushanensis, Acodus eletsus, Juanognathus jaanussoni, Protoprioniodus sp., Cooperignathus sp., ?Tangshanodus tangshanensis, Dr. suberectus s.l., Triangulodus larapintinensis, Anodontus longus, Naimanodus degtiarevi, Panderodus? nogami, and others. These taxa permit assigning the considered beds and the Kuibyshevo Horizon to the Upper Dapingian lowermost Darriwilian. The upper Voskresenka Formation (Kostinsky Horizon) contains beds with Eoplacognathus pseudoplanus, whose assemblage includes Periodon aculeatus, Scolopodus sp., Drepanodus arcuatus, Ansella sp., and Paroistodus sp. (Izokh et al., 2005). The beds are



Fig. 6. Conodont zones and correlation levels for the Ordovician of the Gorny Altai and Salair.

correlated with the same-named zone in the lower Darriwilian (Middle Ordovician) of the northwestern East European Platform. Beds with *Ph. undatus* and *Belodina compressa* were defined in the lower and middle Gur'yanovka Formation (Khankhara Horizon). Along with the nominal species, the assemblage includes *Panderodus* cf. *P. gracilis*, *Aphelognathus* sp., *B. compressa* and *Drepanoistodus suberectus*. The coexistence of *Ph. undatus* and *B. compressa* is typical of the upper Sandbian–lower Katian on many continents, including North America and Eurasia (East European Platform); it permits a reliable correlation of the beds defined in the Gur'yanovka Formation with this stratigraphic interval. Beds with *Protopanderodus liripipus* were established in a cherty terrigenous series (Tekhten' Horizon) in the western part of the region. Thin limestone layers contain a conodont assemblage, in which along with the nominal species *Periodon grandis*, *Panderodus* sp., *Decoriconus* sp., *Paroistodus ?mutatus* and *B. compressa* were identified; it allows a correlation of the distinguished beds with the upper Katian.

1.4. LOCAL ORDOVICIAN STRATIGRAPHIC UNITS OF THE GORNY ALTAI

Ordovician strata in the Gorny Altai occur in two genetically different types of sections that record oceanic and shelf deposition.

1.4.1. OCEANIC DEPOSITION

Oceanic Ordovician sections are known in the western and northwestern Gorny Altai (Anui-Chuya and Charysh-Inya facies zones) and consist of the following units.

Zasur'ya Group

The Zasur'ya stratigraphic unit was first distinguished as a formation by O.P. Goryainova in 1956 (unpublished evidence). Tikhonov (1956) in his publication referred to Goryainova's definition but applied the name Zasur'ya to the lower subformation of a variegated formation in the western Gorny Altai. The Zasur'ya unit has no stratotype section and its typical locality is in the area northwest of Krasnoshchekovo Village on the right side of the Charysh River, in the catchments of the Zasur'ya, Molchanikha, and Berezovy brooks. Sennikov et al. (2001, 2003) suggested to distinguish the Zasur'ya unit as a group divided into three formations.

According to the present knowledge, the lithology of the Zasur'ya Group consists of clayey-siliceous schists, jade, chert, mudstone, siltstone, sandstone, tuffaceous sandstone, tuff breccias, and gabbro, gabbro-diabase and diabase dikes, and mafic volcanics. According to the chemistry of basalts, the group was deposited in an ocean (Iwata et al., 1997; Buslov et al., 1999, 2000; Sennikov et al., 2003; Safonova et al., 2011). Variolite pillow lavas, aphyre or less often plagioclase-pyroxene and pyroxene-plagioclase porphyry basalts and scarce andesites are of low-K oceanic tholeiite affinity and can be classified as mid-ocean ridge (MORB) or ocean-island (OIB) basalts (Figs 7-11). Basalts are quite rare in the sections of the Zasur'ya Group and exist as 1 to 10 m thick or thicker layers.

Conodont assemblages in the Zasur'ya Group are localized at two intervals: of (1) Late Cambrian (Aksai Stage – Early Batyrbai Substage) and (2) Early Ordovician (Late Tremadocian Substage – Floian Stage). No transitional Batyrbai-Tremadocian conodont zones in the group have been found so far. All conodonts were extracted by hydrofluoric acid dissolution from chert, siliceous mudstone, and other siliceous rocks. The absence of conodont finds from the Cambrian-Ordovician boundary strata in the Zasur'ya Group is implicit evidence that a large part of the sections lack siliceous rocks. This hypothesis is supported by the stacking pattern of the Zasur'ya sections along the Talitsa River where the group shows distinct division into three units, with a purely terrigenous middle unit (the Talitsa Formation) that is almost void of siliceous sediments.

Listvenny Formation

The Listvenny Formation, 200 to 300 m thick, is the lowermost unit in the Zasur'ya Group (Sennikov et al., 2001, 2003). Its stratotype section occurs in the Listvenny Brook – Talitsa River divide in the western Gorny Altai. The Listvenny Formation contains, in all its sections, red or more rarely gray siliceous rocks, often with volcanic intercalations, among red and gray terrigenous members. The formation bears conodonts, radiolarians, and siliceous sponge spicules. The conodont age of the Listvenny Formation is defined at five stratigraphic intervals corresponding to the conodont zones: (1) Aksai age, W. *matsushitai* Zone, (2) Aksai age, M. *erectus* Zone, (3) earliest Batyrbai age, *P. muelleri* Zone, (4) Batyrbai age, *E. notchpeakensis* Zone, (5) middle Batyrbai age, *C. minutus* Zone. Relationships of the Listvenny Formation with the underlying rocks remain unknown. The formation is conformably overlain by the Talitsa Formation.



Fig. 7. Original/sedimentary field contacts of oceanic light gray to brown chert and basalt in the Lower Ordovician of the Gorny Altai (Marcheta Formation, Charysh River).



Fig. 8. The typical aphyric basalt (thin-section) in the Lower Ordovician of the Gorny Altai (from Safonova et al., 2011).



Cs RbBaTh U K NbLa CeSr Nd Hf Zr Sm Eu Ti Gd Dy Y Er YbLu

.1

Fig. 9. Chemical composition of basaltoids of the Zasur'ya Group (Gorny Altai). a – classification diagram; b, c – discrimination diagrams. Tholeiitic series: TR – rhyolite; TD – dacite; TA – tholeiite andesites; HFT – high-ferrous tholeiite. Calc-alkalic series: CR – rhyolite; CD – dacite; CA – calc-alkali andesites; HMT – high-magnesium tholeiite; BK – komatiite basalt; PK – komatiite; IAT – island-arc tholeiites; MORB – mid-ocean ridge basalts; OIT – ocean-island tholeiites; OIA – ocean-island alkalic basalts; CAB – calc-alkalic basalts; OIB – ocean-island basalts (from Sennikov et al., 2003).

Fig. 10. Rare-earth element distribution curves of basaltoids of the Zasur'ya Group. *a* – MORB-normed, *b* – chondrite-normed (from Sennikov et al., 2003).





Fig. 11. Scheme for the 500 Ma transitional (A) and 470 Ma enriched (B) hot-spot oceanic basalts (Groups 2 and 3) of the Zasur'ya Group in respect to the thickness of the oceanic lithosphere. At 500 Ma the lavas probably erupted closer to MOR, i.e., under a thinner/vounger oceanic lithosphere. This resulted in the relatively high degrees of melting and therefore in a larger portion of incompatible element depleted refractory material in the melt. At 470 Ma, when the plume is located under a thicker but older oceanic lithosphere, the melting column was shorter, the average degree of melting was lower and the melt was more contributed by incompatible element enriched less refractory material of mantle heterogeneities.

C – in the Ordovician the crust of the Paleo-Asian Ocean subducted beneath the SW active margin of the Siberian continent (from Safonova et al., 2011).

Talitsa Formation

The 400–450 m thick Talitsa Formation, the middle unit of the Zasur'ya Group, consists of gray (or less often variegated) terrigenous rocks. Its stratotype is located in the middle reaches of the Talitsa River (right tributary of the Charysh River) in the western Gorny Altai (Sennikov et al., 2001, 2003). The faunal groups found in the formation are radiolarians and siliceous sponge spicules. The Talitsa Formation conformably oversteps the Listvenny Formation and is conformably (?) overlain by the Marcheta Formation.

Marcheta Formation

The Marcheta Formation, the upper unit of the Zasur'ya Group, varying in thickness from 600 to 950 m, is composed of alternating red and gray terrigenous and siliceous rocks (Figs 12, 13). The stratotype of the formation was distinguished as two composite sections along the Marcheta River, the left tributary of the Muta River in the northwestern Gorny Altai (Sennikov et al., 2001, 2003). No reliably proven basalts have been found so far in the paleontologically constrained sections of the Marcheta Formation. The Marcheta rocks include scarce layers of tuff and tuffaceous



sandstone. The formation contains conodonts, radiolarians, and siliceous sponge spicules. The conodont age of the Marcheta Formation of the Zasur'ya Group is defined at three stratigraphic intervals corresponding to the conodont zones: (1) Tremadocian-Floian boundary strata, P. proteus Zone, (2) upper part of the Floian, P. elegans Zone, and (3) middle Floian, O. evae Zone. The Marcheta Formation conformably (?) overlies the Talitsa Formation. The relationship of the formation with the overlying strata remains uncertain.

Fig. 12. Massive red chert yielded radiolarians in the Lower Ordovician of the Gorny Altai (Marcheta Formation, Charysh Section).

System	Series	Stage	Formation	Zone	Member No.	Thickness,		Lithology	Radio- Iarians	Conodonts											
					50	40		Sandstone: gray, fine-grained, quartzitic.													
					49	25	22222	Chert: lilac and chocolate-gray, flaggy (1 to 3-5 cm).													
					48	30		Mudstone: lilac-gray, siliceous.													
					47	10		 Siliceous siltstone, massive, rare flaggy (3-5 cm), dark lilac, at the top of the member thin-flaggy (0.5 -1 cm), with layers and lenses of clayey siliceous siltstone gray Siliceous siltstone gray 													
					46	25		Sandstone: dark-gray, medium-grained, medium-sorted, massive. Siltstone clayey, flaggy (1 cm), upward sandstone greenish- and dark-gray medium-grained.													
				ae		30		medium-grained. Siltstone and mudstone: gray, clayey, with intercalates of siliceous mudstone greenish-gray.		lluul											
				s evae	44 43	15 10	¥¥¥¥¥¥	Sodded interval													
				Oepikodus	42	>5		Mudstone: lilac and lilac-gray, siliceous, indistinctly layered, in the lower part of the member - thin-laminated (0.5-1 cm), upward - massive. Chert: cherry-red. in the upper part of the member reddish. Mudstone: reddish, siliceous, lumpy and undulated flaggy (1.5-2 cm).		sp. der rom											
				piko	41 40	8		Chert: cherry-red, in the upper part of the member reddish. Mudstone: reddish, siliceous, lumpy and undulated flaggy (1,5-2 cm).		Drepanoistodus sp. abellum (Lindstrom) P. elegans Pander dus evae Lindstrom											
				Oe	39	20	2222222	Sitistone: Incortant sinceous, formy and undurated haggy (1.5-2 cm). Sitistone: Incortant sinceous, upward silica component increase, rocks gradually change into flaggy (3-5 cm) chert.		Ling Ling Ling											
					38	8		Chert: reddish-lilac, massive, with half-sphere "twisting" structures 15-20 cm to 30 cm.		m () m () ega											
					37	15	~ ~ ~ ~ ~	Chert: reddish-lilac, massive-layered with flinty fracture.		epte ellu is e											
					36 35	20 5	~ ~ ~ ~ ~	Chert: reddish-lilac, undulate flaggy (5-7 cm). Chert lilac, with gray-color microlamination (0,1-0,5 mm).		Dre flabe st. P.											
						34	20		Siltstone: lilac, siliceous, indistinctly layered, undulate flaggy (3-5 cm).		Drey Drey odus cf. P. e Oepikodus										
	er												33	40		Siltstone: reddish-lilac, siliceous, massive, with 20-30 cm layers chert lenses (1-3 cm).	•	Drepanoistodus sp. Periodon cf. flabellum (Lindstrom) Prioniodus cf. P. elegans Pander Oepikodus even Lindstrom			
					32	20	****	Sodded interval.		Pe											
clan		c	eta		31	45		Siltstone: bright lilac and reddish-lilac, clayey, slightly siliceous, lumpy, with shell-like cleavage.													
10	≥	ia	he		30	20		Siltstone: reddish-lilac and lilac, siliceous-clayey.													
0	Lov	ΕLο	March	_2_	29	8		Siltstone and mudstone: cherry-red, siliceous, sometimes grading to chert, lumpy-bedded (1-3 cm).													
2		"		-	28	13	72124271	Siltstone: red, siliceous, upward grading to chert, flaggy (3-20 cm).													
D					27	7		Siltstone: reddish, siliceous-clayey, thick-bedded (10-30 cm).													
						26 25 24	10 10 4		Mudstone: reddish with gray undulating layers, siliceous-clayey, massive, flaggy (5-10 cm). Mudstone:reddish, siliceous-clayey, intensively foliated. Mudstone: reddish, sometimes green-gray, siliceous-clayey.												
					23	30		Siltstone: gray, clayey, fine-foliated.													
					22	15		Mudstone: greenish-lilac, clayey, fine-foliated.													
					21	10		Mudstone: greenish-gray. siliceous. lumpy bedded.													
																20	55		Siltstone:lilac, silicified, indistinctly layered.	let.	
					19	15		Sandstone: greenish-gray, fine-grained, silicified.	et sp.indet												
					18 17	15 15		Siltstone: light-gray, clayey. Sandstone: greenish-gray, fine-gained, silicified.	et sp												
								Siltstone:light-gray, siliceous-clayey, lumpy.	n.e												
					15 14	8		Sandstone:green-gray, quartz, fine-grained. Siltstone: greenish-grey, siliceous-clayey, indistinctly bedded, lumpy, flaggy (3-10 cm).	Ge												
					13			Sandstone: light-green-gray, fine- and medium-grained, massive.													
					12	15		Mudstone: greenish-gray, thin foliated.													
						17		Siltstone: gray, clayey.													
					10	15		Sandstone: green-gray, fine and medium-grained.													
					9	33		Sandstone; greenish-gray, fine-grained, substantially quartzitic, massive, with poor undulating lumpy structure.													
					8	20		Mudstone:greenish, clayey, chloritic.													
					7	8		Chert: chocolate, massive, rare undulating-bedded. Chert: chocolate, massive, laminated (0,2-0,5 cm), flaggy (10 cm), slightly boudinaged.													
					5	10		Chert: chocolate, massive.													
					4	20		Siltstone: greenish-gray, lumpy, with indistinct flagginess (10-20 cm).	1000												
					3	30		Siltstone: lilac and greenish-lilac, clayey, thin-bedded (0,5-2,0 mm).													
					2	10		Silty sandstone: dark-gray, massive, undulated bedded.													
	_				1	15		Mudstone: lilac, siliceous-clayey, massive, lumpy bedded.													



Fig. 13. Lithology and ranges of fossil taxa from Charysh Section.

The legend (for this and other logs): 1 - limestone, 2 - massive limestone, 3 - lenses, 4 - algal limestone, 5 - clayey limestone, 6 - sandy limestone, 7 - mudstone, 8 - siltstone, 9 - aleuro-sandstone, 10 - sandstone, 11 - conglomerate, 12 - sodded interval, 13 - breccia, 14 - cherts, 15 - limy sandstone, 16 - limy siltstone, 17 - limy mudstone, 18 - "twisting" structures.

1.4.2. SHELF DEPOSITION

Ordovician shelf deposition in the Gorny Altai is known in the western, northwestern, central, northern, northeastern, and eastern parts of the area. There are three main local Ordovician successions that were deposited in different environments of a single basin.

1.4.2.1. THE FIRST FACIES TYPE OF SHELF DEPOSITION

SUCCESSION 1 (Uymen'-Lebed' facies zone) of Ordovician shelf facies comprises the Ishpa, Tuloi, Karasa, Gur'yanovka, and Chebor formations which occur in the northeastern and eastern Gorny Altai and were deposited on a relatively shallow inner shelf proximal to the shore.

Ishpa Formation

The Ishpa Formation in the northeastern Gorny Altai (Krivchikov et al., 1976; Decisions..., 1983; Stratigraphic..., 1991) reaches a thickness of 1000 m. Its stratotype section is located along the Ishpa River (left tributary of the Biya River) near Verkh-Biysk Village (Petrunina et al., 1984). The basal member of the formation is conglomerate of pebbles and cobbles of sedimentary, volcanic, and intrusive rocks. The Ishpa Formation is generally composed of mudstone, siltstone, and sandstone, with limestone and conglomerate interbeds. The faunas include algae, trilobites, brachiopods, and graptolites. Graptolite assemblages correspond to the *tenellus – kiaeri* Zone. The formation rests upon the Middle-Late Cambrian Tandoshka Formation and under the Tuloi Formation with unconformities along both contacts. Its lower section correlates with the upper Upper Cambrian, the middle part is the Lower Tremadocian, and the upper section is the Upper Tremadocian.

Tuloi Formation

The Tuloi Formation, up to 2600 m thick, occurs in the northeastern Gorny Altai. It was originally distinguished (Krivchikov et al., 1976; Decisions..., 1983; Petrunina et al., 1984; Stratigraphic..., 1991) as the lower unit of the Stretinka Formation (Group). The formation is represented by its stratotype section on the right side of the Biya River 2.4 km downstream of the Tuloi inflow and then on the right side of the lower Tuloi River. The formation consists of interbedded mudstone, siltstone, silty sandstone, and sandstone. Its basal member is composed of coarse conglomerate and sandstone with floating lenses of intrusive, volcanic, and terrigenous pebbles. The Tuloi strata contain trilobites, brachiopods, graptolites, and chitinozoans. According to graptolite zonation, the formation spans the *appoximatus*, *densus*, *angustifolius elongatus*, *gibberulus* and *hirundo* zones. The formation conformably oversteps the Tremadocian Ishpa Formation and is conformably overlain by the Middle Ordovician Karasa Formation. The Tuloi Formation correlates with the Floian and the Dapingian (without terminal part).

Karasa Formation

The Karasa Formation, 450 m thick, is known in the northeastern Gorny Altai. It was originally recognized (Krivchikov et al., 1976; Decisions..., 1983; Stratigraphic..., 1991) as the upper unit of the Stretinka Formation (Group). Its stratotype section crops out on the right side of the Tuloi River downstream of the Karasa River mouth. The formation basal member consists of light gray and yellowish-gray quartz sandstone and the full section comprises interbedded mudstone, siltstone, silty sandstone, and sandstone. It contains trilobites, brachiopods, ostracods, crinoids, hyoliths, orthoceratites, gastropods, graptolites, and chitinozoans. There are two graptolite zones: *dentatus* and *teretiusculus*. The formation lies concordantly over the Tuloi Formation and is erosively overlain by the Gur'yanovka Formation. The Karasa Formation correlates with upper part Dapingian and the Darriwilian.

Gur'yanovka Formation

The Gur'yanovka Formation reaching a thickness of 1000 m occurs in the northeastern Gorny Altai. The formation was recognized by V.M. Sennikov (Sennikov, 1962; Stratigraphic..., 1975; Decisions..., 1983) and is represented by a stratotype section on the right side of the Lebed' River upstream of the Bura River mouth, near former Gur'yanovka Village. The formation is composed of siltstone, sandstone, limy-clayey mudstone, and limestone, with the basal member of gravelstone and coarse to medium sandstone, or less often of fine conglomerate. The faunas include tabulate and rugose corals, stromatoporoids, trilobites, brachiopods, ostracods, bryozoans, pelecypods, gastropods, orthoceratites, conodonts, and graptolites. The Gur'yanovka Formation rests on the weakly eroded surface of the Middle Ordovician Karasa Formation and is conformably overlain by the Chebor Formation. The formation conventionally correlates with the Sandbian and the Katian.

Chebor Formation

The Chebor Formation, up to 1100 m thick, is known in the northeastern Gorny Altai in the Lebed', Baigol, Biya, and Samysh catchments (northeastern and central Uymen'-Lebed' Synclinorium. The formation was distinguished by V.M. Sennikov (Sennikov, 1962; Stratigraphic..., 1975; Decisions..., 1983) and has its stratotype section on the right side of the Lebed' River upstream of the Ayugozha mouth, the left Lebed' tributary, near Chebor Mountain.

The Chebor section consists of mudstone and siltstone, less abundant sandstone, with thin layers and lenses of gray limestone. The basal member is composed of fine conglomerate and gravelstone with quartz pebble. The fauna finds are brachiopods and tabulate corals. The formation concordantly overlies the Middle Ordovician Gur'yanovka Formation and is discordantly overlain by the Silurian Tochilny Formation (?). The Chebor Formation conventionally correlates with the Hirnantian.

1.4.2.2. THE SECOND FACIES TYPE OF SHELF DEPOSITION

SUCCESSION 2 (Biya-Katun' facies zone) of shelf facies includes the Kamlak, Khankhara, and Bulukhta formations found in the northern Gorny Altai. They were deposited at the outer-to-inner shelf transition. Some sections of the local stratigraphic units in succession 2 formed in estuaries of large rivers that most likely flew from mountains.

Kamlak Formation

The Kamlak Formation up to 2000 m thick is cropped out in the northern Gorny Altai. It was recognized as a separate stratigraphic unit by (Ermikov et al., 1979; Decisions..., 1983; Petrunina et al., 1984; Petrunina, 1990; Stratigraphic ..., 1991; Contributions..., 2001; Sennikov et al., 2008). The formation's composite stratotype section occurs on the left bank of the Maly Kamlak River and along the Tokoshkin Brook, its left tributary. The Kamlak Formation consists of interbedded sandstone, siltstone, limestone, conglomerate, gravelstone, and mudstone and contains trilobites, brachiopods, graptolites, and conodonts. The conodonts correspond to *Cordylodus lindströmi – Iapetognathus fluctivagus* zones and graptolites – to the *osloensis – ramosus* zone. Contact with underlain and overlain formation (about 120 m thick) is aligned with the upper Cambrian, the most part of the Middle Kamlak Subformation (~440 m) with the uppermost Cambrian; terminal part of the Middle Kamlak Subformation (~15 m) with the lowermost part Tremadocian, and the Upper Kamlak Subformation (up to 1400 m) with the Tremadocian.

Khankhara Formation

For data on the Khankhara Formation see below (Succession 3).

Bulukhta Formation

The Bulukhta Formation, about 500 m thick, is known on the northeastern periphery of the Anui-Chuya area of the Gorny Altai (Bulukhta and Sarasa rivers). A.B. Gintsinger (Gintsinger, 1958, 1964; Vinkman, Gintsinger, 1967; Stratigraphic..., 1975; Decisions..., 1983; Sennikov et al., 1995) distinguished it as a separate stratigraphic unit. The formation's stratotype section occurs in the middle reaches of the Bulukhta River (left tributary of the Ulus-Cherga River). It is composed of sandstone, siltstone, mudstone, limestone, and conglomerate and contains tabulate and rugose corals and brachiopods. The formation concordantly oversteps the Khankhara Formation and is discordantly (?) overlain by the Vtorye Utyosy Formation. The Bulukhta Formation correlates with the second half of the Katian.

1.4.2.3. THE THIRD FACIES TYPE OF SHELF DEPOSITION

SUCCESSION 3 (Anui-Chuya and Charysh-Inya facies zones) includes the Voskresenka, Bugryshikha, Khankhara, and Tekhten' formations, and the basal layers of the lower Vtorye Utyosy Formation found in the western, northwestern, and central Gorny Altai. The deposition occurred far offshore, on a relatively deep outer shelf and on a shallow-marine carbonate platform along the shelf edge at the foot of the continental slope.

Voskresenka Formation

The Voskresenka Formation occupies the western and central parts of the Gorny Altai (Sennikov et al., 1979, 1982; Ermikov et al., 1979; Decisions..., 1983; Stratigraphic..., 1991, Contributions..., 2001). Its stratotype section, about 300 m thick, has been documented in the western Gorny Altai at the Barany – Voskresenka brooks divide (left tributaries of the Charysh River) near Ust'-Chagyrka Village. The Voskresenka Formation, 285 m to 900 m thick, consists of sandstone, siltstone, mudstone, less often conglomerate and limestone. The rocks contain trilobites, brachiopods, crinoids, gastropods, graptolites, and conodonts. Graptolites include zonal assemblages of the *approximatus, densus, gibberulus, austrodentatus-hirundo*, and *dentatus-kirgisicus* zones (Petrunina et al., 1984; Sennikov, 1996). The *E. pseudoplanus* conodont zone in the upper part of the Voskresenka Formation (Kostinsky Beds) correlates with the upper subzone of the *variabilis* Zone in the North Atlantic standard of the International Stratigraphic scale: upper part 4a (=Da1) and lower one third 4b (=Da2) of the lower and middle Darriwilian (Webby et al., 2004). The formation lies discordantly over different Cambrian units and is conformably overlain by the Bugryshikha Formation. The Voskresenka Formation correlates with the Floian, Dapingian, and lower and middle Darriwilian of the international scale.
Bugryshikha Formation

The Bugryshikha Formation varies in thickness from 140 m to 1600 m and occurs in the Charysh-Inya and Anui-Chuya areas of the Gorny Altai near Bugryshikha Village. The formation was first distinguished as an unnamed unit by A.A. Nikonov (Nikonov, 1931; Usov, 1936; Stratigraphic..., 1956, 1975; Perfil'ev, 1959; Sennikov et al., 1959; Decisions..., 1959, 1983; Petrunina, Severgina, 1962; Contributions..., 2001); V.A. Kuznetsov (1948) coined the name Bugryshikha Formation. The stratotype of the formation is a composite section near Bugryshikha Village along the Bolshaya and Malaya Uskuchevka rivers, the right tributaries of the Belaya River. The lower part of the formation crops out along the Bugryshikha River (the Belaya left tributary) where it is exposed lying discordantly upon variegated terrigenous rocks of the Suetka Formation of the Gorny Altai Group. The Bugryshikha Formation is composed of sandstone, siltstone, or more rarely mudstone and conglomerate. The Bugryshikha strata bear trilobites, brachiopods, and graptolites. The section spans the graptolite zones: *jakovlevi-coelatus, teretiusculus, gracilis-serratulus*, and *multidens (antiquus lineatus-peltifer* and lower *wilsoni* subzones). The Bugryshikha Formation conformably lies over the Voskresenka Formation and under the Khankhara Formation. It correlates with the upper half of the Darriwilian and the lower half of the Sandbian.

Khankhara Formation

The Khankhara Formation, with a variable thickness of 60 to 800 m, is found in the western, northwestern, northern and central Gorny Altai. It was distinguished in 1929 by A.A. Nikonov (Usov, 1936; Stratigraphic..., 1956, 1975; Tikhonov, 1956; Sennikov et al., 1959; Decisions..., 1959, 1983; Contributions..., 2001). Its stratotype section has been designated on the left side of the Malaya Khankhara River near Chineta Village, and a section on the right side of the Malaya Uskuchevka River near Bugryshikha Village is its hypostratotype. The Khankhara Formation consists of sandstone, calcareous-argillaceous siltstone, and mudstone with limestone and marl interbeds. The base of the formation is a prominent lithological marker being composed of gray sandy and clayey limestone or often oolitic limestone occasionally grading into limestone conglomerate. The fauna found in the Khankhara section includes tabulate corals, gastropods, crinoids, trilobites, brachiopods, and graptolites.

The graptolite zonation includes the upper *multidens-wilsoni* Zone and *bicornis*, *clingani-caudatus* and *linearis* zones.

The formation rests conformably upon the Middle Ordovician Bugryshikha Formation and is gradually overlain by the upper Upper Ordovician Tekhten' Formation. The Khankhara Formation correlates with the upper half of the Sandbian and the lower half of the Katian.

Tekhten' Formation

The Tekhten' Formation, from 115 m to 700 m thick, occurs in the western, northwestern, and central Gorny Altai. It was distinguished (Sennikov et al., 2001; Contributions..., 2001) in upper Ordovician strata which make up a single complex of carbonate-terrigenous rocks standing out against the strata above and below. The carbonates are most often of reef origin. Terrigenous rocks are found on the periphery of reefal carbonates, where they replace the flanks of the latter along the strike, as well as inside the carbonate bodies. Reef frameworks are present in different strata but most often are found in the lower and upper parts of the section. Limestone locally predominate throughout the formation thickness (invalid Orlov Formation) or are restricted mainly to the lower layers (invalid Chakyr Formation) while the upper section consists of terrigenous sediments with thin limestone layers (invalid Dietken Formation). In many sections the carbonate-terrigenous proportions are intermediate between the two extremes. The stratotype section of the Tekhten' Formation is located on the right side of the Tekhten' River (right tributary of the Muta River). The formation is composed of limestone with algal bioherms alternating with calcareous siltstone, sandstone, or less often mudstone. The Tekhten' strata contain tabulate and rugose corals, stromatoporoids, trilobites, brachiopods, ostracods, gastropods, crinoids, graptolites, conodonts, scolecodonts, radiolarians, siliceous sponge spicules, and chitinozoans. The graptolite assemblages in the formation correspond to the *supernus* Zone with the *supernus* and *ornatus* subzones. The Tekhten' Formation concordantly lies over the Khankhara Formation and under the Vtorye Utyosy Formation. It correlates with the upper half of the Katian and with the lower half of the Hirnantian.

Vtorye Utyosy Formation

The greatest part of the Vtorye Utyosy Formation consist of black and dark gray mudstone and is aligned with the Llandovery Series of the Silurian. The basal beds Vtorye Utyosy Formation marked by the *persculptus* graptolite Zone of the terminal Ordovician (upper half).

2. TRACES OF GLOBAL SEDIMENTARY EVENTS IN THE ORDOVICIAN SECTIONS OF THE GORNY ALTAI

Many global sedimentary events are related to the Cambrian / Ordovician boundary and the lowermost Ordovician. The uniqueness of the Cambrian-Ordovician boundary interval has been inferred from the following evidence:

a) The concentration of numerous global abiotic (sedimentary) events, whereas biotic extinction events were extremely rare. The Late Devonian – Early Carboniferous proves to be another "geo-critical" interval in the Phanerozoic where global sedimentation events sided with global extinction events (Waliser, 1996).

b) The considered boundary is characterized by a revolutionary restructuring of marine communities, which resulted in the formation of complicated pelagic biota structure.

c) The Paleo-Tethys and large-scale displacements of the continental blocks (Dobretsov, 2003, 2011) gave rise to the Caledonian Salair orogeny represented by the Salair and Gorny Altai terranes. The Early Caledonian endo — and exogenous events were manifest as large-scale collision-accretional events, i.e. accretion of the Gondwanian back-arc and island-arc structures and terranes (Altai-Mongolian, Chulyshman etc.) onto the margin of Siberia, which was accompanied by the basins deformation, orogeny, formation of a coarse-clastic (conglomerate, brecciated, olistostromes, produced by submarine landslide, etc.) bodies.

A new active volcanism event (following the large-scale Early-Middle Cambrian) began in the western part of the region (Kuznetsky Alatau, Salair, Altai), with subsequent "closure" of the Altai segment of the Paleoasian ocean and the onset of the Altai-Salair margin of the Siberian craton transition from active to amagmatic passive margin. The onset of typical shelf sedimentation was characteristic of most of the Gorny Altai area (western, northwestern, central and northern parts) (Sennikov et al., 2008; Sennikov et al., 2018a,b).

d) The existence of the Khadar magnetochronostratigraphic superchron in the studied interval (Dobretsov, 2011). Superchron is a polarity interval when the orientation of a planet's geomagnetic field does not change which suggests the absence of geomagnetic reversals (changes in the Earth's magnetic polarity). The three superchrons identified in the Earth's history correspond to the periods of: 490–460, 300–260 and 124–86 Ma.

1. Terminal Late Cambrian sedimentation regressive event Lange Ranch Eustatic Event (LREE).

The LREE was designated on the basis on the basis of material from North America and China (Miller, 1984) and is currently understood as coinciding with the base of *Cordylous proavus* conodont Zone.

In the Gorny Altai, terminal Cambrian conodonts of *C. proavus* Zone (end of Batyrbaian) were recovered at the base of the Lower Kamlak Subformation of shelf genesis. However, a lithological marker for the LREE has not been found yet.

2. Global Early Ordovician Acerocare regressive event (ARE).

The ARE event was defined in carbonate shelf sequences of North American, Siberian and Chinese platforms and is aligned with the base of the *iapetognathus fluctivagus* conodont Zone and the base of the *Rhabdinopora flabelliformis parabola* graptolite Zone. Previously, the ARE event was believed to correspond to LREE eustatic event (Erdtmann, Miller, 1981).

The ARE event is designated within the Kamlak Formation (lower part of the upper subformation), in the northern part of the Altai shelf basin (Petrunina et al., 1984; Sennikov et al., 2008). A 35 m-thick member of conglomerate identified within the Kamlak Section grades into sandstone along strike. Limestone from the uppermost part of Middle Kamlak Subformation in the Kamlak Section yielded conodonts of the *Iapetognathus fluctivagus* Zone. The ARE event is designated within the Kamlak Formation (Anui-Chuya facies zone) in the northern part of Altai shelf basin, where it coincides with the Lower/Middle Kamlak subformation boundary. At the base of the Middle Kamlak Subformation there are three consecutive 30 m thick conglomerate beds. These conglomerate is represented by middle-sized, poorly sorted, well-rounded pebbles, which occupy 50 % of the rock and include diorite, quartzite, gneiss, and crystalline schist.

3. Black Mountain transgressive event (BME).

The event is linked to the base of the *Cordylodus angulatus conodont* Zone and defined in Australia (Miller, 1984). In the sections at Salair region (near Gorny Altai), the BME event was not manifest in the shelf basin. The conodonts found there indicate that the event should have proceeded inside an unified member of reefal limestone of the Tolstochikha Formation.

The transgressive event, BME, in the Gorny Altai was not proved by paleontological data, since conodonts of the *C. angulatus* Zone are absent. However, noteworthy is that within the relatively shallow-water Upper Kamlak



Fig. 14. Tremadocian black mudstone in the Kamlak Formation (Kamlak Section).



Fig. 15. Terrigenous rock overlain limestone (Ishpa Formation, Ishpa Section).

Subformation (Anui-Chuya facies zone) of the Altai paleobasin a "sudden" appearance of deep-water black shales is observed, that could be regarded as BME traces (Fig. 14).

4. Global sedimentary regressive «Peltocare» event (PRE).

Peltocare Regressive event (Erdman, 1986) was established in the Baltic paleobasin and correlated with the lower boundary of the *Adelograptus tenellus graptolite* Zone. The regressive event PRE is defined in the Ishpa Formation (Uimen'-Lebed' facies zone), the Altai shelf basin. It could be recognized by the appearance of sandstone and mudstone in the upper part of formation overlying mainly organogenic limestone from the middle part of formation (Fig. 15) (Krivchikov et al., 1976; Petrunina et al., 1984; Sennikov et al., 2008). Graptolites of the *Ad. tenellus* Zone were identified at the Pereval Section, in the basal layers of the upper Ishpa Formation.

5. Global sedimentary regressive «Kelly Creek» event (KCE).

Kelly Creek Regressive event (Nicoll et al., 1992) was designated in Australia below the base of the *Par. proteus* conodont Zone. In the Gorny Altai, the KCE regressive event was defined in the upper Kamlak Subformation based on the presence of three members of basal conglomerate up to 170 m thick (Petrunina et al., 1984; Sennikov et al., 2008; Noskov, 2007). Conglomerate have large- and medium-size, poorly sorted, well-rounded, pebbles include granite, granodiorite, syenite, diorite, felsite, basalt, quartzite, chert, sandstone, siltstone, limestone. Graptolites of

the *T. osloensis/Al. hyperboreus* Zone, stratigraphically fully aligned with the *Kiaerograptus* Zone, were recovered from the sandstone that overlies the Kamlak conglomerate. The Baltoscandian standard *Kiaerograptus* Zone is below the base of the *Par. proteus* conodont Zone, which will make it possible to identify the KCE when graptolites of this zone are found.

6. Global sedimentary regressive «Ceratopyge» event (CRE).

Ceratopyge Regressive event (Erdtmann, 1986) was established in North America and positioned in the upper Tremadocian, middle parts of the *Araneograptus murrayi* graptolite and *Paroistodus proteus* conodont zones, respectively. The CRE regressive event in the Gorny Altai is identified in the marine sediments (fragments of the Paleoasian ocean) at the base of the Marcheta Formation (Anui-Chuya facies zone) by the appearing red-color terrigenous rocks and red chert (Sennikov et al., 2001, 2003; Sennikov et al., 2008). Terrigenous rocks from the underlying Talitsa Formation are mainly grey-colored, rarely lilac, and chert are mainly violet and red-brown. In the Marcheta-2 Section, conodonts of the middle part of *Par. proteus* Zone were recorded.

7. Global sedimentary regressive «Basal Arenig BioEvent» (BAgB) (= «Late Tremadoc - Early Arenig Lowstand»).

A global biotic Basal Arenig Bio-Event (BAgB) is defined at the Tremadocian/Floian (Arenigian) boundary (Walliser, 1986), with the biota responding by a dramatic change in the structure of benthic-pelagic communities. The event was assumingly triggered by a global transgression. The BAgB biotic event is aligned with the base of the *T. approximatus* graptolite Zone. In the Altai shelf basin, the biotic BAgB event and, thus, the global transgressive event, is identified in the lower part of the Tuloi Formation (Uimen'-Lebed' facies zone) (Krivchikov et al., 1976; Petrunina et al., 1984; Sennikov et al., 2008; Noskov, 2007). This formation overlies, with dip and azimuthal unconformity and thick (up to 130 m) basal conglomerate, different Cambrian horizons: the Lower Cambrian in the Lebed' Section,

the Middle Cambrian in the Tagaza section, and the Upper Cambrian in the Tandoshka Section. It also overlies the Lower Ordovician (Tremadocian in the Ishpa and Tuloi sections). Basal conglomerate of the Ishpa Formation have large-, occasionally medium-size, poorly sorted, well-rounded pebbles, which include granite, granodiorite, syenite, diorite, gabbro, tuffs, quartzite, sandstone, hornfel (Figs 16, 17). Graptolites of the *T. approximatus* Zone were recovered at the lower parts of the formation overlying the conglomerates in the Tuloi, Lebed' and Tagaza sections.

8. Global sedimentary transgressive «Mid Arenig Highstand» event (=? «Helskjer Drowning Event»).

The identification of the considered transgression event in the Gorny Altai has thus far been disputable. The end of sedimentary hiatus in the Suetka-Kuibyshev, Charysh-Inya and Anui-Chuya facies zones (Gorny Altai Group) and the onset of Ordovician-Silurian deposition of a coarse clastic basal unit of the Voskresenka Formation lying with angular and azimuthal unconformity over Cambrian-Tremadocian sediments could be in a way interpreted as its traces (Sennikov et al., 2008; Sennikov et al., 2018a,b). In some areas, in western parts (in modern coordinates) of the Altai basin (Charysh-Inva facies zone), the middle Floian Stage was marked by inception of sedimentary strata exhibiting characteristic features of shelf deposition (the Voskresenka



Fig. 16. Conglomerate of basal member of the Tuloi Formation (Tuloi Section) (General view).



Fig. 17. The pebbles in the conglomerate of basal member of the Tuloi Formation (Tuloi Section).

Formation). Their formation was substantially contributed by the degrading subducted oceanic pelagic sediments (Zasur'ya Group). The oceanic deposition (Marcheta Formation) also continued. Middle Floian oceanic sediments (upper part of the Marcheta Formation) are found in two regions, to the north and east (in modern coordinates) relative to Floian shelf sediments, specifically, the continental slope position is reconstructed from the shelf Floian deposits (northerly direction), suggesting that younger oceanic fragments were consistently attaching to the edge of accretionary complex. A global regression with the sea level dropped by 80–100 m was established within the latest Dapingian – earliest Darriwilian stratigraphic interval.

9. Global sedimentary regressive «Stein Lowstand Event» or «Late Arenig – Early Llanvirn Lowstand». Large-scale global regression occurred at the end of Dapingian- beginning of Darriwilian, markeed by 80– 100 m sea level fall (Nielsen, 2003, 2004, 2011; Munnecke et al., 2010; Gradstein et al., 2012). This event is broadly registered within the Middle Ordovician sections across the Siberian Platform (Kanygin et al., 2010).

The "Stein Lowstand Event" global regression is proposed as the major cause of "unexpected" occurrence of the offshore bar quartz sandstone within the studied medium-to-great depth sections of Gorny Altai. Yellow-gray sandstone well sorted and rounded of the Karasa Formation overlay deep-water black mudstone of the Tuloi Formation (Fig. 18).

Traces of regressive Stein Lowstand Event were recorded in the Uimen'-Lebed' paleobasin (Pridorozhny, Tuloi sections) with stratigraphic position within the boundary between graptolite subzones: *caduceus imitatus* and *sinodentatus/Cardiograptus* subzones of the *E. hirundo* graptolite Zone. Well-sorted and well-rounded yellow-grey sandstone of bar origin (Karasa Formation) overlie black deep-water mudstone of the Tuloi Formation.

The lowermost Karasa Formation within the Lebed' (25 m), Pridorozhny (25 m) and Tuloi (80 m) sections is comprised by the basal bed of the medium-well sorted, well-rounded medium-to-coarse-grained quartz sandstone (90 %) and quartzite (10 %) (Noskov, 2007). It is interpreted either as an offshore bar (Sennikov, 1962; Bukolova,



Fig. 18. Massive beds of the bar sandstone of the basal member of the Karasa Formation (Tuloi Section).

2011), or beach deposits (Noskov, 2007). Therefore, the mid upper Dapingian strata of these sections were accumulated within the lower shoreface (< 10 m) and upper shoreface (0–10 m).

10. Global sedimentary transgressive «Furudal Highstand» event or «Late Llanvirn – Caradoc Highstand».

The estimated amplitude of water level rise between transgressive Furudal Highstand (Nielsen, 2003, 2004, 2011) and regressive Stein Lowstand Event events is 100–150 m (Gradstein et al., 2012). A specific basal member of "bar" quartz sandstone at the base of the Karasa Formation is absent from the Yurok Section, which implies that the latter bears no evidence of Late Arenig – Early Llanvirn Lowstand global regression Event recorded in other sections of this part of Altai.

There are no offshore-bar quartz sandstone documented at the base of the Karasa Formation in the Yurok Section. Hence, it carries no records of the "Late Arenig–Early Llanvirn Lowstand" global event, fixed at the base of the Karasa Formation in the other studied section of northeastern Gorny Altai, possibly due to a comparatively greater depth and distal remoteness of the Yurok Section area from the shore in the Late Arenig–Early Llanvirn time. At the maximum of the sea-level fall, the upper part of the "Yurok uplift" was proposedly still situated below the fair-weather wave base and was not affected by erosional processes. Considering the total sea-level fall estimation at 80–100 m, the top of the uplift was located deeper than 25–50 m even during the maximum of the regression. Consequently, prior to initiation of the "Furudal Highstand" (upper third of the Dapingian, the uplift had been localized as deep as 100–150 m. The maximum of the "Furudal Highstand" (upper third of the Darriwilian) placed the top of the uplift 150–200 m below the sea base. A comparatively low thickness (at least 45 m) and specific lithological composition (fine, homogenous, well-sorted terrigenous material) of the lower Karasa Formation within the Yurok Section reveal its offshore remoteness, and depth at 150–200 m, same as for the uppermost Tuloi Formation.

It is of special notification, the Dapingian–Darriwilian stage in the evolution of graptolites, juxtaposed between the "Basal Llanvirn" event (extinction of isograptids and anisograptids in the *gibberulus* graptolite Zone) and "Basal Caradoc" event (didymograptids went extinct at the base of the *peltifer* graptolite Zone), displays no ecological crises (Barnes et al., 1996; Cooper et al., 2004; Webby et al., 2004; and others). Such periods of ecological stability are usually marked by equalization of specimens within the genera both, in the certain locality and within the whole paleobasin. It is the pattern identified in the Yurok Section, where the quantity dominating taxa can not be established within the paleocommunity during the Dapingian–Darriwilian interval. However, the pre-crisis period (*teretiusculus* graptolite Zone) in the Yurok and Lebed' sections reveals minimum of the equalization, with *Hustedograptus teretiusculus* (His.) being drastically dominant (several dozen of the specimens, where the other taxa being rare and scarce).

The Yurok Section demonstrates, that after the global regression and "Basal Llanvirn" biotic event, accompanied by rapid depletion of taxonomical abundance and decrease of the population densities of the graptolites, the Upper Dapingian – Lower Darriwilian stage was characterized by a comparatively rapid revival of the population densities and taxonomical abundance of the graptolites inhabiting the offshore-remote zones with depths at 150–200 m. At the same time, the comparatively proximal and less-deep (< 100–150 m) zones of the paleobasin (Lebed', Pridorozhny, and Tuloi sections) demonstrate a considerably decreased rate of the revival.

The overlaying siltstone and mudstone of the Karasa Formation in the Lebed' (400 m) and Tuloi (370 m) sections, corresponding the *austrodentatus*, *dentatus*, *balhaschensis*, *jakovlevi*, and *teretiusculus* graptolite zones, mirror a gradual transition to the medium-depth zone (100–150 m). The "Late Arenig–Early Llanvirn Lowstand" was followed by a rapid sea level rise, culminated in the global "Furudal Highstand" (Nielsen, 2003, 2004, 2011), also known as the "Late Llanvirn–Caradoc Highstand" (Gradstein et al., 2012), within the *teretiusculus* graptolite Zone. Total sea level rise during the transgression is estimated at 100–150 m (Gradstein et al., 2012).

11. Global sedimentary regressive «Vollen Lowstand» event.

The high stand climax (Late Llanvirn-Caradoc Highstand transgressive sedimentation event) was followed by a regression event with a large-scale sea level drop by 100–130 m (Nielsen, 2004, 2011; Munnecke et al., 2010; Gradstein et al., 2012). The basal coarse-grained (conglomerate, gravelite, sandstone with floating gravel and coarse sand) member that belongs to the Gur'yanovka Formation (Uimen'-Lebed' facies zone), dated to the earliest Sandbian,

bears evidence of the global early Sandbian regression Vollen Lowstand in the Late Ordovician Altai sections, rather than of local break in sedimentation. The basal member of the Gur'yanovka Formation is composed of pebbles and gravel which include jasperoid, granite, porphyrite, diabase, sandstone, and siltstone (Noskov, 2007). While talus composed of a variety of Ordovician, as well as older sediments could be supplied from the areas, which became exposed during the previous regression.

12. Global sewdimentary regressive «Frognerkilen Lowstand Event» or «Solvang Lowstand Event».

The described below phenomena manifest in the Gur'yanovka Formation sections (Uimen'-Lebed' facies zone) could be regarded as signatures left by the two global early Katian regressions in the Gorny Altai: (i) the appearance of carbonate gravelite layer (calcirudite with unsorted medium-rounded fragments) in the Bura Section (8th member); (ii) a layer of conglomerate with pebbles of limestone in the Tuloi Section (8th member); and (iii) solitary grains of coarse-grained sand (medium-rounded and -sorted) in fine- and medium-grained sandstones of the Biya section (9th member). The early Katian regressions are most likely to have been caused by the first multi-stage Late Ordovician episodes of global glaciation. The chronostratigraphic position of the two events is recorded at the lowest portion of the *Dicranograptus clingani* graptolite Zone for the former and at the topmost part of this zone for the latter. Estimations of the extent of such regressions yielded a 100 m drop in sea level (Nielsen, 2004, 2011; Munnecke et al., 2010; Gradstein et al., 2012). The Ebogon Section (Anui-Chuya facies zone) is composed of black to dark gray shale with graptolites (*Dicranograptus clingani* Zone) and trilobites. These beds formed at depths of 100 m and below are abruptly overstepped by limestone containing oolitic intercalations, which is interpreted as the result of the wave action, being the signatures left by the "Solvang Lowstand Event".

13. Global sedimentary maximum regressive event connected with the Late Ordovician Glacial – «Ashgill Lowstand Interval» (= «Hirnantian Lowstand Event»).

A global sea level drop from 80 to 150 m was reported for the latest Ordovician (Late Katian and Hirnantian stages), i.e. during the period of most extensive Late Ordovician Glacial there was, which prompted the appearance of shallow-water sedimentary formations and breaks in sedimentation. In the Gorny Altai, this is evidenced by the gray-colored carbonate and thin clastic sediments of the Gur'yanovka Formation (Uimen'-Lebed' facies zone) sharply replaced by the overlying red-colored, clastic (sandstone and gravelite), extremely shallow-water sediments of the Chebor Formation. The Lebed' Section (Chebor Formation) is featured by: gravel-pebble diamictites; tempestites; oblique and crosslamination; multidirectional and multi-scale wave and current ripples; traces of high-amplitude wave action (Fig. 19, a-e). The desiccation cracks, ichnofossils and other signatures of tidal zone and coastal plain are characteristic of the Gur'yanovka Glade Section (Chebor Formation) (Fig. 19,f).

14. Global Hirnantian sedimentary event (HICE).

A positive carbon isotope excursion pronouncedly distinguished at the latest Ordovician (Hirnantian Stage) with a maximum recorded in the middle part of a specific member with the so-called Hirnantian-Dalmanitian assemblages of benthic fauna which corresponded to either transitional layers between *Nor. extraordinarius* and *Nor. persculptus* graptolite zones, or the lower half of the latter. This excursion reflecting a sharp increase in carbon isotope content developing to



Fig. 19. Lithologic manifestation of the Hirnantian Lowstand Event (Ashgill Lowstand Interval) in the Gorny Altai (Lebed' River).





Fig. 21. Stratigraphy, selected fossils (after Sennikov et al., 2014) and carbon isotope data of the Burovlyanka section. Note that thicknesses of the stratigraphic units are not to scale, except for the sampled intervals (members 1 and 5). D - Dalmanitina Member (Member 5) (from Sennikov et al., 2015b).

Fig. 20. The 3 m thick Dalmanitina Limestone Member in the Burovlyanka Section with the light gray lower unit and the dark gray (beige) upper unit. The ruler is 2.8 m long.

peaks and indicating maximum absolute values for carbon isotopes throughout the Ordovician, was termed "Hirnantian isotope carbon excursion" (HICE).

The HICE abiotic event has thus far been recorded in almost all Late Ordovician sections, including: a) the Global boundary Stratotype Section and Point (GSSP) for the base of the Hirnantian Stage (the Ordovician System), (Wangjiawan North Section in China) (Chen et al., 2006); b) GSSP for the Rhuddanian (the Silurian System) (Dob's Linn Section in Scotland) (Underwood et al., 1997); c) in the Mirny Section in the Kolyma region in NE Siberia (Russian regional standard of the Hirnantian) (Kalio. Martma, 2011) and in the key sections of the Ordovician-Silurian boundary stratigraphic interval of numerous geological regions across the continents (Bergström et al., 2006; Kaljo, Martma, 2011; Meidla et al., 2011; Mitchell et al., 2011; Schonlaub et al., 2011 et al.). Ordovician-Silurian Continuous sections with finds of both pelagic assemblages, including graptolites, conodonts and radiolarians. and benthic Dalmanitian fauna recorded in the Gorny were Altai (Charvsh-Inva facies zone) (Sennikov, 1998, 2012; Sennikov et al., 2008; Obut, Semenova, 2011; Sennikov et al., 2011b). In the Gorny Altai sections, these complexes allowed a distinct differentiation of the Hirnantian Stage, which corresponds to Nor. ojsuensis and Nor. persculptus graptolite zones. While studying the Burovlyanka Section (Charysh-Inya facies zone), a key section for the Gorny Altai, carbon isotopes enabled the records

of the HICE sedimentation event in the lowermost part of the Dalmanitian member, corresponding to the lowermost part of *Nor. persculptus* Zone (Sennikov, Ainsaar, 2012; Sennikov et al., 2015b) (Figs 20, 21).

3. PALEOGEOGRAPHY OF THE WESTERN ALTAI-SAYAN FOLDED AREA (ORDOVICIAN ALTAI-SALAIR BASIN)

3.1. SEDIMENTARY TYPIES AND BIOTAS OF THE ALTAI-SALAIR ORDOVICIAN BASIN

The Altai-Salair Ordovician basin represented shelf continental-margin basin of the Siberian Craton. The so-called Paleo-Asian Ocean was directly linked with the Altai-Salair shelf basin. Its separate fragments could be observed as tectonic blocks in the Gorny Altai area.

Local lithostratigraphic subdivisions (formations) in the Altai-Salair Ordovician basin characterize wide range of sedimentary facies: from shelf to oceanic genesis. Formations could be subdivided into two groups. First is represented by only one rocks association, for example, sandstone and siltstone, confined to a single specific facies. The second group includes formations represented by the diverse rock associations, for example, limestone, mudstone, siltstone and sandstone. Such rocks in the various sections characterize relatively same facies that on the other hand could be assigned to the different paleogeographic environments.

3.1.1. OCEANIC GENESIS

1. Volcanic-siliceous-terrigenous sedimentary type (massive, coarse-laminated tuff, tuff sandstone, chert, siliceous mudstone, siltstone, sandstone yielded numerous siliceous sponge spicules, radiolarians and rare conodonts). As an example: Marcheta Formation (Marcheta-2 and Talitsa sections) – Late Tremadocian – Floian.

2. Siliceous-terrigenous sedimentary type (massive, coarse-laminated chert, siliceous mudstone, siltstone, sandstone with numerous siliceous sponge spicules, radiolarians and rare conodonts). As an example: Marcheta Formation (Kamyshenka and Charysh sections) – Late Tremadocian – Floian.

3.1.2. CONTINENTAL SLOPE GENESIS

1. Terrigenous flysch sedimentary type (coarse-laminated rhythmic sandstone, siltstone, mudstone, with rare but taxonomically diverse trilobites, brachiopods, single poor graptolites). As an example: Bugryshikha Formation (Malaya Uskuchevka and Pichuzhikha-2 sections) – Late Darriwilian – Early Sandbian.

2. Terrigenous underwater-sliding (gravitation-mixtite) sedimentary type (non-bedded, often lense with landslide traces and small isolated sphere jointing in terrigeneous rocks ("twisting"), chert, siliceous mudstone, siltstone, with rare unvaried radiolarians and rare siliceous sponge spicules). As an example: siliceous-terrigenous sequence (Suetka Section) – Early Hirnantian.

3. Siliceous-terrigenous (gravitational-mixtitic) sedimentary type (fine-laminated, often lenses with traces of sliding and isolated sphere jointing in terrigeneous rocks ("twisting"), chert, siliceous mudstone, siltstone with few and taxonomically monotonous radiolarians and rare siliceous sponge spicules). As an example: siliceous-terrigenous sequence (Suetka Section) – Early Hirnantian.

3.1.3. SHELF GENESIS

The outer shelf, which is quite far from the shore, must have had depths of 150-250 m, that is, greater than those in the inner shelf. It supported a carbonate platform, which occupied at least 70 % of the studied strip. The platform, in its turn, developed reefs, whose tops reached the sea surface (so-called level reefs). About 20-25 % of the outer shelf was occupied by the inner edge of the carbonate platform, with terrigenous-carbonate and carbonate-terrigenous sedimentation; 5-10 %, by the outer edge and bottom of the carbonate platform, with carbonate-terrigenous or, less often, siliceous-terrigenous sedimentation.

1. Volcanic-terrigenous sedimentary type (volcanic islands and arcs).

A. Volcanoes slope facies (porphyrite, tuff, sandstone lenses and rare limestone lenses with single trilobites and brachiopods). As an example: Salair, Krasnoe Formation (Section Krasnoe), El'tsovka Formation (El'tsovka Section) – Tremadocian.

B. Facies distant from the volcanic arc (porphyrite, tuff, beds and lenses of sandstone, siltstone and limestone with few taxonomically diverse trilobites and brachiopods). As an example: Gorny Altai, Agayra Formation (Anos Section) – Tremadocian.

2. Siliceous-terrigenous sedimentary type.

A. Facies of the distant from shore deep shelf (chert, siliceous mudstone, siltstone with taxonomically diverse radiolarians and rare taxonomically diverse conodonts siliceous sponge spicules). As an example: Tekhten' Formation (sections Tachalov and Barany), siliceous-terrigenous sequence (Suetka Section) – Early Hirnantian.

B. Facies of the shelf foreland, near continental slope edge (sandstone, siltstone, siliceous mudstone with few poor graptolites). As an example: Tekhten' Formation (Rudovozy Section) – Early Hirnantian.

Ordovician sedimentary basins and paleobiotas of the Gorny Altai

3. Terrigenous sedimentary type.

A. Avandelta front of the mountain river (varicolored conglomerate and sandstone). As an example: Upper Subformation of the Kamlak Formation (Section Takoshkin) – Late Tremadocian; Bulukhta Formation (Boriskin Log Section) – Early Hirnantian.

B. Riverside facies:

a) location close to cliffy (iron-bound) desiccated river bank (beds and lenses of the well-rounded and wellsorted conglometare, gravelstone, sandstone). As an example: lower basal bed of the Tuloi Formation (Mingalevsky, Ishpa sections) – Early Floian;

b) location close to relatively plane bank (massive, well-sorted and well-rounded sandstone). As an example: lower basal bed of the Karasa Formation (Tuloi Section) – Middle Darriwilian.

C. Facies distant from the bank (siltstone, mudstone, rarely sandstone with taxonomically diverse graptolites, trilobites and brachiopods). As an example: middle and upper parts of the Tuloi Formation (Stretenka, Tagaza, Tandoshka sections) – Floian; Bugryshikha Formation (Maralikha Section) – Late Darriwilian – Early Sandbian; Khankhara Formation (Ebogon Section) – Late Sandbian – Early Katian; Ilovaty Formation (Ilovaty, Cheremshanka sections) (Salair) – Floian – Early Darriwilian; Karastun Formation (Korovy Section) (Salair) – Middle Darriwilian – Sandbian; Izyrak Formation (Izyrak Section) (Salair) – Floian – Early Darriwilian.

D. Facies of the underwater highs tops (fine-platy and cross-laminating mudstone with traces of maceration and yielded abundant taxonomically diverse graptolites). As an example: Voskresenka Formation (Pichuzhikha Section) – Floian.

E. Facies of the underwater highs bottoms (gravitation-mixtite) (coarse-laminated sandstone and siltstones with the middle size isolated sphere jointing in terrigeneous rocks ("twisting"), up to 0.2-0.3 m in diameter, with rare taxonomically monotonous graptolites). As an example: Voskresenka Formation (Maralikha Section) – Lower Darriwilian.

4. Carbonate-terrigenous sedimentary type.

A. Facies slightly distant from the shore (carbonate mudstone, marl, clayey limestone with rare taxonomically poor corals and brachiopods). As an example: Diskovaya Formation (Algain Section) – Early Katian (Gornaya Shoriya).

B. Facies distant from the shore (intercalation of prevailed carbonate mudstone and siltstone, with the secondary in amount middle-laminated clayey limestone yielded few taxonomically diverse brachiopods and trilobites, rare taxonomically poor corals and graptolites). As an example: Khankhara Formation (Verkhnyaya Karasu, Nizhnyaya Karasu, Marcheta-4 sections) – Early Katian.

5. Terrigenous-carbonate sedimentary type.

A. Facies distant from the shore (intercalation of prevailed fine-laminated carbonate clayey limestone with the secondary in amount of carbonate mudstone and siltstone yielded abundant taxonomically diverse brachiopods and trilobites, rare taxonomically monotonous corals). As an example: Khankhara Formation (Marinikha, Kholmogorikha sections) – Early Katian.

B. Facies adjacent to distant parts of the reefs (middle and fine-laminated clayey limestone with intercalates of carbonaceous mudstone with abundant diverse corals, trilobites, brachiopods). As an example: Tekhten' Formation (Elanda Section) – Late Katian.

C. Facies of bays on the reef edges (lenses of the algae bioherms small in size, to 1-2 m in diameter, in the siltstone-mudstone matrix with rare taxonomically monotonous brachiopods and graptolites). As an example: Tekhten' Formation (Burovlyanka Section) – Early Hirnantian.

6. Carbonate (reef) sedimentary type

A. Facies of the groups of large reefs (up to 2-3 km in diameter) on the carbonate platform at shelf edge:

a) the central parts of separate reefs (massive, un-laminated limestone, with large algae bioherms up 20-30 m, with rare taxonomically monotonous corals). As an example: Tekhten' Formation (Orlov, Burovlyanka, Marcheta-4, Tekhten', Chakyr, Muta, Bely Bom sections) – Late Katian – Early Hirnantian;

b) the marginal part of the separate reefs (coarse- and middle laminated limestone, with large taxonomically diverse corals). As an example: Tekhten' Formation (Tekhten', Muta sections) – Late Katian;

B. Facies of middle-sized reefs (0.5–1 km in diameter) on the slopes of fade volcanoes (massive, un-laminated limestone, with abundant taxonomically diverse trilobites, as well as rare taxonomically poor brachiopods and conodonts). As an example: Tolstochikha Formation (Orlinaya Section) – Tremadocian (Salair).

C. Facies of separate, small (0.05–0.1 km in diameter), isolated reefs (patch-reef). As an example: Tekhten' Formation (sections Tachalov, Burovlyanka) – Early Hirnantian; Veber Formation (Spornaya Sopka Section) – Early Hirnantian (Salair).

D. Shallow-water distant from shore facies (middle-laminated oolitic limestone, with rare brachiopod and trilobite fragments). As an example: basal bed of the Khankhara Formation (Malaya Uskuchevka, Ebogon, Belaya sections) – Late Sandbian.

3.2. SEDIMENTARY MODEL PROFILES FOR THE ORDOVICIAN OF THE ALTAI BASIN

Regularities in lithofacies succession in the different facies area of the Gorny Altai was found out during alignment of the Ordovician local lithostratigraphic subdivisions based on graptolite and conodont zonation (Figs 22–24).

Analysis of fauna paleo-assemblages obtained from the local stratigraphic subdivisions (formations) turned out variations in composition and population density within different fauna groups (Fig. 25).



Fig. 22. Correlation of the Ordovician key sections of the Uymen'-Lebed' facies zone.



Fig. 23. Correlation of the Ordovician key sections of the Charysh-Inya facies zone.

"Yurok"	eretiusculus	rce graptolites	schensis / kingisious"		rce graptolites	sinodentatus	1	gibberulus	stifolius elongatus				
	-	SCB	"balhas		3	hinunde			nGue				
"Tulor"	No organitae	documented		dentatus	Scarce graptolites	No graptolites documented	"hirundo"	ibberulus maximo-divergens deflexus	angustifolius elongatus / broggeri	densus	approximatus		
"Pridorozhny"					No secondaria	documented	hinundo caduceus imitatus	gibberulus maximo-divergens g					
"Lebed"	teretusculus	coelatus			No graptiontes documented		hirundo	gibberulus	angustifolius elongatus / broggen bifidus	densus balticus	approximatus		
Formation		ł.	nse	Jey	H					InT			
and of grapholite al succession at al., 2014, 2015a]	etiusculus	levi / coelatus	nensis / kirgisicus	entatus	rodentatus	sinodentatus / Cardiograptus	caduceus imitatus	mao	us elongatus oggeri bificus	baticus	approximatus		
Fragn zon (Sannikov	ter	jakovi	balhasch	a	austr	hinudo		pibberulus	angustifoli / bn	densus	de		
ma bobo and measured and a solution of the sol	esp -Af	lius Sna	AN U	S al	0/ -6	aus any	Γ	2.3		Tuk			
eget2			willi			1	6ux	Dett.	U	ieiol3	t i		
							M reignigeQ			Floian			
	Fragment of graptoits of a construction Fragment of graptoits a construction Fragment of graptoits a construction Can tail Construction Can tail Con tail Construction Con tail Constructi	Area Fragment of grapholite Index of grapholite <tht< td=""><td>Fragment of graptotite Fragment of graptotite "helder Fragment of graptotite Fragment of graptotite Tubor of graptotite "Pridorozhny" Tubor Tubor "helder" Barnikov et al., 2014, 2015aj "Lebed" "Pridorozhny" Barnikov et al., 2014, 2015aj "Pridorozhny" "Pridorozhny" Barnikov et al., 2014, 2015aj "Pridorozhny" "Pridorozhny" Barnikov et al., 2014, 2015aj "Reference "Pridorozhny" Barnikov et al., 2014, 2015aj "Pridorozhny" "Pridorozhny" Barnikov et al., 2014, 2015aj "Pridorozhny" "Pridorozhny" Barnikov et al., 2014, 2015aj "Pridorozhny" "Pridorozhny"</td><td>Pridom to grapholitic Procession Fragment of grapholitic Early 2014, 2015a] Indexeduction "Pridomozhny" Pridom to grapholitic Pridom to grapholitic Tubol" "Pridomozhny" "Tubol" Pridom to grapholitic Pridomozhny" "Pridomozhny" "Tubol" Pridomov et al., 2014, 2015a] Lebed" "Pridomozhny" "Tubol" Pridomov et al., 2014, 2015a] Lebed" "Pridomozhny" "Tubol" Pridomov et al., 2014, 2015a] Lebed" "Pridomozhny" "Tubol" Pridomover et al., 2014, 2015a] Lebed" "Pridomozhny" "Tubol" Pridomover et al., 2014, 2015a] Lebed" "Pridomozhny" "Tubol" Pridomozhny terefusculus No grapholities "Tubol" Pridomozhny terefusculus No grapholities "Tubol"</td><td>Rest Rest To void of a provide to rest regression and the provident of grapholites "Indone claim to rest rest rest rest rest rest rest rest</td><td>Method Notice Solution Fragment of graptioitie Solution Fragment of graptioitie Solution "Indonesition "Lebed" "Pridonozhny" "Tuloi" 2015 For Solution Fragment of graptioitie Solution "Lebed" "Pridonozhny" "Tuloi" 2015 For Solution Enertiusculus "Lebed" "Pridonozhny" "Tuloi" 2016 For Solution Enertiusculus Enertiusculus No graptioites "Occumented" 2018 For Solution Enertiusculus No graptioites No graptioites "Tuloi" 2018 For Solution Enertiusculus No graptioites No graptioites "Tuloi" 2019 For Solution Enertiusculus No graptioites No graptioites "Tuloi"</td><td>Market Normality Statution Additional substrated and since diameted statution Fragment of graptoite to contail succession "Indon "Lebed" "Pridonozhny" "Tuloi" Paramition et al., 2014, 2015aj 2014, 2014, 2015aj biological biologiological biological biological biological biological</td><td>Reference Fragment of grapholities Tubol "Pridomochny" "Pridomochny" "Tubol" Reference Isomnisov et al., 2014, 2015aj In "Pridomochny" "Pridomochny" "Tubol" Reference Isomnisov et al., 2014, 2015aj In "Pridomochny" "Tubol" "Tubol" Reference Isomnisov et al., 2014, 2015aj In "Pridomochny" "Tubol" "Tubol" Reference Isomnisov et al., 2014, 2015aj In "Pridomochny" "Tubol" "Tubol" Reference Isomnisov et al., 2014, 2015aj In In In In In Reference In <t< td=""><td>Product Note Production Produ</td><td>Production Trained of graphing "Indemotion "Production "Production Production Samity excretation Trained of graphing "Tubo" "Production Production Samity excretation Trained of graphing "Production "Production Production Interetiusculus Interetiusculus Traine "Production Production Samity excretation Mo grapholities "Production Production Interetiusculus Interetiusculus Interetiusculus Program Interetiusculus In</td><td>Pridocochny Tubor Pridocochny Samiav et al. 2014, 2015a) Pridocochny Pridocochny Samiav et al. 2014, 2015a Pridocochny Pridocochny Samiav et al. 2014, 2015a Pridocochny Pridocochny No graptolites No graptolites Pridocochny No graptolites No graptolites Pridocochny No graptolites No graptolites Pridocochny Pridocochny Pridocochny Pridocochny Pridococo</td></t<></td></tht<>	Fragment of graptotite Fragment of graptotite "helder Fragment of graptotite Fragment of graptotite Tubor of graptotite "Pridorozhny" Tubor Tubor "helder" Barnikov et al., 2014, 2015aj "Lebed" "Pridorozhny" Barnikov et al., 2014, 2015aj "Pridorozhny" "Pridorozhny" Barnikov et al., 2014, 2015aj "Pridorozhny" "Pridorozhny" Barnikov et al., 2014, 2015aj "Reference "Pridorozhny" Barnikov et al., 2014, 2015aj "Pridorozhny" "Pridorozhny" Barnikov et al., 2014, 2015aj "Pridorozhny" "Pridorozhny" Barnikov et al., 2014, 2015aj "Pridorozhny" "Pridorozhny"	Pridom to grapholitic Procession Fragment of grapholitic Early 2014, 2015a] Indexeduction "Pridomozhny" Pridom to grapholitic Pridom to grapholitic Tubol" "Pridomozhny" "Tubol" Pridom to grapholitic Pridomozhny" "Pridomozhny" "Tubol" Pridomov et al., 2014, 2015a] Lebed" "Pridomozhny" "Tubol" Pridomov et al., 2014, 2015a] Lebed" "Pridomozhny" "Tubol" Pridomov et al., 2014, 2015a] Lebed" "Pridomozhny" "Tubol" Pridomover et al., 2014, 2015a] Lebed" "Pridomozhny" "Tubol" Pridomover et al., 2014, 2015a] Lebed" "Pridomozhny" "Tubol" Pridomozhny terefusculus No grapholities "Tubol" Pridomozhny terefusculus No grapholities "Tubol"	Rest Rest To void of a provide to rest regression and the provident of grapholites "Indone claim to rest rest rest rest rest rest rest rest	Method Notice Solution Fragment of graptioitie Solution Fragment of graptioitie Solution "Indonesition "Lebed" "Pridonozhny" "Tuloi" 2015 For Solution Fragment of graptioitie Solution "Lebed" "Pridonozhny" "Tuloi" 2015 For Solution Enertiusculus "Lebed" "Pridonozhny" "Tuloi" 2016 For Solution Enertiusculus Enertiusculus No graptioites "Occumented" 2018 For Solution Enertiusculus No graptioites No graptioites "Tuloi" 2018 For Solution Enertiusculus No graptioites No graptioites "Tuloi" 2019 For Solution Enertiusculus No graptioites No graptioites "Tuloi"	Market Normality Statution Additional substrated and since diameted statution Fragment of graptoite to contail succession "Indon "Lebed" "Pridonozhny" "Tuloi" Paramition et al., 2014, 2015aj 2014, 2014, 2015aj biological biologiological biological biological biological biological	Reference Fragment of grapholities Tubol "Pridomochny" "Pridomochny" "Tubol" Reference Isomnisov et al., 2014, 2015aj In "Pridomochny" "Pridomochny" "Tubol" Reference Isomnisov et al., 2014, 2015aj In "Pridomochny" "Tubol" "Tubol" Reference Isomnisov et al., 2014, 2015aj In "Pridomochny" "Tubol" "Tubol" Reference Isomnisov et al., 2014, 2015aj In "Pridomochny" "Tubol" "Tubol" Reference Isomnisov et al., 2014, 2015aj In In In In In Reference In In <t< td=""><td>Product Note Production Produ</td><td>Production Trained of graphing "Indemotion "Production "Production Production Samity excretation Trained of graphing "Tubo" "Production Production Samity excretation Trained of graphing "Production "Production Production Interetiusculus Interetiusculus Traine "Production Production Samity excretation Mo grapholities "Production Production Interetiusculus Interetiusculus Interetiusculus Program Interetiusculus In</td><td>Pridocochny Tubor Pridocochny Samiav et al. 2014, 2015a) Pridocochny Pridocochny Samiav et al. 2014, 2015a Pridocochny Pridocochny Samiav et al. 2014, 2015a Pridocochny Pridocochny No graptolites No graptolites Pridocochny No graptolites No graptolites Pridocochny No graptolites No graptolites Pridocochny Pridocochny Pridocochny Pridocochny Pridococo</td></t<>	Product Note Production Produ	Production Trained of graphing "Indemotion "Production "Production Production Samity excretation Trained of graphing "Tubo" "Production Production Samity excretation Trained of graphing "Production "Production Production Interetiusculus Interetiusculus Traine "Production Production Samity excretation Mo grapholities "Production Production Interetiusculus Interetiusculus Interetiusculus Program Interetiusculus In	Pridocochny Tubor Pridocochny Samiav et al. 2014, 2015a) Pridocochny Pridocochny Samiav et al. 2014, 2015a Pridocochny Pridocochny Samiav et al. 2014, 2015a Pridocochny Pridocochny No graptolites No graptolites Pridocochny No graptolites No graptolites Pridocochny No graptolites No graptolites Pridocochny Pridocochny Pridocochny Pridocochny Pridococo		

Fig. 24. Correlation of identified zonal successions in the studied sections of the Uymen'-Lebed' facies zone, and regional graptolite zonation for the Lower (excluding Tremadocian) and Middle Ordovician of the Gorny Altai.

Sections	Lebed'	Bura	Gyr'yanovka Medow	Tuloi- Karasa	Chechenek	Biya
		Distribution of lithol	Distribution of lithological types of rocks			
Sandstone (including gravelstone and conglomerate)	~20%	~3%	15%	~40%	47%	~40%
Mudstone and siltstone	~30%	~6%	30%	~40%	43%	~42%
Limestone (including clayey and sandy)	~50%	~88%	55%	~20%	10%	~18%
	Freq	Frequency of faunal groups occurence in separate layers and beds	rence in separate lay	ers and beds		
High (> 100 specimen)	Brachiopods, tabulate corals /heliolithids	Tabulate corals /heliolithids, brachiopods		Brachiopods	Brachiopods	Brachiopods
Middle (100-10 specimen)	Ostracods, nautiloids	Ostracods, trilobites	Brachiopods, ostracods, tabulate corals	Ostracods		Conodonts, ostracods
Low (< 10 specimen)	Conodonts, trilobites	Conodonts, rugose corals, stromatoporoids		Trilobites, nautiloids		
Rare findings	Rugose corals		Rugose corals, bryozoans, trilobites, ichnofossils	Tabulate corals	Trilobites, crinoids	Corals, bryozoans, trilobites, nautiloids
	Taxo	Faxonomic variety of faunal groups entirely throughout the section	ips entirely throughou	ut the section		
High (> 10 specimen)		Brachiopods		Brachiopods, ostracods		
Middle (10-5 specimen)	Brachiopods, conodonts	Tabulate corals/ heliolithids, trilobites	Brachiopods	Trilobites		Brachiopods
Low (< 5 specimen) and weakly studied	Tabulate/ heliolithids, ostracods, trilobites, rugose corals,	Bryozoans, rugose corals, conodonts, stromatoporoids	Rugose corals, bryozoans, tabulate corals, ostracods, ichnofossils	Tabulate corals, nautiloids	Brachiopods, trilobites, crinoids	Conodonts, trilobites, bryozoans, corals, ostracods, nautiloids
	nautiloids					

Fig. 25. Correlation of identified zonal successions in the studied sections of the Uymen'-Lebed' structure-facies zone, and regional graptolite zonation for the Lower (excluding Tremadocian) and Middle Ordovician of the Gorny Altai.

In recent years, the event stratigraphy has been increasingly corroborated by numerous data on the world ocean level fall (during regressions) and rise (during transgressions) in absolute ages (Nielsen, 2003, 2004, 2011; Munnecke et al., 2010; Gradstein et al., 2012). The granulometric composition of terrigenous sediments, their sedimentation behavior and fauna characteristics enable first-approximation estimates of absolute paleodepths of the sedimentation (Fig. 26). A comparative study of abrupt changes in the lithological composition within a series of Ordovician sections of the Gorny Altai allowed marking some of the abrupt large-scale changes in the Ordovician Altai basin depths (Fig. 27).



Fig. 26. Standard profile for depths of marine basin.

IS	S, 20	800	Stage Sennikov 1, 2015]	Go	orny Altai												Т	The I	reco	nstr	ruct	ed (dep	th										
			I Star		Graptolite	_			"L	ebe	ed"			Γ		"Pri	doro	zhny	y"					Tulc	oy"			Γ			"Yur	ok"		
System	Series	Stage	Regional w/p ASFA [5 w/p area 1, 2014, 15 w/p area	[Senniko	zone w et al., 2014, 2015]	Formation	0-5 m	5-10 m	10-50 m	50-100 m	100-150 m	150-200 m	> 200 m	0-5 m	5-10 m	10-50 m	50-100 m	100-150 m	150-200 m	> 200 m	0-5 m	5-10 m	10-50 m	50-100 m	100-150 m	150-200 m	> 200 m	0-5 m	5-10 m	10-50 m	50-100 m	100-150 m	150-200 m	> 200 m
			Bugry- shikha	te	eretiusculus						ę																						•	
		ilian	Shi	jakovl	evi / coelatus	3					1																					1		
		Darriwilian	Kos- tinsky	balhasch	nensis / kirgisicus entatus	Karasu					1																					?		
ician	ddle	thangs.			odentatus						•	1						•			•••••				5						1			
Ordovician	Mic	u	Kuiby- shevo	hirundo	sinodentatus / Cardiograptus										<							4	2											
-		Dapingian			caduceus imitatus							T							1	•						I						•		
		Dap	(,pac	gibberulus	maximo-divergens deflexus	100.00														5						•						•		
	er	u	Tuloy (=Lebed')		us elongatus oggeri proto- bifidus							•																				•		
	Low	Floian	12	densus app	balticus proximatus							•														•								

Fig. 27. Reconstructed depth variations within the studied areas of the Gorny Altai paleobasin in the Early-Middle Ordovician.

Integrated analysis of sedimentary features and composition of fauna groups (paleo-communities) revealed the patterns of their relationships based on : a) the distance from the provenance area of terrigenous material supplied to the paleobasin; b) the paleobasin's depth; c) the paleo-seafloor topography (micro-lows, large slope angles, etc.), d) sediment composition, e) grain-size of clastic sediments, f) thickness of forming beds (Fig. 28). The patterns variability is most prominent for the succeeding stratigraphic intervals.

Reconstruction of spatial facies substitution of lithological types of Ordovician sedimentary rocks in the Gorny Altai area throughout the sections revealed different patterns of facies relationships between clastic and carbonate rock associations and, accordingly, changes of fauna groups in paleocommunities (Figs 29, 30).

While analysis and generalization of the revealed patterns allowed to construct the so-called model profiles of Ordovician sedimentation in the paleobasins of the Gorny Altai (Figs 31–33). Each of these profiles has its own prototype (see above Figs 29, 30), represented by a group of real sections of a certain chronostratigraphical interval (straddling usually 1–2, rarely 3 stages) for specific areas corresponding to any offshore part of the Ordovician Altai paleobasin. Comparison of the model profiles allows to reveal specific evolution of individual parts of the paleo-offshore areas and to identify the trends in sedimentation processes within the paleobasin, which serves as the basis for a comparative analysis of the Ordovician Altai basin development and evolutionary stages of other known Ordovician



Fig. 28. Model profile of the Altai paleobasin (Uymen'-Lebed' facies zone / Tuloi and Karasa formations / Dapingian Stage – Darriwilian Stage).



Fig. 29. Lihtological profile of the Altai paleobasin (Anui-Chuya facies zone / Khankhara Formation / Upper part Sandbian Stage – Lower part Katian Stage).



Fig. 30. Lihtological profile of the Altai paleobasin (Anui-Chuya facies zone / Tekhten' Formation / upper part Katian Stage – Hirnantian Stage).



Fig. 31. Model profile of the Altai paleobasin (Charysh-Inya facies zone / Voskresenka Formation / upper part Floian Stage – lower part Darriwilian Stage).



Fig. 32. Model profile of the Altai paleobasin (Anui-Chuya facies zone / Khankhara Formation / upper part Sandbian Stage – lower part Katian Stage).

Ordovician sedimentary basins and paleobiotas of the Gorny Altai



Fig. 33. Model profile of the Altai paleobasin (Anui-Chuya facies zone / Tekhten' Formation / Upper part Katian Stage – Hirnantian Stage).



Fig. 34. General structural scheme of the Late Ordovician Altai basin.

basins in Siberia, the Urals, Taimyr, the Baltic region and across the world.

Generalization of the series of facies profiles across the outcrops of Ordovician shelf sediments in the Gorny Altai area allowed an inference about the predominant sedimentation types in the Late Ordovician basin described as: (i) reefogenic type in the carbonate-platform zone and (ii) terrigenous-carbonate and terrigenous type in the inner-shelf zone (Yolkin et al., 1994; Sennikov et al., 2008) (Fig. 34).

3.3. PALEOGEOGRAPHIC RECONSTRUCTION OF THE ORDOVICIAN ALTAI BASIN

This study is the systematic synthesis of successive changes in paleogeography and contours of the Ordovician Altai basin. The synthesis is based on a series of stage- (and substage) scale paleogeographic charts for the whole Ordovician-Silurian basin history which have been compiled and partly published by today (Yolkin et al., 1994; Sennikov, 2006a, b; Sennikov et al., 2008).

4. ORDOVICIAN KEY SECTIONS IN THE GORNY ALTAI

The described sections are grouped geographically into areas of the western, northwestern, central, northern and northeastern Gorny Altai. The member subdivision and bed-by-bed description of the sections have been the responsibility of N.V. Sennikov, Z.E. Petrunina, L.A. Gladkikh, A.V. Krivchikov, O.T. Obut, E.V. Bukolova (Lykova). The section symbols are keyed as follows. The letters stand for author's name (e.g., Yo for Yolkin, S for Sennikov, P for Puzyrev, R for Russkikh, B for Bukolova in Yo-7039, S-78115, P-78032-1/12, R-7812 and B-097) or for location (LSS for location from succession of sections, F for faunal location, H for shallow hole). Two first numerals after hyphen denote the year when the description was made (70 for 1970, 78 for 1978, etc.) and the following digits before hyphen are section or locality numbers (39, 115, 032); numerals after second hyphen are member numbers (-1 for first member), and numerals after slash mark the sampling depth in meters above the member base (/12 means that the sample was collected at 12 m above the base of the member).

4.1. NORTH-EASTERN GORNY ALTAI (Uymen'-Lebed' facies Zone)

Ordovician sedimentary sequences cropped out in the north-east of the Gorny Altai form a large-scale anticline, accompanied by synclines and tectonic dislocations and belong to the Uymen'–Lebed' facies zone (Fig. 35).



Fig. 35. Sketch map of the lower and middle stream of the Biya River (Sennikov et al., 2008).

4.1.1. AREA OF VERKH-BIYSK VILLAGE

Pereval Section

Chronostratigraphic subdivisions of the International Stratigraphic Scale: Tremadocian. Regional stratigraphic subdivisions: Takoshkin Regional stage (Horizon). Local lithostratigraphic subdivisions: Ishpa Formation. Zones: tenellus – kiaeri graptolite zones. Fauna: trilobites, graptolites.

A small fragment of the Ishpa Formation (S-0726) is exposed in a quarry on a pass along the left side of the roadway from Gorno-Altaisk to Verkh-Biysk Village (distance mark 105/9) (Figs 36, 37).



Fig. 36. General view of the Pereval Section (upper part of Ishpa Formation).

System	Series	Stage	Formation	Zone	Member No.	Thickness,	Lithology	Graptolites	Trilobites
					3 (1)	>25	 Sandstone: greenish-gray, fine to medium, well sorted, and tuffaceous sandstone, with scarce thin (to 10 cm) layers of greenish-gray clayey siltstone; sandstone shows 1.5 m cleavage and 20-30 cm flaggyness; thin (1-3 cm) layers of fine sandstone are of cross bedding; fine sandstone encloses lens-shaped (10-15 cm long and 0.5-1 cm thick) medium to coarse sandstone and scarce floating siltstone pebble of 3-10 cm in diameter; there are large (to 15 cm) "tongues" of slumping soft sediment.	Adelograptus aff. tenellus (Linnarsson) Paradelograptus sp. Aniscoraptus sp.	
Ordovician	Lower	Tremadocian	lshpa	tenellus - kiaeri	2 (1)	60	Dark olive-gray siltstone.	Adelographus sp. Adelographus sp. ptus kiaeri (Monsen)	Syn Ger
					1	15	Sandstone, dark olive, rather quartz, fine to coarse, polymictic, alternating with dark olive clayey siltstone, often with conchoidal cleavage; both sandstone and siltstone layers are 1 m thick; sandstone is of high and medium roundness and shows good 1-2 cm sorting from fine to medium and on to coarse grain sizes; locally there are syndepositional lenses (from 1-3 cm to 5-7 cm long and 1-3 cm thick) and patches of siltstone in sandstone.	 Kiaerogra Dictvonema so. 	

Fig. 37. Lithology and ranges of fossil taxa from the Pereval Section.

Dark olive-gray siltstone in bedrock exposures along the right side of the roadway between the two quarries (S-0726 and S-0727) contains graptolites (loc. S-0726) *Dictyonema* sp., *Kiaerograptus kiaeri* (Monsen), (loc. S-78146) *Adelograptus* aff. *tenellus* (Linnnarsson), *Kiaerograptus kiaeri* (Monsen), and sandstone (loc 205) contains trilobites *Symphysurus* sp., *Geragnostus* sp., Raphiophoridae; graptolites *Anisograptus* sp. are found at loc. 4062a/1668 in the same area; (loc. B-097-099) graptolites *Adelograptus* aff. *tenellus* (Linnnarsson), *Adelograptus* sp., *Paradelograptus* sp., *Kiaerograptus kiaeri* (Monsen), *Schizograptus* sp. According to rock lithology and faunas (trilobite and graptolite assemblages), the section fragment belongs to the Ishpa Formation. Graptolites correspond to the Tremadocian *Adelograptus tenellus* and *Kiaerograptus kiaeri* zones.

The total thickness of the Ishpa composite section (S-0726, S-0727, S-78146) may reach no less than 100 m.

Peculiarities in facies, faunal assemblages and sedimentary environments.

The siltstone topping the studied section comprise layers with traces of washouts formed in the extremely shallow intertidal zone (Fig. 38). Alternatively, rare graptolites were found in the lower and middle parts of the Pereval Section, which may indicate average depths (50–100 m) of the enclosing rocks deposition.



Fig. 38. Lithology of the Pereval Section (upper part of the Ishpa Formation).

Ishpa Section

Chronostratigraphic subdivisions of the International Stratigraphic Scale: Cambrian (Furongian), Ordovician (Tremadocian).

Regional stratigraphic subdivisions: Takoshkin Regional stage (Horizon). *Local lithostratigraphic subdivisions*: Ishpa Formation.

Fauna: trilobites, brachiopods, algae, siliceous sponges.

Lower parts of the Ishpa Formation cropped out on the left bank of Biya River, near Village Danilkino: conglomerate greenish-gray polimictic, more than 200 m thick. In the carbonate pebbles trilobites known from the uppermost Cambrian were found.

The two sections accepted as composite stratotype of the Ishpa Formation are located: (1) 350 m upstream of the river's mouth on the left bank of the Ishpa Rv. (Figs 39, 40); (2) one km upstream of the former, on the right bank of the Ishpa river. The latter section reveals the upper horizons of the Ishpa Formation with the concordantly overlying Tuloi Formation (Floian, Dapingian), with conglomerate and siltstone. The total thickness of the Ishpa Formation including the 200 m member of conglomerate in the vicinity of Danilkino Village measures 1085 m. The left-bank part of the stratotype defined from trilobites is dated as Late Cambrian, while the right-bank part is dated as Tremadocian.

Facies and depositional settings.

In the studied section, one of the conglomerate members of the Ishpa



Fig. 39. Sketch map of the Ishpa area.

System	Series	Stage	Formation	Member No.	Thickness,	Lithology	Trilobites	Brachio- pods	Algae	Siliceous sponge spicules
				13	>80	Siltstone: greenish-gray, snuffy-gray, intercalated with limestone: gray, sandy.				t, mmm
				12	75	Sandstone: greenish-gray and gray-lilacm polymictic, medium-grained, calcareous. Rare siltstone.		Gen. et sp. indet.	osp.	Gen. et sp. indet.
cian	1	cian	a	11	25	Sandstone: gray, pink-gray, arkosic, calcareous.	ç		szoicus P	
Ordovi	Lower	Tremadocian	Ishpa	10	75	Sandstone: from fine to coarse-grained, calcareous, and gravelstone. Rock color gray, rare gray-lilac.	Pseudoacrocephalites istipensis Petrun. Pseudoacrocephalites istipensis Petrun. Biaspis kritchikovi Petrun. Mansiella sp. Parakoldinia (?) sp. Lopeuloma sp.	Tetralobula (?) sp.	Bogutschanophycus marie Korde	
				9	20	Large -pebble conglomerate. In pebbles: sedimentary, volcanic and intrusive rocks. Rock color is greenish-gray	Dolgeuloma sp. Dolgeuloma sp. halites ishpensi Bijaspis krivchi Mansiella sp. Parakoldmia (?) Lopeuloma sp.	Tetralobu	ycus mai	
				8	5	Limestone: gray, massve, algal-organic, with layers of sandy limestone and siltstone.		II	hqon	
				7	30	Conglomerate: greenish-gray, large-pebble. In pebbles sedimentary, volcanic and intrusive rocks. Sandstone polymictic, conglomeratic. Contact with the underlaying member - tectonic.	Pseudoacroce		Bogutscha	
					>60	Limestone: gray, yellow-gray, dark gray, massive, fine-grained. Contact with the underlying member - tectonic.	Acrocephallina sp. Acrocephallina sp. Proapatokephalops cf. Pseudagnostus sp. Bilacurasois (?) sp.			
-				5	20	Silty sandstone and calcareous siltstone with gray sandy Limestone nodules. Rock color is pinky- and yellow-gray, greenish-gray.).)bolus (?) sp. Acrotretacea	Razumovskia sp.	
				4	10	Conglomerate: brownish-gray, in pebbles: granit, porphyrite,limestone, sandstone, siltstone, quartz.	sp.	Sp. Obo Acr		
Cambrian	Furongian	Stag	>60	Silty sandstone and siltstone: bedded, calcareous, with g limestone nodules, sometimes sandy. Rock color is yellow- and greenish-gray. Lenses and layers of gray limestone and small-pebble conglomerate.	te le	Linguella sp. Obc Aci Ecorthidae	Ra			
0			400	Sodded interval.	Promegalaspides sp. Dolgeuloma sp. Eocheirurus sp.					
				1	>10	Conglomerate: greenish-gray, polymictic. In pebbles: medium-, coarse-grained biotitic and leucogranite, plagiogranite, quartz-feldspar rocks, quartz, microgranite gabbro-syenite, gabbro, plagioclase porphyrite, quartzite limestone, siltstone.	Promegal Dolç Eoci			

Fig. 40. Lithology and ranges of fossil taxa from the Ishpa Section.

Formation consists of the group of conglomerate-breccia layers with the characteristically almost unrounded fragments of tabular sandstone stratification-oriented layers. The deposition of such rocks is largely influenced by coastal erosion (persistent wave action) affecting a steep cliff composed by horizontally lying, weakly cemented sedimentary rocks, with rapid burial of such buildups in wave-cut notches. In some cases, even sandy cement is absent from large fragments (Fig. 41e, f).



Fig. 41. Conglomerate in the Ishpa Section (lower part of the Ishpa Formation).

a and b - mixed unrounded blocks and rounded pebbles; c - packages of the fallen down layers near coastal cliff; d - poorly rounded pebble layers: wave-cut notches; e and f - pebbles almost without matrix: regular wave activity.

4.1.2. AREA OF TUROCHAK VILLAGE (LEBED' RIVER)

Lebed' Section

Chronostratigraphic subdivisions of the International Stratigraphic Scale: Floian, Dapingian, Darriwilian, Sandbian, Katian, Hirnantian.

Regional stratigraphic subdivisions: Tuloi, Kuibyshevo, Kostinsky, Bugryshikha, Khankhara, Tekhten' and Lystvyanka regional stages (horizons).

Local lithostratigraphic subdivisions: Tuloi, Karasa, Gur'yanovka and Chebor formations.

Zones: "approximatus", densus, protobifidus, angustifolius elongatus, gibberulus, "hirundo – jakovlevi/ coelatus", "teretiusculus" graptolite zones.

Fauna: graptolites, brachiopods, trilobites, ostracods, orthoceratids, crinoids, gastropods, bryozoans, tabulates, heliolitids, chitinozoans.

The Lebed' Section - is one of the most well studied Ordovician section in Altai (Figs 42-46).

The Gur'yanovka Formation parastratotype is exposed in the right side of the Lebed' River, upstream of former Stretinka Village, with visible contacts with the underlying Karasa Formation and the overlying Chebor Formation. A large part of the Gur'yanovka Formation in the middle of the Bura strtatotype section in the Lebed' River right side near former Gur'yanovka Village is hidden under vegetation and encloses dike layers. The Lebed' and Bura sections, with fossils therein, were extensively studied in previous years (Dzyubo, 1960; Sennikov, 1962; Krivchikov et al., 1976; Severgina, 1978, 1984; Petrunina et al., 1984; Kul'kov and Severgina, 1989; Sennikov et al., 2008, 2018a,b; Melnikova, 2010). In the Lebed' Section, the Gur'yanovka Formation basal member composed of greenish and dark gray medium to coarse (up to gravel) polymictic sandstone lies over greenish-gray siltstone of the Karasa Formation top containing graptolites of the terminal Darriwilian *teretiusculus* Zone, in the right side of the Lebed' River, 300 m upstream of the third river shallow from former Stretinka Village (Fig. 42). The basal member is overlain by organic limestone intercalated with limy siltstone and mudstone.

The Gur'yanovka Formation is overlain by purple clayey mudstone of the Chebor Formation with gradual 1 m thick transition. The boundary between the two formations in this section may follow the base of the purple and lilac mudstone or rather the top of uppermost limestone or limy mudstone. The latter interpretation is consistent with red coloration appearing in the Gur'yanovka Formation limestone at the top of the Gur'yanovka Glade and Biya sections (see below). Therefore, the Gur'yanovka Formation – Chebor Formation boundary may correspond to the member 17 base instead of the member 18 top. The thickness of the Gur'yanovka Formation in the Lebed' Section is within 200 m, though it was previously overestimated to >500 m (Krivchikov et al., 1976), possibly, because some riverside outcrops became hardly accessible and the strike of some members aligns with the river stream direction.

Peculiarities in facies, faunal assemblages and sedimentary environments (notably for the Gur'yanovka Formation).

According to previous data (Dzyubo, 1960; Krivchikov et al., 1976; Kul'kov and Severgina, 1989; Sennikov, 1962; Melnikova, 2010), the Gur'yanovka Formation (stratotype) in the Lebed'-Stretinka Section contains the fauna assemblages of *Severginella altaica* (Sev.), *Salopia uxunaica* (Sev.), *Glyptomena subgirvanensis* Sev., *Schizophorella altaica* (Sev.), *Severginella shorica* (Sev.), *Chaulistomella lebanonensis* (Cooper), *Austinella lebediensis* Sev., *Boreadorthis togaensis* Sev. brachiopods; *Ceraurinus* cf. *icarus* (Bill.) trilobites; *Grammolomatella* sp., Eurychilina? sp. *ostracods*; *Nyctopora elandiensis* Dz. tabulates; and *Cyrtophyllum* ex gr. *jaconurensis* Dz., *Sibiriolites lebediensis* Dz. heliolitids. We have additionally identified *Chaetetes tchakerensis* Dz. heliolitids (member 6); *Nyctopora denticulate* Sok. et Tes., *Nyct. nicholsoni* (Rad.), *Calapoecia baragashiensis* Dz. tabulates (members 7, 9, and 13); and *Scandodus* sp., *Phragmodus undatus* Br. et M., *Panderodus* cf. *P. gracilis* (Br. et M.), *Aphelognathus* sp., *Belodina compressa* (Br. et M.) and *Drepanoistodus suberectus* (Br. et M.) conodonts (member 13).

Limestone occupies a half of Gur'yanovka Formation in the total Lebed' Section volume. It is commonly dark gray, with low clay contents, and enclose 0.5–1.0 cm pure algal nodules, as well as larger and purer nodules of 1-3 cm.

Clay material often produces nodular textures on eroded surfaces or forms separate 5-7 cm layers. The sediments contain locally numerous round or oval algal nodules, 0.5 to 1.0-1.5 cm in diameter, and abundant (70-80 % of the rock volume) 2–3 cm algal calyptrae with knobby surfaces. There appear large (15–20 cm) and small (3–5 cm) colonies of tabulates turned upside down relative to their lifetime position. Large colonies are coated with clayey limestone, which indicates their transport on the sea bottom. Sandstone occupies about 20 % of the section volume (Fig. 47).

The sand material is well sorted and rounded, like siltstone (20 % of the section). Clay most often occurs as a minor component of limestone or less often as separate layers (no more than 10 % of the section volume).

The Gur'yanovka Formation oryctocenoses in the Lebed' Section comprise abundant brachiopods, tabulates, and heliolitids, less abundant ostracods and nautiloids, few trilobites and conodonts, and sporadic rugoses. The taxonomic diversity is the greatest among brachiopods, medium in conodonts, and low in tabulates, heliolitids,

ostracods and trilobites. Lithological features, such as: clayey limestone with nodular textures, limestone with lumpy beds, nodular mudstone, fine-grained well sorted and rounded sand in limestone, algal nodules and calyptrae, colonies of tabulates turned upside down relative to their lifetime position, including those coated with clayey limestone (Fig. 47), etc., indicate shallow marine deposition environments, within 10 m above fair-weather wave base (FWB) for the most of the Gur'yanovka Formation units and subunits in the Lebed' Section. On the other hand, 1–2 mm lamination in mudstone produced by clay laminas indicates deposition at >10 m below FWB. The sea apparently had a rough bottom topography, with rises and depressions of different magnitudes (the laminated mudstones are indicators of shallow depressions). Some carbonate layers in the section also may have deposited >10 m below FWB, judging by brachiopod shelly banks with preserved intact double-valved shells. Note, however, the presence of algal calyptrae that were produced by limy blue-green algae (Cyanobacteria) which bloom only within the euphotic zone, within depths of 30–80 m (Chuvashov et al., 1987; Luchinina, 1973).

In the Lebed' Section, the Chebor Formation is represented by variegated, mostly red sandstone, siltstone, and mudstone. The rocks exhibit different-scale ripple structures, traces of multidirectional ripples, cross-bedding, traces of storm activity (tempestites), desiccation cracks on the mudstone bed surface filled with sandy material of the overlying layer, traces of bioturbation, chaotic (mainly quartz) unrounded to poorly rounded fragments of pebble and gravel particle size in a poorly sorted sandy matrix (Figs 48, 49).



Fig. 42. Sketch map of the Lebed' River area.

System	Series	Stage	Formation	7000	Member No	Thickness,		Lithology
				"sulus"	2	3 22	2.2.2.2	Alternating siltstone greenish-gray and yellowish-gray and clayey mudstones.
				"teretiusculus"	2	7 52		Silty sandstone, rare siltstone calcareous, greenish-gray.
				ter	26	5 23	3:3:3:3:3	Siltstone greenish-gray.
		5	Karasa	F	25	5 102		Silty sandstone, rare sandstone polimictic, calcareous, fine-grained, green-gray, green.
		vilia	Ka	1	24	1 18		Silty sandstone thin-bedded, gray with lilac color.
		Darriwilian			23	3 130		Silty sandstone bedded, greenish-gray, green.
		Da		1.5	22	-	****	Sodded interval.
		27.04		"hirundo -	2			Alternating siltstone clayey, yellowish-gray and sandstone polimictic, fine-grained, gray-yellow.
	dle			+ -	20	~20	2020202	Siltstone clayey, blue-green.
	Middle			3	_			Siltstone clayey, bluish-gray.
	1		_	-	18	3 25		Sandstone quartz, fine and medium grained, yellowish-gray, massive.
		المالك الم		aibberulus	17	260	~~~	Siltstone, mudstone and silty sandstone calcareous-clayey, thin-bedded, greenish-yellowish-gray, partly dark gray. At the top of the member - rare layers of sandstone polimictic, fine-grained, 3-5 m thick. Rocks are to different grade calcareous, often thin-laminated due to grading by size and color.
dovician		Da		dib	- 16	335	***	Alternating mudstone clayey, high foliated and calcareous-clayey siltstone with subordinate sandstone layers, solid, fine-grained, polimictic. Rock color changes from greenish-gray to dark-gray, almost black.
ò					15	80		Sandstone fine-grained, polimictic, greenish-gray, with rare layers of siltstone calcareous-clayey and silty sandstone of same color. Rocks are medium-thin-bedded. At the bottom of the member - siltstone pebbles.
				atus	14	190	~~~~	Siltstone clayey, thin-bedded, dark-gray and siltstone calcareous-clayey, greenish-gray, with rare layers of silty sandstone.
			Tuloi	angustifolius elongatus	13	205	~~~~	Alternating shale silty-clayey, highly cleavaged, siltstone and silty sandstone slightly calcareous, thin-bedded. At the bottom of the member - subordinate layers (up to 1,5 m) of sandstone fine-grained, polimictic. Rock color changes from greenish-gray at the bottom to dark gray at the top of the member.
				stifoliu	12	95	°	Sandstone medium-coarse-grained, slightly calcareous, polimictic, medium and thin-bedded, with layers of conglomerate with medium-size pebbles: granite, siltstone, sandstone and quartz.
			17	andus	11	140	。 ****	Sandstone medium-grained, slightly calcareous, medium-bedded. At the bottom of the member - rare conglomerate layers with small-pebbles, gray and greenish-gray, in pebbles: siltstone, sandstone and quartz.
	-	ا ء	1114	5	10	50	EXENS:	Siltstone clayey, dark-gray, almost balck.
	Lowei	Floian	4		9	10		Siltstone clayey, light-gray, snuffy.
	Ľ	Ē			- 8	38		Siltstone clayey, black.
					7	30		Sandstone polimictic, fine-medium-grained, gray yellow.
				0		15		Siltstone clayey, dark gray, almost balck.
				Sus	5		======	Alternating siltstone clayey and silty sandstone gray-yellow.
				densus	4	100		Mudstone clayey, high cleavaged, dark-gray to black.
				1	- 3	25		Siltstone clayey, gray, iron-gray to black.
				roxi-				Siltstone calcareous-clayey, thin-bedded, with rare layers of sandstone fine-grained, slightly calcareous, gray and yellowish-gray.
				"apporoxi-	1 mat	~35		Sandstone fine-grained, quartz, yellowish-gray and gray, with rare layers of quartz gravelstone of same color (several cm thick). Rare quartz pebbles up to 0,5 cm in diameter occur from time to time.

Fig. 43. Lithology and ranges of fossil taxa from the Lebed' Section (Tuloi and Karasa formations).

Member No.	Thickness,	Graptolites	Chitino- zoans	Trilobites	Brachicpods	Other fauna
28	22	•				
27	52	(Guid)				
26	23	et sp. indet. Amplexograptus sp				
		 et sp. indet. Amplexographus sp. et sp. indet. Amplexographus sp. Amplexographus coelatus (Lapworth) Amplexographus sub- dumographus sp. Amplexographus sub- clust Persodripolus tamprensis Obut et Sob Persodripolus tamprensis Obut et Sob Persodripolus sub- clust Expansographus sub- clust Expansographus sub- clust Expansographus sub- clust Commoographus sub- clust Commoographus sub- clust Commoographus sub- clust Commoographus sub- clust Commoographus sub- clust Company sub- clust Company spinas fullinger) Conservictus files Conservictus sub- discretus sub- dypriographus euglyphus (Lapworth) 		*******	1	
	102	 et sp. indet. Amplexographus sp. Cimacographus sp. Amplexographus coelstus (Lapworth) Amplexographus sp. Amplexographus sp. Distormation and stampenets sp. Expansographus suectous suector Expansographus sp. Commoographus sp. Commoographus sp. Commoographus sp. Commoographus sp. Commoographus sp. Commoographus suectous suector Expansographus sp. Commoographus sp. Commoographus sp. Commoographus sp. Commoographus sp. Common sp. <li< td=""><td></td><td>Lonchodomas rostratus (Sars) HomoteAus sp. Styghra minor Skjeseth Eorobengla sp. Megistavisus sp. Minemus sp.</td><td>1</td><td></td></li<>		Lonchodomas rostratus (Sars) HomoteAus sp. Styghra minor Skjeseth Eorobengla sp. Megistavisus sp. Minemus sp.	1	
24 23	130	ograp ograp yrens eolou s (Nic s (Nic s (Nic s (Let		tratuu bomoth nor 5 probe 0yptai 0yptai	-	
22	100	presection of the sector of th		Ale Hand		
21	>25	Am CCA s sp. co s sp. co appropriate application graduation gradio graduation graduation graduation graduation		doms Stygk		
20 19	-20 <10	det. raptu raptu raptu raptu raptus s sp. raptus s s sp. alony s s sp. alony s s sp. alony s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s		witchio	11	ł.
18	25	and the second s		Lo det		
17	260	Gen. et sp. indet. Amplexographus sp. Aurordo (Saher) 		Lu Gen. et sp. indet	Trondorthis sibirca Sev Archaeorthis allaice Sev	Ostracods
16	335	Hall) Morrins (Ru Aragraphus hu Testinographus Testinographus Aragraphus Hall Tis Seudophylk			Trondk	
15	80	matus f montes f preptus s mejvelus mejvelus falkus Ha				
14	190	forcip parab parab parab parab parab parab parab parab parab parab parab parab				
13	205	pen Indet. Pareudolsographus fractionatus (1.5. tus ex. gr. frexitis (Hell) (sographus fractionatus forcionatus (Netholson) (sographus forcionatus (Netholson) (sographus forcionatus (2010) (concentrationatus (1.0)) (concentr				
12	95	About the second	• da 12			
11	140	In Indet Pseudouaog s ex. gr. flexifis (Hall) fiso prius aproximatus (Nicholeon) fiso prius aproximutus (Nicholeon) fiso Acrograptus pueritus (Tuliberg) fise Corymbograptus ex. gr. viragosus Obut Corymbograptus ett. gr. viragosus Obut Pandeograptus ett. pendens Elles et Pendeograptus att. pendens Elles Phytograptus fisograptus ervina graptus Phytograptus arvina arvia (Lagenochtiva aff. deuntif Paris = Conochtina sp. =			
10	50	Pietholson) Nicholson) Lis (Tulberg) ographus dep ographus dep Pseudophyll	Con	2		
9	10	Nich us (Thich bogra bogra ficus form	aff. d	u qa		
8	38	en, indet raptus aproximatus (raptus aproximatus (Acrograptus puatit Conymbograptus det Pandeograptus (Print	hitma	etrun	dop.	
7	30	new management	0000	sis P	UNB C	
6	15 20	in Indet s ex. gr. flex price aprovin Acrographis Conymbogre Conymbogre Pendeogr	Ber7	edien	slicati	
-		OO A Barrier		s sp. P.	aff. dk	
4	100	Dichographida gen. Indet. Clonographus ex. gr. ffexills (Hall) Paratetragraphus ex. gr. freiholeon) Acropraphus pusitus (Tullberg Conymbographus ex. gr. virag Conymbographus ex. gr. virag Phylographus et Pendeographus et Proviographus et Proviographus et		Apatokaphatus sp. Migethrica sp. Migermecaspis lebediensis Petrun. Labridana sp. Bafriyurettis sp. Carowrites sp.	 Finkelnburgis aff. delicatula Coop. 	
3	25	Solo Contraction of C		partol ierthr ierthr iprida arhivu aroint	inkeli	
2	32			0000347	E .	
1	~35					

Fig. 43. The end.



Fig. 44. General view of the Lebed' Section (lower part, Tuloi Formation).



Fig. 45. General view of the Lebed' Section (middle part, Karasa Formation).

System	Stane		Member No.	Thickness,		Lithology	Bra	achiopods	Nautiloids	Trilobites	Ostracods	Tabulate corals	Rugoze	Crinoide	Conodonts
		Chebor	19	>20		Mudstone: purple clayey.	ļ	Ļ				g	5		
			18	5-6		Siltstone: greenish-gray moderately lumpy with obscure bedding and indistinct parallel planes.		(Sev.) Sev.				tavcet			
			17	>5		Sandstone: well sorted rounded greenish-gray massive lumpy finewith irregular bedding planes.		shorica sdiensi				is Dz.			
	Katian		16	7		Siltstone and mudstone: greenish-gray-bluish with lumpy beds, including limy varieties.		Salopia uxunaica (Sev.) Severginella shorica (Sev.) Austinella lebediensis Sev.				Sok. et Tes. Nyctopora elandiensis Dz. Reuschia sp. Holisitins rhomenensis Dottevrova	o moline		
			15	5		Mudstone: light gray massive to plane parallel thick-bedded (0,5 m) with low lime contents.		Sever		indet.		Sok. et Tes. Nyctopora el Reuschia sp. Heliolites to			
	2		14	5	┶┯┷╼╼╼╼ ╼┙╾╸╴╴╴╴╴ ╾╺╴╸╴╴┍┶┰	Mudstone: gray nodular laminated (0,5 cm) with high lime contents.				Gen. i		Sok. et Nycto Reusc			
			13	10	+_+ - - - - - I - - - - - - - - I - - - -	Limestone: dark gray with high clay contents grading into gray mudstoneswith higj lime contents. Carbonate material forms lenses and layers, possibly, associated with algae; small calyptrae (1-2 cm).		ensis Sev.	ļ			iculate			
			12	7		Sandstones: well sorted snuffy-gray fine with obscure bedding.		ubgirvane			atella sp. ilina? sp.	Nyct. den ansis Dz. ansis Dz. sis Billings	Gan indat		fodus sp. Br. et M. Br. et M.) Br. et M.) Br. et M.) Br. et M.)
			11	4		Limestone: gray clayey with obscure or slightly undulated bedding;local 5-10 cm patches of light gray clay-free limestones; clay material locally forms up to 5 cm layers.	gh ng nate led lulated e ayers.				Grammolomatella sp. Eurychilina? sp.	Nyllum ex gr. jaconurensis Dz. Sibiriofites lebediensis Dz. Calapoecia canadensis Billings	99	8	Scand undatus gracilis (phelognu pressa (erectus (
			10	8	- - - - - - - - - - - - -	Limestone: dark gray almost black.	scrine and subgirvariensi arara (Sev.) and subgirvariensi Gyptomena subgirvariensi ansis (Coop.) i icarus (Bill.)	Grai	m ex gr. Sibiriolite apoecia			igmodus us cf. P. A dina com			
cian			9	~15		Limestone: gray algal with knobby lumpy beds, locally clayey; algalcalyptrae, possibly, of stromatolite origin; clay material on eroded surfacesproduces nodular texture or forms 5-7 cm thick layers spaced at 3-5 cm; locally numerous round or oval algal nodules, 0,5 to 1,5 cm in diameter.	Severcinella altaica (Sev.)	Boreadorthis togaensis Sev.) Boreadorthis togaensis Sev.) Chaulistomella lebanonensis (Coop.)		Ceraurinus cf. ican		Cyrtoph ensis Dz.			Scandodus sp. Phragmodus undatus Br. et M. Panderodus cf. P. gracilis (Br. et M.) Belodina compressa (Br. et M.) Drepanoistodus suberectus (Br. et M.)
i > 0	Upper Sandbia Gur'yanov	8	5		Sandstone: well sorted and rounded dark gray massive fine rather quartz;carbonate cement at member top.		E aulisto				nsis D tchake	um sp.			
Ord		7	>5		Limestone: sande dark iron gray, with low clay contents and with obscurebedding; well sorted and rounded fine sand; pure carbonate nodulesof algal origin, 1-3 cm in diameter; locally 1-2 mm lamination produced by clay material.		Ch				Calapoecia baragashiensis Dz. ————————————————————————————————————	letradium sp.			
		6	>5		Limestone dark gray, with low gray contents; pure algal nodules (rolls)0,5-1,0 cm; scarce 2-3 cm algal calyptrae with knobby surfaces, locallyoccupying up to 70-80% of rock volume.						Calapoecia b			1	
			5	2		Limestone: massive gray or dark gray with low clay contents; obscure bedding.	ļ		et.			Cali cholse		indet	indet.
			4	15		Limestone: gray clayey-sandy with knobby bed planes and obscure platybedding; clastic component progressively increases in member middle where rocks grade into limy-silty sandstone with high clay contents; flaggy (5-7 cm) bedding with smooth plane-parallel surfaces.	et.		Gen. inde			Nyctopora ni		Gen	Gen.
							Gen. indet.								
			3	30- 35	4 4 4	Sandstone: massive moderately sorted subrounded iron gray-greenish-gray with low lime contents.	Ū								
		2	>50		Interbedded limestone, limy siltstone, and mudstone dark gray with high lime contents.	-									
			1	1,5		Sandstone: polymictic gray, greenish, and dark gray medium to coarse (till gravelly).	1								
Middle	Darriwilian	Karasa	28	22		Interbedded siltstone greenish gray and yellowish gray and clayey mudstone.									

Fig. 46. Lithology and ranges of fossil taxa from the Lebed' Section (Gur'yanovka and Chebor formations).



Fig. 47. Lithological peculiarities of limestone in the Gu'yanovka Formation sections.

The Gur'yanovka Formation – Lebed' Section (b, d, f-i), the Bura Section (a, e, j, k), the Biya Section (c): a – river terrace outcrop (2×2 m) that exposes a sequence of medium-bedded nodular clayey limestone; b – upside down and clay-coated isolated colonies of tabulate corals; c – filled erosion channels in submarine sand bars; d – algal calyptrae in lifetime position; e – nodular mudstone (upper layer on the left) upon clayey limestone surface with wave ripple marks; f – whole brachiopod shells in a coquina bank; g – outcrop (3×5 m) of knobby-lumpy-laminated clayey limestone; h – separated dorsal shells of brachiopods, convex upward, on bed surface; i – lumpy clayey limestone; j – low-angle crossbeds of sandy limestone; k – algal nodules (rolls).



Fig. 48. General view of the Lebed' Section (upper part).



Fig. 49. Lithological peculiarities of sandstone and siltstone in the Chebor Formation – Lebed' Section. a and g – ditches and washouts in the near-shore zone; b and f – tempestites: storm activity; c – sigmoidal micro-layers: tidal markers; d – traces of intensive bioturbation; e – doubled layers: tidal traces.

Pridorozhny Section

Chronostratigraphic subdivisions of the International Stratigraphic Scale: Floian, Dapingian, Darriwilian.

Regional stratigraphic subdivisions: Tuloi and Kuibyshevo regional stages (horizons).

Local lithostratigraphic subdivisions: Tuloi and Karasa formations.

Zones: gibberulus (deflexus and maximo-divergens subzones), hirundo (caduceus imitatus Subzone) graptolite zones. **Fauna**: graptolites, brachiopods.

The Pridorozhny Section is composed of the Tuloi and Karasa formations (Figs 50, 51).

Peculiarities in facies, faunal assemblages and sedimentary environments.

The mentioned above specific aspects of graptolite paleocommunities and indicating taxa allow the paleobasin reconstruction as follows. Since the Floian–Dapingian–Darriwilian graptolites are documented in more than 100 localities in the studied sections, the embedding strata within the Uymen'–Lebed' structure-facies zone (northeastern Gorny Altai) were proposedly accumulated in relatively distal shelf environments of the paleobasin. An average amount of the graptolite colonies within each the locality counts 5–10, rarely 20–30 rhabdosomes. The occurrences containing hundreds of the colonies are extremely rare. The graptolite assemblages are taxonomically dominated by species and subspecies of *Isograptus* Moberg, *Pseudisograptus* Beavis, *Parisograptus* Chen et Zhang, *Corymbograptus* Obut et Sob., and *Acrograptus* Tzaj genera, which are also specific for distal parts of paleobasins.

The studied graptolite assemblages contain specific depth indicating taxa. The shallow-water and medium-depth bioindicators are represented by numerous *Hustedograptus teretiusculus* (Hus.) (>40 specimens from 7 localities within the Lebed' and Yurok sections), *Pseudotrigonograptus ensiformis* (Hall) (~20 specimens from 5 localities within the Lebed', Pridorozhny and Tuloi sections), species of *Pseudophyllograptus* Cooper et Fortey (>10 specimens from 3 localities within the Lebed', Tuloi, and Yurok sections), species of *Phyllograptus* Hall (>30 specimens from more than 10 localities within the Lebed' and Yurok sections), and numerous didymograptins species of *Corymbograptus* Obut et Sob. and *Expansograptus* (Boucek et Pribyl) (>200 specimens from several dozen localities within the Lebed', Pridorozhny and Tuloi sections).

Besides that, the Lebed', Pridorozhny and Tuloi sections reveal numerous bioindicators of deep-water environments – species of *Pseudisograptus* Beavis, *Parisograptus* Chen et Zhang, and *Isograptus* Moberg. Rhabdosoms of *Pseudisograptus* Beavis are abundant in the Pridorozhny Section, whereas the Tuloi Section is characterized only by scarce occurrences. Various species of *Parisograptus* Chen et Zhang and *Isograptus* Moberg demonstrate considerable population densities in the Lebed', Pridorozhny and Tuloi sections. There are only occasional occurrences of deep-water bioindicators (*Pseudisograptus* Bevais and *Parisograptus* Chen et Zhang) documented in the Yurok section.



System	Series	Stage	Formation	Zone	Subzone	Member No.	Thickness,		Lithology	Graptolites	groups
		S Darriwilian	arasa	2		8	>13		Mudstone: blue-gray.	 Pseudisograptus manubriatus (Hall) Expansograptus sp. exus (Elles et Wood) olosoni (Lapworth) f. walcottorum Ruedemann f. walcottorum Ruedemann i. sograptus sp. cus Tzaj <li< td=""><td>940 9</td></li<>	940 9
			Ka	. of		7	25	****	Sandstone: rape yellow.	Pseudisograptus man Expansograptus sp. uus (Elles et Wood) isoni (Lapworth) walcottorum Ruedem isograptus sp. nis (Hall) nis (Hall) nis (Hall) nis (Hall) nis (Hall) nis (Hall) schenki (Dbut et Sobc nanubriatus janus Coc nanubriatus janus Coc anubriatus suecicus suec corgraptus caduceus (S corymbograptus sp.	
				hirundo	caduceus [imitatus]	6	12,5		Siltstone: iron-gray.	 Pseudisograptus manubriatus (Hall) Corymbograptus deflexus (Elles et Wood) Acrograptus afficus (Elles et Wood) Acrograptus nicholsoni (Lapworth) Acrograptus affi. walcottorum Ruedemann Sp. <l< td=""><td></td></l<>	
Ordovician	Middle	gian			divergens	5	15,8		Siltstone, silty sandstone, sandstone: iron-gray.	Pseudis Expansor Expansor Expansor Expansor Expansor Expansor Expansor Expansor Pseudisor	
Ord	M	Dapin	Tuloi	gibberulus		4	10		Siltstone: snuff-colored.	Солу	
				gib	deflexus	3	8,6		Mudstone, siltstone, sandstone: snuff-colored.	Isograptus paraboloides Tzaj Pseudisograptus sp.	
				_2	_?	2	8,4		Mudstone, siltstone, sandstone: green-yellow.	Isograptu Isograptu Ferencia	
						1	>45		Mudstone: green-yellow.		

Fig. 51. Lithology and ranges of fossil taxa from the Pridorozhny Section.

All these parameters provide a basis for the bioindicator estimate of the studied sections of the Altai Ordovician paeobasin. Accordingly the dominating graptolite bioindicators, the Pridorozhny Section is reconstructed within the deepened outer shelf zone (>200 m), the Tuloi and Lebed' sections correspond the lower outer shelf environments (150–200 m), whereas the Yurok Section is situated in the upper outer shelf zone (100–150 m) of the paleobasin.

Upstream from the Lebed' Section on the right bank of Lebed' River near mouth of its right tributary Bura River, in the vicinity of the former Gur'yanovka Village, the upper part of the Gur'yanovka Formation and stratotype of the Cheborka Formation are situated (Bura and Gur'yanovka Glade sections) (Fig. 52).



Fig. 52. Sketch map of the Gur'yanovka area.



Bura Section

Chronostratigraphic subdivisions of the International Stratigraphic Scale: Sandbian.

Regional stratigraphic subdivisions: Khankhara and Tekhten' regional stages (horizons).

Local lithostratigraphic subdivisions: Gur'yanovka Formation.

Fauna: conodonts, trilobites, ostracods, brachiopods, stramatoporoids, tabulates, heliolitids, rugoses, bryozoans.

The Bura Section crops out in the right side of the Lebed' River, upstream of the Bura mouth (Figs 52–54). It was first documented by V.M. Sennikov (1962) and then by other researchers (Krivchikov et al., 1976; Kul'kov and Severgina, 1989). The river has changed its course for the past fifty years, the formerly exposed terraces became overgrown with trees and shrubs, and most of the Gur'yanovka Formation stratotype section became almost inaccessible. According to our observations upstream of the Bura mouth, limy gray mudstone lies over the 5 m thick top member of the Karasa Formation composed of dirty yellow or snuffy fine- to mediumgrained massive sandstone with low lime contents and under limestone layers with different clay contents intercalated with scarce sandstone and mudstone layers and sets of layers. The total currently exposed thickness of the lower Gur'yanovka Formation in the Bura Section is at least 170 m, which is much less than 500 m reported by Sennikov (1962), without the 150 m thick vegetated interval. Kul'kov and Severgina (1989) estimated the thickness of the middle Gur'vanovka Formation as 400 m.

Peculiarities in facies, faunal assemblages and sedimentary environments.

Earlier studies (Cherepnina, 1960; Dzyubo, 1960; Krivchikov et al., 1976; Kul'kov and Severgina, 1989; Melnikova, 2010; Yaroshinskava, 1960) revealed the following fauna assemblages: (1) Onniella cf. flava (Havl.), Apatamorpha altaica Sev., Fascifera buraensis Sev., Eoanostrophia lebediensis Sev., Eridorthis subinexpecta Sev. brachiopods and Homotelus sp., Eorobergia sp., Bumastus sp. trilobites in the lower part of Gur'yanovka Section; (2) Eridorthis subinexpecta Sev., Catazyga salairica (Sev.), Boreadorthis togaensis Sev., Strophomena lebediensis Sev. in Rozm., Dactylogonia subgeniculata Sev., Chaulistomella amzassensis (Sev.), Severginella altaica (Sev.), Parastrophinella salairica Sev. brachiopods; Ceraurinus icarus (Bill.), Illaenus sp. trilobites; Stallipora vesiculosa Modz., Phenopora multifera Nekh. bryozoans; Grewingkia altaica Tcherepn. rugoses; Eofletcheria mironovae Dz., Nyctopora elandiensis Dz. tabulates; and Cyrtophyllum baragashensis Dz., Sibiriolites lebediensis Dz. heliolitids in the middle part of section part; (3) Glyptorthis praerulchra Sev., Hesperorthis lebediensis Sev., Austinella lebediensis Sev., Salopina uxunaica (Sev.), Strophomena lebediensis Sev., Glyptomena subgirvanensis Sev., Fardenia cf. scalena Will., Parastrophinella salairica Sev., Anoptambonites grayae sibirica Sev., Catazyga salairica (Sev.), Severginella schorica (Sev.), Triplesia ainca Sev., Rhynchotretoides aincus Sev., Spirigerina sublevis Rozm.

System	Stage	Formation	Member No.	Thickness,		Lithology	Br	achiopods	Ostracods	Trilobites	?Stromatopor.	Tabulate corals	Geliolithids	Rugoze corals	Bryozoans	Conodonts
			17	5	╶╧╤╧╤╧╤	Gray and dark gray massive lumpy clayey limestone; lenses and lavers with high clay contents.	Gen. indet. i Sev.								П	
			16	3		Clayey limestone with lumpy beds and lenses of algal limestone (0,2-0,3 m thick and up to 1 m long); alternation (from bottom to top) of 0,5 m thick bed with small fossils, 0,3 m thick clastic-detrial bed, and 0,5 m thick bed with faunas.	Gen, indet.									
			15	7		Gray and dark gray clayey limestone, locally detrial; clay material forms 2-3 cm thick lumpy layers or nodules; local sites of pure algal limestones; calyptrae and wave-produced algal rolls.	Eridorthis s		Gen. indet.							
		Subformation	14	~80		dark gray and greenish gray limestone with lumpy beds and laminated sandy or locally clayey limestone; interbeds of limy siltstone and mudstone; beds with large wave-produced algal rolls.			/	Gen. indet.						
		Gur'yanovka Subfc	13	20		Dark gray or black limestone with lumpy beds and thin layers of higher clay contents interbedde with massive or thick-bedded (50-70 cm) algal limestone, thin (3-5 cm) beds of well sorted greenish-gray lenticular fine sandstone, and gray detrial sandy limestone.										
		Upper G	12	9		Gray limestone with intercalations of calyptrae (up to 10 cm) turned upside down and rounded by waves.										
cian	er Dian		11	6		Gray limestone with lumpy beds containing corals and calyptrae (1-2 cm in diameter), at member base; limestone with nodular texture (produced by clay redistribution) and 50 cm thick beds of brachiopod coquina (large shells) in member middle; more abundant and larger (10-15 cm) coral colonies at top.	sis Sev. bediensis Sev. aica Sev.		Homotelus sp.	na						
			10	5-6		Interbedde 5-10 cm thuck dark gray algal, locally ooliito, limestone and 5-15 cm thick black algal detrial limestone with higher clay contents; greenish-gray fine sandstone interbeds at member base; dike in lower part.	Fascifera buraensis Sev. Eoanastrophia lebediensis Sev. Apatomorpha altaica Sev.			icarus (Bill.)						dus sp.
			9	5		Gray detrial limestone alternating with gray clayey mudstone and 20-50 cm thick beds of soft clayey mudstone displaced and twisted by storms.		rica (Sev.) ensis Sev. in Rozm. sulta Sev. nica (Sev.) airica Sev.		Ceraurinus		novae Dz.	thensis Dz.	rtcherepn.∎	ifera Nekh.	Scandodus sp. Panderodus sp.
			8	4		Gray fine limy sandstone interbedde with greenish- gray detritus-bearing limestone and with scarce beds of clayey limestone with nodular texture (produced by redistribution of clay material); 30 cm thick bed of unsorted subrounded carbonate gravelstone (calcirudite) composed of limestone, brachiopods and corals; rock is mostly detrial (95 vol.%) with minor dirty brown clay (5%).		 WL) Catazyga salarica (Sev.) Boreadorthis togaensis Sev. Strophormena lebediensis Sev. in Rozm. Dactylogonia subgeniculata Sev. Chaulistomella amzassensis (Sev.) Severginella atlatica (Sev.) Parastrophinella salarica (Sev.) 				Eofletcheria mironovae Dz. Nictopora elandiensis Dz.	Cyrtophyllum baragashensis Dz. Sibiriolites lebediensis Dz.	Grewingkia altaica Tcherepn.	Phenopora multifera Nekh. Stallipora vesiculosa Modz.	
			7	3		Massive to thick-bedded (20-50 cm) gray sandy limestone and algal limestone alternating with 5-7 cm beds of well sorted and rounded brownish-gray fine sandstone containing 5-7 cm lenges of iron gray		I.) trophomen Dact Chaulis				İ	Сул			
		Gur'yanovka Subformation	6	3-5		Gray banded (2-3 cm) lumpy clayey limestone with nodular texture (produced by redistribution of clay material); beds with calyptrae or less often with colonies of tabulate corals and stromatoporoids (?).		Onniella cf. flava (Havl. Str								
		ka Su	5	3	the second s	Green and brownish-gray fine to medium sandstone; limy sandstone interbeds.		illa ci			Gen. indet.	Gen. indet.				
		anovi	4	2		Black massive algal limestone with calyptrae layers; 5-10 cm beds of detrital limestone.		nnie			en. i	en. i				
		Lower Gur'ya	3	5		Alternating subrounded brownish-gray or greenish- gray sandstone and lilac-gray detrital limestone with clay interbeds of similar pale lilac-gray color.					0	U				
		LON	2	>5	<u>1-1-1-1</u>	Cray and brownish-gray laminated fine-medium sandstone with dark gray clayey limestone having nodular texture (produced by redistribution of clay material).										
			1	~1		Yellowish-gray massive limy mudstone.	1	70 5 .	1	1			-			

Fig. 54. Lithology and ranges of fossil taxa from the Bura Section.
brachiopods in the upper section part, along with *Egorovella demissa* Melnik ostracods; *Nictopora minimalis* (Rad.), *Nic. tschakerenensis* Dz., *Calapoecia baragashensis* Dz., *Cal. anticostensis* (Bill.), *Paleofavosites inkensis* Tscherep. tabulates; *Sibiriolites lebediensis* Dz. heliolitids; *Clathrodictyon kirgizicum amzassensis* V. Khalf. stromatoporoids; *Constellaria floridaformis* Jarosh. bryozoans; *Anclotichia commutatilis* Jarosh., *Stellopora vesiculosa* Modz. We have found also *Scandodus* sp. and *Panderodus* sp. conodonts in member 10 of the Bura Section.

Most of the Bura Section (88 %) is occupied by limestone of massive algal, detrital, nodular clayey (clay nodules), gravelly carbonate (calcirudite), and oolitic varieties and brachiopod coquina, with frequent algal calyptrae and sporadic graded bedding (according to the sizes of benthic clasts). Sandstone in the Bura Section makes 3 % of the section volume. It is well rounded and sorted.

Siltstone and mudstone constitute 9 % of the total thickness and are often poorly consolidated, with signatures of transport and rolling by storms. Low-angle crossbeds delineate small depressions of the sea bottom.

The Gur'yanovka Formation orvctocenoses in the Bura Section comprise predominant brachiopods, tabulates, and heliolitids, less frequent ostracods and trilobites, and few conodonts, stromatoporoids and rugoses. The taxonomic diversity is the greatest in brachiopods, intermediate in trilobites, tabulates and heliolitids, and low in bryozoans, rugoses, and conodonts. Lithology features, such as: 1) limestone with knobby lumpy beds; 2) nodular clayey limestone: 3) twisted lumpy mudstone layers; 4) carbonate gravelstone (calcirudites); 5) algal nodules and calvptrae; 6) sorting into layers according to sizes of benthic fauna; and 7) brachiopod coquina, suggest shallow-water deposition (3-5 to 10 m above fair-weather wave base) of most units and subunits in the Bura Section. The presence of calyptrae and hermatypic corals records deposition in the euphotic zone, to depths of 30-80 m. It is possible to make up a composite section (of three segments) of the Gur'vanovka Formation/Chebor Formation transition in the immediate vicinity of the Bura Section, near former Gur'yanovka Village; for the Chebor Formation this corresponds to the lower one third of its stratotype. The lower part of the Gur'yanovka Glade Section correlates with the second half of the upper Gur'yanovka Formation stratotype (Krivchikov et al., 1976; Kul'kov and Severgina, 1989; Sennikov, 1962) and continues the Bura Section, judging by the strike of rocks (Krivchikov et al., 1976; Sennikov, 1962). At present, the section part corresponding to the Gur'yanovka Formation top is hidden under thick vegetation while that correlated with the overlying Chebor Formation became better exposed as a result of the Lebed' River course change. Thus, we observed (Figs 55, 56) two terminal units of the composite Gur'yanovka Formation stratotype: (i) intercalated gray mudstone, siltstone and fine sandstone with sporadic lenses of reddish limestone and (ii) intercalated gray and greenish-gray clayey limestone and limy sandstone.

Gur'yanovka Glade Section

Chronostratigraphic subdivisions of the International Stratigraphic Scale: Katian, Hirnantian. *Regional stratigraphic subdivisions*: Khankhara and Tekhten' regional stages (horizons). *Local lithostratigraphic subdivisions*: Gur'yanovka Formation. *Fauna*: trilobites, ostracods, tabulate and rugose corals, bryozoans, ichnofossils.



Fig. 55. General view of the Gur'yanovka Glade Section (middle part).

System	Stade	Formation	Member No.	Thickness,		Lithology	Brachiopods	Trilobites	Ostracods	Tabulate corals	Rugoze corals	Bryozoans	Ichnofossils
			12	>3		Olive green laminated (1–2 cm) mudstone.							
			11	2		Light greenish-gray massive silty sandstone.							
	Hirnantian		10	10		Whitish or greenish-gray thin-bedded $(5-7 \text{ cm})$ vuggy mudstone with low lime contents; thin layer $(0.5-1.0 \text{ cm})$ with floating coarse sand.							
			9	2		Bluish-iron gray-pale lilac moderately sorted rounded fine sandstone.							et.
			8	4		Well sorted subrounded olive green or gray sandstone.							Gen. indet.
	?		7	1,5		Pale lilac or yellowish gray siltstone and silty sandstone; desiccation cracks.	et.		et.	et.	et.	et.	9
an			6	~10		Greenish-light gray thin-bedded (5–10 cm) to massive vuggy limy mudstone.	Gen. indet		 Gen. indet 	Gen. indet	 Gen. indet. 	 Gen. indet. 	
Ordovici	Upper	Chebor	5	~3		Flaggy (20–30 cm) or laminated (1–2 cm) greenish-gray clayey mudstone; 3–5 cm bedding upsection.	idson) Sev.					•	
ō			4	1,5		Yellowish-gray or iron gray-pale lilac flaggy (20 cm) to massive siltstone.	s (Dav sibirica						
	atian	5	3	~3		Bright green or dirty green thick-bedded (20–30 cm) to massive clayey mudstone; distinct lamination (10–15 laminas per 1 cm).	latchiensi ica (Sev.) s grayae s Sev. iensis Sev						
	×		3	>30		Dark brown-reddish clayey mudstone. Well sorted and rounded greenish-gray or iron gray fine rather quartz sandstone.	Gyptorthis balclatchiensis (Davidson) Gipportans aalairca (Sev.) Anoptambonites grayae sibirica Sev. Tripiesia ainca Sev. Austinella lebediensis Sev.						
		ka Subformat	2	>15		Gray or dark gray clayey limestone, locally porous and lumpy, interbedded (3–5 m) with greenish-gray or gray fine limy sandstone.							
		Upper Gur'yanovka Subformation	1	>10		Interbedded bluish-gray and dark iron gray lime mudstone, clayey siltstone, and fine sandstone, with sporadic lenses of reddish limestone (5–10 cm thick and 1–2 m long).							

Fig. 56. Lithology and ranges of fossil taxa from the Gur'yanovka Glade Section.

4.1.3. AREA OF TULOI VILLAGE

Tuloi Section

Chronostratigraphic subdivisions of the International Stratigraphic Scale: Floian, Dapingian, Darriwilian, Sandbian.

Regional stratigraphic subdivisions: Tuloi (Lebed'), Kuibyshevo, Kostinsky and Bugryshikha regional stages (horizons).

Local lithostratigraphic subdivisions: Tuloi, Karasa and Gur'yanovka formations.

Zones: apporoximatus, densus, angustifolius elongatus, gibberulus, hirundo, dentatus graptolite zones; Cyathochitina parvicolla, Cyath. calix chitinozoan zones.

Fauna: graptolites, brachiopods, trilobites, ostracods, orthoceratids, crinoids, gastropods, bryozoans, hyolithes, chitinozoans.

The stratotype section of the Tuloi Formation extends along the right side of the Biya River downstream of the Tuloi inflow and then upstream the Tuloi on its right side (Figs 57–62). According to graptolites, trilobites, and brachiopods, the Tuloi Formation spans the Floian, Dapingian, and lower Darriwilian. The formation overlaid conformably over the Ishpa Formation and is underlain by the Karasa Formation.



Fig. 57. Sketch map of the Tuloi Village area.



Fig. 58. Upper part of the Tuloi Formation in the Tuloi Section.



Fig. 59. Upper part of the Tuloi Formation in the Tuloi Section.

Members 1 through 19 belong to the Tuloi Formation, members 20 through 23 belong to the Karasa Formation, and members 24 and 25 belong to the Gur'yanovka Formation. The total thickness of the Tuloi Formation in the section exceeds 2500 m, the Karasa Formation is 450 m thick, and the Gur'yanovka Formation is more than 150 m thick.

The graptolite zonation of the section is as follows: members 1 through 5 belong to the *apporoximatus* Zone (loc. LSS-401a, S-75141); member 6 may conventionally correspond to the *densus* and *angustifolius elongatus* zones (loc. H-81), and members 7 and 8 are conventionally aligned with the *gibberulis* Zone (loc. 282, H-79); the base of member 9 correlates with the *gibberulus – hirundo* boundary, and members 9 through 16 belong to the *hirundo* Zone (loc. H-78, H-75, H-73, LSS-422a, LSS-423, H-91, H-84, H-85, H-87, LSS-418, H-88); members 17 through 22 correlate with the Darriwilian according to trilobites and brachiopods (loc. H-95, LSS-415, H-92, H-102, H-103); graptolites from member 23 (loc. H-104, LSS-409) correspond to the *dentatus* Zone.

System	Series	Stage	Formation	Zone	Member No.	Thickness, m		Lithology	Chitinozoans
	еr	oian	Gur'yanovka		25	56		Siltstone, greenish-gray, calcareous, with silty fine sandstone and sandy limestone.	
	Uppei	Sandbian	Gur'ya		24	90		Conglomerate: greenish-gray or purple-gray, fine, with pebbles of granite, sandstone, siltstone, siliceous rocks, quartz, etc., conglomerated sandstone, and medium to coarse sandstone.	
		?		dentatus	23	125	*	Siltstone: greenish-gray, more rarely silty sandstone; a 10-15 cm thick siltstone layer in member upper part abounds in diverse well preserved fossils; the rock can be classified as trilobite-brachiopod coquina.	ica Eisenack lex Eisenack Zaslavskaya Zaslavskaya Zaslavskaya cca Eisenack Zaslavskaya Zaslavskaya
		ian	sa		22	95		Silty sandstone: greenish-gray, less often fine polymictic sandstone and siltstone.	<i>indica</i> Ei <i>mplex</i> Ei <i>mplex</i> Ei <i>alyx</i> (Eis <i>alyx</i> (Eis <i>et</i> Zasla <i>cocca</i> Ei <i>et</i> Zasla <i>et</i> Zasla
		arriwillia	Kara		21	150	****	Sandstone: gray, greenish-gray to green, polymictic, fine, occasionally siltstone and silty sandstone, locally limy sandstone.	na oelar itina sin n Obut c hitina c s Obut minor c a Obut
		Darr			20	80		Sandstone: gray or light gray, quartz, medium to coarse.	Conochitina oelandica Eisenack Conochitina simplex Eisenack Conochitina bacillum Obut et Zaslavskaya Cyatochitina calyx (Eisenack) Cyatochitina tuloyensis Obut et Zaslavskaya Desmochitina minor cocca Eisenack Rhabdochitina regula Obut et Zaslavskaya
					19	165	****	Interbedded greenish-gray siltstone, mudstone, and silty sandstone.	nochitir chitina Desi bdochi
		?			<u>18</u> 17	10 120	***	Sandstone: greenish-gray and brownish-gray polymictic, rarely siltstone. Interbedded greenish-gray silty sandstone and siltstone, with scarce layers of fine sandstone.	Cor Cyato Rha
	ldle			-	16	40		Interbedded greenish-gray fine sandstone and silty sandstone, with scarce thin (to 1 cm) layers of gray and dark gray siltstone.	
	Mid				15	90		Silty sandstone: greenish-gray, less often greenish-gray fine polymictic sandstone, and dark gray siltstone.	
					14	50		Silty sandstone: greenish-gray, less often greenish-gray fine polymictic sandstone, and dark gray siltstone.	
cian		_		0	13	45		Silty sandstone: greenish-gray, more rarely fine polymictic sandstone, and greenish-gray, gray to dark gray siltstone.	
οvi		ngia		hirundo	12	55		Interbedded fine polymictic sandstone and silty sandstone, greenish-gray and gray, with scarce thin (to 2 cm) layers of dark gray calcareous siltstone.	
Ord		Dapin		10405	11	65		Interbedded siltstone, silty sandstone, and rarely fine sandstone, greenish-gray, occasionally with thin layers of gray to dark gray siltstone.	
					10	230	***	Sandstone: greenish-gray or dark olive-gray, fine, polymictic, alternating with silty sandstone, or less often siltstone.	
			2		9	20	17171717	Siltstone: gray or dark gray, occasionally silty sandstone.	
			Tu	gibberulus	8	155	****	Siltstone: greenish-gray, less often silty sandstone (to fine polymictic sandstone).	nack a sp. a sp. nack nack Paris a sp. deau
		?			7	150	****	Sandstone: greenish-gray, polymictic, fine to medium.	typica Eisenack Hercochitina sp. habdochitina sp. horea Eisenack ngata Eisenack aff. deunffi Paris aff. Vilison et Dolry Vonochitina sp. lla Tougourdeau
		100		densus, elongatus	6	230	****	Interbedded greenish-gray siltstone and silty sandstone, less often fine sandstone.	or typica Eisenaci Hercochitina sp Rhabdochitina sp Aphorea Eisenaci Jongata Eisenaci Jongata Eisenaci Jongata Eisenaci Jongata Eisenaci a df. deunffi Paris a vilison et Dolly Connochitina sp
				lius elo	5	700	****	Interbedded siltstone, silty sandstone, and fine polymictic sandstone, greenish-gray, dark olive-gray, locally dark gray.	na min ninor ar minor e ochitin aspino a parvie
	ver	ian		angustifolius	4	175	****	Sandstone: greenish-gray, polymictic, fine to medium.	Desmochitina minor typica Eisenack Hercochitina sp. Rhabdochitina sp. nochitina minor amphorea Eisenack Lagenochitina aff. deunffi Paris ochitina infraspinosa Wilson et Dolly ochitina infraspinosa Wilson et Dolly Conochitina parvicolla Tougourdeau
	Low	FIO		_	3	150	***	Siltstone: greenish-gray, more rarely gray to dark gray, rarely purple.	Desmochitina minor typica Eisenack Hercochitina sp. Rhabdochitina sp. Desmochitina minor amphorea Eisenack Lagenochitina aff. deunfif Paris Conochitina infraspinosa Wilson et Dolly Conochitina infraspinosa Wilson et Dolly Conochitina parvicolla Tougourdeau
				apporoximatus	2	70		Sandstone: variegated, polymictic, fine to medium.	Des Cc
				apport	1	130		Conglomerate, variegated, coarse, or less often conglomerated sandstone, with pebbles of granite, microgranite, porphyry granite, pegmatite granite, intermediate and basic porphyry, tuff, quartz, siltstone, sandstone, clayey and siliceous shale.	

Fig. 60. Lithology and ranges of fossil taxa from the Tuloi Section.

Member No.	Thickness,	Graptolites	Trilobites	Brachiopods	Ostracods groups
25	56		ds ds	e v.	tia sp.
24	90		- Otarion sp. Pliocybele sp. Hemiarges sp. Trinodus sp.	fa (Ross)	?Laccoprimitia sp.
23	125	htt) tart)			
22	95	demar -apwor Brong er)	Elliaenus sp sp. entropyge (?) sp. sp Lonchodmys sp. Lonchodmys sp. Milleus sp. Pijorybele sp. Asaphunas p. n. Las Petrun sp. n. Las Petrun sp. n. Las Petrun sp. n. Las Petrun sp. n. Lempleurella sp. Harpidae gen. et. sp. nov. Milleenvas p. n. Limpleurella sp. Limpleurella sp. Limpleurella sp. Limpleurella sp. Limpleuren sp. n. Limpleuren sp. n. Limpleuren sp. n. Limpleuren sp. n.	sp. sp. sp. sp. sparatica (R suensis sparatica sparatica sparasis nsum C numensis normal numensis normal numensis suensis sparatica normal sparatica sparati	Sp. ind
21	150	mis Rue hergi (L fertus (L do (Saltu	Pilmeropyge (?) sp. 2) sp. Lonchodmyses (?) sp. Lonchodmyses p. Milleus sp. Piloiotybele sp. Piloiotybele sp. Piloiotybele sp. Angles Petrun. sp. n. Roberal Petrun. sp. n. Roberal sp. Roberal sp. n. Roberal sp. Roberal sp. Ro	Isophragma sp. Nothorhis (?) sp. Beloviella sp. Beloviella sp. Functolira cardiata (Ross) Tuloja karasuensis Sev. Ulicek) - Foliome (Dav.) - Foliome Nordhus Luloica (Andrewa) Virothis Luloica (Andrewa) Virothis Luloica (Andrewa) Virothis Luloica (Sev. Paucicura tuloinensis Sev. Paucicura tuloinensis Sev.	Gen. et sp. indet Crinoids
20	80	 Callograptus sp. ymbograptus holubi Kraft 	 n. Dimerolyge (?) sp. ov. et sp. n. Vogdesia (?) sp. Lonchodmas sp. sp. sp. n. Ampyr sp. sp. n. Ampyr sp. ang. n. ang. n. Ampyr sp. n. Ampyr sp. n. Ampyr sp. n. Ampyr sp. n. Pijorybeie sp. n. Pijorybeie sp. n. Caraurinella latigenata Petrun. sp. n. Attractopyge sibirica Petrun. sp. n. Attractopyge sibirica Petrun. sp. n. Raymondaspis atlacus Petrun. sp. n. Raymondaspis atlacus Petrun. sp. n. Harpidae Tulonella parvula Petrun. gen. et. sp. nov. Spharesondus sp. n. Spharesondus sp. n. Raymondaspis atlacus Petrun. sp. n. Harpidae Tulonella parvula Petrun. gen. et. sp. nov. Stegnoipsis (?) orientalis Petrun. sp. n. Stegnoipsis (?) orientalis Petrun. sp. n. 	Boviella orientalis Sev. Isophragma sp. na cf. extensum Coop. Beloviella sp. chaeorthis altaica Sev. Devinella sp. chaeorthis altaica Sev. Punciolira cardilata (Ross) ldiostrophia tuloviensis Sev. Punciolira cardilata (Ross) Restricellula ex gr. ardmilanensis (Dav.) Foliom Rostricellula ex gr. ardmilanensis (Dav.) Foliom Ptychopleurella sp. Svorthis tuloica (Andreeva) Ptychopleurella sp. Svorthis tuloica (Andreeva) Svorthis tuloica for sastalus sprass Sev. Svorthis altaica Sev. Ptychopleurella sp. Paucictura tuloinensis Sev. Svorthis altaina aff. suborearia (Hall) Paucictura tuloinensis Sev. Ptychopleurella sp. Paucictura tuloinensis Sev. Svorthis tunoica (Andreeva) Svorthist tuloica (Andreeva) Ptychopleurella sp. Paucictura tuloinensis Sev. Stransformen starasuensis Sev. Svorthistunoica (Hall) Parastrophina aff. scorentrica Coop. Parastrophina bilobata Coop.	
19	165	s sp. olubi k icorni cogra oleypt graptu graptu graptu sall	5. n	Sev	
18 17	10 120	Carliograptus sp. Corymbograptus holubi Kraft F.S. Hall) anki Obut et Sob. Cryptograptus tricornis inse Cryptograptus tricornis inse Cryptograptus sp. Pseudoclimacograptus sf. Paratetragraptus sf. Paratetragraptus sf.		viella orientalis Sev acf. extensum Coop diostrophia altaica Sev idiostrophia tuloviensis Sev. Hovelites cf. flavei ostricellula ex gr. ardmillanen Rostri Phychopleurell Phychopleurell Scer	sp.
16	40	Callo bogral t tet Sc Harris) ptogra Seud- Seud- Paa Paa Dic gustifo	is Petrun. sp. n gen. et sp. nov Petrun.gen. et sp. nov. Petrun.gen. et sp. et s rechodergias sp Ecrobergia sp Ecrobele (?) sp. ir r Cybele (?) sp. ir Rol	talis S aica S aica S tulovi owellit ex gr. Pty	Bodenia sp ica Melnikova . Gastropods • Orthoceratids •
		Conymbol Hall) Hall) Crypte Crypte	s Petru Ben. e Betru nchod Calypi integr Cybe	orien teats his alt his ellula Tvaen	oica N Ga Ortho
15	90	s (Nicholson) - Carlymbograptus sp. Pseudisograptus manubriatus (TS. Hall) - Carymbograptus holubi Kraft Pseudisograptus manubriatus (TS. Hall) - Carymbograptus holubi Kraft Ullberg) Isograptus schrenki Obut et Sob. Iulberg (Harris) - Isograptus schrenki Obut et Sob. Corymbograptus sp. Corymbograptus sp. Corymbograptus sp. Pseudoclimacograptus at Paratetragraptus sp. Pseudophyllograptus ex gr. angustifolius Hall tus harti (Hall) - Carymograptus ex gr. angustifolius Hall		Beloviella orientalis Sev Isophragma cf. extensum Coop Archaeorthis altaica Sev Idiostrophia tuloviens. Rostricellula ex gr. ardmi Ptychoph ?Tvaerenella sp	Bodenia sp. Soanella tuloica Melnikova - Gastropods - Orthoceratids -
14	50	nubria raptus raptus 'llograp	idella s rotica l Eor	phragr Ar	Soa
13	45	us me Isog us sp. doph)	galas, galas,	lso	
12	55	oograpt	Rem svirobe Me		
11	65	all) Pseudisograptus ma Pseudisograptus ma (Tuliberg) Isogi ns Elles Corymbograptus sp. Corymbograptus sp. Pseudophy aptus harti (Hall) ograptus deflexus (Elle	77		
10	230	adi (Hall) Peridens I Pendens I Pendens I C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C			
9	20	graptus approxima apus sp. head (Hall) igsby/ (Hall) ograptus suecicus ograptus strencicus graptus sp traptus sp ensus (Hall) formis (Hall) formis (Hall) phyllograptus sp. strchograptus sp.			
° 7	150	etragraptus approxima regraptus aft. haad (H- Byr bigsby (Hall) = byr bigsby (Hall) = aansograptus suecicus aneograptus sp. = ur (Nicholson) = == us (Nicholson) = == sograptus sp. == nsograptus sp. == ensiformis (Hall) = ensiformis (Hall) =			
6	230	 Paratetragraptus approximatus (Nicholson) Peratetragraptus att. head (Hall) Tetragraptus bigsby (Hall) Pseudisograptus manubriatus (T. agraptus supercus (Tulberg) Expansograptus att. pendens Elles Isograptus hermici Acrograptus att. pendens Elles Isograptus hermici Acrograptus succus (Tulberg) Isograptus hermici Acrograptus succus (Tulberg) Isograptus hermici Acrograptus att. pendens Elles Isograptus hermici Acrograptus succus (Tulberg) Isograptus hermici Acrograptus succus (Tulberg) Isograptus hermici Acrograptus succus (Tulberg) Isograptus succus (Tulberg) Instichograptus succus (Tulberg) Expansograptus succus (Tulberg) Instichograptus succus (Tulberg) Instich			
5	700	Pagraptus bi sp: sp: sp: sp: sp: sp: sp: sp: sp: sp:			
4	175	aptus s aptus s graptu: Tristich			
3	150	 Paratetragraptus approximatus (Nicholson) Eceleragraptus and f. freadi (Hall) Tetragraptus bigsby/ (Hall) Pseudisograp Tetragraptus bigsby/ bigsby/ (Hall) Pseudisograptus suecicus (Tullberg) Expansograptus aff. pendens Elles Acrograptus sp. Corymbosona Expansograptus sp. Corporations (Hall) Corporations (Hall) Corporations (Hall) Fistichograptus sp. Fistichograptu			
2	70				
1	130				

Fig. 60. The end.

Member No.	Thickness,	Lithology	Graptolites	Other groups
16c	>8	Interbedded (at 0.3-0.5 m in lower layers and at 0.1-0.3 m in upper layers), silver-gray well rounded and well sorted fine polymictic sandstone and dark gray clayey siltstone.		
16b	1,5	Siltstone: gray.		
16a	0,7	Sandstone: olive, slightly calcareous, fine to medium, well rounded and well sorted.	ann) Iall)	
15c	10	Thinly (1-3 cm) interbedded siltstone and fine sandstone; sandstone layers are slightly thicker than those of siltstone; sandstone shows cross bedding; the section is cut by a fault apparent in the middle of the quarry.	lsograptus gibberulus (Nicholson) lsograptus caduceus nanus (Ruedemann) lsograptus imitata (Harris) lsograptus maximo-divergens (Harris) lsograptus sp. Pseudoisograptus manubriatus (T.S. Hall) Tetragraptus harti (Hall) Expansograptus sp.	spod
15b	5	Mudstone and siltstone, dirty olive, of thin 1-3 cm banding produced by more silty layers in mudstone.	 Isograptus Isograptus Isograptus Isograptus Isograptus Isograptus Pseudoisog Tetragraptus Expansograptus 	 Brachiopods
15a	3	Mudstone and clayey siltstone, dark silver-gray or black.		

Fig. 61. Lithology and ranges of fossil taxa from the middle part of the Tuloi Section.



Fig. 62. Upper part of the Karasa Formation in the Tuloi Section.

Yurok Section

Chronostratigraphic subdivisions of the International Stratigraphic Scale: Dapingian, Darriwilian.

Regional stratigraphic subdivisions: Tuloi, Kuibyshevo, Kostinsky and Bugryshikha regional stages (horizons).

Local lithostratigraphic subdivisions: Tuloi and Karasa formations.

Zone: "angustifolius elongatus", "gibberulus", "hirundo", sinodentatus, "austrodentatus", "dentatus", "balhaschensis/kirgisicus", "jakovlevi/coelatus", teretiusculus graptolites zones.

Fauna: graptolites, trilobites, brachiopods, gastropods, echinoderms, nautiloides, bryozoans, bivalves, phyllocarids.

The Yurok Section was studied during 2011–2015 (Sennikov et al., 2018a,b). It is localized on a side of the road, connecting Artybash and Turochak villages, 240 m northward from a bridge across the Yurok Creek (right tributary of the Biya River). The section comprises subvertical beds of the Upper Tuloi and Karasa formations, which are stratigraphically arranged towards the Teletskoe Lake, with a total thickness along the road exceeding 50 m. The section is paleontologically characterized by graptolites, trilobites, phyllocarids, gastropods, brachiopods, ostracods, bryozoans, bivalves, echinoderms, and nautiloids. The Yurok Section is logged as follows (Figs 63–65):

Peculiarities in facies, faunal assemblages and sedimentary environments.

In the Yurok Section, the upper Tuloi Formation (20-m thick interval corresponding the Upper Floian and Lower-Middle Dapingian angustifolius elongatus, gibberulus and hirundo graptolite zones) and lower Karasa Formation (up to 45 m of the Darriwilian austrodentatus - teretiusculus graptolite zones) are composed of monotonous clayey mudstone with scarce interbeds of siltstone and yellowbrownish-gray (snuffy-gray) fine-grained sandstone. The basal quartz sandstone member of the Karasa Formation is not represented in the Yurok Section. It could be caused by a hidden tectonic fault, since there is a low-amplitude fault zone documented within the lower Karasa Formation, between the first and second members of the section. Specific lithological composition (very scarce sandstone interbeds, dramatically reduced thickness) of the Upper Floian - Lower-Middle Dapingian upper Tuloi Formation interpret the sedimentary record comprised in the Pridorozhny and Yurok sections as the distal parts of the shelf paleobasin. Black and dark color of the rocks and lack of the benthic fauna in the Pridorozhny Section substantiate an interpretation of this section as the most distal one. However, the light (snuffy) color of the strata, as well as both abundant and diverse fossils of the benthic fauna (trilobites, ostracods, phyllocarids, gastropods, brachiopods, bryozoans, echinoderms) in the Yurok Section contradict its interpretation within the deepened outer shelf, or even within the comparatively deep-water environments. At the same time, there are numerous specimens of full



System	Series	Stage	Formation	Zone, subzone, "zonal level"	Member No.	Thickness,		Lithology	Graptolites Trilobites Other groups
				teretiusculus	5	> 30	- - - - - - - - -	Mudstones: yellow-brownish-gray ("tobacco-gray"), massive, fissile clayey. Individual convoluted pillows, 40-50 cm in diameter, are documented in the lower part of the interval.	gger 1plexograpt pw.)
		/ilian		:"jakovlevi/ : coelatus"	4	8,5	0	Clayey mudstones: yellow- brownish-gray ("tobacco-gray") with columnar fissility. Pillows of convoluted lamination, 40-50 cm in diameter, are scarcely developed throughout the interval.	Glossogr
cian	е	Darriwilia	Karasa	"balhaschensis,"jakovlevi/ / kirgisicus" coelatus"	3	3		Alternating siltstones: yellow- brownish-gray, clayey mudstones: brown-yellowish-gray,and sandstones: light yellowish-brown fine-grained, well-rounded and well-sorted. The siltstone beds are 30-50 cm-thick, thickness of the mudstones varies at 10-100 cm, and the sandstones beds are at 5-10 cm.	eosiccatus Tzaj Phyllograptus paradoxus (Boucek) Undulograptus paradoxus (Boucek) eosiccatus Tzaj Phyllograptus sp. eosiccatus Tzaj Phyllograptus sp. eosiccatus Taj Phyllograptus anna Hall graptus anna Hall culus (Hisinger) - Niobe .sp.
Ordovici	Middle			"austrodentatus" "dentatus"	2	6,5		Mudstones: yellow-brownish-gray ("tobacco-gray") and grayish- yellowish-brown ("grayish- tobacco"), clayey. Fault	(Mu e (Mu e aptus" s Phylic s"sp-
		c Dapingian	Tuloi	 "angustifolius elongatus" "gibberulus" "hirundo" and "angustifolius elongatus" "Jentatus" 	1	> 15		Siltstones: dark yellow-brownish- gray ("tobacco-gray") clayey, with columnar fissility.	Ilograptus angustifolius ar Pterograp "Undul "Undul "Indul

Fig. 64. Lithology and ranges of fossil taxa from the Yurok Section.



Fig. 65. Subaqueous slumping "twistings and rolls" in mudstone found in the Yurok Section (Karasa Formation).

trilobite skeletons found in the Yurok Section, which preservation conditions postulate a lack of wave influence on the benthic communities. Therefore, the upper Floian and lower-to-middle Dapingian strata of the Yurok Section must be accumulated not only below the fair-weather wave base, but even below the base of storm wave agitation – within the upper outer shelf and medium-depth inner shelf (50–100–150 m). Considering both remoteness of the Yurok Section from the shoreline and relatively shallow depth, we interpret the upper Floian and lower–middle Dapingian strata within the section to be accumulated on a top or slope of a local submarine uplift. This assumption is further supported by the gravity slump structures (convoluted pillows) found in the Yurok Section.

Amongst the trilobite taxa from the Yurok Section above enlisted, Cybelurus altaicus Levit, has the biggest potential for appliance as an age-constraint and correlative marker. This taxon was originally defined on a material obtained from the Bugryshikha and Gora Altai sections (stratotypes of Bugryshikha Formation and Bugryshikha Horizon), localized near the Bugryshikha Village in the northwestern Gorny Altai (Charysh-Inya facies zone). The type material originates from the stratigraphic level, characterized by the upper Darriwilian graptolites of teretiusculus Zone (Levitsky, 1963; Sennikov et al., 2008). Within the Loktevka-Batun structure-facies zone of the Gorny Altai, this trilobite species was found in the Batun Section (named after the Batun Village, nearby located), within the Voskresenka Formation which comprises there a stratotype of the Kostinsky Horizon (Levitsky, 1962, 1963; Perfil'ev and Levitsky, 1963; Sennikov, 1977; Sennikov et al., 1982, 2014, 2015a). Trilobites Cybelurus altaicus Levit. are found there in association with middle–upper Darriwilian graptolites of *dentatus* and *balhaschensis* zones. Composite trilobite complex of the Bugryshikha and Batun areas, associated with Cybelurus altaicus Levit., comprise Cybelurus planus Levit., Cybelurus batunensis Levit., Aksanatella altaica Petrun., Aksanatella bugryshichica Petrun., Eorobergia ojrotica Levit., Raymondaspis communis Levit., Ceraurinus abnormalis Levit., Ceraurinella cf. frequens Tschug., Bijacybele cf. strigosa Petrun., Lonchodomas communis Levit., Bathyurellus nonnulus Tschug., Pliomera fischeri asiatica Tschug., Pliomerellus amplissimus Petrun., Pliomerellus cf. jacuticus Tschug., Kolymella aff. plana (Tschug.), Glaphurus altaicus Weber, Homotelus sp., Carrickia sp., Carolinites sp., Nileus sp. Within the northeastern Gorny Altai (Uymen'-Lebed' structure-facies zone), trilobites Cybelurus altaicus Levit. were identified in the Tuloi Section, in the Karasa Formation (Andreeva, 1985). This stratigraphic level was lately constrained as the upper Darriwilian dentatus graptolite Zone. Cybelurus altaicus Levit. is also known from Tuva Region. These trilobites were revealed in the stratotype section of the Tarlyk Formation of the Malinovka Group, localized near the Tarlyk Village. Trilobite complex, including Cybelurus altaicus Levit., was found in the lower Tarlyk Member, which



section represents a stratotype of the Lower Tarlyk Horizon (Andreeva, 1985; Levitsky, 1962; Sennikov et al., 2006a, b, 2015a), in association with the Darriwilian graptolites and lower Darriwilian conodonts (Eoplacognathus variabilis -E. suecicus Zone) (Sennikov et al., 2000, 2015a). This trilobite complex contains Cybelurus altaicus Levit., Cybelurus planifrons (Weber), Carolinites spinosus And., Carolinites marophtalma (Harr. et Leanz), Carolinites aff. genacinaca Ross, Bulbaspis cf. ovulum (Weber), Plesiomegalaspis aff. estonica Tjerny., Plesiomegalaspis sp., Cybele cf. bellatula Dalm., Symphysurus cf. exactus Tschug., Symphysurus cf. kujandensis Tschug., Ampyx aff. politus Raymond, Ampixella clavata And., Ogigites aff. almatyensis Tschug., Robergia deckeri Coop., Lonchodomas eximius And., Malinaspis tuvaensis And., etc. Until recently, the upper member of the Tuloi Section has been characterized by trilobite taxa, identified by Z.E. Petrunina (Sennikov et al., 2008), and along with new species including Encrinuroides sp., Ceraurinella sp., Atractopyge sp., Pliocybele sp., Raymondaspis sp., Robergia sp., Robergiella (?) sp., Remopleurella sp., Sphaerexochus sp., Carolinites sp., Hemiarges sp., Trinodus sp., Calyptaulax sp., Stegnoipsis (?) sp., Illaenus sp., Dimeropyge (?) sp., Otarion sp., Lonchodomas sp., Ampyx sp., Nilieus sp. Our recent discoveries demonstrate the trilobite complex of the upper member of the Karasa Formation within the Tuloi Section sits inside the middle Darriwilian dentatus graptolite Zone, and contains certain trilobites taxa, not registered within the Yurok Section. The Tuloi trilobite complex is comprised by Megistaspis (M.) polyphemus Brogger, Lonchodomas rostratus (Sars), Robergia sparsa Nikol., Ampyx sp., Paracybeloides (?) sp., Carolinites sp., Raymondaspis sp., Agerina sp., Niellus sp. In Baltoscandia, trilobites Megistapis Jaanusson gave a name for "Megistapis limestones" (type area Bornholm Island), localized in the upper Volkhov Horizon and allegedly accumulated on a relatively distal shelf (Bergström et al., 2013; Pärnaste and Bergström, 2013), adjacent to deep-water facies of graptolite mud (Männil, 1966).

Biya Section

Chronostratigraphic subdivisions of the International Stratigraphic Scale: upper Sandbian, Katian.

Regional stratigraphic subdivisions: Khankhara and Tekhten' regional stages (horizons).

Local lithostratigraphic subdivisions: Gur'yanovka and Chebor formations.

Fauna: crinoids, trilobites, ostracods, briozoans, nautiloids, corals, conodonts.

The Biya section, which was mentioned in geological survey reports and in some early publications (Kul'kov and Severgina, 1989; Sennikov et al., 1959; etc.) and documented in detail by our team for the first time, is located in the right side of the Biya River upstream of the Chechenek Creek mouth. The base of the Gur'yanovka Formation does not crop out in this section (see above). River terrace outcrops expose alternating sandstone, mudstone, and clayey limestone

ø	0	Formation	Member No.	hickness,		Lithology	F	Stachi	apods	1	Concession in the second secon	Tribbies	Bryozowe	Voutioids		Condonts
Series	affens	1000		-	/	Moderately sorted rounded gray line to medium polymictic rather quartz sandstone, with poorly sorted eutrounded and subangular floaling gravel (3-4% of total nock volume); up to 2 on cracks (possibly, produced by descrategies) filled with sand; medium to coarse, sandatone is member				1	Centerior	in the	Brie	Nout	Contra	ð
		Chetor	24	>8		upper pari.		ŝ.								
	-	1.1	23	2,3		Gray or light gray massive clayey and sandy limestone, with algel rolls (1–2 cm in diameter); clay material other forms random spots.		a starte								
	atia		22	1.0		Well sorted and rounded gray rather quartz fine to medium polymictic sandistone, with signatures of submarine sand bar erosion by currents (up to 25 cm cutout).		A CALL CALL				COLUMN T				4 5
	×	α'n	21	17	maanaa	Litac-red or groy sitistone and sandstone similar to motor of member 19; Irray sitistone in member middle; coanser material (to fine sandstone) in upper part.		1				 Homotota sp. 				
	2	19.01	20	1.2	le le le le	Compy limestone with honeycomb and nodular tentures; algal rols	ł.	ш	ш			T.			1	
		a b formati	19	6		Situation on in dements. Situations and sandwine similar to those in member 17; isolated 20 cm bads of well sorted rounded like-ned massive fine candidane with low lime contents.	1	Ш							1	Prior Maria
		ő.	13	0.0		mostly yellowish-dirty gray rocks in upper part.	1	ш	ш	1.						333
		12				Gray massive limestone, reddsh-lilac in upper part detrital organic limestone in upper part.	ſ.	ш	ш		partial .		I			Sec.
		· Gur"yamovka	17	12		Thin-bedded (1–5 cm) silistone, purple with gray spots, with low lime contents; 15 cm thick bed of gray limestone at member base; 5 cm thick interbed of red limestone with brachlopods at 2 m above member base; 3–5 cm interbeds of gray massive silistone and the sandstone with high lime contents upsector; gray silistone grading into fine sandstone in member upper part.	•		trit fogarnals Sev.		Gao in					Paraderostre granks Br. et M.
		Upper	18	17	and the second	Beds of blive green or greenish-gray thin-platy limy siltstone alternating with thick beds (3 to 5 m) of purple siltstone, grading to one another along strike.	1	Ш	distriction							11
Upper	à		15	12		Well sorted rounded light greenish-gray flaggy massive line polymictic sandstone; 40 cm thick bads in member lower part and 5–10 cm bads in member middle and top; thin-bedded sandstone grading into purple clayey attatone in upper one third.			Bonnoterfisi, rogannan Receiver v concerne							
			14	10		Thin-bedded (3-5 cm) platy light snuffy-gray slightly lumpy clayey sitistone with loss line, contacts.	1	Ш								
			13	z		Atemating life; and greenist-gray fine to medium sandstone; 25–30 cm flaggy bedding in 0.5–1.0 m thick life; beds; 15 cm thick bed of gray-pale redicks limitsfore at 2 m above member base; medium bedding (10–15 cm) with perfective small other surfaces at 3 m above member base.		Sava -	1	a tata	- 100			- 1000 -		•
	-		12	3		Sandstone similar to massive sandstone of member 9.		Aires	2					300. II		
	Indbian		11	7		Moderately sorted rounded lifec and pale lifec fire to medium sandstone with time cament; lighter-colored gesenish rocks in member upper part.		Nicensia al	in article	1992	8			8		
	8	1	10	10		Sandstone similar to sandstone of member 8.	1	1000	3	L						
			9	4		Pcorty sorted subrounded dirty grean-gray fine to medium sandstone, with moderately sorted subrounded floating coarse sand.		Ш	Sortacontoradia aflantos (Bark.)							ŝ
			8	6		Thin-bedded (5-10 cm) flaggy sandstone similar to that in member 4; interbada with time campot.	1	Н.	8							8
		metion	7	12	1	Gray and dark gray massive limestone with low day contents, clay material forms laminos and lenses in member lower part, such laminos and lenses are fower in member middle but are guite frequent in upper part.										•
				1		Grav and dark only massive imestone with low day contents.	F.	24		L						
		Sublar	6	4				88	S	L						2
		20.0	5	4	02020304	Snufty-gray clayey mudstone		M anna salas 1	8							DOUDDIN
			4	6	260,000,000	Well sorted rounded snuffy-dirty gray frie to medium polymicils sandstone. Dats gray massive linestone alternation with redular (3–5 cm) linestone and		- Contraction								
		Gur'yangwaa	3	8		Loss gray massive intercone alternating with notical (a=0 cm) intercone and smith-gray clavy insistance clavy linestone, massive intercone, and mudatorie accupy, respectively, gray massive 70–75%, 10%, and 20% of member thickness, bed thicknesses: 0.2–0.3 m for mudatorie and up to 0.5 m for invasions.		Married Street								111
		1	2	5		Dark gray-snuffish nodular (2–5 cm) clayey imestone; clay material often forma lareinas and 15–30 cm long lenses; gray massive limestone with lower clay content in upper part	Cash, Indet	Restriction	ł			10000	Con. naul.		Gan, Indat	
		LOW	1	15	~~~~	Moderately sorted and sounded strutty fine polymictic sandstone; 15–20 cm or less often 3–5 cm fleggy bedding, lime cement in some interbeds (5–15 cm).	p	a.				1	13		9	

Fig. 67. Lithology and ranges of fossil taxa from the Biya Section.

(Figs 66, 67). The Gur'yanovka Formation has a total thickness of 170 m in the section (without the buried basal part). Its boundary with the overlying Chebor Formation corresponds to the top of the terminal limestone bed, and the uppermost member (N 24) should belong to the Chebor Formation rather than to the Gur'yanovka Formation. Note that the presence of floating pebbles and gravel among sandstone and siltstone was mentioned earlier (Krivchikov et al., 1976; Sennikov, 1962) in the terminal Biya section member, as well as in the basal members of different Chebor Formation sections. Note also that we observed a fragment of the Chebor Formation composed of alternating lilac and gray sandstone, siltstone, and mudstone 100-150 m south of the Biya section end, in an isolate fault-bounded block on the right side of the Biya River.

Peculiarities in facies, faunal assemblages and sedimentary environments.

The previously reported fauna found in the section on the right side of Biya River, near the Chechenek Creek mouth, and assigned to the Karasa Formation (Kul'kov and Severgina, 1989) was restricted to *Glyptorthis primus* Sev. brachiopods. L. Severgina also found *Strophomena lebediensis* Sev. in Rozm., *Chaustimella amzassensis* (Sev.), *Rostricellula ainsliei amzassica* Sev., *Schizophorella altaica* (Sev.), *Triplesia ainca* Sev., *Boreadorthis togaensis* Sev., and *Eridorthis subinexpecta* Sev. brachiopods typical of the Gur'yanovka Formation fauna during geological surveys, between 510 and 615 m downstream of the Yurok River inlet into the Biya. We discovered *Belodina compressa* (Br. et M.), *Panderodus gracilis* (Br. et M.), *Phragmodus undatus* Br. et M., and *Erraticodon* sp. conodonts in members 3 and 20.

Both clastic and carbonate Gur'yanovka Formation rocks have red and lilac colors in the middle of the Biya Section. The appearance of this bright coloration (purple, brown, lilac, and red) in the northern and eastern parts of the Uymen'–Lebed' facies zone was previously interpreted (Krivchikov et al., 1976; Sennikov, 1962) as the principal or at least significant criterion to separate the Gur'yanovka Formation from the overlying Chebor Formation. Note, however, that lilac rock coloration appears also at the base of the Gur'yanovka Formation stratotype described above, near the Bura mouth, and red rocks occur at the top of the Gur'yanovka Formation in the Gur'yanovka Glade section (see above). Almost all limestones in the Biya section are clayey or less often sandy. Some are detrital organic varieties (coquina), with detritus of various fauna groups, as well as limestone with algal rolls, 1–2 cm in diameter. Siltstone are fine- or medium-grained, rounded, well or moderately sorted, with either clay or lime cement. The cross sections of some sandstone members display signatures of submarine sandbars eroded by currents, with channels incised to 25 cm depths. Such channels were apparently formed below storm wave base (SWB), at sea depths more than 30 m. The presence of sandstone layers with perfectly smooth surfaces in the Biya Section indicates deposition in relatively deep water, below SWB (deeper than 30 m).

The Gur'yanovka Formation fauna assemblages in the Biya Section include predominant brachiopods, less frequent or few ostracods and conodonts, and sporadic trilobites, nautiloids, tabulates, and bryozoans. Brachiopods show the highest taxonomic diversity in the Gur'yanovka Formation oryctocenoses, while conodonts and trilobites are represented by few taxa. Limestones in the section almost lack corals and are free from algal calyptrae, which is evidence of sunlight shortage on the sea floor; together with the lack of clay lithologies, this indicates clear water and medium shelf depths exceeding 30–80 m in the disphotic zone. Facies of other Gur'yanovka Formation rocks in the section suggest deposition environments below fair-weather wave base but within SWB (10–30 m) or greater sea depths (50–100 m) for different section parts.

4.2. EASTERN GORNY ALTAI (Teletskoe Lakeside facies zone)

4.2.1. AREA OF IOGACH VILLAGE

Tozodov Section Chronostratigraphic subdivisions of the International Stratigraphic Scale: Regional stratigraphic subdivisions: Kuibyshevo, Kostinsky, Bugryshikha regional stages (horizons). Local lithostratigraphic subdivisions: Tozodov Body. Fauna: trilobites, ostracods, brachiopods, orthoceratids, bryozoans.

The Tozodov Section is located on the right side of the eponymous brook (right tributary of the logach Rv.) in two road quarries, one km from the creek's mouth (Figs 68–70). The total thickness of the exposed part of the section is more than 150 m. The thickness of the non-red part of the Tozodov Section as a possible lithological analogue of the often green-gray Karasa Formation (upper half of the Stretinka Group), is at least 120 m. This interval should be considered as a stand-alone gray terrigenous Tozodov Body. The thickness of red-colored part of the Tozodov Section, which was previously correlated with the Chebor Formation (Uimen'-Lebed' facies zone), is at least 30 m.

Peculiarities in facies, faunal assemblages and sedimentary environments.

The ichnofossils Gordia Emmons established in the seventh member are interpreted as biomarkers of relatively deep-water facies (Mangano, Droser, 2004). The ostracods *Egorovella* sp. were found in the third member of the Tozodov Section, while the eighth member contained diverse trilobites, namely *Asaphus knyrkoi* F. Schmidt, *Asaphus striatus* Brogger, *Lonchodomas rostratus* (Sars), *Pliomera fischeri* (Eichwald), characteristic of the middle and lower parts of the Upper Ordovician of Baltoscandia (Ivantsov, 2003). The faunas reported from this member also include the bryozoans *Dianulites ramosoformis* Jaroshinskaja.





System	Series	Stage	Formation	Member No.	Thickness,		Lithology	Nautioids	Trilobites	Brachiopods	Ostracods	Gastropods	Bryozoans	Inhnolossis
1				19	>10		Sandstone: brownish-red, polymictic, fina and medium-grained, massive, medium and thick-bedded. Possibly socided intervals are composed of sity mudstone.						Ĩ	
				18	6		Sandatore: brown, polymictic, coama-grained, with carbonate cement, weathered to loose material, thick-bedded to massive. Separate rare rounded grains of the gravet size. On the weathered surface thin lettination due to more-layers of alty mudstone brownish.							
			4	37	2		Sandstone: greenish-gray, non rounded, thick bedded to massive.							
		8118	9.90	16	1.5		Sandstons: brownish-red, polymictic, coarse-grained, with well rounded grains, thick-bedded, with carbonale cement, sometimes weathered to loose material.	1						
		×	0	15 14	1.5	* * +	Sodded interval, with tragments of mudstone red Sandstone: greenish-gray, polymictic, medium and coarse-grained, poor rounded, thick-bedded to manalive.	1						
				13	0,5	90,000,00	Conglomenale very-colored, red, medium-petible, poor sorted, medium and poor rounded. Angular fragments. Petibles comprise up to 80 % of rock., Matrix composed of sandstone: vary-colored, polymictic, medium-grained, in pathles, irresting disk-order, sandstone meaningmer exteriments pet, chart		Ħ					
ļ		2		12	5	A R R R R R R R R R R			Asignius keynov F. Schnidt Asignius smittus Brogger				12	
1	0.001			11	4		Situtore and sity mudetone: gray, slightly calcareous, massive, flaggy (0.25-0.5 m).	100	101			det.	100	Ê.
ŀ	5			10	8		Sity sandstone: gray, fine-grained, distinctly bedded (15-25 cm).	16	Any	2		11/10	200	
1				9	15		Silisty mudstone greenish-gray, slightly calcareous, massive, not bedded.	20	DAL6	a (Sex)		1.00	100	and a
			Ĩ	8	8- 10		Alternating silistone and sandidone gray and greenish-gray, fine-grained, slightly calcareous.	· Gen		eter etersis		- Cen. et sp. indet	Committee Dismand	Soran Emmore
	100000000	andbian		7	7-8		Irregularly alternating sitistone, mudistone and fine-grained sandstone: dark-gray and greenish-dark-gray. In the upper part of the member on the weathered surface of mudistone spheroid and ellipsoid shape. Ilmestone nodules 1.0-1.5 cm in tiameter. These nodules occur as chains along the lamination. Distance between nodules is 3-5 cm, between chains- from 5 to 10 cm.		costratus (Barto) chain (Elothmaid)	1011			Gen. et sp. indet.	 Garde
	3	00	2.0	6	15	410	Mudistone: gray, light-brownish-gray, intensively calcareous, non bedded. Limestone "nodules" 2-3 to 5 cm in diameter, grey, crystalline, sometimes compose 0,5 m thick layers with nodular structure. Larticular layers of clastic limestone (shall deposit), gray, 1-2 cm to 10-15 cm thick and up to 1 m long.		Londhodorees southo Phonore function	idet500	inder.		3	
t	2	2	Tozod	5	10- 15		Sodded Interval (suggested disjunction along ravine),			Gen et sp. ind	- Gen. et sp. in			
				3	7	ning Alig Alig	Silbriane: greenish-gray and light-gray, intensively calcarecula.							
ł	ddle	riwitian		3	8		Sitstone: dity-greenish-grey and grey, celcareous.		Gen et so indet	Contrast (veliða op. n. 🚛 —			
10.	OW	Darr		2	12		Intercalating sandstone polymictic, fine-garined, and sitistone greenish-dirty-gray. In the middle of the member - 0.5-1 m layer, with carbonate cament,		Gen of	Apatoritytika akada San Shorthia Penderotara (Code	Squarelo			
				3	20		Bandstone: greenish-dirty-gray, polymictic, fine-medium-grained, massive bedded (0,5-1,0 m).		1	20102				

Fig. 70. Lithology and ranges of fossil taxa from the Tozodov Section.

4.3. NORTHERN GORNY ALTAI (Biya-Katun' facies zone)

4.3.1. AREA OF KAMLAK VILLAGE

Kamlak Section

Chronostratigraphic subdivisions of the International Stratigraphic Scale: Upper Cambrian (Furongian) and Lower Ordovician (Tremadocian).

Regional stratigraphic subdivisions: Ordovician – Takoshkin Regional stage (Horizon). Local lithostratigraphic subdivisions: Kamlak Formation. Zone: Iapetognathus conodont Zone, osloensis-hyperboreus graptolite Zone. Fauna: conodonts, graptolites, trilobites, brachiopods, chitinozoans, problematics.

Tremadocian strata are most completely represented and best constrained by faunas near Kamlak Village thus making a tie for Tremadocian correlations throughout the Gorny Altai. A small (6×7 km) Kamlak graben is filled with terrigenous-carbonate sediments folded in an asymmetric fold cut by faults. According to lithology and fauna patterns, the stratotype section includes three units of unequal thicknesses: The Lower, Middle, and Upper Kamlak subformations (Figs 71–73). The subdivision of the Kamlak Section into subformations is based on lithology and faunal control, mainly from trilobites. Members are aligned according to lithology and trilobite, graptolite, and brachiopod assemblages.

The Lower Kamlak Subformation crops out in the middle reaches of the Maly Kamlak River where the base of the Kamlak Formation contacts, along a fault, with the volcanic rocks of the Middle Cambrian Ust'-Sema Formation. The total thickness of the Lower Kamlak Subformation is about 120 m. The Lower and Middle Kamlak subformations are divided by a fault. The total thickness of the Middle Kamlak Subformation is about 440 m. The Middle and Upper Kamlak subformations are

Fig. 71. Sketch map of the Kamlak area.

Fig. 72. Limestone of the Member 10 of the Middle Kamlak Subformation (Kamlak Section).





Ordovician sedimentary basins and paleobiotas of the Gorny Altai

				_	uo		ne	lo.		r.	
ε	<i>"</i>	200	E	atior	mati	onts	lites	er N	less		
System	Series	Stage	Horizon	Formation	Subformation	Conodonts	Graptolites	Member No.	Thickness,		Lithology
ŝ	Š	ß	Ĭ	щ	Su	ပိ	ษ	Ž			
								14	>30		Sandstone: gray, dark gray, or greenish-gray, outsized, polymictic.
										aa.	
								13	330		Conglomerate: fine and medium, with poorly sorted quartzite, quartz, granite,
											volcanic, sandstone, and limestone pebbles of high to medium roundness.
							?		_	o	
			-				nsis	12	70	<u></u>	Siltstone: brown-red, grading toward member top into gray and greenish-gray siltstone, with fine sandstone layers and limestone lenses in member upper part
			Inza				osloensis- ramosus		-		Limestone: black and gray, clayey, with black, gray, and yellowish-gray
		_	Tayanza				02 -?-	11	8		siltstone interbeds.
an		cial	er					10	130		Siltstone: brown-red, with lenses and layers of red nodular limestone.
C.	-	0	Upper						405		
οvi	o w e	ad	1		er			9	165		Siltstone and mudstone, brown-red.
σ	2	e B	Takoshkin (=		Upper			8	35	e to	Fine and medium conglomerate.
ò		Tre	lost					7	>20	-1 -1 -1 -1	Siltstone: gray or greenish-gray.
			Tak								011. I
				ak				6	>200		Siltstone and mudstone, brown-red, with fine sandstone interbeds and limestone lenses .
				Ē		_2.				<u> </u>	
				Kai	1					8	Conglomerate: fine and medium, with poorly sorted quartzite, quartz, granite, volcanic, and limestone pebbles of high or medium roundness, grading on
						Indt		5	115- 170		volcanic, and limestone pebbles of high or medium roundness, grading on strike into gravelstone and sandstone; conglomerate encloses scarce lenses
						etor					of reddish-gray sandy limestone.
						apetognatus / lapetonudus					
						tus		4	170	~~~~~~	Siltstone and mudstone, brown-red.
						gna		3	29	00.Q.	Sandstone: gray or reddish-gray, fine to coarse, with angular clasts of brown-red siltstone in detrital material.
						peto		2	35	0.0	Conglomerate: fine, grading on strike into sandstone.
						la		1	59		Sandstone: gray or reddish-gray, fine to coarse, with siltstone interbeds.
								10	15		Limestone: yellow and grey, lumpy
			nza					9	250		Limestone: light gray, massive, crystalline, with lenses and layers (1-3 m) of reddish and gravish-brown limestone in lower layers.
⊆			yanz		e	ġ					
i.a	-	an	e Tayar		Middle	caseyi		8	31 8		Siltstone: lilac or brown-red. Conglomerate: fine to medium.
bг	рe	Batyrbaian	Lower-Middle		~	Ö		6	12		Sandstone: variegated, rather quartz-feldspar, outsized, with minor amounts of disseminated "jasperiods".
a m	Up	tyr	N-					5	31		Conglomerate: fine to medium, compositionally similar to that in member 3.
Ű		Ba	owe					4	22	=:=:=:=	Siltstone: lilac-gray, brownish-gray, or greenish-gray
								3	30	0 0 0 0 0 0	Conglomerate: fine to medium, with well rounded but poorly sorted pebbles of diverse quartzite, porphyry, less often schists, gneisses, and limestone in a limy-sandy cement.
								2	34		In a limy-sandy cement. Limestone: light gray, massive, crystalline, with 2-4 m thick layers and lenses of purple-red limestone at member base.
						?		1	>20	1 1 1 1 1	lenses of purple-red limestone at member base. Siltstone: gray or purple-gray, with 1-3 cm thick silty sandstone interbeds.
								7	>2		Conglomerate: fine, with well- and rather well-rounded pebble of black and red guartzite and granite in a sandy-clayey-limy cement.
								6	60	556555	Siltstone and slightly calcareous mudstone: lilac or brown-red, with layers
			ZIQ		ver	-ouo		0	00	Electric	of gray fine massive rather quartz-feldspar sandstone.
			Dobry		Lower	Procono- dontus		5	6		Limestone: pinkish-gray, massive, locally thin-bedded.
								3	<u>18</u> 6-8		Siltstone: lilac-gray, calcareous, of uncertain bedding. Limestone: lilac- or pinkish-gray, of uncertain banding, crinoidal.
								2	17		Siltstone and mudstone: purple-gray and brown-red, with 3-4 cm pebble of dark gray limestone and black quartzite.
								1	6		Limestone: light gray, locally pinkish- or brownish-gray, thick-bedded.

Fig. 73. Lithology and ranges of fossil taxa from the Kamlak Section.

Member No.	Thickness,	Graptolites	Conodonts	Trilobites	Brachiopods	Chitinozoans and proble- matic fossils
	>30 330	sp arth . sen . iob ssp ssp Callograptus sp Bryograptus sp.		 Apatokephalus sp. Shumardia sp. Platypeltoides sp. Platypeltoides sp. Hysterolenus verus Petrun. Kaltykelina sp. Macropyga sp. Macropyga sp. Borogothus altaicus Petrun. Apatokephalus ex gr. Serratus (Sars) Euloma sp. Euloma sp. Hystricurus sp. Hystricurus sp. 		
12	70	b. h b. b. sp. Callogr Bryogr		Apatokeph Apatokeph Shumardia Histopeltoi Hysterolen Kaltykelina Borogothu B		11
11	8	00200022			Sev.	acka
10	130	Anisograptus sp. ramosus Brogger i kjerulif Lapworth osloensis Monsen eus Obut et Sob. Kiaerograptus sp. Bryograptus sp. Bryograptus sp.	Pand odus s Mulli ss)	e	rmis S	Eisen
9	165	Bryograptus sp Bryograptus aff. ramosus Brogger - Bryograptus aff. kjerulif Lapworth Trojgraptus osloensis Monsen Trojgraptus sp. Bryograptus sp. Bryograptus sp.	rdylodus angulatus Pander Prooneotodus sp. Cordylodus proavus Muller ova) ensis Druce et Jones)	Petrun. <i>Ila</i> Petru	ev. ev. s Sev. sklensifo Sev. miensis ev.	a minor rinacea
8	35 >20	aptus a aptus i hype	dus ar P Aodus Druce	pirica let	ia (Wa rica So riensis arbuc Itaica sp. condo tica So	chitin inor e
6	>200	Anisograptus sp. – Bryograptus aff. ramosus Brogger = Bryograptus aff. kjeruff. Lapworth = Troigraptus osloensis Monsen = Aletograptus hyperboreus Obut et Sob. = Klaenograptus sp. = Bryograptus sp. = Bryograptus sp. = Bryograptus sp. = Bryograptus sp. =	nes Co (Abaim s filler)	Bijaspis katuniana Petrun. Parapliomera sibirica Petrun. Isphella platycephala Petrun. ds.)	Apheorthis vicina (Walc.) Tetralobula shorica Sev. Syntrophina shorica Sev. Manorthis shorientsis Sev. Frinkelnburgia arbucklensiformis Sev. Syntrophina attaica Sev. Punctolira cf. condomiensis Sev. Nothortis asiatica Sev.	Desmochitina minor Eisenack
5	115- 170		Cordylodus lindstromi Druce et Jones Iapelognathus sp. Iapelognathus sp. Iapelognathus sp. Phakelodus notundatus bruce et Jones ulumbense Tolmacheva et Abaimova mplex (Druce et Jones) mplex (Druce et Jones) Procondontus cf. H. triangularis (Abai mplex (Druce et Jones) Procondontus notchpeakensis (Miller) Procondontus notchpeakensis (Miller) Procondontus sp. (=Oneotodus dats	bustipina ini (Troed froeds.) n s Petrun.	A. K. O.	Di Agetocystis Zaslav. et Obut ■
4	170		idstroi idstroi p. s sp. baimo baimo baimo baimo baimo tras s sp.	Kaufmannella (Batyrinia) robu ti Leanza apturensi coronatus Z.Max. apturensi coronatus Z.Max. Platypeltoides cf. wimani (Tro Macroprga urceolata Petun. Apatokephalus kamlakensis Pe Apatokephalus kamlakensis Pe Niobella sp. miquelli Sdzuy.		Zaslav
3	29		Cordylodus lindstr lapelognatius sp. lapelognatius sp. stenuis (Muller) stenuis (Muller) comacheva et Abair et Jones) et Jones) tet Jones) Cordylodus casey Eocondontus not Semiacontiodus sp	(Batyr natus ceolati s kam guelli guelli		cystis
2	35 59		ndylo peton petog nuis () dus n achev lones rsurto rsurto rdylo prdylo prdylo cono cono	nella nella oricorc oricorc oricor orices orices chalu doides cf. m		Ageto
10	15		CC Ia Ia Ia Ia Ia Ia Ia Ia Ia Ia Ia CC C Ia Ia Ia CC C C C	ifman ifman nza typett typett harpi sotus sotus		े
9	250		 ishi Muller ishi Muller cordylodus lindstromi l gallarini (Muller) lapetonudus sp. iapetonathus sp. Phakelodus tenuis (Muller) Prooneolodus roundatus Druc Hirsutodontus cf. H. kulumbense Tolmacheva et Abaimova Hirsutodontus sp. Hirsutodontus sp. e. cordylodus casayi Dru Cordylodus pravus Mu 			
8	31 8		H. ku I. sim	is Petr		
6	12		s cf. s scf. <i>b</i>	aiens etrun Petrun Inn. Itrun. altaice arma		
5	31 22		Auller	un. un. un. eetun isus F Petru ta Petru ta Petru		
3	30		ishi Muller gallatini ((Muller) ina sp. Hispidodontus cf. Hirsutodontus cf. Hirsutodontus sp.	<i>dimins</i> Petrun. <i>lata</i> Petrun. <i>idas</i> Petrun. <i>Niobella altaiensis</i> Petrun. <i>ntracta</i> Petrun. <i>ops altaicus</i> Petrun. <i>iops altaicus</i> Petrun. <i>Caltykelina altaica</i> Petrun. <i>Raltykelina altaica</i> Petrun. <i>Niobides</i> cf. <i>armatus</i> Harr. <i>Niobides</i> cf. <i>armatus</i> Harr.		
2	34		mishi s galk Hi Hi	eximilia eximilia eximilia eximilia eximilia eximilia eximilia eximalopratica eximalopratica eximilia in eximalopratica eximilia eximal eximilia eximile eximilia eximilia eximilia eximilia eximilia eximilia exi	4 444	
1	>20		na fui aardou na sp.c na sp.c	phalti patina okept okept imove imina) sspis aspis		
6	60		Furnishina furnishi Muller Prooneotodus gallatin (Muller) Westergaardodina sp. Furnishina sp. Hispidodontus Hirsutodontus Hirsutodontus	Harpidoides eximins Petrun. Acrocephalina lata Petrun. Lusampa cupoides Petrun. Acrocephalina contracta Petrun. Acrocephalina contracta Petrun. Plethopeltides (Maximovella) improvisus Petrun. Lusampa tenuis Petrun. Plethopeltides (Maximovella) improvisus Petrun. Kaufmannella [Blexunaspis cf. repentis Petrun. Ishpella repentina Petrun. Bilacunaspis angusta Petrun. Bilacunaspis angusta Petrun. Bilacunaspis angusta Petrun. Bilacunaspis angusta Petrun.		
5	6		Provide Provid	H A.L.L.L.L.L.L.L.L.L.L.L.L.L.L.L.L.L.L.L		
4	18 6-8			• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •		
2	17 6			Ple Ishi Bilac		

Fig. 73. The end.

divided by a fault. The Upper Kamlak Subformation has a total thickness of about 1400 m and is of a Late Tremadocian age according to the faunas.

According to B.D. Erdtmann who looked through the data, some graptolite forms found in member 12 uper Kamlak Subformation and identified as *Triograptus osloensis* Monsen and *Aletograptus hyperboreus* Obut et Sob. may belong to genus *Psigraptus* Jackson. These forms are rhabdosomes buried in sandstone, and their preservation leaves unknown the intravital direction (upward or horizontal?) of branches off the sicula. On the other hand, the Altai morphs lack occluded autothecas typical of Psigraptus and thus may be transitional from the Triograptus Monsen and *Aletograptus* genera to *Psigraptus* Jackson. The graptolite assemblage from locs S-7662, S-7664, and S-7661 generally corresponds to the *osloensis - ramosus* Zone.

In the year 2007 P. Mannik collected limestone samples from the Kamlak Section. Chemical proceeding revealed conodonts (provisional identification): from the lower part of the Middle Kamlak Formation, member 9, sample N 10 and from the upper part of the Middle Kamlak Formation, member 16, sample N 9 – *Variobiliconus* sp.

The composite section of the Kamlak Formation can be correlated with the International Stratigraphic Chart on the basis of few species of conodonts and graptolites. The conodont species *Oneotodus datsonensis* Druce et Jones found in members 9 and 10 in the lower half of the Middle Kamlak Subformation is known in the Datsonian and lowermost Warendian groups of Australia that span a stratigraphic interval of the *Cordylodus proavus*, *Hirsutodontus simplex*, *Cordylodus prolindstromi* and *Cordylodus lindstromi* zones (Dubinina, 2000). One may expect to find a transitional assemblage between the *Cordylodus lindstromi* and *lapetognathus fluctivagus* zones in the Lower Middle Kamlak Subformation. The graptolite assemblage found in member 12 of the Upper Kamlak Subformation corresponds to the *osloensis-ramosus* Zone. Earlier data on trilobites from the Lower Kamlak Subformation defined its Early Tremadocian age (Ermikov et al., 1979; Petrunina et al., 1984). The present view is that the Lower Kamlak Subformation must rather correlate with the uppermost Cambrian, proceeding from the revised conodont-based age and stratigraphy of the Ordovician-Silurian boundary strata (Webby et al., 2004) and from the correlation of the Mansian and Loparian regional stages of the Siberian Platform with the Late Cambrian (Kanygin et al., 2007). The trilobite and graptolite data suggest a Late Tremadocian age of the Upper Kamlak Subformation. Thus, the Middle Kamlak Subformation may correlate with the Lower Tremadocian. The trilobite assemblage from the Middle Kamlak Subformation differs from those in both the Lower and Upper Kamlak subformations.

4.4. NORTH-WESTERN GORNY ALTAI (Anui-Chuya facies zone)

4.4.1. AREA OF UST'-KAN VILLAGE

Chakyr-Azratkan (Chakyr-Elanda) Section Chronostratigraphic subdivisions of the International Stratigraphic Scale: Katian. Regional stratigraphic subdivisions: Tekhten' Regional stage (Horizone). Local lithostratigraphic subdivisions: Tekhten' Formation. Fauna: alge, tabulate corals, stromatoporoids, trilobites, brachiopods, graptolites.

One of the studied sections crops out on the watershed ridge between the Chakyr and Elanda rivers 4.8 km (azimuth 185) from the Elanda mountain (elevation: 1663.7 m). The massive gray limestone with rare poorly preserved corals are overlain by terrigenous strata (Figs 74, 75). Two uppermost carbonate members in this section can be attributed to typical outcrops of the Chakyr beds with characteristically abundant corals.

The tabulate corals established on the Chakyr-Azratkan watershed in the upper member of platy limestone (being part of the stratotype section of the local stratigraphic unit) include: *Nyctopora altaica* Dz., *N. tchakyrensis* Dz., *Lyopora altaica* Dz., *Eofletcheria kovalevskyi* Dz., *Calapoecia baragashiensis* Dz. and *C. lebediensis* Dz.

The brachiopod assemblages Onniella cf. chancharica Severg., Sowerbyella sp. were encountered along with corals in carbonates, while graptolites Pseudoclimacograptus sp., Lincograptus sp. and Desmograptus sp., tilobites Sceptaspis cf. unica Petrun., Lonchodomas sp., Homotelus sp., Ceraurinus sp., Eorobergia cf. crassilimbata Petrun., and the brachiopods Dactylogonia subgeniculata Severg., Rostricellula sp. are reported from the under- and overlying calcareous-terrigenous rocks.

The youngest carbonate member (thickness: 80 m) is featured as a solitary ridge descending into the Azratkan valley, where at the foot of its left side limestone become massive and bear many algal structures forming separate calyptraes and their grouping both in intravitam and displaced positions (Sennikov et al., 2001; Sennikov et al., 2017).

The fauna found in the upper two members of the laminated limestone which constitute the second integral part of the stratotype of the Chakyr Beds section along the strike of the right bank of Azratkan (Elanda) Section (Fig. 76) included tabulate corals *Calapoecia lebediensis* Dz., *C. altaica* Dz., *C. anticostensis* Bill., *Eofletcheria kovalevskyi* Dz., *Billingsaria* sp., *Fletcheriella altaica* Dz., *Nyctopora asratkanensis* Dz., *N. altaica* Dz., *Nyctopora* sp., *Catenipora elandiensis* Dz. and *Eofletcheria sokolovi* Dz., heliolitids *Chaetetes tchakyrensis* Dz. (Sennikov et al., 2001). In addition to these, formerly from this composite section on the Chakyr Rv. (Dzyubo, 1960a,b, 1966; Dzyubo, Mironova, 1960; Cherepnina, 1960; Stratigraphic..., 1975) reported the tabulate *Nictoporas minimaluis* (Radugin),

Fig. 74. Sketch map of the Chakyr-Azratkan area.

Grewingkia semilunatum (Scheffen), Catenipora kuruensis Sok., Paliphyllum primarium Soshk. and rugose corals Brachielasma altaica Tcherepn. The listed tabulate genera from the Chakyr beds included (besides the above mentioned) those identified earlier Saffordophyllum Bass., Foerstephyllum Bass., Reuschia Kiaer, Fletcheriella Sok., and also heliolitids – Wormsipora Sok., Stelliporella Went., Proheliolites Kiaer (Dzyubo, 1966). In the past, this taxonomic diversity and representativeness in corals in the section once served as the basis for identification of the Chakyr Formation as a new local straton (Chakyr limestone, Chakyr beds) (Stratigraphic..., 1975; V. Sennikov, Sennikov, 1982; Sennikov et al., 2001, 2017).

_		_			v				X			1980 - 1980 - 1980 - 1980 - 1980 - 1980 - 1980 - 1980 - 1980 - 1980 - 1980 - 1980 - 1980 - 1980 - 1980 - 1980 -	H
System	Stage	Formation	Member No.	Thickness,		Lithology	Trilobites	Brachio- pods	Tabulate corals	Algae	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	S	L
an	tian	Tekhten' Tekhten'	by 16 15 11 13 12 11 10 9 8 7 6 5 4 3 2 2	>30 <u>3-5</u> 50 25		Alternating limestone bedded (0.3-0.5 m), grey and siltstone yellow, clayey-calcareous (1-5 cm) with algaes and crinoids. Limestone; grey-yellow, clayey. Limestone; black, clayey, bedded (0.2-0.3 m), fine-grained, with tabulate corals, brachiopods, crinoids. Limestone: gray, massive, fine-grained, pelitomorphic. Sodded interval. Siltstone: black, clayey with intercalates of sandstone and limestone. In the middle part of the member 2-5 cm layers of calcareous sandstone brownish, thin-flaggy, and sandy limestone. Sodded interval. Limestone: light-grey, massive, pelitomorphic, with intercalates of crinoid limestone, gray. Sodded interval. Alternating (in lower part of the member) 0,1-1,0 m, 10 m quartz-feldspar or calcareous sandstone: gray, brownish, greenish- and yellow-gray, fine-, medium-grained, and clayey siltstones: gray, black and greenish-gray. Cuartz-feldspar sandstone and silty sandstore: greenish-, snuffy-gray and gray, bedded (2-7 cm), of siltstone greenish-gray, clayey. In the lower part of the member - lenses (Sx15 cm) of limestone gray, organic. Repeated intercalation of siltstone: greenish-gray, clayey (0,2 m) with sandstone: gray, fine-grained (3-10 cm), and rare limestone: gray, dark-gray with rare 1-3 cm layers of siltstone dark-gray, (clayey, Alternating siltstone black and dark-gray (0,5 m) and sandstone gray-brownish, fine-grained, (5-10 cm). In the upper part of the member number sandstone layers reduce.	-	limella sp. ogonicum (Sev.) Aegiromena sp Gen. indet	Chaeteles chakyrensis Dz. Chaeteles chakyrensis Dz. Eollechena kovalevsky Dz. Eollechena kovalevsky Dz. Calapoecia altaca Dz. Nyctopora altaca Dz. Myctopora altace Dz. Calapoecia anticostensis Dz. Nyctopora altace Dz.	Cyanobacteria - Alg	Fig. 75. Lith ranges of fossil ta Chakyr-Azratkan Elanda) Section.	axa from the	;
			4	>5		Quartz-feldspar sandstone: gray, fine-grained, flaggy	1						

500m

574

76, 2576-1

System	Series	Stage	Formation	Member No.	Thickness,		Lithology	Trilobites	Brachiopods	Graptolites	Tabulate corals and heliolitides	Algae	Stromato- poroids
				19	80		Limestone: gray, platy. Laterally changed by massive-bedded.					Stromatolite = Cyanobacteria = edstroemia sp. =	/. Khalf. =
				18	20		Marl: yellow- and cream-brown, bedded		•		Dz. = sp. = altaica yrensis altaica hensis hiensis diensis	Stromatolite Cyanobacteria Hedstroemia sp.	sensis \
				17	20		Sandstone: brownish-gray, limy, fine-grained, fine-flaggy.	s sp. o.		sp. s sp.	altaica enipora ctopora ra tchak Lyopora ria kova baragas cia lebe	Т	1 amzas
				16	80	***	Alternating 5-15 cm layers of sandstone brown- gray, limy, fine-graines and siltstone calcareous- clayey, fine-foliated.	 Paracybeloides sp. Remopleurides sp. Calyptaulax sp. 	a Sev.	 Lincograptus sp. Desmograptus sp 	Nyctopora altaica Dz. • Nyctopora altaica Dz. • Nyctopora altaica Dz. Nyctopora altaica Dz. Eofletcheria kovalevskyi Dz. Calapoecia baragoshiansis Dz.		Clathrodictyon (?) kirgisicum amzassensis V. Khalf.
				15	60		Siltstone: dark-gray and black, clayey, foliated.	- Par Ren Cal	 Onniella cf. chancharica Sev. Sowerbyella sp. 	 Linc Des 	Ö		dictyon (?)
c				14	50	$\underset{\neq}{\overset{\psi}{\underset{\psi}{\underset{\psi}{\underset{\psi}{\underset{\psi}{\underset{\psi}{\underset{\psi}{\psi$	Sodded interval.		Onniella cf. cha Sowerbyella sp.				Clathroo
cia	-	c	en'	13	>20		Siltstone: yellow-gray, calcareous-clayey, fine-foliated.		 Onn Sow 			Gen. indet.	
rdovi	Uppe	Katia	Tekht	12	110		Limestone: gray, algal, massive, sometimes platy (0,1-0,5 m). In the upper part of the member - black limestone.					Gen	
0				11	15	$\downarrow^{\vee} \downarrow^{\vee}$	Sodded interval. Cropping rocks from members 9 and 10.						
				10	10		Sandstone: brownish, quartz-feldspar, fine and medium-grained.						
				9	5		Siltstone and mudstone: black and dark-gray, clayey.	e e		sp.		•	
				8	30		Sandstone: brownish, polymictic, mainly quartzitic, fine- and medium-grained, flaggy.	n. ta Petru	a Sev.	raptus :			
				7	40		Sandstone: dark-gray and yellow-gray, polymictic, fine-grained.	Sceptaspis cf. unica Petrun. Lonchodomas sp. Homotelus sp. Ceraurinus sp. Eorobergia cf. crassilimbata Petrun	 Dactylogonia subgeniculata Sev. Chaulistomella sp. Gen. indet. 	Pseudoclimacograptus sp.			
				6	5		Siltstone: greenish-gray and dark-gray.	unic sp.	nell.	opr			
				5	40		Sandstone: brownish-gray, polymictic, fine and medium-grained.	Sceptaspis cf. un Lonchodomas sp. Homotelus sp. Ceraurinus sp. Eorobergia cf. cra	ylogonia s Chauliston Gen. indet				
				4	10	= 1 -	Siltstone: gray, limy grading into clayey limestones.	epta motion raun.	Ctyle				
				3	8		Alternating siltstone dark-gray and sandstone yellow-gray, fine-grained, polymictic.	ECHOS S	• Da				
				2	15	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Sandstone: brownish, fine-grained, quartz-feldspar, flaggy.	1	sp.				
				1	50		Limestone: light-gray, massive.		Rostricellula				

Fig. 76. Lithology and ranges of fossil taxa from the Azratkan (Elanda) Section.

Peculiarities in facies, faunal assemblages and sedimentary environments.

Members in the Chakyr-Azratkan (Chakyr-Elanda) Section with abundant corals should be termed "coral meadows". The organogenic structures found on the left bank of the Azratkan (Elanda) Rriver are composed of calcareous blue-green algae (Cyanobacteria), which, being enveloped (wrapped) in the bacterial film, formed organic micro-structures in the form of algal crusts, irregular hemispheres (1-2 cm), isolated from each other calyptrae (micro-domes) of 3–5, rarely up to 7 cm in diameter and 1–2 cm in height composed successively layered bacterial mats covers (Fig. 77).

Cyanobacteria (calyptraes) together with corals formed coral-algae meadows, covering large areas of the bottom. Localities occupied by extensively developed cyanobacterial micro-structures are characterized by significantly lower corals density, than the areas with sparse calyptraes.

Not only cyanae "build" calyptraes on the basis of their own colonies (Luchinina, 1973), rather their activity coexisting (symbiosis) with bacteria provides the basis for the formation of organomineral structures (stromatolites). In theses structures the "capture" of sediment particles and the biomineralization of the colony mats of calcareous bluegreen filamentous algae take place along with the minerals precipitation on the surface of such tissue. Stromatolite



Fig. 77. Microbial-algae structures in limestone of the Tekhten' Formation (Chakyr-Azratkan Section). a - g - calyptraes, h - stromatolite's structure, i - calcareous algae *Hedstroemia* sp.

structures were also recorded in the studied section. Besides cyanobacteria, calcareous red algae (Rhodophyta) devoid of a bacterial membrane were found in the sections. Red algae are a characteristic element of organogenic builups (Brooke, Riding, 1998; Luchinina, Terleev, 2004). The red algae *Hedstroemia* sp. revealed among the latter was close to *Hedstroemia aequalis* Hoeg were identified in the Kozhim Rv. Section in the Urals (Chuvashov et al., 1993).

Ebogon Section

Chronostratigraphic subdivisions of the International Stratigraphic Scale: Sandbian, Katian. *Regional stratigraphic subdivisions*: Bugryshikha, Khankhara, Tekhten' regional stages (horizons). *Local lithostratigraphic subdivisions*: Bugryshikha, Khankhara, Tekhten' formations. *Zone: clingani* graptolite Zone. *Fauna*: graptolites, trilobites, brachiopods, ostracods, bryozoans, gastropods.

The section on the Ebogon and Elanda watershed was studied by several researchers (Sennikov, Vinkman, Kononov, 1959; Kononov, 1964). The area is bounded by the Ebogon and Elanda watershed and complicated by a series of small ridges.

Other groups		Crinoids ■ ■ Crinoids ■ Gastropods Bryozoans Gastropods
Trilobites	Homoleus inferus Lev. Paracybeioides sp. Encrinuroides sp. Dionide sp. Mileus sp. Mileus sp. Trinodus sp.	Loncholus architonia a fedura Homolelus siziana delata architonia fedura, Homolelus sp. – Chugaevia subita Petrun. Lonchodomis sp. – Chugaevia subita Petrun. Petrun – Sceptasia Petrun – Sceptasia fedura Petrun – Constructionia sp. – Constructionia sp. – Constructionia Petrun – Constructionia sp.
Brachiopods	Orthambonites jaboganicum Severg. Apatomorpha altaica Severg. Oniella altaica Severg. Altaeorthis uscutichevi Severg.	Dicellograptic Dicellograptic Strophomora sp Strophomora sp Apatomorpha sp Acticicalita sp Acticicalita sp Acticicalita sp Acticicalita sp Acticicalita sp Acticicalita sp Acticicalita sp Bectorhis aff. Acticical Plectorhis aff. Acticical Corparagma freeviles sp. Deconting aff. Acticical Chanistical sp Decontagma aff. Acticical Chanter sp Decontagma aff. Acticical Chanter sp
Grapto- lites	oup) = =	gs sulgengosemil) as sulgengosemil) as sulgengosemil)
Lithology	Limestone, platy, gray. Sodded interval. In crops - rocks from members 19 and 20. Siltstone clayey dark-gray and black. Sandstone fine-grained, polymictic, mainly quartz, greenish. Alternating sandstone polymictic, fine-grained, gray, silty sandstone and clayey siltstone. Sandstone sometimes significantly quartz with greenish color, especially in the upper part of the member.	Clayey limestone gray with crinoid stems (up 050 % of rock). And standstore gray imperant of the member appear brownish-gray silly sandstone. Endextone polynicitic, minh quartz, fine-grained, sillstone. Sandstone gray, in the upper 1 milayer of sillstone. Alternating sillstone yellowish- and greenish-gray of sandstone time-grained and limestone gray. Clayey sillstone dark-gray and greenish-gray in the upper part of the member rock color change in the upper part of the member rock color change big lighter and silly sandstone in the upper part of the member rock color change in the upper part of the member rock color change in the upper part of the member rock color change in the upper part of the member rock color change in the upper part of the member rock color change in the upper part of the member rock color change in the upper part of the member rock color change in the upper part of the member rock color change in the upper part of the member rock color change in the upper part of the member rock color change in the upper part of the member rock color change in the upper part of the member rock color change in the upper part of the member rock color change in the upper part of the member rock color change in the upper part of the member rock color change in the upper part of the gray. Clayey limestone gray, with boutines (3.5, cm) sandstone intestone on siltstone dark gray. Clayey siltstone gray, with helitomorphic intestone on ontice. An in the upper part of the member sandstone fine-grained gray. Clayery siltstone part of the member sandstone fine-grained gray. Clayery siltstone of gray, in the upper part of the member sandstone fine-grained gray. Clayery siltstone dark gray, with limestone induces.
\backslash		
Thickness,	24 8 23 30 22 40 21 80 20 160	3 125 8 8 8 8 8 8 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90
Member No.	24 23 21 20 20	10 17 17 17 17 17 17 17 17 17 12 12 17 12 12 17 11 11 17 12 12 17 12 12 17 12 12 17 13 13 17 12 12
əuoZ	clingani ~	
Formation	Tekhten	Bugryshikha Khankhara
Stage	Katian	nsidbns2
Series		Upper
System		Ordovician

 ${\bf Fig.~78.}$ Lithology and ranges of fossil taxa from the Ebogon Section.

The initial point of the section is located on one of these ridges, descending from the spurs (1663.7 m), 4.2 km from the elevation mark (azimuth 270°). A bed-by-bed description provided below concerns with only the topmost part of the section. The thickness of the lower part of the section totaling 525 m thick is characterized by alternation of sandstone and siltstone with rare thin (up to 1.5 m) intercalations of limestone. Given that the faulting affected the saddle on the crest, the upper part of the section is stratigraphically directed upsection and down the crest along the azimuth 250° (Fig. 78).

The section established along the ridge axis. The Katian trilobites were found 100-150 m north of the section line in the localites U-1671 µ U-1672, in the deposits corresponding to the lower half of the 7th member. In addition to the above mentioned taxa these fauna finds included trilobites *Jabogonellus* sp., *Ceraurinella* sp., *Raymondella* sp., *Isoteloides* sp., *Pharostoma* sp., and *Calyptaulax* sp., brachiopods *Chaulistomella inaquistriata* (Coop.), *Isophragma zicevillense* Coop., *Apatomorpha altaica* Severgina, *Rostricellula* sp., *Plectorthis* aff. *tensis* Coop., *Leptellina* aff. *magna* (Rukav.), *Oniella altaica* Severgina, *Altaeorthis uscutchevi* Severgina, *Sivorthis jaboganicum* (Severg.) and Katian graptolites (clingani Subzone, *quadrimucronatus* Zone) *Dicranograprus clingani* Carruthers, *Climacograptus* sp., *Glyptograptus* sp., as well as ostracods, bryozoan, gastropods and crinoids.

4.4.2. AREA OF UST'-MUTA VILLAGE

Marchetyonok Section Chronostratigraphic subdivisions of the International Stratigraphic Scale: ? Tremadocian. Regional stratigraphic subdivisions: Takoshkin and Tuloi regional stages (horizons). Local lithostratigraphic subdivisions: Marcheta Formation.

Ordovician sections of the marine genesis in the vicinity of Ust'-Muta Village occur in separate fault blocks on the left bank of the lower Marcheta River (Figs 79, 80). The section (S-012) of the Marcheta Formation (Zasur'ya Group) is located on the left bank of the Marchetyonok Brook (Marcheta left tributary), 1350 m far from its mouth, and comprises.

The section of the Marcheta Formation (S-002) crops out on the left bank of the Marcheta River (left tributary of the Muta River), 900 m far from the Marchetyonok Brook inflow. The section begins at the floodplane terrace, then follows the second ridge from the Marchetyonok value, reaches the Marcheta/Marchetyonok divide, and ends at the top of 1201.0 m mountain. It comprises siltstone, mudstone, chert (Fig. 80).

Fig. 79. Sketch map of the Marcheta area.





Fig. 80. Violet-reddish mudstone from the Marchetyonok Section.

Marcheta-1 Section

Chronostratigraphic subdivisions of the International Stratigraphic Scale: Tremadocian, Floian. Regional stratigraphic subdivisions: Tuloi and Lebed' regional stages (horizons). Local lithostratigraphic subdivisions: Marcheta Formation. Zone: proteus conodont Zone. Fauna: conodonts, radiolarians, demosponges.

Peculiarities in facies and sedimentary environments.

Member 6 of the Marcheta-1 Section composed of massive chert was formed on the mounds in the zone with underwater hydrotherms activity (?hydrothermal quartzites, ?jasperoids) (Figs 81, 82).



Fig. 81. Massive chert (?hydrothermal quartzites, ?jasperoids) from the Marcheta-1 Section (Member 6).

Marcheta-2 Section

Chronostratigraphic subdivisions of the International Stratigraphic Scale: Floian. Regional stratigraphic subdivisions: Tuloi Regional stage (Horizon). Local lithostratigraphic subdivisions: Marcheta Formation. Zone: elegans conodont Zone. Fauna: conodonts, radiolarians, demosponges.

Another section of the Marcheta Formation (S-013) (Fig. 83) crops out 300 m westward of the Marcheta-1 Section, opposite a spring on the left bank of the Marcheta River. The section begins 100 m far from the hill toe. It exposes upper strata of the Marcheta-1 Section but with slightly different lithologies and different member thicknesses.

All members, about 360 m of total thickness, belong to the Marcheta Formation.

Lithologies, especially in siliceous members, grade rapidly into one another along the strike in the three Marcheta sections: 6 m of red chert pass into red low-silica mudstone and siltstone within a distance of 30-50 m and then into gray mudstone and siltstone 50-70 m away. Color changes still more rapidly from red or lilac to sea-green, gray, darc olive, ets. Loaf-shaped concretions and traces of clay flowage found in the Marchetyonok Section and syndepositional breccia in the Marcheta-2 Section are typical of slope facies. Taking into account the marine origin of the Zasur'ya sediments, one may assume that the Marchetyonok Section formed on a seamount slope and the Marcheta-1 and Marcheta-2 sections were deposited on the sea floor in a vicinity of such a slope.

Peculiarities in facies, faunal assemblages and sedimentary environments.

The lithofacies characteristics and low formation rate of the Zasur'ya Group (including the Marcheta Formation) (Sennikov et al., 2002, 2003, 2004; 2011b) suggest that these rocks formed in an oceanic environment (below the CCCD – Calcium Carbonate Compensation Depth) at depths corresponding to 4000–5000 m in the present-day oceans.

System	Series	Stage	Formation	Zone	Member No.	Thickness,	Lithology	Radiolarians	Conodonts	Siliceous sponge spicules
Ordovician System	Lower Series	Tremadocian Floian Stage	Marcheta		35 34 33 32 31 30 29 28 27 26 25 24 23 22 21 20 19 18 17 16 15 14 13 12 11 10 9	50 2 30 10 30 1.5 35 15 10 8 5 110 8 5 110 117 32 8 0,7 34 5 60 3 20 4 8 20 4 8 20 5	Lithology Mudstone: dark olive-green clayey. Mudstone: reddish-gray siliceous-argillaceous. Sandstone: green and dirty gray silty sandstone grading upward into siltstone and then to member 32. Sandstone: green or dirty gray, poorly sorted, fine massive, of uncertain bedding. Siltstone: lilac, clayey. Sandstone: green, poorly sorted, fine. Mudstone: drark olive-gray, clayey. Siltstone: dirty gray, clayey. Siltstone: light-green, clayey. Siltstone: light-green, clayey. Mudstone: gray or dark olive-gray, clayey. Mudstone: dark red, argillaceous and siliceous-argillaceous. Shitstone: bright green, siliceous-argillaceous. Chert (possibly, hornfelsed): red or locally yellowish, with radiolarians and siliceous sponge spicules. Mudstone: green, clayey. Siltstone: silty sandstone: bright green. Rocks similar to those in member 11, with gray-green or sea-green hues in upper layers. Mudstone: dark olive-green, clayey. Mudstone: dark olive-green, clayey. Mudstone: dark olive-green, clayey. Mudstone: dark olive-green, clayey. Mudstone: green, clayey. Siltstone: similar to those in member 11, with sporadic 1-3 cm long lenses of green clayey siltstone. Mudstone: dark olive-green, clayey. Mudstone: lac with gray hue, clayey, with small lenses of gray chert. Mudstone: lilac with gray hue, clayey, with small lenses of gray chert. Mudstone: lilac with gray hue, clayey, with small lenses of gray chert. Mudstone: lilac with gray hue. Mudstone: sea-green, qlayey, unmpy, and sandstone, fine Sandstone, locally gravelstone: greenish-gray, coarse Mudstone: lilac with gray hue. Mudstone: sea-green, qlayey, unmpy, and sandstone, fine Sandstone, locally gravelstone: greenish-gray, coarse Mudstone: sea-green, qlayey, unmpy, and sandstone, fine Sandstone, locally gravelstone: greenish-gray, coa	Gen. et sp.indet. ••- • Radiolarians	 Paracordylodus graciis Lindstrom Parostodus or acciis Lindstrom Oistodus st. proteus (Lindstrom) Cornuodus longibasis Lindstrom Acontiodus sp. Dreotodus sp. 	Gen. et sp.indet. •• Spliceous sponge spicules
					3 2 1	10 25 70				

Fig. 82. Lithology and ranges of fossil taxa from the Marcheta-1 Section.

Considering the possibly great CCCD in the Paleozoic, the first estimate of the paleobasin depth in the Altai segment of the Paleoasian Ocean equals 1500–2000 m. Such depths, shallow on the ocean scale, are indirectly confirmed by the dominance of volcanic rock samples with the characteristics of paleoceanic uplift basalts. For bioindicator control of this value, let us analyze the taxonomic diversity of the faunal fossil assemblages in the Zasur'ya Group, the density of taphocoenosis, their morphologic complexity and skeleton preservation. Apart from the above-mentioned conodonts, the Zasur'ya Group chert contains radiolarians and sponge spicules. Microfossils have not been found in the white, gray, or green chert. Siliceous sponges spicules are relatively rare in the Zasur'ya Group chert and do not form large accumulations; therefore, most of these chert is radiolarite, not spongolite radiolarite. Most of the faunal fossils are associated with the red chert; a smaller proportion, with the brown-red and lilac ones. The terrigenous rocks

System	Series	Stage	Formation	Zone	Member No.	Thickness,		Lithology	Radiolarians	Conodonts	Siliceous sponge spicules			
					12	3		Mudstone: lilac, clayey, wavy-bedded, lumpy.						
				ans	11	70	9	Randomly interbedded fine sandstone, siltstone, and mudstone, greenish-gray to dirty dark olive-gray; a 2-m lens of lilac clayey mudstone in upper layers shows 1-3 mm banding and isometric 1-2 cm patches.						
				elegans	10	60		Mudstone, massive, and siltstone, greenish-gray or dirty gray, with sporadic nodules of greenish-gray fine sandstone.						
c					9 12	12	Ø	Mudstone: lilac or green-gray, massive, lumpy; rocks change color rapidly both laterally and upwards: within 30 m along strike they pass into lilac-red clayey mudstone with siliceous nodules; a lens of red chert, 2-3 m long and 2-3 m thick.	idet. =	sp. = sp. = sp. =	det. =			
(U)	-	c	eta		8	5	333333	= = = = = Mudstone: greenish-gray, clayey, massive.						
rdovici	Lowe	Floian	arch		8	12	~~~~~	Mudstone: red-lilac or red-lilac-gray, clayey, of uncertain bedding, with round nodules of more siliceous rocks; rocks at 8 m above member base show weakly undulate 2 cm banding.	Gen. et sp.indet.	Juanognathus (?) sp. Paroistodus cf. paralellus (Pander) Paroistodus sp. Drepanoistodus sp.	Gen. et sp.indet.			
0			M		6	10		Mudstone: lilac or gray, clayey, lumpy; colors are randomly distributed and change rapidly from lilac to gray both laterally and upwards.						
					5	3		Syndepositional breccias in a matrix of dark olive-gray mudstone, with 1-3 cm clasts (occasionally 5-7 cm) of lilac, gray, or reddich mudstone more siliceous than the matrix; clasts often consist of thinly (3-5 mm) interbedded lilac and gray rocks. Clasts occasionally occupy up to 50 % of rock volume, but become progressively less abundant up the layer.		Paroistod				
					4	6		Sandstone: greenish-gray (to sea-green), fine.						
					3	9		Mudstone: silver-gray, clayey.						
					2	17		Mudstone: variegated, lumpy; rocks are mainly of dirty gray and dark colors; lilac and dirty lilac rocks occur in bedding-parallel lenses (patches) with either diffuse or sharp boundaries, looking like clasts (up to 20 cm); there are also <3 cm patches (clasts?) of red, bright lilac or green rocks; very thin bedding of 0.5 mm occurs occasionally.						
					1	150		Mudstone: plae dark olive-gray, clayey, massive.						

Fig. 83. Lithology and ranges of fossil taxa from the Marcheta-2 Section.

of the studied stratigraphic unit contain neither benthic nor pelagic fossils. The absence of benthos (except siliceous sponges) or widespread planktonic organisms such as graptolites and chitinozoans suggests that the paleobasin was fairly deep during the formation of the siliceous sediments of the Zasur'ya Group. The radiolarian taxonomic diversity in the Zasur'ya Group is low (several species within two genera in the open nomenclature); the morphology is simple; taphocoenosis density is low to medium (>10 to 10-100 specimens/cm2 of the rock thin section or chip); the skeleton preservation is >10 % to 10-25%. The conodont fragments in the Zasur'ya Group show medium preservation; their taxonomic diversity in various zonal time-stratigraphic units is estimated as medium (3–5 species within 2–3 genera); the taphocoenosis density, as high (up to 10 specimens/locality). Considering the data on present-day basins, the high taxonomic diversity of radiolarians in the Zasur'ya Group may suggest that their communities lived in the lower part of the cool-water zone (200-500 m) and in the cold-water zone (500-5000 m). In the Charysh succession, their taphocoenosis are of medium density; in the other successions, a low density. This suggests that the upper distribution limit of the radiolarians is 200–300 m in the Charysh succession and over 300–500 m in the other successions. The poor and very poor skeleton preservation of the studied radiolarian assemblage suggests that the dead radiolarians covered considerable distances (300-700 m and more) before reaching the paleobasin bottom. Although the calculations are arbitrary, it is estimated on the basis of bioindicators that the Zasur'ya Group formed at depths of 500-1000 m in the Charysh area and at depths of 700-1200 m in the other areas. This is shallower than the first estimated depth of the paleoceanic rises in the Altai segment of the Paleoasian Ocean (1500-2000 m).

Tekhten' Section

Chronostratigraphic subdivisions of the International Stratigraphic Scale: Katian, Hirnantian, Rhuddanian, Aeronian.

Regional stratigraphic subdivisions: Tekhten', Listvyanka, Vtorye Utyosy and Syrovaty regional stages (horizons).

Local lithostratigraphic subdivisions: Tekhten', Vtorye Utyosy, Syrovaty formations. *Fauna*: tabulate corals, rugose corals, trilobites, brachiopods, crinoids, graptolites.

The stratotype section of the Upper Ordovician Tekhten' Formation (Tekhten' Regional Stage) and the overlying Lower Silurian Vtorye Utyosy Formation is located on the right bank of the Tekhten' Brook, the right tributary of the Muta River, near Ust'-Muta Village (Fig. 84). The formation, in a much smaller stratigraphic volume, was formerly named the Dietken Formation according to Dietken, wrong respelling of an Altai name used in topographic maps. The documented section begins on the right side of a small ravine, 400 m from point 1181.0 m at azimuth 210°. The main section rises from the hill toe to point 1181.0 m and continues to the top at 1451.0 m. Members 1 and 2 and lower

Member 3 crop out 200 m to the north of the section origin where the section begins with Member 3 (Figs 85, 86).

The section continues as far as the Muta/Anui river divide and then along the left side of the Surta Ravine (left bank of the Anui River near Bely Anui Village) as exposed alternating sandy-silty rocks with rare limestone layers containing rather representative Llandoverian corals and brachiopods.

Some members of the section are clearly traceable



Fig. 84. Sketch map of the Ust'-Muta Village area.



Fig. 85. General view of the Tekhten' Section (middle part).

Graptolites					ds eu ds sr	tqrangollagrapti Koremograpti Dictyonen							
Trilobites	Lenatoechia cf. elegans (Nikiforova) – Acemaspis (Eskaspis) superciliexcelsis Howells – Acemaspis (Escaspis) becsciensis Lesp. et Leten – Acemaspis (Escaspis) xynon Howells – Podowrinella cf. striatonensis Clarks et al – Warburgenellinae –												
spoc	Rafinesquina cf. pseudoloricata (Barr.) = Lenatoechia (?) sp. =												
Brachiopods	Catazyga anuensis Sev. = Leptaena Shima Walm. et Boucot Rostricellula burdurinica Rozm. = Leptaena Ci. haerdordensis Banct. Rostricellula sparsa asiatica Rozm. = Ecospirigerina (?) sp. Catazyga inensis Sev. = Ecospirigerina (?) sp.												
Rugose corals		 Parabrachielasma lebediensis Tcherepn. Parabrachielasma lebediensis Tcherepn. Brachielasma cf. alfaica Tcherepn. Grewingkia altaica (Tcherepn.) Grewingkia altaica (Tcherepn.) Grewingkia altaica (Tcherepn.) Ditoecholasma sp. Microplasma sp. Microplasma sp. 							ct. le	emseləiriser QniwərƏ	Parab		
Tabulate corals	Cyrthophyllum kaniensis Diubo Cyrthophyllum kaniensis Diubo Cyrthophyllum kaniensis Diubo Cyrthophyllum kaniensis Diubo Plasmoporella kiaeri Sokolov Plasmoporella kiaeri Sokolov Cyrtophyllum sp. Cyrtophyllum sp. Cyrtophyllum sp. Cyrtophyllum sp. Plasmoporella kiaeri Sokolov Plasmoporella kiaeri Sokolova kiaeri Plasmoporella kiaeri Sokolov Plasmoporella kiaeri Sokolova kieri Sokolov Plasmoporella kiaeri Sokolova kieri Sokolova spiala kieri Plasmoporella kieri Plasmoporella kieri Sokolova spiala Plasmoporella kieri Plasmoporella kier												
		00	bo bo bo	luizC snei sisne	ənser Ysym Sisne	Catenipora dietke Cyrthophyllum sa Cyrthophyllum sa		s .nəlsG siznəviəib 		otovN =			
Lithology	Interbedded (0.3-0.5 m) clayey siltstone and fine limy sandstone, greenish-gray, member lower half contains Early Silurian brachiopods ; upper half of the member encloses gray limestone layers varying on strike from 5 to 10 m thick. The limestone contains a layer replete with fossils: numerous Silurian rugose corals .	Sandstone: dirty yellow or pale lilac, rather quartz, polymictic, fine, occasionally with layers of dirty green clayey siltstone.	Coarse clastic rocks, in three units: (i) lower 5 m of reddish-gray fine conglomerate (with quartz, limestone, suitstone, and sandstone pebble), (ii) middle 5 m of gravelstone, and (ii) upper 5 m of coarse polymictic rather quartz sandstone.	Sodded interval. Siltstone: light grav, highly calcareous.	Sandstone: dirty yellow, highly calcareous, polymictic, fine, with up to 30 cm thick layers of calcareous siltstone in the middle which locally grades on strike into clayey limestone.	Sandstone: light gray or reddish-brown, quartz, medium and coarse.	Siltstone: greenish, calcareous.	Interbedded gray, yellowish-gray or greenish-gray clayey siltstone and fine polymictic limy aandstone, with a 5-m thick layer of black siltstone and layers of quartz sandstone nearby, at member base; in most of middle layers, polymictic sandstone gives way to quartz sandstone layers grandstone layers perchaining pebble and gravel; gravel is locally abundant enough for the rock to be classified as gravelstone.	Limestone: black, eluvial.	Limestone: gray, slightly clayey, massive, containing 0.3 x 1.0 algal-biohermal buildups.	Limestone: black, pelitic. Interbedded siltstone and silty sandstone, dark olive-gray.		
			0,0,0,0 0,0,0,0 0,0,0,0 0,0,0,0 0,0,0,0 0,0,0,0 0,0,0,0 0,0,0,0 0,0,0,0 0,0,0,0 0,0,0,0,0 0,				55555						
Thickness, m	>80	5 15 80 · ·			30	120	15	120	>30	80	40 >15		
Member No.	14	13	12 12 13			ø	~	1 2 3 4 /					
Formation	Syrovaty	ve Utyosy		- 1			,	Текћтеп	1. ~	N.			
Series Stage	nsinon9Ay.	neinebbu	чЫ	4	чв	J∋pgU ∪pper	Ļ	u 8	its	к			
System					U	Indovicial	0						
S							5						

Fig. 86. Lithology and ranges of fossil taxa from the Tekhten' Section.

southeastwards and northwestwards providing additional faunal evidence. For instance, black flaggy limestone, an equivalent of Member 2 on the right side of the upper Shiroky Ravine (a small ravine across the right Tekhten' watershed), 470 m far from point 1251.0 m at azimuth 35° (loc. 2040, 2041) contains Late Ordovician rugose corals *Grewingkia altaica* (Tcherepn.), *Parabrachielasma lebediensis* Tcherepn., *Ditoecholasma kanica* (Tcherepn.), tabulate corals *Cyrtophyllum kaninensis* Dziubo, *C. samyshiensis* Dziubo. Equivalent of Member 10 on the southern slope of point 1402.0 m, (loc. 142) trilobites *Acernaspis* (*Eskaspis*) *superciliexcelsis* Howells, *Acer.* (*Escaspis*) *becsciensis* Lesp. et Leten., *Podowrinella* cf. *striatonensis* Clarks et al., Warburgenellinae, (loc. 2039) trilobites *Acernaspis* (*Eskaspis*) *superciliexcelsis* Howells, *Acer.* (*Escaspis*) *warburgenellinae*, trilobites *Acernaspis* (*Eskaspis*) *superciliexcelsis* Howells, *Acer.* (*Escaspis*) *superciliexcelsis* Howells, *Acer.* (*Escaspis*) *superciliexcelsis* Howells, *Barcr.*, *Atrypa* (?) *lindstromi* Wenjuk., *Eospirigerina* (?) sp., rugose corals *Cyathactis* sp., *Holophragma* sp., as well as dendroid graptolites were collected.

Members 1 through 9 belong to the Tekhten' Formation, Members 10 through 13 belong to the Vtorye Utyosy Formation, and Member 14 belongs to the Syrovaty Formation. The thickness of the Tekhten' Formation in the section is about 470 m, the Vtorye Utyosy Formation is 115 m thick, and the incomplete thickness of the Syrovaty Formation is over 80 m.

Muta Section

Chronostratigraphic subdivisions of the International Stratigraphic Scale: Katian, Hirnantian.
Regional stratigraphic subdivisions: Tekhten' Regional stage (Horizon).
Local lithostratigraphic subdivisions: Tekhten' Formation.
Zone: supernus graptolite Zone.
Fauna: stromatoporoids, tabulate corals, rugose corals, trilobites, crinoids, graptolites.

A sequence of lithologies different from the Tekhten'-type Section of the same Upper Ordovician age occurs 3 km to the west of the Tekhten' Brook. The section esposed at the Muta site orginates 2.5 km uphill from Ust'-Muta Village on the side of a ravine that crosses the Muta left watershed (Figs 87, 88).

Peculiarities in facies, faunal assemblages and sedimentary environments.

Carbonate members in the Marcheta Section are interpreted as uplifted reef structures. They belong to the central parts of reef uplifts.



Fig. 87. General view of the Muta Section (upper part).



Fig. 88. Lithology and ranges of fossil taxa from the Muta Section.

4.5. WESTERN GORNY ALTAI (Charysh–Inya facies zone)

4.5.1. AREA OF UST'-CHAGYRKA VILLAGE

Barany-1 Section

Chronostratigraphic subdivisions of the International Stratigraphic Scale: ? Tremadocian, Floian, Dapingian, Lower Darriwilian.

Regional stratigraphic subdivisions: Takoshkin, Tuloi (=Lebed'), Kuibyshevo and Kostinsky regional stages (horizons).

Local lithostratigraphic subdivisions: Suetka, Voskresenka and Bugryshikha formations.

Fauna: conodonts, trilobites, brachiopods, gastropods, chitinozoans.

The Voskresenka Formation in the vicinity of Ust'-Chagyrka Village crops out along the Barany, Voskresenka, and Tachalov brooks, the left tributaries of the Chagyrka River (Figs 89, 90). An outcrop on the right side of the Barany



Fig. 90. Sketch map of the Barany area.



Fig. 91. General view of the exposure of the Barany-1 and Barany-2 sections.

System	Series	Stage	Formation	Member No.	Thickness,		Lithology	100000	achio- ods	Trilobites	Conodonts	Other groups			
				8	>5	0 ¥ 0 ¥ 0	Sodded interval; talus bears fine conglomerate of light gray (to 80 %) well rounded pebble and dark gray (to 20 %) quartzite.								
	Middle	Darriwilian	Bugryshikha	7	90	$\begin{array}{c} + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +$	Sodded interval; talus bears rare clasts of greenish-gray and yellowish-gray siltstone.	Archaoorthis altaina Cau	ulacolullo allaloa Oov.						
an				6	8	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Limestone: gray and dark gray, sandy, laminated, flaggy.	- 40			Anna agli sp.				
Ordovici	-?-	-> Dapingian	ta.	5	205	***	Siltstone: greenish-gray and yellowish-gray, sandy, laminated, flaggy.		 Plectocamara costata Coop. Atelelasma batunensis Sev. Idiostophia costata Ulr. et Coop. 	Is sp. Ceraurinella frequiens Tchug. Ecrobergia bipunctata Tchug. Pilomerullus amplissimus Petrun. sp.n. Kolymella plana (Tchug.) Pilomerops parasiensis Petrun. sp.n. Bathyurellus nomutus Tchug. Glaphurus altaicus Web. Eccoptochile tchagyrica Petrun. sp.n.	Acodus eletsicus Tolm Naimanodus eletsicus Tolm Triangulous larapnitinensis (Crespin) Trangshanodus atarapnitinensis An Trangshanodus tarapit (An et Ding Protopanderodus str Parapanderodus striatus (Graves et Ellisson Uanografus jaanussoni Serpadi Penodon cf. P. falbellum (Lindstrom Drepanoistodus subrectus (Br.et M. Panderodus subrectus (Br.et M.	olites =			
			enk	4	2		Sandstone: limy, grading along strike into sandy limestone.	oop.	Plecti Atele stoph	Cerau Eorob K A Sathyu G Chile t	Naii Iodus ngsha ngsha ngsha ngsha anoist anoist Pa	Graptolites			
	ver	u	res	res	e	e	3	3 25		Siltstone: yellowish greenish-gray, flaggy.	costata Ulr. et Coop nia sp.	idet. Idio	s sp. = (l liomerull Pliomeru Eccopto	Ac Naimano Triangulodus larano Trangshanodu iemiacontiodus ? mufush Parapanderodus striatus Periodon ct. P. t Drepanoistodus Panden	
	Low	Floian	Vosk	2	5	· · · 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	Sandstone: quartzitic, coarse, grading along strike into gravelstone and fine conglomerate.	costata hia sp.	Gen. et sp. indet.	Illaenus sp. Pliom Plio	Semiac Parap				
				1	40		Siltstone: green, massive, with scarce floating sandstone pebble; green siltstone gives way along strike (right side of the Tachalov Brook) to lilac-red, violet, green, and yellowish-gray siltstone with lenses and thin layers of medium to boulder conglomerate with pebbles mostly of Gorny Altai Group rocks or sporadically fine red quartzite; calareous siltstone.	 Idiostophia cf. costat Idiostophia sp. 	Gen.						

Fig. 92. Lithology and ranges of fossil taxa from the Barany-1 Section.

The member top is truncated by a fault. The total thickness of the section is about 380 m.

Members 1 through 6 belong to the Voskresenka Formation and members 7 and 8 belong to the overlying Bugryshikha Formation. The Voskresenka Formation in the Barany Section is 285 m thick and the Bugryshikha Formation is 95 m (incomplete thickness).

Gastropods and crinoids were collected from sandy limestone equivalent to member 4 on the right side of the Tachalov Brook (loc. S-7736) and gastropods were found on the right side of the Voskresenka Brook (loc. S-7726). Chitinozoans extracted by acid dissolution of rocks were identified as *Desmochitina minor* Eisenack and *Desmochitina* sp. at loc. S-7726 and *Desmochitina rhenana* Eisenack and *Conochitina* sp. at loc. S-7736. These species indicate an Ordovician age of the host sediment (most likely Tremadocian-Darriwilian, judging by their distribution in the Gorny Altai). Gastropods from S-7726 identified as *Temnodicus* sp. are similar, according to V.I. Byaly, to the *Temnodiscus* sp. known from the variegated member of the Lugovoi Formation in the Biryusa River catchment (Siberian craton) correlated with the Nyaya regional stage (Early Tremadocian). Thus, the fauna-bearing sandy limestone can be conventionally assigned a Tremadocian age.

Voskresenka-1 Section

Chronostratigraphic subdivisions of the International Stratigraphic Scale: Darriwilian, Sandbian, Katian, Hirnantian.

Regional stratigraphic subdivisions: Bugryshikha, Khankhara and Tekhten' regional stages (horizons).

Local lithostratigraphic subdivisions: Bugryshikha, Khankhara and Tekhten' formations.

Zones: coelatus, teretiusculus, serratulus, multidens graptolite zones.

Fauna: tabulate corals, trilobites, brachiopods, ostracods, crinoids, bryozoans, gastropods, graptolites, polychaets, siliceous sponges, conodonts.

The most complete and stratigraphically continuous Ordovician section crops out of near Ust'-Chagyrka Village, in the Tachalov/Voskresenka brook divide (Fig. 93), 200 m from 530.3 m mountain at azimuth 15° and on northeastward down the divide. The rocks show monoclinal bedding to a dip of 75–80°. The section (S-78115) consists of (Fig. 94):

Members 1 through 10 in S-78115 belong to the Bugryshikha Formation, members 11 through 14 belong to the Khankhara Formation, and members 15 through 17 belong to the Tekhten' Formation. Thus, the Bugryshikha Formation in the Voskresenka-1 Section totals a thickness of about 140 m, the Khankhara Formation is more than 60 m thick, and the Tekhten' Formation is over 115 m.

The S-78115 section includes the graptolite zones: *coelatus* (lower half of member 6), *teretiusculus* (upper half of member 6 and lower half of member 7), *serratulus* (upper half of member 7), and *multidens* (member 8).



Fig. 93. Sketch map of the Voskresenka-Thachalov area.

Other groups	= səjn	oids aɓuods sr	Siliceoi	sposenso	= S	rinoid bionid	eteludeT O							
0 PB	 Radiolarians Conodonts 	-		sueozo/u	В		Gastropods		etnoboceloo2 =					
Graptolites	 Dicellograptus off. morfatensis Carruthers Dicellograptus oreisius (Lapworth) Amplexograptus triconis insectiformis Ruedemann Giossograptus triconis insectiformis Ruedemann Amplexograptus sp. Pseudoclimacograptus triconis (Carruthers) Cryptograptus sp. Cryptograptus s													
Trilobites		•	Lonchodomas (Foliopyge) dt. tardus Petrun. Lonchodomas dt. tonskriensis ep. Enchnudes sp. Pilomeros sp. (Nileus sp. Nileus sp.											
Brachio- pods	aicus Sev. Iesseensis Ulr. et Coop. Jrayae sibirica Sev.	ctorthis aff. alt. otellina cf. tenn optambonites g sperorthis sp.	ΘΗ = u∀ = lθ7 =		='d	s enil rsoR e rsoR e	itkif) sisneen Skenidioide Smgendqosi Stevosien Stevosie	siyµoJødsø,						
Lithology	Limestone: gray or dark gray, massive, with crinoids. Silicite (chert): greenish-yellow or greenish-gray, massive, locally thinly banded (1-3 cm); with well or quite well preserved radiolarians, siliceous sponge spicules, and conodonts.	of clayery sillstone, with graptolite fight sandstone and clayery sillston	Mudstone, clayey, and siltstone, dark gray or greenish-gray; with graptolites (8 meter above member base).	Siltstone: black, clayey, strongly foliated.		Clayey mudstone and siltstone, gray or greenish-gray, with brachlopods (1 m above member base). Sandstone: dirty brown, fine to medium; with brachlopods (5 and 18 meters above member base).	 Siltstone: pale yellowish-green or gray, clayey, strongly foliated; with graptolites (1 m above member base). 	 Silistone: black or locally gray, clayey, with uneven shear surfaces; with graptolites (4 m meter above member base). 	Interbedded fine clayey sandstone and siltstone, yellowish-gray or greenish-gray, with graptolites (2 m above member base).	 Sandstone: dirty yellow, rather quartz, medium and coarse, clayey-carbonate cement. Sandstone: dirty yellow, rather quartz, medium and coarse, clayey cement. Sandstone: dirty yellow, rather quartz, medium and coarse, with well rounded floating quartz and quartzite pebble of 5.5 in diameter; silicous/clayey coment. Connonmerate: hord 3.5 in diameter; silicous/clayey coment. 	of 1-3 cm to 5-7 cm in diameter Sittstone, dirty yellow and greenis with fine polymictic sandstone, w			
Thickness,		90	22	16	2	4,5	3	18	52	10	>10			
Member No.	State of the second	15 15 14 1	13	12		9 6	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	7	9		7 4			
əuoZ									coelatus teretiusc					
Formation	Tekhten'	Contraction of the local diversion of the loc	ankhar	and the party of the local data				Ashik!						
	nsitnantil nsit	кя					3		nsilliwir	leQ				
Darriwillian Sandbian Katian Himantian Stage														

Fig. 94. Lithology and ranges of fossil taxa from the Voskresenka-1 Section.

Tachalov Section

Chronostratigraphic subdivisions of the International Stratigraphic Scale: Katian, Hirnantian. *Regional stratigraphic subdivisions*: Khankhara and Tekhten' regional stages (horizons). *Local lithostratigraphic subdivisions*: Khankhara and Tekhten' formations.

Zones: bicornis and supernus (lower supernus, middle ornatus and upper pacificus subzones) graptolite zones and A. ordovicicus conodont Zone.

Fauna: tabulate corals, brachiopods, graptolites, polychaetes, conodonts, radiolarians, and chitinozoans.

The section occurs on the left side of the Tachalov Brook, left tributary of the Chagyrka River, near Ust'-Chagyrka Village where equivalents of the upper Voskresenka-1 Section (members 15 through 17) are exposed, namely (Figs 95–97):

Basal member 1a of the section belongs to the Khankhara Formation and members 1b through 3 belong to the Tekhten' Formation. The latter has an incomplete thickness of 130 m in the section.

The section includes *bicornis* and *supernus* (with lower *supernus*, middle *ornatus* and upper *pacificus* subzones) graptolite zones and *A. ordovicicus* conodont Zone.

Peculiarities in facies, faunal assemblages and sedimentary environments.

The chert in the Tachalov Section and especially Voskresenka and Barany-2 sections is often banded and variously colored (owing to the codeposition of silica with metal hydroxides); this may suggest absent agitation of near-bottom water, which is enriched in silica, including biogenic silica. Consequently, such chert formed in basin bottom depressions in relative isolation not only from wave action (depths over 50-100 m) but also from nearbottom currents. In the Tachalov Section, the siliceous rocks (radiolarites) are underlain by wellsorted fine-grained sandstone interbedded with siltstone unaffected by wave action. Lenses of fine detrital limestone reflect the transport of bioclastic matter by near-bottom currents and its accumulation in microdepressions at the basin bottom. The sandstone and siltstone contain only pelagic fauna (graptolites,



Fig. 95. Sketch map of the Tachalov area.



Fig. 96. General view of the Tachalov Section.
stnob			■ .qs sətinilus¶							
Scoleco-			Gen. et sp. indet. 🔳							
Brachio- pods	= (ə6eve (?) sp. =	sgsV sisn∋	Brevolamnuella aff. thebes							
Ostracods	.		Gen. et sp. indet. ■							
Tabulate corals		l əenemə İnetradi	how eroqinəteƏ derlЯ							
Chitino- zoans			 microscantha Eisenack ontariensis Jansonius 							
Graptolites	 Orthograptus ex gr. quadrimucronatus (Hall) Climacograptus ex gr. bicomis (Hall) Climacograptus ex gr. bicomis (Hall) Climacograptus sp. Paraorthograptus specificus (Ruedem.) Appendispinograptus = Sennikov Paraorthograptus et Wood) Dicellograptus ormatus more frastatus sp. Dicellograptus posterus Koren' et Milth. 									
Conodonts			Acodus similaris Rhodes bolodus triangularis Br. et M. Belodus triangularis Br. et M. Belodina sp. Drepandus sp. rdella (?) diminuta (Rhodes) dus intermedius (Br., M. et Br.) odus cf. inicostatus (Br. et M.) M. et M. et M.) Br. et M. et M.	godqromA gddiH or9bngq n9bngq						
dio- ans		■ (.I8 f	Borisella subulata (Web. e Borisella subulata (Web. e Entactiniidae gen. et sp. i	.,						
Radio- larians	Secuicollacta ornata G., U. et I. = S. sceptri McDonald = Kalimnasphaera cf. maculosa Web. et BI. =									
Lithology	Limestone: gray or light gray, massive.	Silicite (chert): greenish-gray, dirty gray, or purple; less often lilac-red mudstone; with well preserved radiolarians in gray and greenish-gray siliceous mudstone.	Sandstone: dirty yellowish-gray, rather quartz, fine, with layers of siltstone and 5-10 cm thick and up to 10 m long lenses of detrital limestone; member contains graptolites (first meter above member base).	Sitty sandstone and sandstone, rather quartz, fine, greenish to dark olive-gray; with bicornis zone graptolites (first meter above member base).						
	┦┥┝╿		A							
		5, 5, 5,	Ψ	Eisisis						
Member No. Thickness, m	0 - 40 0	2 15	1b 75	1a 15						
Sone	~		- pacificus	leinnosid						
Formation	· · ·	'n 91		Khankhar						
Stage	nsitnsn									
Series			1 9 q q U							
System		uı	ordovicia							

Fig. 97. Lithology and ranges of fossil taxa from the Tachalov Section.

chitinozoans), and the limestone lenses contain pelagic conodonts (A. ordovicicus Zone), benthic ostracods, and polychaetes. Conodont assemblages from the chert and limestone are very close in their taxonomic composition. The conodont fragments in the Tachalov Section show medium preservation, high taxonomic diversity, and medium taphocoenosis density (10–100 specimens/locality). In the studied successions of the upper Tekhten' Formation in the Tachalov-Voskresenka area, the siliceous rocks (radiolarites) are immediately overlain by unstratified gray limestone. Outcrops of such carbonates are rounded in plan and lenticular in section; the lenticular shape is traced for a distance of 10–20 m (Barany-2 Section) to 100-150 m (Voskresenka and Tachalov sections). The massive outcrops of these carbonate units suggest that such limestone may be of extremely shallow-water algal-bioherm origin. Such proximity between the chert and limestone poses a question: either the chert with radiolarians (radiolarites) are not of deep-water origin or the limestone are not of shallow-water origin (200 meters and more) and do not have an allochthonous-bioherm character. The uncertain genesis of the chert and carbonate rock units suggested that a 200-250 m rapid regression (a local uplift of the basin bottom or a general sea level fall) had occurred before the chert stopped accumulating and the carbonates started to form. According to the global data and numerous reconstructions of T-R cycles, the World Ocean level fell abruptly by 80-100 m in the late Ordovician owing to the global glaciation (Brenchley, 2004; Haq and Schutter, 2008; Nielsen, 2004). No local orogeny which could have led to a large-scale bottom uplift in the Late Ordovician Altai basin was observed (Sennikov, 2006a, b). All this casts doubt upon the shallow-water origin of the carbonate sediments in the upper Tekhten' Formation in the Tachalov - Voskresenka area. Such massive gray organic-clastic limestone in the upper units of the Tachalov and Voskresenka sections, where poorly sorted bioclasts are embedded in a micritic groundmass and 30-80 % of the volume is accounted for by crinoidal and stromatoporoid(?) fragments as well as ostracod and brachiopod fragments and shells, should be assigned to bioclastic

wackestone-packstones (Varaksina and Sennikov, 2006). The above allochthonous wackestone-packstones with a large amount of micritic groundmass might have formed in large depressions at a considerable distance from shallow-water areas with autochthonous carbonate accumulation. In general, the carbonates crowning the Tachalov, Voskresenka, and Barany-2 sections might have formed in local closed depressions with respect to the relatively deepwater parts of the shelf (150–300 m). The chert in the Tachalov – Voskresenka and Barany-2 sections contain rich radiolarian assemblages (5–6 species within four genera), forming medium- and high-density taphocoenosis (10–100 and over 100 specimens/cm² of the rock thin section or chip). With the modern parameters for estimating the depths of warm-water radiolarian preservation in the chert of the Tachalov Section (75–100 %) and the good radiolarian preservation in the chert of the radiolarian skeletons almost immediately reached the paleobasin bottom, without intense dissolution, and only in the sediment they dissolved very slightly. The above data suggest that the cherts (radiolarites) in the Tachalov and Barany-2 sections accumulated at depths of ~250–300 m.

Voskresenka-2 Section

Chronostratigraphic subdivisions of the International stratigraphic scale: Katian. Regional stratigraphic subdivisions: Khankhara Regional stage (Horizon). Local lithostratigraphic subdivisions: Khankhara Formation. Zones: caudatus graptolite Zone. Fauna: graptolites.

Dirty yellow-gray fine sandstone of member 1 in the Tachalov Section extend along strike to the right side of the Voskresenka Brook where the Voskresenka-2 Section, stratigraphically higher than S-78117 and lower than S-7225. The Voskresenka-2 Section belongs to the Khankhara Formation and spans the caudatus graptolite Zone.

Barany-2 Section

Chronostratigraphic subdivisions of the International stratigraphic scale: Katian, Hirnantian. Regional stratigraphic subdivisions: Tekhten', Listvyanka and Vtorye Utyosy regional stages (horizons). Local lithostratigraphic subdivisions: Tekhten', Listvyanka and Vtorye Utyosy formations. Zones: persculptus graptolite Zone. Fauna: trilobites, graptolites, radiolarians, siliceous sponges.

The Barany-2 Section (S-832 = S-0525) is located near Ust'-Chagyrka Village, on the right side of the lower Barany Brook where it enters the Charysh River valley. The section includes (Figs 98, 99):

Members 1 through 5 belong to the Tekhten' Formation and Member 6 belongs to the Vtorye Utyosy Formation. The incomplete thickness of the Tekhten' Formation in the section is about 20 m.

Peculiarities in facies, faunal assemblages and sedimentary environments.

See above description for the Tachalov Section.



Fig. 98. Massive chert in the Tekhten' Formation, Barany-2 Section.

System	Series	Stage	Formation	Zone	Member No.	Thickness,		Lithology	Radio- larians	Grapto- lites	Other groups
			Vtorye Utyosy	per- sculp- tus	6	5		Siltstone and mudstone: dark silver-gray, foliated.		•	
		rnantian	55		5	2-10		Limestone: gray, massive.		Normalograptus ex gr. persculptus (Salter)	Trilobites =
		 T			4	3-5	~ ~ ~ ~ ~	Silicite (chert): greenish-gray, gray, brown, or yellowish-dirty gray, banded, alternating with dirty gray or silver-gray siltstone.	et.∎	ex gr. <i>p</i> e	Tai Tai
Ordovician	pper		en'		3	1-3		Sandstone: dirty green-gray, polymictic, fine, including flat 3-5 cm thick and 20-30 cm long loaf-shaped lenses of gray or dark gray fine-grained bioclastic limestone; member is lens-shaped and pinches out.	Gen. et sp. indet.	nalograptus e	
Ordo	D	a n	Tekht		2	10		Siltstone and mudstone: dirty green or gray, alternating with gray or greenish-gray silicite (chert).			spicules
		Katia			1	20		Sandstone and siltstone: gray or dark olive-greenish-gray, polymictic, fine.	<i>Borisella subulata</i> (Web. et Bl.) Entactiniidae gen. et sp. indet. Kalimnasphaera sp.	 Gen. et sp. indet. 	Siliceous sponge spicules

Fig. 99. Lithology and ranges of fossil taxa from the Barany-2 Section.

4.5.2. AREA OF MARALIKHA VILLAGE

Pichuzhikha Section

Chronostratigraphic subdivisions of the International stratigraphic scale: Floian, Dapingian, Dariwillian. *Regional stratigraphic subdivisions*: Tuloi, Kuibyshevo, Kostinsky and Bugryshikha regional stages (horizons). *Local lithostratigraphic subdivisions*: Voskresenka Formation.

Zones: *densus*, *gibberulus* graptolite zones. *Fauna*: graptolites.

Stratigraphically higher strata of the Voskresenka Formation crop out on the right side of the Pichuzhikha Brook, 200 m far from the place where it enters the Charysh River terrace. The section from the water surface upwards includes (Figs 100–102):

The top of the section is truncated by a fault. Member 1 is conventionally equated to the *approximatus* Zone; Member 2 and lower 20 m, Member 3 correlate with the balticus Subzone of the *densus* Zone; upper 45 m, Member 3 make up the *densus* Subzone of the *densus* Zone; lower 30 m, Member 4 are conventionally correlated to the *angustifolius elongatus* Zone and its upper 40 m form the *gibberulus* Zone; Member 5 may correspond to the top of the Voskresenka Formation and may be assigned a middle Darriwilian age by analogy with the stratotype section of the Voskresenka Formation near Ust'-Chagyrka Village. Members 1 through 5 belong to the Voskresenka Formation in the Pichuzhikha Section is 180 m.

Peculiarities in facies, faunal assemblages and sedimentary environments.

Rocks composing the Pichuzhikha Section deposited on a large seamount, which is proved by the extremely thin Voskresenka Formation as compared to other sections of this formation. Given that the seamount was significantly removed from the provenance area of terrigenous material supplied from land, therefore only thin terrigenous sediments (dark-colored mudstone and siltstone) deposited on its top. The seamount was quite steep giving way to underwater landslide down the slope. The top of this seamount located at depths not exceeding the depth of storm waves action (below 50 m) was eroding due to landslide activity and affiliated water motion. Gravelite formed at the foot of the studied seamount in the form of thick beds with "curlers" and "twists" (Maralikha Section see below), created by underwater landslides, regularly descending from the slope of such seamount.





Fig. 101. Sitstone in the Voskresenka Formation, Pichuzhikha Section.

System	Series	Stage	Formation	Zone	Member No.	Thickness,	Lithology	Graptolites
		vilian	?Bugryshikha		6	>20	Scattered siltstone debris and shale: black and silver-gray.	s (Tullberg)
	Middle	Darriwilian			5	10	Limestone: gray or black, flaggy.	suecicu
	Wi	SDapingian		gibbe-			Cilleterer black and unline rece	r Monsen us Monsen Tomquist Bronguist Bronguist Brongaiart) (Brongaiart) (Brongaiart) (Brongaiart) (Brongaiart) (Brongaiart) (Brongaiart) (Brongaiart) (Brongaiart) (Brongaiart) (Brongaiart) (Brongaiart) (Tullberg) (Tullb
Ordovician	35		resenka	angustifolius elongatus	4	70	Siltstone: black and yellow-grey.	
	ower	Floian	Voskr	angusti	3	65	Interbedded dark gray, almost black siltstone and fine sandstone.	 Expansographus sp. Phyllographus ilicifolius glad Phyllographus ilicifolius Hall Expansographus extensus (Hall) Expansographus extensus (Hall) Expansographus extensus (Hall) Expansographus extensus (Hall) Pseudorirgonographus ensitormis (Hall) Pseudorirgonographus extensus (Hall) Pseudorirgonographus ensitormis (Hall) Pseudorirgonographus ensitormis (Hall) Pseudophyllographus ensitormis (Hall) Pseudophyllographus ensitormis (F. ensitormis (Hall) Pseudophyllographus ensitormis (Hall) Pseudophyllographus ensitormis (Hall) Pseudophyllographus ensitormis (Hall) Pseudophyllographus ensitormis (Hall) Pseudophyllographus ensitormis (Hall) Pseudophyllographus ensitormis (Hall) Pseudophyllographus ensitormis (Hall) Pseudophyllographus ensitormis (Hall) Pseudophyllographus ensitormis (Hall) Pseudophyllographus ensitormis (Hall) Pseudophyllographus ensitormis (Hall) Pseudophyllographus ensitormis (Hall) Pseudophyllographus ensitormis (Hall) Pseudophyllographus ensitormis (Hall) Pseudophyllographus ensitormis (Hall)
	L.	FI		ns				
				densus	2	30	Siltstone: silver-gray, with sporadic thin layers of fine sandstone.	Eotetragraptus sp. • Phyllograptus sp.
					1	5	Siltstone: greenish-dark gray, thinly interbedded with fine sandstone.	•

Fig. 102. Lithology and ranges of fossil taxa from the Pichuzhikha Section.

Maralikha Section

Chronostratigraphic subdivisions of the International stratigraphic scale: Dapingian, Darriwilian. Regional stratigraphic subdivisions: Tuloi (=Lebed') and Kuybushevo regional stages (horizons). Local lithostratigraphic subdivisions: Voskresenka Formation.

Zones: caduceus imitatus, hirundo, Cardiograptus, sinodentatus, austrodentatus graptolite zones. **Fauna**: graptolites, nautiloids, crinoids, trilobites and brachiopods.

Section representing upper part of the Voskresenka Formation is cropped out on the right bank of the Charysh River Valley, near alt 352, 1 m. It is represented by specific rocks formed as a result of the under-water sliding. Stratigraphically upward are observed (section S-8212 – Maralikha) (Figs 100, 103–106):

A tectonic dislocation binds the top of the section.

Members 1–3, as well as lower 20 m of the Member 4 of the Maralikha Section could be aligned with *angustifolius elongatus* and *gibberulus* zones according to the collected graptolites. Interval from the 20 to 29 m of the Member 4 coincides with *I. caduceus imitatus* Zone. Interval from the 30 m up to the top of the Member 4 and provisionally Member 5 of the section were aligned with *hirundo*, *Cardiograptus, sinodentatus* zones. Base of the Member 6 is aligned with lower Darriwilian boundary, overlain by *austrodentatus* Zone.

All members of the Maralikha section are assigned to Voskresenka Formation. Total thickness of the Voskresenka Formation within this section is more than 800 m.



Fig. 103. General view of the middle part of the Maralikha Section.

Fig. 104. Lithology and ranges of fossil taxa from the Maralikha Section.

		_	360	tion					
System	Series	Stage	Formation	Zone	Member No.	Thickness,		Lithology	Graptolites
					11	250		Alternation of the siltstones and greenish-grey fine-grained sandstones. 50% of rocks are vesicular, with rare "twisting" sandy-siltstones comprised 3-5% of rock.	
					10	120		Siltstones: grey vesicular with "twisting" structures occupied up to 90% of rock, upwards to the top of the bed reduced to 10%. Rare coarse-grained quartz sandstone pebbles were observed.	as) (eble)
		ilian			9	140	000 ******	Siltstones: greenish and grey vesicular with "twisting" siltstones and fine-grained sandstones occupied up to 50 % of rock. Pebbles (from 5 to 15 cm in diameter) of fine-gained quartz sandstones have been observed.	 Callograptus sp. oud angustus Mu et Lee a angustus Mu et Lee a esportus caduceus (Salter) (mas) Pomas) Poma
		Darriwilia			8	80	0	Siltstones: vesicular with "twisting" structures of the same composition, occupied up to 50% of the rock. Their size in the lower part of the bed 1-3 cm to 0,5 m, gradually enlarged to up to 1-3 m the top of the bed. Rare angular white and bull quartz pebbles (up to 1 cm in diameter) were observed.	us sp. et Lee us caduceus (S ograptus manub ann) raptus sinodentu si sinotas (Nu e is sinota austrodei eraptus austrodei anus enastrodei anus enastrodei anus enastrodei eraptus austrodei
			-	_2	7	20		Siltstones: grey, fine schistose into large plates.	tus si et Le ptus c praptu graptu graptu graptu
ovician	ddle		skresenka	tus	6	~80		Siltstones: grey with single fine (5-7 cm, rarely 10 cm) light-grey to light-greenish grey, fine-grained polymictic sandstone intercalates. Siltstones possess fine cross-bedding.	Nood Callograp us angustus Mu berg) = \$sograp t Thomas) all) all) all) all) all) all) all) a
Ordo	Mid		Vos	austrodentatus	5	0,5-1		Conglomerates: grey with middle to coarse pebbles and nodules. Pebbles are 2-5 cm rarely up to 12 cm in diameter. Pebbles are sorted due to clasts size, round, oriented by flatten surfaces according to bedding, other orientation was not observed. Pebbles occupied up to 80% of rock. In composition pebbles are represented by 50% dark-grey limestones, 35% siltstones and 15% mudstones. Mudstones are also observed as fragments of the "folded" intercalates (10-15 cm length, hickness 1-3 cm). Matrix consisted of fine-middle-grained sandstones and siltstones.	II) - Callograptus sp. ex.gr.acanthus Elles et Wood - Callograptus sp. ex.gr.acanthus Elles et Wood - Segraptus Mu et Lee s (Elles) - Severatus (Tullberg) s vaecicus suecicus (Tullberg) - Severatus caduceus (Salter) s vaecicus suecicus (Tulberg) - Severatus caduceus (Salter) as vaecicus suecicus (Harris et Thomas) - Severatiograptus sp. ansograptus sp. - Ondulograptus simodentatus (Mu et Lee) Phylograptus sp. - Undulograptus simodentatus (Mu et Lee) Expansograptus sp. - Acrograptus simodentatus (Harris et Thor Expansograptus sp. - Acrograptus simodentatus (Harris et Thor Phylograptus sp. - Acrograptus sinodentatus (Harris et Thor Expansograptus
		ingian		igatus - hirundo caduceus Cardiograptus / mitatus sinodentatus	4	65		Alternation of grey fine-grained polymictic mudstones and sandstones.	us ct. ensiformis (Ha eograptus ct. penden eograptus ct. penden fisograptus ct. sp. fisograptus cad sp. ogani (Hall) ogani (Hall) ogani (sp.
		Dap		?angustifolius elongatus gibberulus				Alternation of the vesicular siltstones and fine-grained polymictic	Pseudotrigonograpti Peudoclimacograptus Glossograptus Isograptus Loganograptus
				gibbe	3	25	- : 0 - : -	bedded sandstones.	loclim Loge
				sngne	2	15		Siltstones: vesicular with "twisting" (from 3 cm to 1 m)siltstones and fine-grained sandstones, non oriented, occupied up 50 % of rock. Alternation of greenish-gray siltstones and fine-grained	Pseud
				36	1	25		polymictic sandstones.	25.07 5.



Fig. 105. Lithological peculiarities in the terrigenous rocks of the Maralikha Section (a-f) and in similar Silurian rocks (g).



Fig. 106. Diagram (in modern coordinates) for directions of non-lithified movement during underwater sliding in the Maralikha Section (A – member 6, B – memder 8)

Peculiarities in facies, faunal assemblages and sedimentary environments.

The second half of the Maralikha Section is composed of rocks related to gravelite representing a specific lithological type – clastic sandy-aleuritic and argillite (siltstone) sediments. Such deposits formed on the slope of the seamount and slide down the slope as underwater landslides before the layers formed became lithified. As a result, some parts of the disrupted layer began to roll down the slope, acquiring gradually rounded shape with a more elongated axis across the direction of the movement. Some "curlers" and "twists" have internal structure in the form "spheres" insert into each other. The sediments formation at the slope foot followed by their compaction such "curlers" and "twists" became flattened. Such landslides may have been triggered by be giant storms, or evolved in places of abrupt terrain changes in the offshore parts inherent in transition areas (from shallow to deeper or redeepened shelf). One shouldn't rule out another most likely cause of underwater landslides as earthquakes. Regular appearance of units with "curlers" and "twists" in the Maralikha Section allows a most plausible assumption of a sharply defined crest on the shelf. Alternatively, this may be the presence of huge (up to 10 m in diameter) "curlers" and "twists" which can be attributed to olistostromes.

4.5.3. AREA OF BUGRYSHIKHA VILLAGE

Gora Altai Section

Chronostratigraphic subdivisions of the International stratigraphic scale: Darriwilian. *Regional stratigraphic subdivisions*: Bugryshikha Regional stage (Horizon). *Local lithostratigraphic subdivisions*: Bugryshikha Formation. *Fauna*: trilobites, brachiopods.

Middle Ordovician strata in the lower part of the composite stratotype section of the Bugryshikha Formation crop out near Bugryshikha Village, on the left side of the Belaya River and along the right and left sides of the lower Bugryshikha River (left tributary of the Belaya River). The lowermost member of the Bugryshikha Formation is exposed on Gora Altai (Fig. 107) that descends in a bluff into the Belaya River on its left side below the Bugryshikha inflow. The documented section (S-071) includes the following members, listed downstream (Fig. 108):

From the first and third members of the Gora Altai Section directly in the coastal cliff of Belaya River (locs 216 and 216a) trilobites *Lonchodomas sagittatus* Levit., *Nileus tengriensis* Web., *Homotelus angustus* Petrun., brachiopods *Archaeorthis altaica* Severg., *Glyptorthis primus* Severg., *Atelelasma subdorsoconvexum* Severg., *Ujukites tarlykensis* Andreeva have been found. From the rocks analogue to the third bed of the described section, on the flatten top of the Gora Altai (loc. 803) brachiopods *Ujukites tarlykensis* Andreeva were collected, and at the western slope of the Gora Altai, near Bugryshikha Village (loc. 178) brachiopods *Glyptorthis primus* Severg. Possibly, at the same stratigraphic level on the right bank of the Bugryshikha River, near Bugryshikha Village (loc. F-10) brachiopods *Atelelasma subdorsoconvexum* Severg. in Rozman. have been recovered.



Fig. 107. General view of the exposure along left bank of Belaya River, the Gora Altai Section.

System	Series	Stage	Formation	Member No.	Thickness,	Lithology	Trilobites	Brachio- pods
				6	>100	Siltstone and sandstone: fine, lumpy, wave-bedded.	Lonchodomas communis Lev. Homotelus inferus Lev. Ampix sp.	
			а	5	40	Mudstone and siltstone: dark gray or black, thin-bedded; frequent pyrite crystals indicate deposition in anoxic conditions; siltstone contains small (5 cm long and 2 cm thick) mudstone lenses.		Archaeorthis altaica Severg. Glyptorthis primus Severg. Atelelasma subdorsokonvexum Severg. Ujukites tarlykensis Andreeva
cian	le	ilian	hikh	4	>10	Silty sandstone and siltstone: silver-gray or dark gray, lumpy, with traces of soft sediment slumping (up to 2-3 cn long and 1 cm wide tongues).	sagittatus sis Web. ustus Pet	Itaica Sev mus Seve bdorsokor ensis And
Ordovician	0 2 0	ugry	3	50	Mudstone and siltstone: gray, slightly calcareous, with conglomerate-like layers (lenses) with few floating carbonate concretions (3-5 cm in diameter) of dark gray clayey limestone.	 Lonchodomas sagittatus Levit. Nileus tengriensis Web. Homotelus angustus Petrun. 	 Archaeorthis altaica Severg Glyptorthis primus Severg. Atelelasma subdorsokonvex Ujukites tarlykensis Andreev 	
				2	0,2	Syndepositional breccia (size of clasts 1-2 cm, rarely 3 cm of siltstone, mudstone, and fine sandstone in a siltstone matrix; clasts occupy up to 80 % of rock volume.	<u>))</u>	
				1	100	Mudstone, siltstone, and less often fine sandstone, gray.		

Fig. 108. Lithology and ranges of fossil taxa from the Gora Altai Section.

All members, of a total thickness of 300 m, belong to the lower Bugryshikha Formation.

The Gora Altai Section is extended upwards with the Bugryshikha Section, 1.5 km far to the northwest, on the other side of the same synclinal fold.

Bugryshikha Section

Chronostratigraphic subdivisions of the International stratigraphic scale: Darriwilian. Regional stratigraphic subdivisions: Bugryshikha Regional stage (Horizon). Local lithostratigraphic subdivisions: Bugryshikha Formation. Zones: teretiusculus graptolite Zone.

Fauna: trilobites, brachiopods, graptolites.

The Bugryshikha Section occurs northwest of the Gora Altai Section, 150 m from 580.8 m mountain at azimuth 190°. The documented section includes the following members, listed downhill toward Bugryshikha Village (Fig. 109):

All members belong to the lower half of the Bugryshikha Formation. The section is 850 m thick, and the total thickness of the composite stratotype section of the Bugryshikha Formation is 1000 m (without the lowermost and

System	Series	Stage	Formation	Zone	Member No.	Thickness,	\bigvee	Lithology	Graptolites	Brachio- pods	Other groups
					15	24		Siltstone: black.			
					14	390	~~~~	Siltstone or less often fine sandstone: light greenish-gray.	Climacograptus sp	I	
					13	65		Siltstone: brownish, greenish or dark olive-gray.	Clin		
					12	20		Siltstone: dark gray.	G		
an		Ľ	ha	ns	11	50		Interbedded siltstone and black fine sandstone.	Eoglyptograptus sp.		
Ordovician	Middle	arriwilian	shikh	sculus	10	20		Sandstone: light gray, fine.	orth)		
0	÷	1	2	1	9	>5	=:=:=:=:	Mudstone and siltstone: black, clayey.	E S S	ي	ds ds
Ord	M	Dar	Bugry	teretiu	8	35		Sodded interval.	Hustedograptus teretiusculus (Hisinger) Amplexograptus perexcavatus (Lapworth) Pseudocimacograptus sharenbergi (Lapworth) Glossograptus hincksi (Hopkinson) Cryptograptus sp. Acrograptus sp.	 Glyptorthis primus Sev. Ujukites lan/yensis Andreeva Eodalmanella aff. socialis (Barr.) Gen. et sp. indet. 	Ostracods Crinoids
					7	20		Siltstone: dark green to dark gray.	retiuscu erexcav ptus sh ptus sh ksi (Ho hmis (Co	himus S kensis a aff. so G	
				2	6	22		Sandstone and fine siltstone, dark gray or black, more rarely greenish-gray.	raptus tei raptus per macogra ptus tricc us sp. us sp.	 Glyptorthis primus Sev. Ujukites tartykensis Ano Eodalmanella aff. socia Gen. 	
					5	30		Sandstone and siltstone: light gray, polymictic, fine, gray.	Hustedograptus teretiusculus (Hisir Amplexograptus teretiusculus (Lap Amplexograptus perexcavatus (Lap Glossograptus hincksi (Hopkinson) Cryptograptus fricorits (Carruthers, Acrograptus sp.	Gly Uju Eoc	Trilobites ====
					4	5	¥ ¥ ¥ ¥ ¥	Sodded interval.			tes
					3	145		Sandstone and siltstone: dark green to light green or brown, fine.	1		Trilobi
				3	2	5	¥ ¥ ¥ ¥ ¥	Sodded interval.	1		
					1	20		Siltstone and mudstone, variegated.			

Fig. 109. Lithology and ranges of fossil taxa from the Bugryshikha Section.

uppermost strata). Findings of graptolites in member 5 correspond to the *teretiusculus* Zone. According to graptolite, trilobite, and brachiopod assemblages, the Bugryshikha Formation in its stratotype section correlates with the Upper Darriwilian – Lower Sandbian.

The Gora Altai Section is extended upwards by the Malaya Uskuchevka Section located 1 km far to the southeast on the other side of the same anticlinal fold, on the right side of the Belaya River.

Malaya Uskuchevka Section

Chronostratigraphic subdivisions of the International stratigraphic scale: Darriwilian, Sandbian. *Regional stratigraphic subdivisions*: Bugryshikha and Khankhara regional stages (horizons). *Local lithostratigraphic subdivisions*: Bugryshikha and Khankhara formations. *Zones: multidens* graptolite Zone (*antiquus lineatus, wilsoni* subzones). *Fauna*: trilobites, brachiopods, graptolites.

A large part of the Bugryshikha and Khankhara formations crops out on the right side of the Malaya Uskuchevka River (right tributary of the Belaya River), uphill from the roadway. The section (S-8351) may be considered a parastratotype of the Khankhara Formation as its members exactly match those in the parastratotype section along the Bolshaya Uskuchevka River (Fig. 110):

_					_		8.	110).									
System	Series	Stage	Horizon	Formation	Zone	Member No.	Thickness,		Lithology								
S	S	S	<u> </u>	u.	N	-	1.000		Mudstone: greenish-gray, limy, with sporadic carbonate concretions								
			10.00	2222		26 25	10 3		(to 0.5 mm in diameter). Limestone: gray and dark gray, slightly argillaceous.								
			hara	hara		24	40		Mudstone: silver-gray, limy, strongly foliated.								
			n k	nk	2	23	15		Siltstone: yellowish-dirty gray; limy cement.								
			ha	ha		22	10	•••••••	Sandstone: greenish-gray, highly calcareous, fine.								
			×	×		21	20		Sandstone: yellowish-dirty gray, slightly calcareous, polymictic, with rare gray limestone concretions (to 5 cm in diameter) in upper layers.								
			_			20	10		Limestone: gray, oolitic (oolites of <1 mm in diameter), flaggy in lower layers and massive in upper layers.								
						19	40		Mudstone: bluish-gray, clayey, slightly calcareous, with "loaves" of gray limestone, from 3-5 cm to 10-15 cm in diameter, in lower layers.								
						18	20		Sandstone: greenish-gray, rather quartz, polymictic, fine, with rare (at 1-3 m) clayey siltstone interbeds.								
						17	40		Interbedded greenish-gray siltstone and clayey mudstone.								
						16	15		Sandstone: greenish-gray, rather quartz, polymictic, fine.								
						15	40		Mudstone: greenish-gray, locally dark gray, clayey, strongly foliated.								
						14	10	-1	Siltstone: light gray.								
						13	30		Mudstone: dark gray, clayey.								
c						12	30		Siltstone: greenish-dirty gray to yellowish-gray; clayey cement.								
cia	ег	Sandb			wilsoni	11	40		Mudstone: silver-gray clayey.								
Ordovi	0		/shikha	yshikha	wi	10	100		Mudstone: bluish-gray, clayey.								
			ugry	u g r j		9	~6		Sandstone: rather quartz, medium-grained, polymictic, with sporadic 1 cm floating guartz pebble of low or medium roundness.								
			В	В		8	>1	0000000	Conglomerate: fine to medium, unsorted, with 0.5 to 3 cm, rarely to 5 cm quartz or quartzite pebbles of medium roundness.								
														7	80		Mudstone: dark gray, locally almost black, clayey.
						6	25		Sandstone: greenish-gray, polymictic, fine.								
						5	70		Interbedded siltstone and dark gray clayey mudstone.								
						4	150		Mudstone: bluish-gray, clayey, massive, locally cavernous.								
						3	200		Siltstone: dark silver-gray, nearly black, thick-bedded (10-20 cm), often massive, with scarce light bluish-gray interbeds.								
					multidens / antiquus lineatus	2	70		Siltstone: light gray or gray dark gray in upper layers, with black interbeds, clayey.								
					multid	1	>50		Siltstone: gray, light gray or locally bluish, clayey.								
_			·		501												

Fig. 110. Lithology and ranges of fossil taxa from the Malaya Uskuchevka Section.

Members 1 through 19 belong to the Bugryshikha Formation; members 20 through 26 belong to the Khankhara Formation. The incomplete thickness of the Bugryshikha Formation in the section is 980 m (without basal layers) and that of the Khankhara Formation exceeds 110 m. Trilobite and brachiopod assemblages indicate a Late Darriwilian and Early Sandbian age of the section. Graptolites correspond to the *multidens* Zone, including the *antiquus lineatus* Subzone at loc. S-7645 and the *wilsoni* Subzone at other localities.

Fig. 110. The end.

4.5.4. AREA OF KRASNOSHCHEKOVO VILLAGE

Batun Section

Chronostratigraphic subdivisions of the International stratigraphic scale: Darriwilian. Regional stratigraphic subdivisions: Kostinsky Regional stage (Horizon). Local lithostratigraphic subdivisions: Voskresenka Formation. Zones: dentatus, balhaschensis graptolite zones. Fauna: graptolites, conodonts, trilobites, brachiopods.

Brachiopods	₽ ₽ ₽			erge sonnidia sinthobrion page sonnidia sinthobrion page son mutandmit multiphtho evention and set of the ender son sinthoeston page son sinthoeston senergia set senergia senergia set senergia senergia set senergia set senergia senergia set senergia set set senergia set set set set set set set set set set			
Trilobites				Ceraurinella cf. frequens Tschug, Bathyurellus nonnulus Tschug, Carrickia sp. Carrickia sp. Pliomere fischeri asiako (Tschug, Priomerellus amplissimus Petrun. Pl. cf. jacuticus Tschug, Pliomerellus amplissimus Petrun. Pl. cf. jacuticus Sp. Parvininga sp. Claphurus alaicus Weber Raymondaspis sp.			
Conodonts				Eoplacognathus pseudoplanus (Viira) Periodon aculeatus Had Periodon aculoatina sey Protopanderodus rectus (Lindstr.) Crolopodus giganteus Sw. et Bergstr. Scolopodus giganteus Sw. et Bergstr.			
Graptolites		otius sp. = shtatus (Brong.) = Pichographidae mbratis (Hopk.) = genographus sp. = genographus sp. = ristus (T.S. Hall) = sus Obut et Zub. = saschensis (Keller) = saschensis (Keller) =	dx <u>=</u> qnuew qnuew iufosnud iufopna nyfuese nyfuese snfde ap snfde	njdelbosuedx3 snjdelbosipnəs4 sd y ə snjdelbossolƏ ibossolƏ			
Lithology	Limestone: yellow and yellow-gray,sandy and crystalline.	Siltstone: dark-gray, almost black, clayey .	Limestone: gray, sandy and crystalline.	Sandstone: gray, greenish- and brown-gray, polymictic, mainly quartzitic, fine and medium-grained.			
\searrow							
Thickness,	10	100	20	~80			
Member No.	4	n	2	~			
əuoZ	-shled siznahoz						
Formation	Voskresenka						
Stage							
Series							
System	Ordovician						

The Batun Section occurs on the west of Krasnoshekovo Village, near former Kostinsky mine. Despite the poorly exposed section, it produce relatively diverce fossil groups. The Batun Section is the stratotype for the Kostinsky Horizon (Fig. 111).

Suetka Section

Chronostratigraphic subdivisions of the International stratigraphic scale: Katian.

Regional stratigraphic subdivisions: Tekhten' Regional stage (Horizon).

Local lithostratigraphic subdivisions: Siliceous-terrigenous Body.

Zones: supernus graptolite Zone.

Fauna: graptolites, conodonts, radiolarians.

The Suetka Section (loc. S-8223=S-0515-0518) occurs on the right side of the Suetka River, 2 km upstream of Suetka Village, on the southern slope of 323.6 m mountain (Fig. 112). The section consists of (Figs 113, 114):

The whole section, with a total thickness of about 70 m, belongs to the siliceousterrigenous sequence and spans the *supernus* graptolite Zone.

Peculiarities in facies, faunal assemblages and sedimentary environments.

The chert beds in the Suetka Section (Maralikha – Suetka area) are up to 3 m thick. The chert is massive, gray, dark gray, and black, usually banded owing to lighter strips (0.1-1.0 cm) against a darker background. Also, light brown-yellow chert is observed, which show banding owing to color tints (1-3 cm). Conodonts (*A. ordovicicus* Zone) in the Suetka succession were found in lenticular beds of olistostrome limestone in the lower part of the succession, where graptolites (*supernus* – *ojsuensis* zones) were also found in siliceous mudstone. The conodont assemblage from the carbonate lenses is dominated by *Periodon grandis* (Ethington),

Fig. 111. Lithology and ranges of fossil taxa from the Batun Section.

who are usually numerous only in the relatively deepwater sediments of the slope foot and paleobasin bottom. A similar conodont assemblage the same age was found in the Tachalov Section, which contains almost the same species except Periodon grandis (Ethington), replaced by the genus Amorphognathus (Moskalenko, 1977). This is a more shallow-water conodont assemblage as compared with that in the succession, whose fragments are well-preserved, show medium taxonomic diversity, and form high-density taphocoenosis (30-40 elements/kg rock), which is typical of warm-water assemblages developing above the continental slope. The grav and black chert in the lower and upper parts of the Suetka succession yielded radiolarians. The radiolarian taxonomic diversity is high (over five species within five genera); their morphology is moderately complex; they form medium-density taphocoenosis (10-100 specimens/ cm² of the rock thin section or chip); their preservation is 75-100 % in the lower part of the succession and 50-75 % in its upper part. Many of the chert interbeds



Fig. 112. Sketch map of the Suetka area.

in the Suetka Section can be called radiolarites. The high taxonomic diversity of the radiolarian assemblages with shells of complex morphology my indicate dwelling depths of 75–500 m. The high-density taphocoenosis propose dwelling depths of 150–250 m. The excellent preservation of the radiolarian skeletons in the lower part of the succession (like in

System	Series	Stage	Formation	Zone	Member No.	Thickness,		Lithology	Radiolarians	Conodonts	Graptolites
1					5	>1	22222-	Silicite (chert): dark silver-gray; with abundant well preserved radiolarians.	*** * *		
		tian	bdy	nsis	4	>50		Mudstone: gray or dark silver-gray, silicified.		d Mehl)	
ап		a n	us Br	ojsuensis	3	>3		Silicite (chert), dark silver-gray; with poor-preserved radiolarians.		on an 5 Met MeN	d) (181) 2Ma Skavo
Ordovicia	Upper	Hirnantia	Siliceous-terrigenous Body	supernus - (7) c	2	~70	***	Mudstone: gray or dark silver-gray, clayey and silicified.	et l. m. s. U. et I. Gr. Borseive subulate (Web. et Bl.)	Periodon grandis (Ethington) Panderodus sp. Protopanderodus insculptus (Branson and Mehl) Protopanderodus insculptus (Branson and Mehl) Decor/norus sp. Belodina sp. Belodina sp.	pernus (Elles at Woo gr. long/sphus (T.S.P. Wis (Hall) rake Koren et Mikhayk rake Koren et Mikhayk
		Katian &			1	>10		Mudstone: dark silver-gray, thick-bedded (10-15 cm to 20-25 cm), interlayered with yellowish- and greenish-gray silicite (chert), often wavy-bedded, and with black or gray massive limestone, quite often granular, limestone occupies about 30 % of member volume, chert is up to 15 %, and mudstone is over 50 %; limestone occurs as silicified layers (up to 20 cm thick) or lenses that contain, in turn, microscopic layers and lenses of yellow siliceous mudstone; there are locally structures among limestone (up to 80 vol.%) including 1-3 cm thick and <0.5 m long layers tolded in small current folds (with 0.3-0.5 m cores) which is signature of gravity-mixtle (olistostrome) origin of limestone (Fig. 39). Mudstone layers contain graptolites.	Secuéotistris ormats G., U. et I Entactrinduse gen.indet Protocenstolitiscum chinocrystatium G., U. et I. Kalimussphesen df meculoss W. et Bl.	 Pariodon grand Pandercolus sp. Parolspandercolus? Parolspandercolus? Deconfontus sp. Belodina sp. 	 Appendisprincgraptus supernus (Elles et Wood) Appendisprincgraptus ex gr. (ong/sp/nus (T.S.Hall) Orthograptus organistis Kenn et Mikhaylova Normakograptus grüsensis Kenn et Mikhaylova

Fig. 113. Lithology and ranges of fossil taxa from the Suetka Section.



Fig. 114. Lithological peculiarities of the the chert and limestone of the Suetka Section. a - c, e - chert; d - massive sitstone; f - lens of limestine.

the Tachalov one) proved that they did not dissolve and the lower distribution limit of the radiolarian communities was located near the basin bottom. The well-preserved radiolarian skeletons in the upper part of Suetka Section may suggest that the shells dissolved for a short time before reaching the paleobasin bottom, 100–150 m below their dwelling place. According to the bioindicator analysis, the chert from the lower part of Suetka Section might has formed at depths of 150–250 m, but the conodonts from the Suetka and Tachalov sections suggest depths of 300–350 m, which is more probable. Therefore, the paleobasin depths for the upper Suetka succession might have been 350–500 m. Note that graptolites were found only in the lower part of the succession. The absence of graptolites in the Altai successions with deep-water oceanic rocks indirectly confirms the relatively deep-water origin of the upper Suetka Section.

4.5.5. AREA OF CHINETA VILLAGE

Chineta Section

Chronostratigraphic subdivisions of the International stratigraphic scale: Sandbian, Katian.

Regional stratigraphic subdivisions: Bugryshikha, Khankhara, Tekhten' and Listvyanka regional stages (horizons).

Local lithostratigraphic subdivisions: Bugryshikha, Khankhara, Tekhten' and Vtorye Utyosy formations.

Zones: *teretiusculus*, *wilsoni* and *clingani* graptolite zones. *Fauna*: trilobites, brachiopods, graptolites, conodonts.

A section that spans the Middle-Upper Ordovician Bugryshikha, Khankhara, and Tekhten' formations and the Lower Silurian Vtorye Utyosy Formation crops out at the northeastern end of Chineta Village, on the right side of the Inya River (Fig. 115). The documented section includes the following members, listed down the southern slope of 609.3 m mountain (Fig. 116):

On the southern slope of 609.3 m mountain, the section is extended with a repetition of Member 4 (see above), at least 100 m thick, composed of interbedded siltstone and fine sandstone, quite often slightly calcareous; in upper part there is an interbed of light gray fine to medium limy sandstone grading into sandy limestone; limestone contains trilobites and brachiopods (loc. S-812, 90 m far from point 609.3 m at azimuth 145°).

Equivalents of Member 2 on the other side of the fold north of point 609.3 m contain graptolites *Diplograptus* sp., *Dicellograptus* sp. (loc. 2302/1).

Members 1 and 2 belong to the Bugryshikha Formation, members 3 through 4 belong to the Khankhara Formation, Member 5 marks the base of the Tekhten' Formation, and Member 6 correlates with the Vtorve Utvosy Formation.



The incomplete thickness of the Bugryshikha Formation in the section is at least 220 m, the Khankhara Formation is more than 120 m thick, the incomplete thickness of the Tekhten' Formation is at least 40 m, and that of the Vtorye Utyosy Formation exceeds 30 m.

Burovlyanka Section

Chronostratigraphic subdivisions of the International stratigraphic scale: Katian, Hirnantian, Rhuddanian, Aeronian stages.

Regional stratigraphic subdivisions: Tekhten', Listvyanka and Vtorrye Utyosy regional stages (horizons). *Local lithostratigraphic subdivisions*: Tekhten' and Vtorye Utyosy formations.

Zones: supernus-ornatus-ojsuensis, persculptus, acuminatus, sibiricus, cyphus graptolite zones. **Fauna**: trilobites, brachiopods, graptolites, conodonts, crinoids, algae.

Upper Ordovician and Lower Silurian strata crop out on the left bank of the Inya River opposite Chineta Village, on the divide of the Burovlyanka and Listvyanka brooks (Inya left tributaries) and along the left side of the Listvyanka Brook (Fig. 117). The fragment of section S-882 exposed on the southern slope of 591 m mountain, right upward from the Burovlyanka floodplain includes (Figs 118, 119).

Section S-833 runs parallel to S-822 on the southwestern slope of 635.4 m mountain, from the Burovlyanka Brook floodplain toward the Burovlyanka/Listvyanka divide and consists of:

On the left bank of the Listvyanka Brook, in 700 m upstream from its mouth from the equivalent of the upper part of Member 4 from S-833 section represented by siltstone (loc. S-824-2/10). Middle Llandoverian *triangulatus*, *gregarius* zones graptolites were identified. Among them: *Demirastrites triangulatus* (Harkness), *Hedrograptus rectangularis* (McCoy). *Hedrograptus* sp., *Rastrites longispinus* Pemer and *Monograptus* sp.

Siltstone in equivalents of Member 6 of S-833 on the left bank of the Listvyanka Brook, 500 m upstream of its mouth, contains Upper Llandoverian graptolites of the *halli* Zone (loc. S-824-1/1), 120 m stratigraphically

Fig. 115. Sketch map of the Chineta area.



System	Series	Stage	Formation	Zone	Member No.	Thickness,	Lithology	Graptolites	Trilobites	Conodonts	Brachiopods
		an SRhudda-	Vtorye Utyosy		6	30	Mudstone: silver-gray or black, clayey.				
		Hirnantian &	Tekhten'	-?-	5	40	Limestone: gray, massive.		etrun sp. n	ы. Т.)	
ian		.⇔¦katian .>	Khankhara	wilsoni - clingani	4	120	Mudstone and siltstone, less often fine sandstone: silver- gray or brownish, slightly calcareous and clayey, with sporadic 0.5 m thick layers of highly calcareous siltstone grading into clayey-sandy limestone; bluish-greenish- gray siltstone contains trilobites.	 jer) = sp. = sp. = Sp. = Diplograptus sp. = Orthograptus sp. = Diplograptus compactus Elles et Wood = Climacograptus (Lapworth) = Climacograptus tubiliferus Lapworth = 	 Tretaspis sp. Lonchodomas (Poliopyge) levis Petrun sp. n. Ecrobergia sp. Trinodus sp. Raphiophoidae Pterygometopinae Calliops sp. 	 Histiodella sp. Panderodus gracilis (Br. et M.) 	
Ordovician	pper			_?_	3	3	Sandstone, light gray, limy, grading into sandy limestone.	is comp. aptus eu Climi		100	
Ord	D	Sandbian	ugryshikha	teretiusculus	2	120	Interbedded mudstone and siltstone, bluish-greenish and silver-gray.	tiusculus (Hisinç Climacograptus Dicranograptus Leptograptus enbergi (Lapwo	<i>Ceraurinus</i> sp. = <i>Kinderlania</i> sp. = Ptiomeridae =	Pseudobelodina sp.	Gen. indet. 🖷
			BL	•	1	100	Interbedded mudstone, siltstone, and less often fine sandstone, bluish-greenish- and silver-gray.	Metaclimacograptus sp. = Hustedograptus ex gr. tere Pseudoclimacograptus schar			0

Fig. 116. Lithology and ranges of fossil taxa from the Chineta Section.



Fig. 117. Sketch map of the Burovlyanka area.

System	Stade	olage	Formation	Zone	Member No.	Thickness, m	Lithology	Graptolites	Trilobites	Other groups
Silurian	Dhuddanian	=	rye	acumi- angustus, cyphus natus sibiricus	6 (4)	250	Siltstone and mudstone: dark greenish-yellowish- gray, foliated.	 Glyptograptus sp. Iograptus cf. longifillis Manck Inatus ornatus Elles et Wood Salter) Salt	ronata (Brongniart)	
	ntian		Vto	persculptus	<u>5b</u>	010 8.0 × 10	Limestone: gray or black, clayey, flaggy.		 Mucronaspis mucronata (Brongniart) 	
00	Hirna		khten'	supernus-onatus	4 (2)	50- 190	Siltstone, silty sandstone, and fine limy-clayey sandstone, greenish-gray, locally black.	Appendispino		 Brachiopods
			Tek		3	2	Limestone: gray, algal-biohermal, in a greenish-gray silt-sandstone matrix; 1 x 2 m carbonate bioherms occupy 80-90 % of member volume.	Appendispino- graptus superm Normalograptus Normalogr Normalogr Glyptograptu (Ruedemanu Pseudoclimaco- graptus sp. Climacoo Elles et V		ds Jonts
				?	2	10	Limestone: gray, algal-biohermal, with mud patches; 3x5 m bioherms occupy 80-90 % of member volume and occur in massive limestone.	Appe grapti ojsuen Gl graptu: graptu:		Crinoids Conodonts
		σ			1	>250	Limestone: gray or light gray, massive, with sporadic poorly preserved crinoids in upper layers.			••

Fig. 118. Lithology and ranges of fossil taxa from the Burovlyanka Section.



Fig. 119. Lithological peculiarities of limestone of the Burovlyanka Section.

a - b – algaes bioherms in the terrigenous matrix (siltstone); c – Dalmanitina member clayey thin-bedded limestone; d - e – Dalmanitina member massive limestone; f – siltstone and sandstone.

higher than loc. S-824-2/10 with graptolites of the *triangulatus* and *gregarius* zones: *Stimulograptus halli* (Barrande), *Monograptus* sp., *Paradiversograptus capillaris* (Carruthers) and *Glyptograptus tamariscus* (Niholson).

Siltstone in equivalents of Member 6 of S-833 on the left bank of the Inya River, 100 m upstream of an island near the Listvyanka Brook inflow (loc. S-8341) contains graptolites of the Upper Llandoverian guerichi Zone: Spirograptus guerichi Loydell, Storch et Melchin, Rastrites sp., Stimulograptus halli (Barrande), Oktavites planus (Barrande), Paradiversograptus runcinatus (Lapworth), Paradiversograptus capillaris (Carruthers), Agetograptus tenuissimus Sennikov, Hedrograptus sp., Petalograptus sp.

All six members of S-822 section and members 1–3 of S-833 section belong to Tekhten' Formation, and members 4 and 5 of S-833 section – to Vtorye Utyosy Formation, Member 6 of S-833 section to the Syrovaty Formation. Thickness of the Tekhten' Formation in the composite Burovlyanka Section (incomplete) is more than 330 m, Vtorye Utyosy Formation – about 420 m, Syrovaty Formation – more than 100 m.

CONCLUSIONS

This book contains the paleontological, biostratigraphic, lithologic and biofacies data on the key Ordovician sections from five large parts of the Gorny Altai - Uymen'-Lebed', Teletskoe Lakeside, Biya-Katun', Anui-Chuya and Charysh-Inya facies zones. In addition to the above mentioned facies zones, the Ordovician sedimentary sections with a specific set of formations could be distinguished. These are interpreted either as separate paleo-offshore area of the unique Altai shelf paleobasin (Milovanoka and Vydrikha facies zones) or as fragments of another paleobasin (Ulagan facies zone). We carried out detailed studies and bed-by-bed descriptions of the reference sections from the Milovanoka, Vydrikha and Ulagan facies zones. Some of the paleontological-stratigraphic data obtained from them could be correctly aligned with those from the five main structural facies zone. However, most sequences from the Milovanoka, Vydrikha and Ulagan zones still require further study of litho- and biostratigraphy in order to generate paleogeographic and geodynamics reconstructions.

Authors hope that readers can get an overview of the structure of the Altai Ordovician sedimentary basins and the paleobiota inhabiting them. Geological materials from the Gorny Altai (South of West Siberia) could be a good example of the successive evolutionary development of sedimentary basins and the entire biosphere during the Ordovician period of the Earth's history.

Acknowledgements

The study was supported by Trofimuk Institute of Petroleum Geology and Geophysics SB RAS, and Russian Foundation for Basic Research (RFBR, project N 19-05-20060 - "13-th International Symposium on the Ordovician System"). This is contribution to IGSP 653 Project "The onset of the Great Ordovician Biodiversification Event".

REFERENCES

- Achab A. (1989.) Ordovician chitinozoan zonation of Quebec and Western Newfoundland // Journal Paleontology. Vol. 63, N 1. P. 14–24.
- *Andreeva O.N.* (1985). Middle Ordovician brachiopods and trilobites from Tuva and Altai // Paleontologicheskii Zhurnal. Issue 2. P. 38–47.
- Barnes C.R., Fortey R.A., and Williams S.H. (1996). The pattern of Global Bio-Event during the Ordovician period. In: Global Events and Event Stratigraphy in the Phanerozoic. Results of the International Interdisciplinary Cooperation in the IGGP-Project 216 "Global Biological Events in Earth History". Springer-Verlag, Berlin, Heidelberg. P. 139–172.
- *Bergström S., Finney S., Chen Xu, Palson Ch., Wang Zhi-hao, and Grahn Y.* (2000). A proposed global boundary stratotype for the base of the Upper Series of the Ordovician System: The Fagelsang section, Scania, southern Sweden // Episodes. Vol. 23, N 2. P. 102–109.
- *Bergström S., Lofgren A., and Maletz J.* (2004). The GSSP of the Second (Upper) Stage of the Lower Ordovician Series: Diabasbrottet at Hunneberg, Province of Vastergotland, Southern Sweden // Episodes. Vol. 27, N 4. P. 265–272.
- *Bergström S., Finney S., Chen Xu, Goldman D., and Leslie S.A.* (2006). Three new Ordovician global stage names // Lethaia. Vol. 39. P. 287–288.
- *Bergström S.M., Chen X., Gutiérrez-Marco J.C., and Dronov A.* (2009). The new chronostratigraphic classification of the Ordovician System and its relations to major regional series and stages and to δ13C chemostratigraphy // Lethaia. Vol. 42. P. 97–107.
- *Bergström J., Pärnaste H., and Zhiyi Zhou.* (2013). Trilobites and biofacies in the Early-Middle Ordovician of Baltica and a brief comparison with the Yangtze Plate // Estonian Journal of Earth Sciences. Vol. 62, N 4. P. 205–230.
- Brenchley P.J. (2004). End Ordovician Glaciation. In: The Great Ordovician Biodiversification Event. Webby B., Paris F., Droser M.L. and Percival I.G. (Eds). Columbia University Press. New York. P. 81–83.
- Brooke C., Riding R. (1998). Ordovician and Silurian coralline red algae // Lethaia. Vol. 31. P. 185-195.
- *Bukolova E.V.* (2011). The Middle Ordovician litho- and biostratigraphy of northwestern Gorny Altai // Russian Geology and Geophysics. Vol. 52, N 9. P. 979–990.
- Buslov M.M., Fujiwara Y., Safonova I.Yu., Okada Sh., and Semakov N.N. (2000). The junction zone of the Gorny Altai and Rudny Altai terranes: structure and evolution // Russian Geology and Geophysics. Vol. 41, N 3. P. 377–390.
- *Buslov M.M., Safonova I.Yu., and Bobrov V.A.* (1999). Exotic terrane of Late Cambrian-Early Ordovician oceanic crust in the north-western Gorny Altai (Zasurin Formation): Structural position and geochemistry // Doklady Akademii nauk. Vol. 368. Issue 5. P. 650–654.
- Chen Xu, Rong Jiayu, Fan Junxuan, Zhan Renbin, Mitchell Ch.E., Harper D.A.T., Melchin M.J., Peng Ping'an, Finney S.C., and Wang Xiaofeng. (2006). The Global Boundary Stratotype Section and Point (GSSP) for the base of the Hirnantian Stage (the uppermost of the Ordovician System) // Episodes. Vol. 29, no. 3. P. 183–196.
- *Cherepnina S.K.* [Черепнина С.К.] (**1960**). Subclass Tetracoralla (Rugosa). *In*: Paleozoic biostratigraphy of the Altai-Sayan mountainous area. *L.L. Khalfin* (Ed.). Vol. I. Lower Paleozoic. Trudy SNIIGGiMS. Issue 19. Novosibirsk: SNIIGGiMS Publ. House. P. 361–362. (In Russian). [Подкласс Tetracoralla (Rugosa). Тетракораллы // Биостратиграфия палеозоя Саяно-Алтайской горной области. Т. І. Нижний палеозой / Под ред. Л.Л. Халфина: Тр. СНИИГГиМС. Вып. 19. Новосибирск: СНИИГГиМС]
- Chuvashov B.I., Luchinina V.A., Shuiskii V.P., Shaikin I.M., Barchenko O.I., Ishchenko A.A., Saltovskaya V.D., and Shirshova D.I. [Чувашов Б.И., Лучинина В.А., Шуйский В.П., Шайкин И.М., Барченко О.И., Ищенко А.А., Салтовская В.Д., Ширшова Д.И.] (1987). Fossil calcareous algae. Morphology, systematics, methods of studies. Novosibirsk: Nauka. 225 р. [Ископаемые известковые водоросли. Морфология, систематика, методы изучения. Новосибирск: Наука.]
- Chuvashov B.I., Shuysky V.P., and Ivanova R.M. (1993). Stratigraphical and facies complexes of the Paleozoic calcareus algae of the Urals // Bollettino della Societa Paleontologica Italiana. T. 1. Spec. Vol. C. 93.
- *Contributions* to Siberian IGGP 410/421 Joint Meeting. Ordovician-Lower Carboniferous succession, eustatic (sedimentary) cycles, event levels and palaeogeography of Southern West Siberia (Guidebook of excursion). (2001). Yolkin E.A., Sennikov N.V., Petrunina Z.E., Bakharev N.K., Izokh N.G., Klets A.G., Alekseenko A.A., Anastasieva S.A., Ermikov V.D., Gladkikh L.A., Gutak Ya.M., Khlebnikova T.V., Mamlin A.N., Obut O.T., Rodina O.A. and Tokarev V.N. Novosibirsk: Institute of Petroleum Geology, SB RAS. P. 8–92.
- Cooper R.A., Nowlan G.S., and Williams S.H. (2001). Global Staratotype Section and Point for base of the Ordovician System // Episodes. Vol. 24, N 1. P. 19–28.
- Cooper R.A., Maletz J., Taylor L., Zalasiewicz J. (2004). Graptolites: Patterns of diversity across Paleolatitudes // The Great Ordovician Biodiversification Event. Webby B., Paris F., Droser M.L. and Percival I.G. (Eds). Columbia University Press. New York. P. 281–293.
- Correlative stratigraphic charts. (1964). Trudy SNIIGGiMS, supl. Issue 29. Data on stratigraphy of the Sayan-Altai Folded Area. (In Russian). [Корреляционные стратиграфические схемы. (Тр. СНИИГГиМС. Приложение к вып. 29). Материалы по стратиграфии Саяно-Алтайской складчатой области. Новосибирск: Изд-во СНИИГГиМС. 9 прил.]

- *Decisions* of the All-Union stratigraphic meeting on Precambrian, Paleozoic and Quaternary Systems of Middle Siberia, Novosibirsk, 1979. (**1983**). Pt. I. Upper Proterozoic and Lower Paleozoic. Novosibirsk. 215 p. (In Russian). [Решения Всесоюз. стратигр. совещ. по докембрию, палеозою и четвертичной системе Средней Сибири, Новосибирск, 1979). Ч. І. Верхний протерозой и нижний палеозой. Новосибирск.]
- *Decisions* of the Interdepartmental meeting on development of the uniform stratigraphic charts for Siberia. (**1959**). Moscow: Gosgeoltekhizdat. 91 р. (In Russian). [Решения Межведомственного совещания по разработке унифицированных стратиграфических схем Сибири. М.: Госгеолтехиздат.]
- Dobretsov N.L. (2003). Evolution of structures of the Urals, Kazakhstan, Tien Shan, and Altai-Sayan region within the Ural-Mongolian fold belt (Paleoasian ocean) // Russian Geology and Geophysics. Vol. 44, N 1–2. P. 3–26.
- Dobretsov N.L. (2011). Early Paleozoic tectonics and geodynamics of Central Asia: role of mantle plumes // Russian Geology and Geophysics. Vol. 52, N 12. P. 1539–1552.
- *Documents* on stratigraphy of the Sayan-Altai Folded Area. (**1964**). Trudy SNIIGGiMS. Issue. 29. Novosibirsk: SNIIGGiMS Publ. House. 161 р. [Материалы по стратиграфии Саяно-Алтайской складчатой области. Тр. СНИИГГиМС. Вып. 29. Новосибирск: Изд-во СНИИГГиМС.]
- *Dubinina S.V.* [Дубинина С.В.] (2000). Conodonts and zonal stratigraphy of the Cambrian-Ordovician boundary deposits. Trudy GIN RAN. N 517. Moscow: Nauka. 239 p. (In Russian). [Конодонты и зональная стратиграфия пограничных отложений кембрия и ордовика. М.: Наука.]
- Dzyubo P.S. [Дзюбо П.С.] (1960a). Hydrozoa Chaetetida. In: Paleozoic biostratigraphy of the Altai-Sayan mountainous area. L.L. Khalfin (Ed.). Vol. I. Lower Paleozoic. Trudy SNIIGGiMS. Issue 19. Novosibirsk: SNIIGGiMS Publ. House. P. 373– 374. (In Russian). [Группа Hydrozoa Chaetetida. Биостратиграфия палеозоя Саяно-Алтайской горной области. Т. I. Нижний палеозой. Под ред. Л.Л. Халфина. Труды СНИИГГиМС. Вып. 19. Новосибирск: СНИИГГиМС.]
- Dzyubo P.S. [Дзюбо П.С.] (1960b). Anthozoa Heliolitida. In: Paleozoic biostratigraphy of the Altai-Sayan mountainous area. L.L. Khalfin (Ed.). Vol. I. Lower Paleozoic. Trudy SNIIGGiMS. Issue 19. Novosibirsk: SNIIGGiMS Publ. House. P. 382–387. (In Russian). [Группа Anthozoa Heliolitida // Биостратиграфия палеозоя Саяно-Алтайской горной области. Т. І. Нижний палеозой. Под ред. Л.Л. Халфина. Труды СНИИГГиМС. Вып. 19. Новосибирск: СНИИГГиМС.]
- *Dzyubo P.S.* [Дзюбо П.С.] (**1966**). Tabulate corals and heliolitids from Ordovician of the Gorny Altai and Gornayay Shoriya. Abstract of PhD dissertation. Tomsk: Tomsk University Press. 25 p. (In Russian). [Табуляты и гелиолитиды ордовика Горного Алтая и Горной Шории. Автореф. канд. дисс. Томск: Изд-во Томского ун-та.]
- *Dzyubo P.S. and Mironova N.V.* [Дзюбо П.С., Миронова Н.В.] (**1960).** Subclass Tabulates. *In*: L.L. Khalfin (Ed.) Paleozoic biostratigraphy of the Altai-Sayan mountainous area. Vol. I. Lower Paleozoic. Trudy SNIIGGiMS. Issue 19. Novosibirsk: SNIIGGiMS Publ. House. P. 374–382. (In Russian). [Подкласс Tabulata. Биостратиграфия палеозоя Саяно-Алтайской горной области. Т. І. Нижний палеозой. Под ред. Л.Л. Халфина. Труды СНИИГГиМС. Вып. 19. Новосибирск: СНИИГГиМС.]
- Elles G.L. and Wood E.M.R. (1901-1918). Monograph of British graptolites. Palaeontol. Soc. London. 539 p.
- *Erdtmann B.-D.* (1984). Outline ecostratigraphic analysis of the Ordovician graptolite zones in Scandinavia in relation to the palaeogeographic disposition of the Japetus // Geol. Palaeontol. Vol. 18. P. 9–15.
- *Erdtmann B.-D.* (1986). Early Ordovician eustatic cycles and their bearing on punctuations in early nematophorid (planktic) graptolite evolution // Lect. Notes Earth Scien. Vol. 8. P. 139–152.
- *Erdtmann B.-D. and Miller J.F.* (1981). Eustatic control of lithofacies and biofacies changes near the base of the Tremadocian. Second Internat. Symposium on the Cambrian System. P. 78–81.
- *Ermikov V.D., Zeyfert L.L., Petrunina Z.E., Puzyrev A.A., and Sennikov N.V.* (1979). Tremadocian of the northern part of the Gorny Altai // Soviet Geology and Geophysics. Vol. 20, N 11. P. 21–34.
- Gintsinger A.B. [Гинцингер А.Б.] (1958). Ordovician, Silurian and Devonian stratigraphic chart for the Gorny Altai. Moscow: Gosgeoltekhizdat. Issue 61. Р. 24–39. (In Russian). [Стратиграфическая схема ордовика, силура и девона Горного Алтая // Материалы по стратиграфии Западной Сибири. М.: Госгеолтехиздат.]
- *Gintsinger A.B.* [Гинцингер А.Б.] (**1964**). Ordovician correlative stratigraphic chart for Altai, Salair and Gornaya Shoriya. Data on stratigraphy of the Sayan-Altai folded area. Novosibirsk: SNIIGGiMS Publ. House. Issue 29. Р. 94–107. (In Russian). [Корреляционная стратиграфическая схема ордовика Алтая, Салаира и Горной Шории. Материалы по стратиграфии Саяно-Алтайской складчатой области. Новосибирск: Изд-во СНИИГГиМС.]
- Gintsinger A.B. and Sennikov V.M. [Гинцингер А.Б., Сенников В.М.] (1967). Ordovician of the Altai-Sayan Area. In: Paleozoic stratigraphy of the Central Siberia. Novosibirsk: Nauka. P. 74–86. (In Russian). [Ордовик Алтае-Саянской области. Стратиграфия палеозоя Средней Сибири. Новосибирск: Наука.]
- Gintsinger A.B. [Гинцингер А.Б.] (1969). Ordovician sections Kuznetsk Basin region margin of Salair. In: Precambrian and Lower Paleozoic sections of the western part of Altai-Sayan folded area. Krasnoyarsk: Krasnoyarsk Publ. House. P. 189–209. (In Russian). [Разрезы ордовика Прикузбасской окраины Салаира. Разрезы докембрия и нижнего палеозоя западной части Алтае-Саянской складчатой области. Красноярск: Красноярское книжн. изд.]
- Goldman D., Leslie S.A., Nolvak J., Young S., Bergström S.M., and Huff W.D. (2007). The Global Stratotype Section and Point (GSSP) for the base of the Katian Stage of the Upper Ordovician Series at Black Knob Ridge, Southeastern Oklahoma, USA // Episodes. Vol. 30, N 4. P. 258–270.

- *Gradstein F.M., Ogg J.G., Schmitz M.D., and Ogg G.M.* (Editors). (2012). The Geologic Time Scale 2012. 2-volume set. Elsevier Science Ltd. 1176 p.
- Haq B.U. and Schutter S.R. (2008). A Chronology of Paleozoic Sea-Level Changes // Science. Vol. 322. P. 64-68.
- *Ivantsov A.Yu.* (2003). Ordovician Trilobites of the Subfamily Asaphinae of the Ladoga Glint // Paleontological Journal. Vol. 37, Suppl. 3. P. S229–S337.
- Iwata K., Sennikov N.V., Buslov M.M., Obut O.T., Shokal'skii S.P., Kuznetsov S.A., and Ermikov V.D. (1997). Late Cambrian-Early Ordovician age of basalt-siliceous-terrigenous Zasur'ya Formation (northwestern Gorny Altai) // Russian Geology and Geophysics. Vol. 38, N 9. P. 1463–1479.
- Izokh N.G., Obut O.T., Iwata K., and Sennikov N.V. [Изох Н.Г., Обут О.Т., Ивата К., Сенников Н.В.] (2003). Conodont associations in the Ordovician of the Altai-Sayan Folded Area // Bull. of Tomsk State University. Ser. "Earth Sciences" (geology, geography, meteorology, geodesy). Supl. 3 (II), April 2003. Problems of geology and geography of Siberia: Contributions of the scientific conference dedicated to 125 anniversary of the TSU and 70th anniversary of the Geology-Geography Department, 2–4 April, 2003. P. 88–90. (In Russian). [Ассоциации конодонтов в ордовике Алтае-Саянской складчатой области // Вестн. Том. гос. ун-та. Серия "Науки о земле" (геология, география, метеорология, геодезия). Прил. № 3 (II), апрель 2003: Материалы научных конференций, симпозиумов, школ, проводимых в ТГУ. Проблемы геологии и географии Сибири. Материалы науч. конф., посвященной 125-летию основания Томского государственного университета и 70-летию образования геолого-географического факультета, 2–4 апреля 2003 г.]
- *Izokh N.G., Sennikov N.V., and Obut O.T.* [Изох Н.Г., Сенников Н.В., Обут О.Т.] (**2005).** Discovery of a new level in the zonal Ordovician conodont scale of the Altai-Sayan Folded area. *V.M. Podobina* (Ed.-in-Chief). Evolution of Life on the Earth: Proceedings of the III Intern. Sympos. November 1-3, Tomsk. Tomsk: TSU Publishing House. P. 125–127. (In Russian). [Находка нового уровня в зональной конодонтовой шкале ордовика Алтае-Саянской складчатой области. Эволюция жизни на Земле: Материалы III Междунар. симпоз. Томск: Изд-во Том. гос. ун-та.]
- Kaljo D. and Martma T. (2011). Carbon isotope trend in the Mirny creek area, NE Russia, its specific features and possible implications of the uppermost Ordovician stratigraphy. Ordovician of the World. Instituto Geologico y Minero de Espana. Madrid. P. 267-273.
- Kanygin A.V., Yadrenkina A.G., Timokhin A.V., Moskalenko T.A., and Sychev O.V. [Каныгин А.В., Ядренкина А.Г., Тимохин А.В., Москаленко Т.А., Сычев О.В.] (2007). Stratigraphy of oil and gas basins of Siberia. Ordovician of Siberian platform. Novosibirsk: Academic Publ. House "Geo". 403 p. (In Russian). [Стратиграфия нефтегазоносных бассейнов Сибири. Ордовик Сибирской платформы. Новосибирск: Академическое изд-во "Гео».]
- Kanygin A.V., Sennikov N.V., Shurygin B.N., Volkova V.C., Grazhdankin D.V., and Postnikov A.A. [Каныгин А.В., Сенников Н.В., Шурыгин Б.Н., Волкова В.С., Гражданкин Д.В., Постников А.А.] (2010). Paleontology. Stratigraphy and paleobiogeography of Precambrian and Phanerozoic of Siberia. *In*: History of the development of the Institute of Geology and Geophysics of the Siberian Branch (Academy of Sciences of the USSR and the Russian Academy of Sciences) and its scientific schools. Novosibirsk: GEO. P. 101-152. (In Russian). [Палеонтология. Стратиграфия и палеобиогеография докембрия и фанерозоя Сибири // История развития института геологии и геофизики CO (АН СССР и РАН) и его научных направлений. Новосибирск: ГЕО.]
- Kanygin A.V., Yadrenkina A.G., Timokhin A.V., Moskalenko T.A., Gonta T.V., Stepanova N.I., Sychev O.V., and Maslova O.A. [Каныгин А.В., Ядренкина А.Г., Тимохин А.В., Москаленко Т.А., Гонта Т.В., Степанова Н.И., Сычев О.В., Macлoвa O.A.] (2017). Ordovician regional stratigraphic chart of the Siberian Platform (new version) // Geology and mineral resources of Siberia. N 5c. C. 4–57. (In Russian). [Региональная стратиграфическая схема ордовикских отложений Сибирской платформы (новая версия) // Геология и минерально-сырьевые ресурсы Сибири.]
- *Koren 'T.N.* [Корень Т.Н.] (**2002).** Problems of the General stratigraphic chart of Russia // Regional geology and metallogeny. N 15. C. 14–25. (In Russian). [Проблемы Общей стратиграфической шкалы ордовикской системы // Региональная геология и металлогения.]
- *Krivchikov A.V., Petrunina Z.E., and Severgina L.G.* [Кривчиков А.В., Петрунина З.Е., Севергина Л.Г.] (1976). Ordovician System. *In:* Geological structure and relief of the East Altai: Stratigraphy. Novosibirsk. P. 29–44. (In Russian). [Op-довикская система. Геологическое строение и рельеф Восточного Алтая: Стратиграфия. Новосибирск.]
- *Kul'kov N.P. and Severgina L.G.* [Кульков Н.П., Севергина Л.Г.] (**1989**). Stratigraphy and brachiopods of Ordovician and Silurian of the Gorny Altai. Novosibirsk: Nauka. 223 p. (In Russian). [Стратиграфия и брахиоподы ордовика и нижнего силура Горного Алтая. Новосибирск: Наука.]
- Kuznetsov V.A. [Кузнецов В.А.] (1948). Stratigraphic description. Silurian System. Gorny Altai // Geology of the USSR, Vol. XIV. West Siberia. Pt. I. Geological description. Moscow; Leningrad: State Publ. House for Geol. Literat. P. 157– 165. (In Russian). [Стратиграфическое описание. Силурийская система. Горный Алтай // Геология СССР. Т. XIV. Западная Сибирь. Ч. І. Геологическое описание. М.; Л: Гос. изд. геол. лит.]
- *Levitsky E.S.* [Левицкий Е.С.] (**1962**). About a new trilobite genus *Cybelurus* // Izvestiya vuzov. Geology and exploration. N 7. P. 129–132. (In Russian). [О новом роде трилобитов *Cybelurus* // Изв. вузов. Геология и разведка].
- Levitsky E.S. [Левицкий Е.С.] (1963). Middle Ordovician trilobites from the north-west Gorny Altai and their stratigraphic significance. Abstract of the PhD dissertation. Moscow: Moscow Prospecting Institute. 23 p. (In Russian). [Трилобиты среднего ордовика северо-запада Горного Алтая и их стратиграфическое значение. Автореф. дис.... канд. геол.-мин. наук. М.:. Моск. геол.-развед. ин-т.]

Loydell D.K. (2012). Graptolite biozone correlation charts // Geological Magazine. Vol. 149. P. 124-132.

- *Luchinina V.A.* [Лучинина В.А.] (1973). Ecology of algae and microstructure of algal biostromes from Lower Cambrian of middle stream of Lena River // Environment and life in geological past. Late Precambrian and Paleozoic of Siberia. Trudy Inst. Geol. Geophys. Issue 169. P. 69–71. (In Russian). [Экология водорослей и микроструктура водорослевых биостромов нижнего кембрия среднего течения р. Лены // Среда и жизнь в геологическом прошлом. Поздний докембрий и палеозой Сибири. Тр. Ин-та геол. и геофиз. CO PAH.]
- *Luchinina V.A. and Terleev A.A.* [Лучинина В.А., Терлеев А.А.] (2004). Peculiarities in composition of dendrolites in the Lower Cambrian organogenic structures of the Siberian Platform // News of Paleontology and Stratigraphy. Issue 6–7. P. 43–57. Supplement to Journal Geologiya i Geophyzika. Vol. 45. (In Russian). [Особенности состава дендролитов в нижнекембрийских органогенных постройках Сибирской платформы // Новости палеонтологии и стратиграфии. Выпуск 6-7. Приложение к журналу Геология и геофизика. Т. 45].
- Mangano M.G. and Droser M.L. (2004). The Ichnologic Record of the Ordovician Radiation. The Great Ordovician Biodiversification Event. Webby B., Paris F., Droser M.L. and Percival I.G. (Eds.) New York: Columbia University Press. P. 369–379.
- *Männil R.M.* [Мянниль Р.М.] (**1966**). History of the Baltica basin development during Ordovician. Tallinn: Valgus. 198 p. (In Russian). [История развития Балтийского бассейна в ордовике. Таллин: Изд-во Валгус.]
- Meidla T., Ainsaar L., and Truuver K. (2011). Ostracods in Baltoscandia through the Hirnantian crises. In: Ordovician of the World. Instituto Geologico y Minero de Espana. Madrid. P. 353–357.
- *Melnikova L.M.* (2010). Some Ostracodes from the Gur'yanovka Formation (Upper Ordovician) of Northeastern Gorny Altai // Paleontological Journal. Vol. 44, N 4. P. 399–408.
- *Melnikova L.M.* (2011). Ostracodes from the Tuloi and Karasu formations (Ordovician) of northeastern Gorny Altai // Paleontological Journal. Vol. 45, N 1. P. 60–64.
- *Miller J.F.* (1984). Cambrian and earliest Ordovician conodont evolution, biofacies and provincialism // Geol. Soc. America. Spec. Paper 196. P. 43–68.
- Mitchell C. E., Chen Xu, Bergström S.M., Zhang Yuandong, Wang Zhihao, Webby B.D., and Finney S.C. (1997). Definition of the global boundary stratotype for the Darriwilian Stage of the Ordovician system // Episodes. Vol. 20. P. 158–166.
- *Mitchell C.E., Storch P., Holmden C., Melchin V.J., and Gurierrez Varco J.C.* (2011). New stable isotope data and fossils the Hirnantian Stage in Bohemia and Spain: implications for correlation and paleoclimate. *In:* Ordovician of the World. Instituto Geologico y Minero de Espana. Madrid. P. 371–378.
- *Moskalenko T.A.* [Москаленко Т.А.] (1977). Ashgillian conodonts in the Gorny Altai. Problems of Ordovician and Silurian stratigraphy of Siberia. Novosibirsk: Nauka. Trudy of Inst. Geol. and Geophys. SB AS USSR. Issue 372. P. 74–83. (In Russian). [Ашгиллские конодонты на Горном Алтае. Проблемы стратиграфии ордовика и силура Сибири. Новосибирск: Наука. Труды ИГиГ СО АН СССР.]
- Munnecke A., Calner M., Harper D.T., and Servais T. (2010). Ordovician and Silurian sea-water chemistry, sea level, and climate: A synopsis // Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology. Vol. 296. P. 389–413.
- Naumenko A.I., Gutak Ya.M. (1982). Correlation of Ordovician deposits in the Ernant and Ulagan troughs // Soviet Geology and Geophysics. Vol. 23, N 4. P. 106–108.
- *Nicoll R.S., Laurie J.R., Shergold J.H., and Nielsen A.T.* (1992). Preliminary correlation of Latest Cambriabn to Early Ordovician sea level events in Australia and Scandinavia. *In:* Global Perspectives on Ordovician geology. Nitherlands. Balkema / Rotterdam / Brookfield. P. 381–394.
- Nielsen A.T. (2003). Ordovician Sea Level Changes: potential for global event stratigraphy // In: Albanesi G.I., Beresi M.S. and Peralta S.H. (Eds). INSUGEO, Serie Correlacion Geologica, 17. Ordovician from the Andes. P. 445–449.
- Nielsen A.T. (2004). Ordovician Sea Level Changes: A Baltoscandian Perspective. In: The Great Ordovician Biodiversification Event. Webby B., Paris F., Droser M.L. and Percival I.G. (Eds). Columbia University Press. New York. P. 84–93.
- *Nielsen A.T.* (2011). A re-calibrated revised sea level curve for the Ordovician Baltoscandia. *In:* Ordovician of the World. Instituto Geologico y Minero de Espana. Madrid. P. 399–401.
- Nikonov A.A. [Никонов А. А.] (1931). Sketch on geology and stratigraphy of the Tigerek-Chineta region in the Rudny Altai. Moscow; Leningrad: Geol. Publ. House of the Prospecting Management. Issue 28. P. 31-47. (In Russian). [Очерк геологии и стратиграфии Тигерецко-Чинетинского района в Рудном Алтае. М.; Л.: Геол. изд-во глав, геол.-разв. упр. (Тр. глав. ГРУ ВСНХ СССР. Вып. 28).]
- *Noskov Yu.S.* [Hockob Ю.C.] (2007). Conglomerates with igneous rock pebbles of Gorny Altai. Novosibirsk: SNIIGGiMS Publ. House. 168 p. (In Russian). [Конгломераты с галькой магматических пород Горного Алтая. Новосибирск: Изд-во СНИИГГиМС.]
- *Obut A.M. and Sobolevskaya R.F.* [Обут А.М., Соболевская Р.Ф.] (**1968**). Llandoverian graptolites from cores of drilling wells of Norilsk area. Moscow: Nauka. **136 р. (In Russian). [Граптолиты лландовери в кернах буровых скважин Но**рильского района. (В кн. Обут А.М., Соболевская Р.Ф., Меркурьева А.П.). М.: Наука.]
- *Obut O.T. and Semenova A.M.* (2011). New data on Upper Ordovician radiolarians from the Gorny Altai (SW Siberia, Russia). *In:* Ordovician of the World. Instituto Geologico y Minero de Espana. Madrid. P. 403–407.
- Obut A.M. and Sennikov N.V. [Обут А.М., Сенников Н.В.] (1984). Graptolites and zonation of the Lower Ordovician of the

Gorny Altai. Stratigraphy and fauna of Lower Ordovician of the Gorny Altai. Moscow: Nauka. P. 53–106. (In Russian). [Граптолиты и зональное расчленение нижнего ордовика Горного Алтая. Стратиграфия и фауна нижнего ордовика Горного Алтая. Москва: Изд-во Наука.]

- *Pärnaste H., Bergström J.* (2013). The asaphid trilobite fauna: Its rise and fall in Baltica// Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology. Vol. 389. P. 64–77.
- *Perfil'ev Yu.S. and Levitsky E.S.* [Перфильев Ю.С., Левицкий Е.С.] (**1963**). Bugryshikha Formation and its trilobites // Bull. Mosc. Soc. Nature. Vol. 38. Issue 2. Р. 17–29. [Бугрышихинская свита и ее трилобиты // Бюл. Моск. об-ва испыт. природы.]
- *Perfil'ev Yu.S.* [Перфильев Ю.С.] (1959). New data on Lower Paleozoic stratigraphy of the Gorny Altai // Izvestiya of the High School. Geology and Prospecting. N 11. P. 20–30. (In Russian). [Новые данные по стратиграфии нижнего палеозоя Горного Алтая // Изв. вузов. Геология и разведка.]
- *Petrunina Z.E.* [Петрунина З.Е.] (**1966).** Tremadocian trilobites and biostratigraphy from the western part of Sayan-Altai mountainous area. Abstract of PhD dissertation. Alma-Ata: Institute of Geological Sciences AS KazakhSSR. 30 p. (In Russian). [Трилобиты и биостратиграфия тремадока западной части Саяно-Алтайской горной области. Автореф. канд. дисс. Алма-Ата: Изд-во Ин-та геологических наук АН Казахской ССР.]
- *Petrunina Z.E.* [Петрунина З.Е.] (**1968**). About biostratigraphic division of Tremadocian of the Western part of the Sayan-Altai mountainous area // New data on geology and mineral resources of the West Siberia. Tomsk. Issue 3. P. 87–89. (In Russian). [О биостратиграфическом расчленении тремадока западной части Саяно-Алтайской горной области // Новые данные по геологии и полезным ископаемым Западной Сибири. Томск.]
- *Petrunina Z.E.* [Петрунина З.Е.] (1973). New Tremadocian trilobites genera and species from West Siberia // New data on geology and mineral resources of the West Siberia. Tomsk. Issue 8. Р. 59–68. (In Russian). [Новые роды и виды тремадокских трилобитов Западной Сибири // Новые данные по геологии и полезным ископаемым Западной Сибири. Томск.]
- Petrunina Z.E. [Петрунина З.Е.] (1990). Some new Early Ordovician trilobites from the western part of the Altai- Sayan Mountainous Area // New in Paleozoic paleontology and biostratigraphy of the Asian part of the USSR. Novosibirsk: Nauka, Siberian Branch. Trudy of Inst. Geol. and Geophys. SB AS USSR. Issue 770. P. 21–58. (In Russian). [Некоторые новые раннеордовикские трилобиты западной части Алтае-Саянской горной области. Новое в палеонтологии и биостратиграфии палеозоя Азиатской части СССР. Новосибирск: Наука, Сиб. отд-ние. (Труды Ин-та геологии, геофизики CO AH СССР.)]
- Petrunina Z.E. and Severgina L.G. [Петрунина З.Е., Севергина Л.Г.] (1962). On Ordovician stratigraphy of the North-Western Gorny Altai // Materials on geology of the West Siberia // New data on paleontology and stratigraphy of the West Siberia. Tomsk: Tomsk University Press. Issue 63. P. 81-93. (In Russian). [К стратиграфии ордовика северо- запада Горного Алтая // Материалы по геологии Западной Сибири. Новые данные по палеонтологии и стратиграфии Западной Сибири. Томск: Изд-во Том. гос. ун-та. (Тр. Том. гос. ун-та. Вып. 63).]
- Petrunina Z.E., Sennikov N.V., Ermikov V.D., Zeyfert L.L., Krivchikov A.V., Puzyrev A.A., Severgina L.G., Obut A.M., and Zaslavskaya N.M. [Петрунина З.Е., Сенников Н.В., Ермиков В.Д., Зейферт Л.Л., Кривчиков А.В., Пузырев А.А., Севергина Л.Г., Обут А.М., Заславская Н.М.] (1984). Lower Ordovician stratigraphy and fauna of Mountain Altai. Moscow: Nauka Publ. House. 124 p. (In Russian). [Стратиграфия и фауна нижнего ордовика Горного Алтая. М.: Наука.]
- *Resolutions* of Interdepartmental Stratigraphic committee and its regular commissions. (**2012**). St. Petersburg: VSEGEI Publ. House. Vol. 41. 44 p. (In Russian). [Постановления Межведомственного стратиграфического комитета и его постоянных комиссий. Санкт-Петербург. Изд-во ВСЕГЕИ.]
- Safonova I.Yu., Sennikov N.V., Komiya T., Bychkova Y.V., and Kurganskaya E.V. (2011). Geochemical diversity in oceanic basalts hosted by the Zasur'ya accretionary complex, NW Russian Altai, Central Asia: Implications from trace elements and Nd isotopes // Journal of Asian Earth Sciences. Vol. 42. P. 191-207.
- Schonlaub H.P, Ferretti A., Gaggero L., Hammarlund E., Harper D.A.T., Histon K., Priewalder H., Spotl C., and Storch P. (2011). The Late Ordovician glacial event in the Carnic Alps (Austria). In: Ordovician of the World. Instituto Geologico y Minero de Espana. Madrid. P. 515–526.
- Sennikov N.V. [Сенников Н.В.] (**1976).** Graptolites and Lower Silurian stratigraphy of the Gorny Altai. Moscow: Nauka Publ. House. 270 p. (In Russian) [Граптолиты и стратиграфия нижнего силура Горного Алтая. М.: Наука.]
- Sennikov N.V. [Сенников H.B.] (**1996**). Paleozoic graptolites from the Middle Siberia (systematics, phylogeny, biochronology, biology, paleozoogeography). Novosibirsk: SB RAS, SRC UIGGM Press. 225 p. (In Russian). [Граптолиты палеозоя Средней Сибири (систематика, филогения, биохронология, биологическая природа, палеозоогеография). Новосибирск: Изд-во СО РАН, НИЦ ОИГГМ.]
- Sennikov N.V. [Сенников H.B.] (1998). Manifestation of the global Ordovician-Silurian biotic crisis in the Central Siberian graptolite communities // Russian Geology and Geophysics. Vol. 39, N5. P. 565–574.
- Sennikov N.V. [Сенников H.B.] (2006а). Geological events in Paleozoic of the Altai-Sayan Folded Area and their reflection in paleogeographic and sedimentary environments and paleobiota. *In:* Evolution of the biosphere and biodiversity. 70th anniversary A.Yu. Rosanov. Moscow: KMK Publ. House. P. 506–526. (In Russian). [Геологические события в палео-

зое Алтае-Саянской складчатой области и их отражение в палеогеографических и седиментационных обстановках и в палеобиотах. Эволюция биосферы и биоразнообразия. К 70-летию А.Ю. Розанова. М.: Товарищество научных изданий КМК.]

- Sennikov N.V. [Сенников H.B.] (2006b). Ordovician events and palaeogeographic sedimentary environments in the Altai-Salair paleobasin (Western part of the Altai-Sayan Folded Area, Russia). Intern. Sympos. "Palaeogeography and Global Correlation of Ordovician Events". (IGCP 503 Project). Contributions. Novosibirsk, Russia. August 5-7, 2006. Novosibirsk: Publishing House of SB RAS, "Geo" Branch. P. 50–52.
- Sennikov N.V. [Сенников Н.В.] (2012). New data on graptolite zonation of Katian and Hirnantian (Ordovician) of Gorny Altai. Paleontology and stratigraphic boundaries. Proceedings of LVIII session of Paleontological society of RAS (2–6 April, 2012, St. Petersburg). St. Petersburg: VPO. P. 122–123. (In Russian). [Новые данные по зональному расчленению катианского и хирнантского ярусов (ордовик) Горного Алтая по граптолитам. Палеонтология и стратиграфические границы. Мат. LVIII сессии Палеонтол. общества при РАН (2–6 апреля 2012 г., Санкт-Петербург). СПб.: ВПО.]
- Sennikov N.V. [Сенников Н.В.] (2013). Graptolite zones in Ordovician of Russia. V.I. Krasnov (Ed.) Regional stratigraphy of Late Precambrian and Paleozoic of Siberia: digest of scientific papers Novosibirsk: SNIIGGiMS Publ. House. P. 45–58. (In Russian). [Зональные граптолитовые подразделения в ордовике России. Региональная стратиграфия позднего докембрия и палеозоя Сибири: Сб. науч. тр. / Под ред. В.И.Краснова. Новосибирск: СНИИГГиМС.]
- Sennikov N.V. and Obut O.T. [Сенников Н.В., Обут О.Т.] (2002). Testing the chitinozoan zonal succession according to the graptolite zonal scale (Ordovician, Gorny Altai and Moscow syneclise) // News of Paleontology and Stratigraphy. Issue 5. P. 51–63. Supplement to Journal Geologiya i Geophyzika. Vol. 43. (In Russian). [Тестирование зональной последовательности по хитинозоям на базе граптолитовых зон (ордовик, Горный Алтай и Московская синеклиза) // Новости палеонтологии и стратиграфии. Выпуск 5. Приложение к журналу Геология и геофизика. Том 43.]
- Sennikov N.V. and Bukolova E.V. [Сенников Н.В., Буколова Е.В.] (2010). Dynamics of graptolite taxonomic diversity in Altai and Salair Ordovician basin. Evolution of organic world and biotic crisis. LVI session of Paleontological society. St. Petersburg: Paleontological institute Publ. House. P. 100-102. (In Russian). [Динамика таксономического разнообразия граптолитов в Алтайском и Салаирском ордовикских бассейнах. Эволюция органического мира и биотические кризисы. LVI сессия Палеонтологического общества. Санкт-Петербург: Изд-во ПИН.]
- Sennikov N.V. and Ainsaar L. [Сенников Н.В., Айнсаар Л.] (2012). The first data on carbon isotopes in Hirnantian sediments of Gorny Altai. A.I. Zhamoida (Ed-in-chief). Paleozoic of Russia: regional stratigraphy, paleontology, geo- and bioevents. Proceedings of III All-Russian meeting: Upper Paleozoic of Russia: regional stratigraphy, paleontology, geo- and bioevents. St. Petersburg: VSEGEI. P. 205–207. (In Russian). [Первые данные по изотопам углерода в отложениях хирнантского яруса Горного Алтая. Палеозой России: региональная стратиграфия, палеонтология, гео- и биособытия. Материалы III Всероссийского совещания «Верхний палеозой России: региональная стратиграфия, палеонтология, гео- и биособытия», 24–28 сентября 2012 г., Санкт-Петербург / Отв. ред. А.И. Жамойда. СПб.: Изд-во ВСЕГЕИ.]
- Sennikov N.V. and Tolmacheva T.Yu. [Сенников Н.В., Толмачева Т.Ю.] (2013). Minutes of the meeting of the Ordovician and Silurian Systems Commission. Resolutions of the Interdepartmental Stratigraphic Committee and its standing committees. St. Petersburg: VSEGEI Publ. House. Issue 42. P. 19–20. (In Russian). [Протокол заседания Комиссии по ордовикской и силурийской системам. Постановления Межведомственного стратиграфического комитета и его постоянных комиссий. Санкт-Петербург: Изд-во ВСЕГЕИ.]
- Sennikov N.V., Puzyrev A.A., and Russkikh V.G. [Сенников Н.В., Пузырев А.А., Русских В.Г.] (1979). Ordovician and Silurian of the Ust'-Chagyrka Village area. Problems of stratigraphy and tectonics of Siberia. (Trudy Inst. Geol. Geophys. SB AS USSR). Novosibirsk. P. 30–45. (In Russian). [Ордовик и нижний силур района с.Усть-Чагырки (Горный Алтай). Проблемы стратиграфии и тектоники Сибири. (Труды Ин-та геологии и геофизики СО АН СССР. Новосибирск.]
- Sennikov N.V., Ermikov V.D., Petrunina Z.E., Puzyrev A.A., and Severgina L.G. (1982). On the age of the basal strata of the Ordovician to Middle Devonian complex in the Northwestern Altai region // Soviet Geology and Geophysics. Vol. 23, N 8. P. 51–56.
- Sennikov N.V., Petrunina Z.E., Gladkikh L.A., Ermikov V.D., Zinov'eva T.V., Mamlin A.N., and Shokal'skii S.P. (1984). New Ordovician-Silurian boundary cross-sections in Gorny Altai // Soviet Geology and Geophysics. Vol. 25, N 7. P. 18–22.
- Sennikov N.V., Petrunina Z.E., and Savitsky V.R. [Сенников Н.В., Петрунина З.Е., Савицкий В.Р.] (1995). About Ordovician Savel'evka and Bulukhta formations of the Gorny Altai. *In:* New data on geology and natural resources from the western part of the Altai-Sayan Area. Novokuznetsk: GGP "Zapsibgeologia". Р. 63–66. (In Russian). [О савельевской и булухтинской свитах ордовика Горного Алтая. Новые данные о геологии и полезных ископаемых западной части Алтае-Саянской области. Новокузнецк: ГГП "Запсибгеология".]
- Sennikov N.V., Kazansky A.Yu., Ermikov V.D., Iwata K., Mikhaltsov N.E., Obut O.T., Izokh N.G., and Khlebnikova T.V. [Сенников Н.В., Казанский А.Ю., Ермиков В.Д., Ивата К., Михальцов Н.Э., Обут О.Т., Изох Н.Г., Хлебникова Т.В.] (2000). Comparative analysis of sedimentary, paleozoogeographic and paleoclimatic data on Ordovician and Silurian of Altai and Tuva. 300 years of the Russian prospecting geological survey: history of the prospecting, geological structure

and natural resources of Altai. Barnaul: Altai State University Publ. House. P. 195–200. (In Russian). [Сравнительный анализ седиментационных, палеозоогеографических и палеомагнитных данных по ордовику и силуру Алтая и Тувы. 300 лет горно-геологической службе России: история горнорудного дела, геологическое строение и полезные ископаемые Алтая. Барнаул: Изд-во Алтайского гос. ун-та.]

- Sennikov N.V., Petrunina Z.E., and Gladkikh L.A. [Сенников Н.В., Петрунина З.Е., Гладких Л.А.] (2001a). Litho- and biostratigraphical dissection of the Ashgillian deposits in the central part of Gorny Altai. *In:* Actual problems of geology and mineragenesis Southern of Siberia. Novosibirsk: "Geo" branch of SB RAS Publ. House. P. 135–144. (In Russian). [Лито- и биостратиграфическое расчленение ашгилла центральной части Горного Алтая. Актуальные вопросы геологии и минерагении юга Сибири. Новосибирск: Изд-во СО РАН, филиал "Гео".]
- Sennikov N.V., Obut O.T., Khlebnikova T.V., Iwata K., and Ermikov V.D. [Сенников Н.В., Обут О.Т., Хлебникова Т.В., Ивата К., Ермиков В.Д.] (2001b). Structure and age of the volcanic-terrigenous Zasurya Formation from the central part of the Gorny Altai (Anui-Chuya zone, Marcheta River). *In:* Actual problems of geology and mineragenesis Southern of Siberia. Materials of the scientific conference, 31 Oct. 2 Nov. 2001, Elan Village, Novokuznetsk, Kemerovo region. Novosibirsk: "Geo" branch of SB RAS Publ. House. P. 145–151. (In Russian). [Строение и возраст вулканогенно-кремнисто-терригенной засурьинской свиты в центральной части Горного Алтая (Ануйско-Чуйская зона, р. Марчета). Актуальные вопросы геологии и минерагении юга Сибири. Новосибирск: Изд-во СО РАН, филиал "Гео".]
- Sennikov N.V., Iwata K., Ermikov V.D., Obut O.T., and Khlebnikova T.V. (2003). Palaezoic oceanic sedimentation settings and fauna associations at the southern margin of the West Siberian Plate // Russian Geology and Geophysics. Vol. 44, N 1–2. P. 152–168.
- Sennikov N.V., Obut O.T., Iwata K., Khlebnikova T.V., and Ermikov V.D. (2004). Lithological Markers and Bio-indicators of Deep-water Environments during Paleozoic Siliceous Sedimentation (Gorny Altai Segment of the Paleo-Asian Ocean) // Gondwana Research. Vol. 7. N 3. P. 843–852.
- Sennikov N.V., Izokh N.G., Kazansky A.Yu., Petrunina Z.E., Kungurtsev L.V., Khlebnikova T.V., Mikhal'tsov N.E., and Savitsky V.R. [Сенников Н В., Изох Н.Г., Казанский А.Ю., Петрунина З.Е., Кунгурцев Л.В., Хлебникова Т.В., Михальцов Н.Э., Савицкий В.Р.] (2006а). New biostratigraphic and palaeomagnetic data on the Malinovka Series (Lower and Middle Ordovician, Tuva) // News of Paleontology and Stratigraphy. Issue 8. P. 27-41. Supplement to Journal Geologiya i Geophyzika. Vol. 47. (In Russian). [Новые биостратиграфические и палеомагнитные данные по малиновской серии (нижний-средний ордовик, Тува) // Новости палеонтологии и стратиграфии. Вып. 8. Приложение к журналу «Геология и геофизика». Т. 47.]
- Sennikov N.V., Petrunina Z.E., Obut O.T., and Izokh N.G. (2006b). Ordovician Regional stage and zone of the western part of Altai-Sayan Folded Area (south of West Siberia) – as a tool for Regional and Global correlation of the Ordovician events. "Palaeogeography and Global Correlation of Ordovician Events" (IGCP 503 Project "Ordovician Palaeogeography and Palaeoclimate"): Contrib. of Intern. Sympos. Novosibirsk, Aug. 5–7, 2006. Novosibirsk: Academic Publishing House "Geo". P. 57–60.
- Sennikov N.V., Yolkin E.A., Petrunina Z.E., Gladkikh L.A., Obut O.T., Izokh N.G., and Kipriyanova T.P. (2008). Ordovician-Silurian Biostratigraphy and Paleogeography of the Gorny Altai. Novosibirsk: Publishing House SB RAS. 156 p.
- Sennikov N.V., Obut O.T., and Bukolova E.V. (2011a). Ordovician regional chronostratigraphic scheme of the Gorny Altai / In: Ordovician of the World. Gutierrez-Marco J.C., Rabano I., and Garcia-Bellido D. (Eds). Cuadernos del Museo Geominero. N 14. Instituto Geologico y Minero de Espana, Madrid. P. 547–551.
- Sennikov N.V., Obut O.T., Bukolova E.V., and Tolmacheva T.Yu. (2011b). The depths of the Early Paleozoic sedimentary basins of the Paleoasian Ocean: lithofacies and bioindicator estimates // Russian Geology and Geophysics. Vol. 52. Issue 10. P. 1171–1194.
- Sennikov N.V., Tolmacheva T.Yu., Izokh N.G., and Obut O.T. (2014). The Cambrian-Ordovician Boundary in Gorny Altai // Doklady Earth Sciences Vol. 457, N 1. P. 792–795.
- Sennikov N.V., Tolmacheva T.Yu., Obut O.T., Izokh N.G., and Lykova E.V. (2015a). Zonation of the Siberian Ordovician deposits based on pelagic groups of fauna // Russian Geology and Geophysics. Vol. 56. Issue 4. P. 594–610.
- Sennikov N.V., Ainsaar L., and Meidla T. (2015b). Hirnantian Isotope Carbon Excursion in Gorny Altai, southwestern Siberia // Estonian Journal of Earth Sciences. Vol. 64, N 3. p. 225–232.
- Sennikov N.V., Luchinina V.A., Obut O.T., Tokarev D.A., and Khabibulina R.A. (2017). Late Ordovician "coral-microbialalgal meadows" in the north-western part of Gorny Altai. Contributions of Interekspo Geo-Siberia-2017: XIII International Conference "Subsurface management. Mining. New trends and techniques for prospecting, exploration and exploitation of mineral resources. Economy. Geoecology". – Novosibirsk: SSUGT, P.150–154. [Позднеордовикские «кораллово-микробиально-водорослевые луга» в северо-западной части Горного Алтая. Интерэкспо ГЕО-Сибирь-2017. XIII Междунар. науч. конгр. и выставка, 17–21 апреля 2017 г., Новосибирск: Междунар. науч. конф. «Недропользование. Горное дело. Направления и технологии поиска, разведки и разработки месторождений полезных ископаемых. Экономика. Геоэкология»: сб. материалов в 4 т. Т 2, № 1. – Новосибирск: СГУГиТ.]
- Sennikov N.V., Obut O.T., Tolmacheva T.Yu., Lykova E.V., and Khabibulina R.A. (2018a). The Upper Ordovician of northeastern Gorny Altai: stratigraphy and deposition environments // Russian Geology and Geophysics. Vol. 59. Issue 1. P. 72–87.

- Sennikov N.V., Obut O.T., Izokh N.G., Kipriyanova T.P., Lykova E.V., Tolmacheva T.Yu., Khabibulina R.A. [Сенников Н.В., Обут О.Т., Изох Н.Г., Киприянова Т.П., Лыкова Е.В., Толмачева Т.Ю., Хабибулина Р.А.] (**2018 b**). Regional stratigraphical chart of the Ordovician of western part of the Altai-Sayan Folded Area (new version) // Geology and mineral resources of Siberia. N 7. P. 15-53. (In Russian). [Региональная стратиграфическая схема ордовикских отложений западной части Алтае-Саянской складчатой области (новая версия) // Геология и минерально-сырьевые ресурсы Сибири.]
- Sennikov V.M. [Сенников В.М.] (1962). Ordovician of the Uimen'-Lebed' Synclinorium of the Gorny Altai. Materials on regional geology of Siberia. Moscow: Gostekhgeolizdat. Issue 24. Р. 116–133. (In Russian). [Ордовик Уйменско-Лебедского синклинория Горного Алтая. Материалы по региональной геологии Сибири. М.: Госгеолтехиздат. (Тр. СНИИГГиМС. Вып. 24).]
- Sennikov V.M. [Сенников В.М.] (1977). The history of development of structures in the south part of Altai-Sayan folded area in Ordovician. Barnaul: Altai Publ. House. 135 p. (Trudy SNIIGGiMS. Issue 201.) (In Russian). [История развития структур южной части Алтае-Саянской складчатой области в ордовике. Барнаул: Алтайское книжное изд-во. (Тр. СНИИГГиМС, вып. 201).]
- Sennikov V.M. and Sennikov N.V. (1982). The stratigraphy of Ordovician rocks in the Anui-Chuya synclinorium (Gornyi Altai region) // Soviet Geology and Geophysics. Vol. 23, N. 6. P. 13–20.
- Sennikov V.M., Vinkman M.K., and Kononov A.N. [Сенников В.М., Винкман М.К., Кононов А.Н.] (1959). Cambrian-Ordovician and Ordovician of the Gorny Altai. *In:* Materials on regional geology. Moscow: Gosgeoltekhizdat. P. 51–66. (In Russian). [Кембро-ордовик и ордовик Горного Алтая. Материалы по региональной геологии. М: Госгеолтехиздат.]
- Severgina L.G. [Севергина Л.Г.] (1965). Brachiopods and Ordovician biostratigraphy of the western part of the Sayan-Altai Mountainous Area: Abstract of PhD dissertation. Tomsk: Tom. University Press. 23 p. (In Russian). [Брахиоподы и биостратиграфия ордовика западной части Саяно-Алтайской Горной области: Автореф. дис.... канд. геол.-мин. наук. Томск: Изд-во Том. гос. ун-та.]
- Severgina L.G. [Севергина Л.Г.] (1968). Ordovician System. Altai-Sayan Area (western part). *In:* Geological structure of the USSR. Vol. I. Moscow: Nedra Press. P. 278–280. (In Russian). [Ордовикская система. Алтае-Саянская область (западная часть). Геологическое строение СССР. Т. І. М.: Недра.]
- Severgina L.G. [Севергина Л.Г.] (1972). Stratigraphic chart for the Middle and Upper Ordovician of the western Part of Sayan-Altai Area. Kemerovo: Kemerovo Press. P. 62–66. (In Russian). [Схема стратиграфии средне- и верхнеордовикских отложений западной части Саяно-Алтайской области. Кемерово: Кемеровское кн. изд-во. (Изв. Кузнецкого отдела Географического об-ва СССР. Вып. 1).]
- Severgina L.G. [Севергина Л.Г.] (1973). Biostratigraphy of the Ordovician deposits of the Old Paleozoic framework of the Kuznetsk Basin. *In:* Nature of Kuznetsk Basin. Novokuznetsk: USSR Kuznetsk Geographic Society Press. P. 170-181. (In Russian). [Биостратиграфия ордовикских отложений древнепалеозойского обрамления Кузбасса. Природа Кузбасса. Новокузнецк: Изд-во Кузнецкого отдела Географ. об-ва СССР.]
- Severgina L.G. [Севергина Л.Г.] (1978). Brachiopods and biostratigraphy of Upper Ordovician of Gorny Altai, Salair and Gornaya Shoriya. In: Fauna and biostratigraphy of Upper Ordovician and Silurian of Altai-Sayan area. Moscow: Nauka. P. 3-41. (In Russian). [Брахиоподы и биостратиграфия верхнего ордовика Горного Алтая, Салаира и Горной Шории. Фауна и биостратиграфия верхнего ордовика и силура Алтае-Саянской области. М.: Наука.]
- Severgina L.G. [Севергина Л.Г.] (**1984).** Some Upper Ordovician (Ashgillian) brachiopods of Gorny Altai. *In:* Paleozoic paleontology and biostratigraphy of Siberia. Novosibirsk: Nauka. P. 39–48. (In Russian). [Некоторые верхнеордовикские (ашгиллские) брахиоподы Горного Алтая. Палеонтология и биостратиграфия палеозоя Сибири. Новосибирск. Изд-во Наука.]
- Strachan I. (1996). A bibliographic index of British graptolites (Graptoloidea). Part 1. The Palaeontographical Society London. P. 1–40.
- Strachan I. (1997). A bibliographic index of British graptolites (Graptoloidea). Part 2. The Palaeontographical Society London. P. 41–155.
- Stratigraphic dictionary of the USSR. (1956). Moscow: Gosgeoltekhizdat. 1283 p. (In Russian). [Стратиграфический словарь СССР. М.: Госгеолтехиздат.]
- *Stratigraphic* dictionary of the USSR. Cambrian, Ordovician, Silurian, Devonian. (**1975**). Leningrad: Nedra Press. 622 р. (In Russian). [Стратиграфический словарь СССР. Кембрий, ордовик, силур, девон. Л.: Недра.]
- *Stratigraphic* dictionary of the USSR. New Paleozoic stratigraphic units for the USSR. (**1991**). Leningrad: Nedra Press. 555 p. (In Russian). [Стратиграфический словарь СССР. Новые стратиграфические подразделения палеозоя СССР. Л.: Недра.]
- *Paleozoic stratigraphy of the Central Siberia* (1967). Novosibirsk: Nauka. 251 p. (In Russian). [Стратиграфия палеозоя Средней Сибири. Новосибирск: Изд-во Наука.]
- *The Geologic* Time Scale 2012. (2012). / Editors: Gradstein F.M., Ogg J.G., Schmitz M.D., Ogg G.M. 2-volume set. Elsevier Science Ltd. 1176 p.
- Tikhonov V.I. [Тихонов В.И.] (1956). About stratigraphy of the "Anui-Chuya" and "Green-violet" formations of the Charysh

Altai // Trudy VAGT. Issue 2. Р. 34–45. (In Russian). [К стратиграфии "Ануйско-Чуйской" и "Зелено-фиолетовой" формаций Причарышского Алтая // Труды ВАГТ.]

- *Underwood C.J., Crowley S.F., Marshall J.D., and Brenchley P.J.* (1997). High-resolution carbon isotope stratigraphy of the basal Stratotype (Dob's Linn, Scotland) and its global correlation // Journal of the Geological Society. Vol. 154. P. 709–718.
- *Usov M.A.* [Усов М.А.] (1936). Stages and cycles of tectonogenesis in the West-Siberian region. Tomsk, 209 p. (In Russian). [Фазы и циклы тектоногенеза Западно-Сибирского края. Томск.]
- Varaksina I.V. and Sennikov N.V. [Вараксина И.В., Сенников Н.В. (2006). Lithology and carbonate rocks sedimentary environments in Ordovician of Gorny Altai and Salair (Siberia, Russia). International Symposium "Palaeogeography and Global Correlation of Ordovician Events". (IGCP 503 Project). Contributions. Novosibirsk, Russia. August 5–7, 2006. Novosibirsk: Publishing House of SB RAS, "Geo" Branch. P. 67–71.
- Vinkman M.K. and Gintsinger A.B. [Винкман М.К., Гинцингер А.Б.] (1967). Type section of the Ordovician deposits in the north-east of the Anui-Chuya Synclinorium, Gorny Altai. Materials on the Siberian regional geology. Novosibirsk: SNIIGGiMS Publ. House. Issue 57. Р. 161–167. (In Russian). [Типовой разрез ордовикских отложений на северовостоке Ануйского синклинория в Горном Алтае. Материалы по региональной геологии Сибири. Новосибирск: Изд-во СНИИГГиМС. (Тр. СНИИГГиМС. Вып. 57).]
- Walliser O.H. (1986). Towards a more critical approach to bio-events. Global Bio-Events. A Critical Approach. Walliser O.H. (Ed.). Lecture Notes in Earth Sciences. Bhattachrji S., Friedman G.M., Neugebauer H.J. and Seilacher A. (Eds.). Vol. 8. Springer-Verlag. P. 5–16.
- Walliser O.H. (Ed.) (1996). Global Events and Event Stratigraphy in the Phanerozoic. Springer-Verlag, New York, 333 p.
- *Wang Xiaofeng and Chen Xu.* (2003). Ordovician chitinozoan diversification events in China // Science in China (Ser. D. Earth Sciences). Vol. 33, N 3. P. 210–215. (In Chinese).
- Wang Xiaofeng, Stouge S., Erdtmann B.-D., Chen Xiaohong, Li Zhihong, Wang Chuanshang, Zeng Qinglun, Zhou Zhiqiang, and Chen Huiming. (2005). A proposed GSSP for the base of the Middle Ordovician Series: the Huanghuachang section, Yichang, China // Episodes. Vol. 28, N 2. P. 105–117.
- Webby B., Cooper R., Bergström S.M., and Paris F. (2004). Stratigraphic Framework and Time Scales. In: The Great Ordovician Biodiversification Event. Webby B., Paris F., Droser M.L., and Percival I.G. (Eds). New York: Columbia University Press. P. 41–47.
- *Yaroshinskaya A.M.* [Ярошинская А.М.] (**1960**). Bryozoa. Paleozoic biostratigraphy of the Sayan-Altai mountainous area. Vol. I. Lower Paleozoic. *L.L. Khalfin* (Ed.). Novosibirsk: SNIIGGiMS Publ. House. Trudy SNIIGGiMS. Issue 19. Р. 362, 393–400. [Тип Вryozoa. Мшанки. Биостратиграфия палеозоя Саяно-Алтайской горной области. Т. I. Нижний палеозой. Под ред. Л.Л. Халфина. Труды СНИИГГиМС. Вып. 19. Новосибирск: СНИИГГиМС.]
- Yolkin E.A., Sennikov N.V., Buslov M.M., Yazikov A.Yu., Gratsianova R.T., and Bakharev N.K. (1994). Paleogeographic reconstruction of the Western Altai-Sayan area in the Ordovician, Silurian, and Devonian and their geodynamic interpretation // Russian Geology and Geophysics. Vol. 35, N 7–8. P. 100–124.
- Zalasiewicz J.A., Taylor L., Rushton A.W.A., Loydell D.K, Rickards R.B., and Williams M. (2009). Graptolites in British Stratigraphy // Geological Magazine. Vol. 146, N 06. P. 785–850.

PALEONTOLOGICAL PLATES

Tabulate corals

Plate 1

Tabulate corals from the localities in the northeastern part of Gorny Altai, the right bank of the Lebed' River, Lebed' Section.

Collection of Raliya A. Khabibulina.

Fig. 1. *Heliolites tchorparensis* Poltavceva:
The Lebed' section, Member 19, loc. Kh1013-2. Upper Ordovician, Chebor Formation.
1a – transverse thin section, 1b – longitudinal thin section.

Fig. 2. Nyctopora nicholsoni (Raduguin):

The Lebed' section, Member 7, loc. Kh1014-2. Upper Ordovician, Gur'yanovka Formation. 2a – transverse thin section, 2b – longitudinal thin section.

Fig. 3. Calapoecia canadensis Billings:

The Lebed' section, Member 9, loc. Kh1014-4. Upper Ordovician, Gur'yanovka Formation. 3a – transverse thin section, 3b – longitudinal thin section.

Fig. 4. Tetradium sp.:

The Lebed' section, Member 9, loc. Kh1214-9. Upper Ordovician. Gur'yanovka Formation. 4a – transverse thin section, 4b – longitudinal thin section.





Tabulate corals

Plate 2

Tabulate corals from the localities in the eastern part of Gorny Altai, Teletskoye Lakeside, the right bank of the Verkhniy Turochak River, left tributary of Iogach River. *Collection of Raliya A. Khabibulina.*

Fig. 1. *Catenipora* sp.: The Verkhniy Turochak Section, Member 4, loc. S-183. Upper Ordovician, Samysh Body. 1a – transverse thin section, 1b – longitudinal thin section.

Fig. 2. *Rhaphidophyllum ellipsoidalis* Preobrazhensky: The Verkhniy Turochak Section, loc. 6116. Upper Ordovician, Samysh Body. 2a – transverse thin section, 2b – longitudinal thin section.

Fig. 3. *Nyctopora denticulate* Sokolov et Tesakov: The Verkhniy Turochak Section, Member 4, loc. S-1754. Upper Ordovician, Samysh Body. 3a – transverse thin section, 3b – longitudinal thin section.

Fig. 4. Cyrtophyllum bargastensis Dziubo:

The Verkhniy Turochak Section, Member 4, loc. S-183. Upper Ordovician, Samysh Body. 4a – transverse thin section, 4b – longitudinal thin section





Tabulate corals

Plate 3

Tabulate corals from the localities in the eastern part of Gorny Altai, Teletskoye Lakeside (Verkhniy Turochak River), Biya and Lebed' rivers and nothwestern part of Gorny Altai (Charysh River). *Collection of Raliya A. Khabibulina.*

Fig. 1. Reuschia aperta Kiaer:

The right bank of Verkhniy Turochak River (left tributary of Iogach River). The Verkhniy Turochak Section, loc. 6116. Upper Ordovician, Samysh Body.

1a - transverse thin section, 1b - longitudinal thin section

Fig. 2. Tetradium borealis Tchernychev:

The right bank of the Biya River, loc. 7134. Upper Ordovician.

2a - transverse thin section, 2b - transverse thin section.

Fig. 3. Mesofavosites sp.:

The right bank of the Charysh River (near Ust'-Kan Village), loc. S-1615. Upper Ordovician- Lower Silurian. 3a – transverse thin section, 3b –longitudinal thin section.

Fig. 4. Reuschia sp.:

The right bank of the Lebed' River. Lebed' Section, Member 9, loc. Kh1214-13.Upper Ordovician, Gur'yanovka Formation.

4a – transverse thin section, 4b – longitudinal thin section.




Brachiopods

Plate 4

Brachiopods from the eastern part of Gorny Altai, Teletskoye Lakeside, the Tozodov Section. Tozodov Formation, Upper Ordovician, Sandbian Stage.

Collection of Tatyana A. Shcherbanenko.

Fig. 1. Eoanastrophia lebediensis (Severgina):

1 -specimen Tozodov-6/1, ventral exterior, natural-sized; 1a -ventral exterior; 1b -dorsal exterior; 1c -lateral view; 1d -anterior view; 1e -posterior view; all ×3. The Tozodov Section, Member 6.

Figs 2-6. Apatomorpha altaica Severgina:

2 - specimen C-1440/2, ventral exterior, natural-sized. 2a - ventral exterior; 2b - dorsal exterior; 2c - lateral view; 2d - posterior view; all $\times 3$. The Tozodov Section, Member 3.

3 – specimen C-1440/3, ventral exterior, natural-sized. 3a – ventral exterior; 3b – dorsal exterior; 3c – lateral view; 3d – posterior view; all ×2. The Tozodov Section, Member 3.

4 – specimen C-1441/4, internal mold of ventral valve, ×3. The Tozodov Section, Member 7.

5 – specimen C-1442/5, internal mold of dorsal valve, \times 3. The Tozodov Section, Member 8.

6 - specimen C-1442/6, cardinal process, ×3. The Tozodov Section, Member 8.

Figs 7-9. Sivorthis friendsvillensis (Cooper):

7 – specimen C-1440/7, ventral exterior, natural-sized. 7a – ventral exterior; 7b – dorsal exterior; 7c – lateral view; 7d – anterior view; 7e – posterior view; all \times 3. Tozodov Section, Member 3.

8 - specimen C-1442/8, internal mold of ventral valve ×3. Tozodov Section, Member 8.

9-specimen C-1442/9, internal mold of dorsal valve, ×3. Tozodov Section, Member 8.



Plate 5

Trilobites from the localities in the northwestern Gorny Altai, Bugryshikha Formation, the Gora Altai Section. Specimens 1–6 are from Member 5, in 1 m from the bottom; specimens 7–11 are from Member 14, in 2 m from the bottom.

Collection of Aleksander V. Timokhin.

Figs 1, 4, 8 - Homotelus inferus Levitsky.

Figs 2, 5, 7, 10, 11 – Lonchodomas rostratus (Sars).

Fig. 3 – Niellus sp.

Fig. 6 – Telephina sp.

Fig. 9 – Megistaspis sp.



Plate 6

Trilobites from the localities in the northwestern Gorny Altai, Bugryshikha Formation, the Gora Altai Section. All specimens are from Member 5, in 3m from the bottom. *Collection of Aleksander V. Timokhin.*

Figs 1, 3 – Lonchodomas communis Levitsky.

Figs 2, 9, 14 – Lonchodomas rostratus (Sars).

- Fig. 4 Eorobergia insignis Petrunina.
- Fig. 5 Telephina ex gr. mobergi Hadding.

Fig. 6 - Gen. nov. sp.indet.

Figs 7, 8, 12, 13 - Homotelus inferus Levitsky.

Figs 10, 11 – Megistaspis sp.

Plate 6



Plate 7

Trilobites from the localities in the northwestern Gorny Altai, Bugryshikha Formation, the Malaya Uskuchevka Section. All specimens are from Member 1.

Collection of Aleksander V. Timokhin.

Figs 1, 2, 11 – *Niellus* sp.

Figs 3, 5b, 7 – Eorobergia sp.

Figs 4, 10 - Homotelus inferus Levitsky.

Figs 5a, 6, 8 – Telephina sp.

Fig. 9 - Lonchodomas rostratus (Sars)



Plate 8

Trilobites from the localities in the northwestern Gorny Altai, Khankhara Formation, the Ebogon Section. All specimens are from Member 20.

Collection of Aleksander V. Timokhin.

Fig. 1 – Bronteopsis transversal Petrunina.

Figs 2, 6, 9, 10 - Erratecrinuru brutoni Owen.

Fig. 3 – Bronteopsis gregaria Raymond.

Fig. 4 – Calyptaulax sp.

Figs 5, 8 – Niellus sp.

Fig. 7 – Lonchodomas rostratus (Sars).

Figs 11, 12, 13, 14, 15, 16 – *Eorobergia* sp.



Plate 9

Trilobites from the localities in the northwestern Gorny Altai, Khankhara Formation, the Ebogon Section. All specimens are from Member 20.

Collection of Aleksander V. Timokhin.

Figs 1a, 1b, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8 – Lonchodomas rostratus (Sars).

Figs 9, 10, 11, 12, 14 - Stygina minor Skjeseth.

Figs 13, 15, 16, 17 – Megistaspis sp.





Plate 10

Trilobites from the localities in the northeastern Gorny Altai. Figs 1-6: Lebed' River, the Lebed' Section, Karasa Formation, Member 25; figs 8–12: Biya River, Samysh Body, loc. S-1618. *Collection of Aleksander V. Timokhin.*

Figs 1, 3, 7, 12 – *Homotelus* sp.

Figs 2, 10 - Lonchodomas rostratus (Sars).

Fig. 4 - Calyptaulax sp.

Figs 5, 6 - Illaenus sp.

Fig. 8 – Eorobergia sp.

Fig. 9 – Megistaspis sp.

Fig. 11 - Stygina minor Skjeseth

Plate 10



Plate 11

Trilobites from the localities in the northeastern Gorny Altai, Karasa Formation, the Yurok Section. *Collection of Aleksander V. Timokhin.*

Figs 1, 2 – *Cybelurus altaicus* Levitsky: Member 1, in 3 m from the bottom, loc. C-1118-1.

Figs 3, 4, – *Paracybeloides(?)* sp.: specimen 3 - Member 2, in 8 m from the bottom, loc. C-1118-2; specimen 4 – Member 3, loc. C-1116-c.

Fig. 5 – *Carolinites* sp.: Member 3, loc. C-1116-c.

Figs 6, 7 – *Robergia sparsa* Nikolaisen: specimen 6 – Member 3, loc. C-1116-c; specimen 7 - Member 2, in 5 m from the bottom, loc. C-1118-2,.

Figs 8, 9, 10, 11, 12 – *Lonchodomas rostratus* (Sars): specimen 8 - Member 3, loc. C-1116-c; specimens 9, 12 - Member 2, in 8 m from the bottom, loc. C-1118-2; specimen 10 - Member 3, loc. C-1116-a; specimen 11 – Member 3, loc. C-1116-c.

Figs 13 – 16, Raymondaspis sp.

specimen 14 - Member 2, loc. C-1118-2, 5 m from the bottom; specimen 15 – Member 4, in 5 m from the bottom, loc. C-1118-4; specimen 16 – Member 3, loc. C-1116-c.

Fig. 17 – *Megistaspis (M.) polyphemus* Brogger: Member 1, in 3 m from the bottom, loc. C-1118-1.



Plate 12

Trilobites from the localities in the northeastern Gorny Altai. Figs 1-6, 8-16: upper part of the Karasa Formation, upper part of the Tuloi Section, loc. R-409b; fig 7: lower part of the Karasa Formation, the Yurok Section, Member 2, in 7,5 m from the bottom, loc. C-1118-2.

Collection of Aleksander V. Timokhin.

Figs 1, 2 – Megistaspis (M.) polyphemus Brogger.

Fig. 3 – Paracybeloides (?) sp.

Figs 4, 5 - Robergia sparsa Nikolaisen.

Fig. 6 – Carolinites sp.

Fig. 7 – Niobe sp.

Figs 8, 9, 10 - Lonchodomas rostratus (Sars).

Fig. 11 – Agerina sp.

Fig. 12 - Raymondaspis sp.

Fig. 13 – Niellus sp.

Figs 14 –16 - *Ampyx* sp.



Plate 13

- Trilobites from the localities in the eastern Gorny Altai, Tozodov Formation, the Tozodov Section, members 7–8.
 - Collection of Aleksander V. Timokhin.

Figs 1, 4 – Asaphus knyrkoi F. Schmidt.

Figs 2, 3, 6, 17 – Asaphus striatus Brogger.

Figs 7, 8, 9, 10 – Lonchodomas rostratus (Sars).

Fig. 11 - Pliomera fischeri (Eichwald).

Figs 5, 14, 16, 18 – Illaenus sp.

Figs 12, 13 - Homotelus sp.

Plate 13



Ostracods

Plate 14

Ostracods from the localities of the Teletskoe Lakeside area, northeastern part of Gorny Altai. *Collections of Taras V. Gonta.*

Figs 1–3. *Primitia* sp.: Samysh River, loc. S-1630, specimen 1 – left valve, lateral view; specimen 2 – left valve, lateral view; specimen 3– right valve, lateral view.

Figs 4, 5. *Laccochilina (Laccochilina)* aff. *torosa* Kanygin: Tarlyk River, loc. S-1631, specimen 4 – male right valve, lateral view; specimen 5 – male left valve, lateral view.

Figs 6, 7. *Bolbina* sp.: Verkhniy Turochak River, loc. S-1754, specimen 6 – male left valve, lateral view, specimen 7 – female left valve, lateral view.

Figs 8, 9. *Rigidella* sp. 1: Tarlyk River, loc. S-1631, specimen 8 – left valve, lateral view; specimen 9 – right valve, lateral view.

Figs 10, 11. Rigidella sp. 2: Tarlyk River, loc. S-1631, specimens 10, 11 - left valves, lateral view.

Figs 12–14. Steuslofia sp.: Tarlyk River, loc. S-1631, specimens 12, 13, 14 - right valves, lateral view.

Figs 15, 16. *Egorovella* sp.: specimen 15 – Tozodov Brook, loc. S-1442, right valve, lateral view; specimen 16 – Tarlyk River, loc.S-1631, right valve, lateral view.

Figs 17, 18. *Pseudozygobolbina invisitata* Melnikova: Samysh River, loc. S-1630, specimens 17, 18 – left valves, lateral view.

Figs 19, 20. *Hallatina* aff *orlovi* V. Ivanova: Tarlyk River, loc. S-1631, specimens 19, 20 – left valves, lateral view.



Graptolites

Plate 15

Graptolites from the localities in the northeastern part of Gorny Altai. Scale bar 1 mm. *Collections of Elena V. Lykova, Nikolay V. Sennikov.*

Fig. 1. Eotetragraptus quadribrachiatus (Hall):

The left bank of the Lebed' River, Pridorozhny Section, loc. B-1011a. Tuloi Formation, Dapingian, *E. hirundo* Zone, *I. caduceus-imitatus* Subzone.

Fig. 2. *Eotetragraptus harti* (T.S. Hall): The right bank of the Tuloi River, Tuloi Section, loc. S-0724. Tuloi Formation, Dapingian, *E. hirundo* Zone.

Figs 3, 10. Pseudoisograptus manubriatus (T.S.Hall):

3 – the right bank of the Tuloi River, Tuloi Section, loc. B-1111. Tuloi Formation, Dapingian, E. *hirundo* Zone; 10 – right bank of the Tuloi River, Tuloi Section, loc. B-117. Tuloi Formation, Dapingian, *E. hirundo* Zone.

Figs 4, 5, 11, 12. Corymbograptus deflexus (Elles et Wood):

4, 12 – the right bank of the Tuloi River, Tuloi Section, loc. S-0724. Tuloi Formation, Dapingian, *E. hirundo* Zone; 5, 11 – the left bank of the Lebed' River, Pridorozhny Section, loc. B-107. Tuloi Formation, Dapingian, *I. gibberulus* Zone, *I. maximo-divergens* Subzone.

Figs 6, 7. Corymbograptus inflexus (Chen et Xia):

6, 7 – the left bank of the Lebed' River, Pridorozhny Section, loc. B-106. Tuloi Formation, Dapingian, *I. gibberulus* Zone, *C. deflexus* subzone.

Figs 8, 9. Expansograptus extensus (Hall):

8 – the right bank of the Tuloi River, Tuloi Section, loc. B-118. Tuloi Formation, Dapingian, *E. hirundo* Zone; 9 – the left bank of the Lebed' River, Pridorozhny Section, loc. B-096. Tuloi Formation, Dapingian, *I. gibberulus* Zone, *I. maximo-divergens* Subzone.

Figs 13, 14. Pseudophyllograptus angustifolius angustifolius Hall:

13, 14 – the right bank of the Biya River, Yurok Section, loc. S-1118-4/18. Tuloi Formation, Floian, *Ps. angustifolius elongatus* Zone.



Graptolites

Plate 16

Graptolites from the localities in the northeastern part of Gorny Altai. Scale bar 1 mm. *Collections of Elena V. Lykova, Nikolay V. Sennikov.*

Figs 1, 2, 6. Pseudoisograptus manubriatus (T.S.Hall):

1 – the left bank of the Lebed' River, Pridorozhny Section, loc. B-096. Tuloi Formation, Dapingian, *I. gibberulus* Zone, *I. maximo-divergens* Subzone; 2 – the left bank of the Lebed' River, Pridorozhny Section, loc. B-109. Tuloi Formation, Dapingian, *E. hirundo* Zone, *I. caduceus-imitatus* Subzone; 6 – the left bank of the Lebed' River, Pridorozhny Section, loc. B-106 a. Tuloi Formation, Dapingian, *I. gibberulus* Zone, *C. deflexus* Subzone.

Figs 3, 4, 10. Pseudisograptus manubriatus janus Cooper et Ni :

3 – the left bank of the Lebed' River, Pridorozhny Section, loc. B-093. Tuloi Formation, Dapingian, *I. gibberulus* Zone, *I. maximo-divergens* Subzone; 4, 10 – the left bank of the Lebed' River, Pridorozhny Section, loc. B -096. Tuloi Formation, Dapingian, *I. gibberulus* Zone, *I. maximo-divergens* Subzone.

Figs 7, 8, 9. Isograptus gibberulus (Nicholson):

7, 8 – the left bank of the Lebed' River, Pridorozhny Section, loc. B-108. Tuloi Formation, Dapingian, *I. gibberulus* Zone, *I. maximo-divergens* Subzone; 9 – the right bank of the Tuloi River, Tuloi Section, loc. B –117. Tuloi Formation, Dapingian, *E. hirundo* Zone.

Figs 5, 11, 12, 14, 15. Pseudoisograptus manubriatus (T.S.Hall):

5, 11, 12, 15 – the right bank of the Tuloi River, Tuloi Section, loc. S-0724. Tuloi Formation, Dapingian, *E. hirundo* Zone; 14 – the right bank of the Tuloi River, Tuloi Section, loc. B-117. Tuloi Formation, Dapingian, *E. hirundo* Zone.

Figs 13. Isograptus divergens (Harris)

13 – the left bank of the Lebed' River, Pridorozhny Section, loc. B-107a. Tuloi Formation, Dapingian, *I. gibberulus* Zone, *I. maximo-divergens* Subzone.

Plate 16



Ordovician sedimentary basins and paleobiotas of the Gorny Altai

Graptolites

Plate 17

Graptolites from the localities in the northeastern part of Gorny Altai. Scale bar 1 mm. *Collections of Elena V. Lykova, Nikolay V. Sennikov.*

Figs 1, 2, 3, 11. Isograptus gibberulus (Nicholson):

1 – the left bank of the Lebed' River, Pridorozhny Section, loc. B-096. Tuloi Formation, Dapingian, *I. gibberulus* Zone, *I. maximo-divergens* Subzone; 2, 3 – the left bank of the Lebed' River, Pridorozhny Section, loc. B -107a. Tuloi Formation, Dapingian, *I. gibberulus* Zone, I. *maximo-divergens* Subzone; 11 – the left bank of the Lebed' River, Pridorozhny Section, loc. B -108. Tuloi Formation, Dapingian, *I. gibberulus* Zone, *I. maximo-divergens* Subzone.

Figs 4, 6-9, 13. Isograptus divergens (Harris):

4 – the left bank of the Lebed' River, Pridorozhny Section, loc. B-109. Tuloi Formation, Dapingian, *E. hirundo* Zone, *I. caduceus-imitatus* Subzone; 6, 7, 9, 13 – the left bank of the Lebed' River, Pridorozhny Section, loc. B -107a. Tuloi Formation, Dapingian, *I. gibberulus* Zone, *I. maximo-divergens* Subzone; 8 – the left bank of the Lebed' River, Pridorozhny Section, loc. B -093. Tuloi Formation, Dapingian, *I. gibberulus* Zone, *I. maximodivergens* Subzone.

Figs 5. Isograptus forcipiformis (Ruedemann):

5 – the left bank of the Lebed' River, Pridorozhny Section, loc. B-093. Tuloi Formation, Dapingian, *I. gibberulus* Zone, *I. maximo-divergens* Subzone.

Figs 10, 12, 14. Isograptus maximo-divergens (Harris):

10, 14 – the left bank of the Lebed' River, Pridorozhny Section, loc. B-109. Tuloi Formation, Dapingian, *E. hirundo* Zone, *I. caduceus-imitatus* Subzone; 12 – the left bank of the Lebed' River, Pridorozhny Section, loc. B -093. Tuloi Formation, Dapingian, *I. gibberulus* Zone, *I. maximo-divergens* Subzone.

Plate 17



Ordovician sedimentary basins and paleobiotas of the Gorny Altai

Graptolites

Plate 18

Graptolites from the localities in the northeastern part of Gorny Altai. Scale bar 1 mm. *Collections of Elena V. Lykova, Nikolay V. Sennikov.*

Figs 1, 3. Isograptus divergens (Harris):

1 – the left bank of the Lebed' River, Pridorozhny Section, loc. B-109. Tuloi Formation, Dapingian, *E. hirundo* Zone, *I. caduceus-imitatus* Subzone; 3 – the left bank of the Lebed' River, Pridorozhny Section, loc. B –107a. Tuloi Formation, Dapingian, *I. gibberulus* Zone, *I. maximo-divergens* Subzone.

Figs 2, 4. Isograptus walcottorum Ruedemann:

2 – the left bank of the Lebed' River, Pridorozhny Section, loc. B-096. Tuloi Formation, Dapingian, *I. gibberulus* Zone, *I. maximo-divergens* Subzone; 4 – the left bank of the Lebed' River, Pridorozhny Section, loc. B -093. Tuloi Formation, Dapingian, *I. gibberulus* Zone, *I. maximo-divergens* Subzone.

Figs 5, 13. Isograptus paraboloides Tzaj :

5, 13 – the right bank of the Tuloi River, Tuloi Section, loc. B-118. Tuloi Formation, Dapingian, *E. hirundo* Zone.

Figs 6, 12. Isograptus elegans Tzaj:

6 – the right bank of the Tuloi River, Tuloi Section, loc. S-0724. Tuloi Formation, Dapingian, *E. hirundo* Zone; 12 – the left bank of the Lebed' River, Pridorozhny Section, loc. B -096. Tuloi Formation, Dapingian, *I. gibberulus* Zone, *I. maximo-divergens* Subzone.

Fig. 7. Isograptus maximo-divergens (Harris):

7-the left bank of the Lebed' River, Pridorozhny Section, loc. B-108. Tuloi Formation, Dapingian, *I. gibberulus* Zone, *I. maximo-divergens* Subzone.

Figs 8, 9, 11. Phyllograptus ilicifolius Hall:

8, 9, 11 – the right bank of the Biya River, Yurok Section, loc. S-1118-4/5. Tuloi Formation, Floian, *Ps. angustifolius elongatus* Zone.

Fig. 10. Phyllograptus anna longus Ruedemann:

10 – the right bank of the Biya River, Yurok Section, loc. S-1118-4/5. Tuloi Formation, Floian, *Ps. angustifolius elongatus* Zone.

Plate 18



Graptolites

Plate 19

Graptolites from the localities in the western (Krasnoshchekovo and Maralikha villages, Charysh River) and northeastern (Tuloi, Lebed'and Biya rivers) parts of Gorny Altai. Scale bar 1 mm.

Collections of Elena V. Lykova, Nikolay V. Sennikov.

Figs 1, 2, 3, 4, 13. Eoglyptograptus dentatus (Brongniart):

1, 2, 3 – West of Krasnoshekovo Village, Batun Section, loc. S-813a. Voskresenka Formation, Darriwilian, *E. dentatus* Zone.

Figs 4, 13. Amplexograptus confertus (Lapworth):

4, 13 – the right bank of the Tuloi River, Tuloi Section, loc. LSS-409. Karasa Formation, Darriwilian, E. dentatus Zone.

Figs 5, 6, 14–16. Hustedograptus teretiusculus (Hisinger):

5, 6 – Former Stretinka Village, Lebed' River, Lebed' Section, loc. S-7546 (=R-254). Karasa Formation, Darriwilian, *H. teretiusculus* Zone; 14 - the right bank of the Biya River, Yurok Section, loc. S-1118-1/3. Tuloi Formation, Floian, *Ps. angustifolius elongatus* Zone; 15 - the right bank of the Biya River, Yurok Section, loc. S-1118-2/8. Tuloi Formation, Floian, *Ps. angustifolius elongatus* Zone; 16 – left bank of the Charysh River, Charysh Section, loc. S-804-6. Bugryshikha Formation, Darriwilian - Sandbian, *H. teretiusculus – C. peltifer; A. antiquus lineatus* zones.

Figs 7-11. Undulograptus austrodentatus (Harris et Keble):

7–10 – vicinity of Maralikha Village, Maralikha Section, loc. S-072. Voskresenka Formation, Darriwilian, *U. austrodentatus* Zone; 11 – vicinity of Maralikha Village, Maralikha Section, loc. S-0523. Voskresenka Formation, Darriwilian, *U. austrodentatus* Zone.

Fig. 12. Undulograptus sinicus (Mu et Lee):

12 – vicinity of Maralikha Village, Maralikha section, loc. S-072. Voskresenka Formation, Darriwilian, U. austrodentatus Zone.



Ordovician sedimentary basins and paleobiotas of the Gorny Altai

Plate 20

Late Cambrian - Early Ordovician conodonts from the localities in the northern part of Gorny Altai, Kamlak Village, Kamlak Formation.

Collection of Tatyana Yu. Tolmacheva.

Figs 1, 2. *Iapetonudus* sp.: The Kamlak Section, Member 10, Middle Kamlak Subformation, Lower Tremadocian.

Fig. 3. *Cordylodus lindstromi* Druce et Jones: The Kamlak Section, Member 10, Middle Kamlak Subformation, Lower Tremadocian.

Figs 4, 5. *Cordylodus caseyi* Druce et Jones, emend. Landing: The Kamlak Section, Members 9-10, Middle Kamlak Subformation, Upper Cambrian.

Figs. 6, 7. *Iapetognathus* sp.: The Kamlak Section, Member 10, Middle Kamlak Subformation, Lower Tremadocian.

Fig. 8. *Hispidodontus* cf. *H. kulumbense* Tolmacheva et Abaimova: The Kamlak Section, Members 2, Middle Kamlak Subformation, Upper Cambrian.

Figs 9, 13, 14. *Cordylodus proavus* Müller: The Kamlak Section, Members 11, Upper Kamlak Subformation, Lower Ordovician.

Fig. 10. *Hirsutudontus simplex* (Druce et Jones, 1971): The Kamlak Section, Members 2, Middle Kamlak Subformation, Upper Cambrian.

Fig. 11. *Hirsutudontus* sp.: The Kamlak Section, Members 2, Middle Kamlak Subformation, Upper Cambrian.

Fig. 12. *Phakelodus tenuis* (Müller): The Kamlak Section, Members 9, Lower Kamlak Subformation, Upper Cambrian.

Figs 15, 16. *Westergaardodina* sp.: The Kamlak Section, Members 5, Lower Kamlak Subformation, Upper Cambrian.

Figs 17, 19. *Eoconodontus notchpeakensis* (Miller): The Kamlak Section, Members 9-10, Middle Kamlak Subformation, Upper Cambrian.

Fig. 18. *Furnishina furnishi* Müller: The Kamlak Section, Members 5, Lower Kamlak Subformation, Upper Cambrian.

Figs 20, 21. *Semiacontiodus* sp.: The Kamlak Section, Members 9-10, Middle Kamlak Subformation, Upper Cambrian.

Figs 22, 23. *Hispidodontus* cf. *triangularis* (Abaimova, 1975): The Kamlak Section, Members 9-10, Middle Kamlak Subformation, Upper Cambrian.



Plate 21

Late Ordovician conodonts from the localities in the northeastern part of Gorny Altai, Lebed', Biya and Bura rivers, Gur'yanovka Formation.

Collections of Tatyana Yu. Tolmacheva and Olga T. Obut

Figs 1–4, 9. Phragmodus undatus Branson et Mehl:

1–3, 9 – the Lebed' Section, Member 13, Gur'yanovka Formation, Sandbian; 4 – the Biya Section, Member 20, Gur'yanovka Formation, Sandbian.

Figs 5-8. *Belodina compressa* (Branson et Mehl): 5, 7, 8 - the Lebed' Section, Member 13, Gur'yanovka Formation, Sandbian; 6 – the Biya Section, Member 3,

Figs 10-16. Scandodus sp.:

Gur'yanovka Formation, Sandbian.

10–14 – the Lebed' Section, Member 13, Gur'yanovka Formation, Sandbian, 15–16 – the Bura Section, Member 10, Gur'yanovka Formation, Sandbian.

Figs 17-19. *Drepanodus* sp.: the Bura Section, Member 10, Gur'yanovka Formation, Sandbian.

Fig. 20. *Erraticodon* sp.: the Biya Section, Member 20, Gur'yanovka Formation, Sandbian.

Fig. 21. Aphelognathus sp.: the Lebed' Section, Member 13, Gur'yanovka Formation, Sandbian.

Fig. 22. *Drepanoistodus suberectus* (Branson et Mehl): the Lebed' Section, Member 13, Gur'yanovka Formation, Sandbian.

Fig. 23. *Panderodus* cf. *P. gracilis* (Branson et Mehl): the Lebed' Section, Member 13, Gur'yanovka Formation, Sandbian.





Plate 22

Late Ordovician conodonts from the locality in the northwestern part of Gorny Altai, Siliceous-terrigenous Body, Katian, the Suetka Section, Member 1. Scale =100 μ m.

Collections of Tatyana Yu. Tolmacheva and Olga T. Obut.

Figs 1–3, 6. *Periodon grandis* (Ethington): 1 – Sc element, 2 – Sc element, 3 – Sd element, 4 – M element.

Figs 4, 5. *Histiodella* sp.: 8 – P element, 9 – S element.

Figs 7, 8. Panderodus sp.

Figs 9, 13, 14. *Paroistodus? mutatus* (Branson et Mehl): 7 – M element, 11, 12 – S elements.

Fig. 10. Decoriconus sp.

Figs 11, 12. Protopanderodus insculptus (Branson et Mehl).

Fig. 15. Belodina compressa (Branson et Mehl).

Fig. 16. Belodina sp.





Plate 23

Middle Ordovician conodonts from the Teletskoe Lakeside area, eastern Gorny Altai, Samysh Body, Darriwilian. Specimens illustrated on figs 1, 2, 4–10, 12, 15, 16, 18 - from locality on the right bank of Samysh River. Specimens illustrated on figs 3, 11, 13, 14, 17, 19, 20 – from locality on Nizhniy Turochak Brook, right tributary of the Iogach River. Scale = $200 \mu m$.

Collections of Olga T. Obut.

Figs 1–4. *Acodus* sp. 1, 2 – Sd elements, 3, 4 – M elements.

Figs 5, 9, 10. *Drepanoistodus* cf. *arcuatus* Pander: 5, 9 – S elements, 10 – P element.

Figs 6–8, 13 – *Periodon* sp.: 6, 7 – S elements, 8, 13 – M elements.

Fig. 11. ? Drepanodus sp.

Figs 12, 18–20. *Drepanoistodus* sp.: 12 – M element, 18–20 – S elements.

Fig. 14. *Eoplacognathus* sp.: Pa element.

Figs. 15-17. Parapanderodus striatus (Graves et Ellison).





Научное издание

Николай Валерианович Сенников, Ольга Тимофеевна Обут, Елена Викторовна Лыкова, Александр Владиленович Тимохин, Тарас Викторович Гонта, Ралия Ахатовна Хабибулина, Татьяна Александровна Щербаненко, Татьяна Павловна Киприянова

ОРДОВИКСКИЕ СЕДИМЕНТАЦИОННЫЕ БАССЕЙНЫ И ПАЛЕОБИОТЫ ГОРНОГО АЛТАЯ

На английском языке

Утверждено к печати Ученым советом Института нефтегазовой геологии и геофизики им. А.А. Трофимука СО РАН

Оригинал-макет Владимировой А.В.

Подписано в печать 21.06.2019. Формат 60×84/8. Усл. п. л. 21,39. Тираж 120 экз. Закз № 127

Издательство СО РАН 630090, Новосибирск, Морской просп., 2 E-mail: psb@sibran.ru Тел. (383) 330-80-50 Отпечатано в Издательстве СО РАН Интернет-магазин Издательства СО РАН http://www.sibran.ru